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DISCLAIMER 

The information contained in this Request for Proposal document (the “RFP”) or subsequently 
provided to Bidder(s), whether verbally or in documentary or any other form, by or on behalf of the 
Transaction Authority or any of its employees or advisors, is provided to Bidder(s) on the terms and 
conditions set out in this RFP and such other terms and conditions subject to which such 
information is provided. 

This RFP is not an agreement and is neither an offer nor invitation by the Transaction Authority to 
the prospective Bidders or any other person. The purpose of this RFP is to provide interested 
parties with information that may be useful to them in the formulation of their Bid for qualification 
pursuant to this RFP (the “Bid”). This RFP includes statements, which reflect various assumptions 
and assessments arrived at by the Transaction Authority in relation to the Project. Such 
assumptions, assessments and statements do not purport to contain all the information that each 
Bidder may require. This RFP may not be appropriate for all persons, and it is not possible for the 
Transaction Authority, its employees or advisors to consider the investment objectives, financial 
situation and particular needs of each party who reads or uses this RFP. The assumptions, 
assessments, statements and information contained in this RFP may not be complete, accurate, 
adequate or correct. Each Bidder should therefore, conduct its own investigations and analysis and 
should check the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, reliability and completeness of the assumptions, 
assessments, statements and information contained in this RFP and obtain independent advice 
from appropriate sources. 

Information provided in this RFP to the Bidder(s) is on a wide range of matters, some of which may 
depend upon interpretation of law. The information given is not intended to be an exhaustive 
account of statutory requirements and should not be regarded as a complete or authoritative 
statement of law. The Transaction Authority accepts no responsibility for the accuracy or otherwise 
for any interpretation or opinion on law expressed herein. 

The Transaction Authority, its employees and advisors make no representation or warranty and 
shall have no liability to any person, including any Bidder, under any law, statute, rules or 
regulations or tort, principles of restitution or unjust  enrichment or otherwise for any loss, 
damages, cost or expense which may arise from or be incurred or suffered on account of anything 
contained in this RFP or otherwise, including the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, completeness or 
reliability of the RFP and any assessment, assumption, statement or information contained therein 
or deemed to form part of this RFP or arising in any way with selection of Bidders for participation 
in the Bidding  Process. 

The Transaction Authority also accepts no liability of any nature whether resulting from negligence 
or otherwise howsoever caused arising from reliance of any Bidder upon the statements contained 
in this RFP. 
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The Transaction Authority may, in its absolute discretion but without being under any obligation to 
do so, update, amend or supplement the information, assessment or assumptions contained in this 
RFP. 

The issue of this RFP does not imply that the Transaction Authority is bound to select and short-list 
Bids for Financial Bid Opening Stage or to appoint the selected Bidder or Concessionaire, as the 
case may be, for the Project and the Transaction Authority reserves the right to reject all or any of 
the Bids without assigning any reasons whatsoever. 

The Bidder shall bear all its costs associated with or relating to the preparation and submission of 
its Bid including but not limited to preparation, copying, postage, delivery fees, expenses associated 
with any demonstrations or presentations which may be required by the Transaction Authority or 
any other costs incurred in connection with or relating to its Bid. All such costs and expenses will 
remain with the Bidder and the Transaction Authority shall not be liable in any manner whatsoever 
for the same or for any other costs or other expenses incurred by the Bidder in preparation or 
submission of the Bid, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the Bidding Process. 
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1 Introduction  

 Background  1.1

The Diu Smart City Limited (“DSCL” or the “Transaction Authority”) is the nodal agency formed 
by the UT Administration of Daman and Diu for implementing Smart City proposal in Diu city. 
DSCL is engaged in the conceptualizing and development of infrastructure in the city of Diu 
through various development models. DSCL, as part of this endeavour is in the process of 
selection of a private developer to undertake development and operation & maintenance of 
the Cable Car System between Diu to Ghoghla (the “Project”) through Public-Private 
Partnership (PPP), and has, therefore, decided to carry out the bidding process for selection of 
the bidder to whom the Project may be awarded. A brief description of the Project may be seen 
in the Information Memorandum (the 
“Information Memorandum”) of the Project 
that is attached as Appendix XI of the RFP 
document. 

As part of this endeavour, the Authority has 
decided to undertake the Development of 
Cable Car From Diu to Ghoghla, Diu, (the 
“Project Site”) on Design, Build, Finance, 
Operate and Transfer (the "DBFOT") basis 
under an appropriate Public Private 
Partnership framework for a period of 25 
(Twenty Five) years (the “Project”) exclusive 
of 18 (eighteen) Months of construction. 

 

Brief particulars of the Project are as 
follows: 

Name of the Project Length of Cable Car Indicative Project Cost 

Development of Cable Car from 
Diu to Ghoghla, Diu Design, Build, 
Finance, Operate and Transfer 
Basis under PPP Framework. 

 

1500 meters (approx.) 

Rs 20,00,00,000/- 

(Rupees Twenty Crores 
only) 

The Authority intends to qualify and select suitable Bidders (the “Bidder”, which expression 
shall, unless repugnant to the context, include the Members of the Consortium) through an 
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open competitive bidding process in accordance with the procedure set out in this RFP 
document. 

1.1.1 The selected Bidder, who is either a company (the “Single Entity”) or a group of Companies (the 
“Consortium”) incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956/2013 undertakes to incorporate a 
Special Purpose Vehicle (“SPV”/ “Concessionaire”) under the Companies Act, 2013, prior to 
execution of the Concession Agreement (“Concession Agreement”). The SPV shall be 
responsible for Design, finance, construction and operation & maintenance of the project under 
and in accordance with the provisions of the concession agreement (the “Concession 
Agreement”) to be entered into between the Concessionaire and the Authority in the form 
provided by the Authority as part of the Bidding Documents pursuant hereto. 

1.1.2 The Intended work is to provide connectivity through Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla. 

The scope of works will be as follows: 

1. The Selected bidder has to prepare the concept plan for the development of Cable Car system 
as per their own design based on the alignment provided by DSCL, which includes the 
development of terminal station at both the locations i.e. Diu and Ghoghla and necessary 
columns/pillar. 

2. The firm has to develop the Cable Car system on 3S system as per CEN (European) standards. 
The system should be duly audited and checked by the authorised auditor as specified in the 
CEN Standards. 

3. The work includes development of terminal station at Diu and Ghoghla on the area allotted by 
DSCL (2,000 Sqm (1000 for each Terminal Station) or the actual area given), as per their own 
concept according to the development rules applicable in the DMC/ area. 

4. The firm has to develop all the necessary infrastructure, required for the effective operation of 
Cable Car, dispersal of traffic, parking, cloak room, evacuation of people, 
maintenance/workshop area etc. 

5. The Concessionaire will have freedom to exploit the commercial area in the terminal stations 
at Diu and Ghoghla. Accordingly bidder can plan and develop the terminal. However bidder 
has to submit the plan and design of the terminals to DSCL for its approval. 

6. The Concessionaire has to provide necessary infrastructure for smooth passage between the 
proposed terminal stations for tourist to embark/ disembark. 

7. The Concessionaire has to plan Cable Car system to connect between two terminal stations by 
fixing the span between two columns, number of columns and height of columns at all point 
as per their own concept and design. However Concessionaire has to submit the plan and 
design of the same to DSCL for its approval. 

8. The alignment of the Cable Car is crossing over the navigational channel in Diu Harbour, where 
ship/Boat movement is frequent which has to be considered during the development of the 
Cable Car. The Concessionaire has to provide clearance of minimum 30 m between water 
(high tide level) and the bottom of Gondola after considering the sag as per the standards. The 
Concessionaire has to confirm the span considered in the channel and maximum sag 
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considered by anticipating maximum traffic, the future load and clearance between cable car 
and ship and provide the same to DSCL for approval. 

9. The Concessionaire has to design entire Cable Car system including civil design of terminal, 
columns, any other structure required as per their concept on their own cost. However it has 
to be approved by DSCL before implementation and execution. 

10. The Concessionaire has to get final approval from DSCL for the entire Cable Car system after 
its development before the operation. The operation of the Cable Car system has to be carried 
out as per the CEN standards and safety standards rules approved by the government time to 
time till the concession period. 

11. The terminal station developed at Diu and Ghoghla will have to be maintained properly to 
meet need of tourist as per the prevailing laws and regulation of the government. 

12. The maintenance of entire Cable Car system has to be carried out as per the CEN standards 
and prevailing rules for safety and security laid down by the government time to time for 
entire concession period. 

13. The Concessionaire has to provide safety mechanism (as per CEN Standards) in the entire 
Cable Car system to prevent any accident and mishaps during operation for entire concession 
period. Accordingly bidder has to submit the safety mechanism plan to DSCL in advance prior 
to start of operation. 

14. The Concessionaire has to provide necessary security system (as per CEN Standards) from the 
terminal at Diu to terminal at Ghoghla to prevent any breach in the security. To achieve this 
the bidder has to plan security mechanisms such as, deployment of specialised personal at 
vantage points, CCTV security system, PA system, alarm system or any other system which he 
seems suitable at their own cost. 

15. The Concessionaire has to plan for provision of evacuation system in case of stoppage of Cable 
Car in midway, breaking of wire rope, any failure in the column structure, failure in machinery, 
any problems in the cable car, etc. during the operation of Cable Car. The plan of evacuation 
system has to be submitted to DSCL for its approval. 

16. The Concessionaire has to develop the entire Cable Car system in a way considering 
earthquake factor, so that any mishaps and accidents to public and damages to infrastructure 
are prevented during the operations. 

17. As this Cable Car system is being developed in the sea area; equipment, cable cars, ropes are 
likely to corrode fast, hence the design should be adopted considering this factor and 
operation and maintenance should also be done considering the same. 

18. The Concessionaire will have freedom for the pricing of tickets, however they have to take 
insurance for the tourist, insurance of the machinery, equipment, civil structures, etc.  

19. The Concessionaire has to provide medical aid system at both the terminal stations by 
deploying ambulances, first aid, etc. 

20. The Concessionaire has to provide efficient firefighting system for the entire Cable Car 
including terminals. 

21. The Concessionaire has to submit operational manual, standard operating procedure, 
maintenance manual, overhauling system of the Cable Car, traffic dispersal system at Diu and 
Ghoghla, evacuation plan of people for both the terminal, firefighting system, medical aid 
system, security system, etc. for the approval of DSCL before the operation. 
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22. All the necessary statutory approvals needed for construction and operation have to be taken 
by the Concessionaire prior to the sanction of plan, during the construction period and 
operation of services, etc. 

23. The Concessionaire has to take power connection directly from source, as required for the 
entire Cable Car system including both the terminal stations. DSCL may provide support to get 
power connection. 

24. The Concessionaire has to provide alternate power source for existing system in case of 
emergency, with adequate numbers of generators at both the stations. 

25. The Concessionaire has to arrange at their own cost- Information Network system, including 
telephone line, OFC cables, etc. as per their requirement. 

26. The Concessionaire has to implement and execute any other works related to smooth 
operation and maintenance of entire Cable Car system during concession period as and when 
directed by DSCL on its own cost. 

27. The Concessionaire has to arrange and develop a system to monitor weather (wind speed, 
rainfall, etc.) by liasioning with Meteorological Department to ensure safe services. 

28. The Cable Car system should be mounted with modern cabins. The design and look of the 
cabins has to be presented to DSCL and the same shall be approved by DSCL for 
implementation. 

29. Advertisements for promoting the cable car system shall be undertaken by the Concessionaire 
and for the same DSCL may assist wherever required. 

30. Regular check-ups, safety audits and repairing of the necessary components of the cable car 
system are to be ensured on a peiodic basis. The records of the same needs to be maintained 
for future assessments. 

31. The number of cabins for the cable car system to be more in couple of units to ensure smooth 
functioning of the service and also to ensure good quality cabins for customers. To achieve the 
same, regular checkups of the cabins are necessary.  

1.1.3 For the estimation of actual costs and technical and financial viability of the Project, the 
Bidder(s) may undertake a technical and financial feasibility study on their own. The cost and 
reliability of such study shall be the sole responsibility of the Bidder. The Selected Bidder 
(“Concessionaire”), shall be responsible for the design, construction, finance, operations and 
maintenance and transfer of the Project under and in accordance with the provisions of a 
Concession Agreement to be executed by the Concessionaire with the Authority. The Concession 
Agreement forms the Volume 2 of this RFP (the “Concession Agreement”) and shall be issued by 
the Authority as mentioned in the section 1.3. The assessment of actual costs will have to be 
made by the Bidders. 

1.1.4 The Authority shall receive Bids pursuant to this RFP in accordance with the terms set forth 
herein as modified, altered, amended and clarified from time to time by the Authority, and all 
Bids shall be prepared and submitted in accordance with such terms on or before the date 
specified in Clause 1.3 for submission of Bids (the “Bid Due Date”). 
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1.1.5 The statements and explanations contained in this RFP are intended to provide a better 
understanding to the Bidders about the subject matter of this RFP and should not be construed 
or interpreted as limiting in any way or manner the scope of the performance obligations of the 
Concessionaire set forth in the Concession Agreement or the Authority’s rights to amend, alter, 
change, supplement or clarify the scope of work or the Concession to be awarded pursuant to 
this RFP or the terms thereof or herein contained. Consequently, any omissions, conflicts or 
contradictions in the Bidding Documents including this RFP are to be noted, interpreted and 
applied appropriately to give effect to this intent, and no claims on such account shall be 
entertained by the Authority. 

 Brief description of Bidding Process 1.2

1.2.1 The Authority has adopted a single-stage two-cover system (collectively referred to as the 
"Bidding Process") for selection of the bidder for award of the Project which expression shall, 
unless repugnant to the context include the members of the Consortium for the Project in 
accordance with the terms of this RFP. The first stage (the "Qualification Stage") of the process 
involves qualification (the "Qualification") of interested parties/ consortia that make a Bid in 
accordance with the provisions of this RFP (the "Bidders"). At the end of this stage, the 
Authority intends to announce a list of Qualified Bidders who shall be eligible for the second 
stage of the Bidding Process (the "Bid Stage") comprising the price Bid (the "Price Bid"). 

Government of India has issued guidelines (see Appendix-VIII) for qualification of bidders seeking 
to acquire stakes in any public sector enterprise through the process of disinvestment. These 
guidelines shall apply mutatis mutandis to this Bidding Process. The Authority shall be entitled to 
disqualify a Bidder in accordance with the aforesaid guidelines at any stage of the Bidding Process. 
Bidders must satisfy themselves that they are qualified to bid, and should give an undertaking to 
this effect in the form at Appendix-I. 

1.2.2 In the Bidding Stage, Bidders would be required to furnish all the information specified in this 
RFP. The Bid shall be valid for a period of not less than 180 (one hundred and Eighty) days from 
the Bid Due Date. 

1.2.3 Under Submission 1 (the “Qualification”), the Bidders would be required to furnish the 
information for qualification specified in this RFP for the purpose of this project. Submission 2: 
Commercial Proposals will entail the ‘Revenue Share’ to be quoted by bidders. Commercial 
Proposal of only those Bidders who are qualified by the Authority as per the criteria prescribed 
in accordance with Clause 3.4 of this RFP document will be evaluated, remaining Commercial 
Proposals of Bidders will be returned unopened. 
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1.2.4 In terms of the RFP, a Bidder will be required to deposit, along with its Bid, a bid security of Rs. 
20,00,000/- (Rupees Twenty Lakh only) (the “Bid Security”), which shall be refundable, except in 
the case of the selected Bidder whose Bid Security shall be retained till it has provided a 
Performance Security under the Concession Agreement. The Bidders will have an option to 
provide Bid Security in the form of a demand draft or a bank guarantee acceptable to the 
Authority. In case a bank guarantee is provided, its validity period shall not be less than 240 (two 
hundred and forty) days from the Bid Due Date, and may be extended as may be mutually 
agreed between the Authority and the Bidder from time to time. Where a demand draft is 
provided, its validity shall not be less than 80 (eighty) days from the Bid Due Date for the 
purposes of encashment thereof by the Authority. The Bid shall be summarily rejected if it is not 
accompanied by the Bid Security. 

1.2.5 During the Bid Stage, Bidders are invited to examine the Project in greater detail, and to carry 
out, at their cost, such studies as may be required for submitting their respective Bids for award 
of the concession including implementation of the Project. As part of the Bidding Documents, 
the Authority will provide a draft Concession Agreement and other information pertaining/ 
relevant to the Project available with it. 

1.2.6 The bidder has to provide these fees as follows: 

A. The Bids will be invited for the Project on the basis of the percentage Revenue Share of Gross 
Revenue from Project (“Revenue Share”), payable to the Authority for award of the Concession. 

The Revenue Share of Gross Revenue from Project (ticketing of Cable Car and other 
commercial activity at terminal station) % of revenue share shall constitute the sole criteria 
for evaluation of Bids. Subject to Clause 2.18, the Project will be awarded to the Bidder 
quoting the highest Revenue Share (in percentages Gross Revenue.) The Bidder shall pay to 
the Authority in Four Equal Installment, equivalent to higher of:  

i. Revenue Share as a %age (To be quoted as bid variable by the Bidder, (subject to a minimum 
5% of the Gross Revenue) of the Gross Revenue for the period. 

ii. Minimum Guarantee Payment of that period - INR 10 Lakh, (Ten lakh) per annum, Payment 
shall be made in four equal installment, Minimum Guarantee payment will be increased at a 
rate of 5% each year over the Minimum Guarantee Payment of the previous year. 

Note: For the purposes of this RFP and the Draft Concession Agreement, the term “Gross 
Revenue” will mean all pre-tax gross revenues earned by the Concessionaire under or pursuant to 
the Concession Agreement from the Cable Car system from passengers traffic and other 
commercial activity, at any time from the date of execution of the Concession Agreement upto the 
Transfer Date (as defined in the Concession Agreement) and shall include any monies received 
from sub-licensees and other persons, by the Concessionaire as deposits (refundable or 
otherwise) and any revenue related to ticketing and Cable Car services, but shall exclude the 
following 
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a) any insurance proceeds received by the Concessionaire relating to: (i) third party liability 
insurance paid or to be paid to the person whose claim(s) constitute(s) the risk or liability 
insured against; and (ii) any form of physical damage of assets, and the Concessionaire has 
incurred or will incur an expenditure greater than or equal to such proceeds received for 
repair, reinstatement or otherwise replacement, promptly and diligently of such assets; 

b) any monies received by the Concessionaire, for or on behalf of any Government 
Instrumentality (as defined in the Concession Agreement), as an authorized agent of such 
Government Instrumentality; 

c) any deposit amounts refunded to the relevant sub-licensee or any other person authorized by 
the Authority in a particular Concession Year provided these pertain to past deposits on which 
Revenue Share has been paid to the Authority. 

d) any deposit amounts refunded to the relevant sub-licensee or any other person authorized by 
the Authority in a particular Concession Year provided these pertain to past deposits on which 
Revenue Share has been paid to the Authority. 
 
It is expressly clarified that: 

i. insurance proceeds referred to in exclusion (a) above, shall not include any exclusion 
of insurance proceeds received for loss of revenues and/or business interruption; 

ii. monies referred to in exclusion (b) above, shall be excluded only if the same has been 
credited or will be credited by the Concessionaire to the relevant Government 
Instrumentality promptly and diligently and any fine, penalty or other amounts of 
similar nature that may accrue as a result of non-payment or delayed payment of such 
monies under the Applicable Laws, will not be excluded; 

iii. Gross Revenue will be computed on an Quarterly basis for an Accounting Year, in 
accordance with the Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, as applicable on 
closing of financial year; 

iv. in case of any dispute, discrepancy, ambiguity, doubt or otherwise, relating to the 
computation and/ or meaning of Gross Revenue, the decision of the Authority, at its 
sole discretion, shall be final. 

1.2.7 In this RFP, the term “Highest Bidder” shall mean the Bidder who is offering the highest percent 
Revenue Share against Gross Revenue from Cable Car Project. 

1.2.8 Generally, the Highest Bidder shall be the preferred Bidder. The remaining Bidders shall be kept 
in reserve and may, in accordance with the process specified in Section 3 of this RFP, be invited 
to match the Bid submitted by the Highest Bidder in case such Highest Bidder withdraws or is 
not selected for any reason. In the event that none of the other Bidders match the Bid of the 
Highest Bidder, the Authority may, in its discretion, either invite fresh Bids from the remaining 
Bidders or annul the Bidding Process. 

1.2.9 Details of the process to be followed at the Bid Stage and the terms thereof are spelt out in this 
RFP. 
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1.2.10 Any queries or request for additional information concerning this RFP shall be submitted in 
writing by speed post/ courier/ special messenger and by e-mail so as to reach the officer 
designated in Clause 2.11 by the specified date. The envelopes/ communications shall clearly 
bear the following identification/ title: 

“Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and 
Transfer Basis under PPP Framework”. 

 Schedule of bidding process 1.3

The Authority shall endeavor to adhere to the following schedule: 

Sr. No Particular Timeline 

1. Availability of Bid Documents at online portal 27/07/2020 

2. Last date for receiving queries 03/08/2020 
3. Pre-Bid meeting 05/08/2020 

4. Last date for submission of e Bids (“Bid Due 
Date”) 17/08/2020 up to 1730 hours 

5. Date and time of opening of Technical e Bids 

24/08/2020  at 1730 hours  
Venue: Diu Smart City Ltd. 
C/o Diu Municipal council 
Fort Road, Diu-362520 

6. Date and time of opening of Price Bids To be intimated 

7. Address for communication to the Authority 

Address: 
Manager Construction  
Diu Smart City Ltd. 
C/o Diu Municipal council 
Fort Road, Diu-362520 

8. Validity of Bids 180 days from the Bid Due Date 

9. Issuance of Letter of Award (LOA) 30 days from the from the date of 
declaration of the Selected Bidder 

10. Signing of Concession Agreement Within 45 days from the date of award of 
LOA to the Selected Bidder 

 Pre-Bid Conference 1.4

The date, time and venue of the Pre-Bid Conference shall be: 
Date: 05/08/2020  Time: 11:00 hrs 
Address: Diu Smart City Ltd. 
C/o Diu Municipal council 
Fort Road, Diu-362520 
OR 
Via video conferencing, this conference shall be secured by a password to join, and interested bidders 
may write to DSCL at diudscl@gmail.com, to obtain the meeting ID and password. 
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2 Instruction to Bidders 

GENERAL 

 General terms of Bidding 2.1

2.1.1 No Bidder shall submit more than one Bid for the Project. A Bidder applying individually or as a 
Member of a Consortium shall not be entitled to submit another Bid either individually or as a 
Member of any Consortium, as the case may be. 

2.1.2 The Bidders are expected to carry out their own surveys, investigations and other detailed 
examination of the Project before submitting their Bids. Nothing contained in the Bidding 
Documents shall be binding on the Authority nor confer any right on the Bidders, and the 
Authority shall have no liability whatsoever in relation to or arising out of any or all contents of 
the Bidding Documents. 

2.1.3 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this RFP, the detailed terms specified in 
the draft Concession Agreement shall have overriding effect; provided, however, that any 
conditions or obligations imposed on the Bidder hereunder shall continue to have effect in 
addition to its obligations under the draft Concession Agreement. 

2.1.4 The Bid should be furnished in the formats as specified in the RFP and signed by the Bidder’s 
authorized signatory. The Successful Bidder may be subsequently invited for award of the 
Concession. The Bidders should note that the formats specified in the RFP have been provided 
for the convenience of the Bidders and may not exhaustively enumerate or describe various 
information required to be provided by the Bidders under the Bidding Documents. The Bidders 
should ensure that all the information required to be provided by it in terms of the Bidding 
Documents is included in its Bid whether or not a particular format specified herein makes 
provision for submission of such information and/or whether or not a format for submission of 
such information is incorporated in the Bidding Documents. 

2.1.5 The Bidder shall transfer a Bid security of Rs. 20,00,000/- (Rupees Twenty Lakh only) in 
accordance with the provisions of this RFP for the Bid submitted (“Bid Security”). 

2.1.6 The Bidder in case of Single Entity should submit a Power of Attorney as per the format at 
Appendix-II, authorizing the signatory of the Bid to commit the Bidder. 

2.1.7 In case the Bidder is a Consortium, the Members thereof should furnish a Power of Attorney in 
favour of the Lead Member in the format at Appendix-III. 
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2.1.8 Any condition or qualification or any other stipulation contained in the Bid which is inconsistent 
with the terms of the Bidding Documents shall render the Bid liable to rejection as a non-
responsive Bid. 

2.1.9 The Bid and all communications in relation to or concerning the Bidding Documents and the Bid 
shall be in English language. Supporting documents and printed literature furnished by the 
Bidder with the Bid may be in any other language provided that they are accompanied by 
appropriate translations of the pertinent passages in the English language, duly authenticated 
and certified by the Bidder. Supporting materials, which are not translated into English, may not 
be considered. For the purpose of interpretation and evaluation of the Bid, the English language 
translation shall prevail. 

2.1.10 The Bidding Documents including this RFP, draft Concession Agreement and other documents 
which may be issued at a later stage including replies to queries, addendum etc., provided by 
the Authority are and shall remain or become the property of the Authority and are transmitted 
to the Bidders solely for the purpose of preparation and the submission of a Bid in accordance 
with the Bidding Documents. Bidders are to treat all information as strictly confidential and shall 
not use it for any purpose other than for preparation and submission of their Bid. The provisions 
of this Clause 2.1.10 shall also apply mutatis mutandis to Bids and all other documents 
submitted by the Bidders, and the Authority will not return to the Bidders any Bid, document or 
any information provided along therewith. 

2.1.11 A Bidder shall not have a conflict of interest (the “Conflict of Interest”) that affects the Bidding 
Process. Any Single Entity found to have a Conflict of Interest shall be disqualified and in case of 
a Consortium, refer to Clause 2.2.3 for replacing Consortium Member suffering from Conflict of 
Interest. In case of Consortium, if the Bidder is not able to replace the Consortium Member 
suffering from Conflict of Interest as per Clause 2.2.3, then the Bidder shall be disqualified. In 
the event of disqualification, the Authority shall be entitled to forfeit and appropriate the Bid 
Security and/or Performance Security, as the case may be, as liquidated damages( “the 
Damages”), without prejudice to any other right or remedy that may be available to the 
Authority under the Bidding Documents and/or the Concession Agreement or otherwise. 
Without limiting the generality of the above, determining the Conflict of Interest shall be the 
prerogative of the Authority. 

2.1.12 Without limiting the generality of the above, a Bidder shall be deemed to have a Conflict of 
Interest affecting the Bidding Process, if: 

i. the Bidder, its Member or Associate (or any constituent thereof) and any other Bidder, its 
Member or any Associate thereof (or any constituent thereof) have common controlling 
shareholders or other ownership interest; provided that this disqualification shall not 
apply in cases where the direct or indirect shareholding of a Bidder, its Member or an 
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Associate thereof (or any shareholder thereof having a shareholding of more than 5% 
(five per cent) of the paid up and subscribed share capital of such Bidder, Member or 
Associate, as the case may be) in the other Bidder, its Member or Associate, is less than 
5% (five per cent) of the subscribed and paid up equity share capital thereof; provided 
further that this disqualification shall not apply to any ownership by a bank, insurance 
company, pension fund or a public financial institution referred to in section 2(72) of the 
Companies Act, 2013. For the purposes of this Clause 2.1.12, indirect shareholding held 
through one or more intermediate persons shall be computed as follows: (aa) where any 
intermediary is controlled by a person through management control or otherwise, the 
entire shareholding held by such controlled intermediary in any other person (the 
“Subject Person”) shall be taken into account for computing the shareholding of such 
controlling person in the Subject Person; and (bb) subject always to sub-clause (aa) 
above, where a person does not exercise control over an intermediary, which has 
shareholding in the Subject Person, the computation of indirect shareholding of such 
person in the Subject Person shall be undertaken on a proportionate basis; provided, 
however, that no such shareholding shall be reckoned under this sub-clause (bb) if the 
shareholding of such person in the intermediary is less than 26% (twenty six percent) of 
the subscribed and paid up equity shareholding of such intermediary; or 

ii. a constituent of such Bidder is also a constituent of another Bidder; 
iii. such Bidder, its Member or any Associate thereof receives or has received any direct or 

indirect subsidy, grant, concessional loan or subordinated debt from any other Bidder, its 
Member or Associate, or has provided any such subsidy, grant, concessional loan or 
subordinated debt to any other Bidder, its Member or any Associate thereof; 

iv. such Bidder has the same legal representative for purposes of this Bid as any other 
Bidder; 

v. such Bidder, or any Associate thereof, has a relationship with another Bidder, or any 
Associate thereof, directly or through common third party/ parties, that puts either or 
both of them in a position to have access to each other’s’ information about, or to 
influence the Bid of either or each other; or 

vi. Such Bidder or any Associate thereof has participated as a consultant to the Authority in 
the preparation of any documents, design or technical specifications of the Project. 

Explanation: 

In case a Bidder is a Consortium, then the term Bidder as used in this Clause 2.1.12, shall 
include each Member of such Consortium. For purposes of this RFP, Associate means, in 
relation to the Bidder/Member, a person who controls, is controlled by, or is under the 
common control with such Bidder/Member. As used in this definition, the expression “control” 
means, with respect to a person which is a company or corporation, the ownership, directly or 
indirectly, of more than 50% (fifty per cent) of the voting shares of such person, or the power 
to appoint majority of the directors on the board of directors of such company or corporation 
and/or the power to direct the management and policies of such person by operation of law, 
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agreement or otherwise and with respect to a person which is not a company or corporation, 
the power to direct the management and policies of such person by operation of law, 
agreement or otherwise. 

2.1.13 A Bidder shall be liable for disqualification and forfeiture of Bid Security if any legal, financial or 
technical advisor of the Authority in relation to the Project is engaged by the Bidder, its 
Members or any Associate thereof, as the case may be, in any manner for matters related to or 
incidental to such Project during the Bidding Process or subsequent to the (i) issue of the LOA or 
(ii) execution of the Concession Agreement. In the event any such advisor is engaged by the 
Selected Bidder or Concessionaire, as the case may be, after issue of the LOA or execution of the 
Concession Agreement for matters related or incidental to the Project, then notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained herein or in the LOA or the Concession Agreement and 
without prejudice to any other right or remedy of the Authority, including the forfeiture and 
appropriation of the Bid Security or Performance Security, as the case may be, which the 
Authority may have thereunder or otherwise, the LOA or the Concession Agreement, as the case 
may be, shall be liable to be terminated without the Authority being liable in any manner 
whatsoever to the Selected Bidder or Concessionaire for the same. For the avoidance of doubt, 
this disqualification shall not apply where such advisor was engaged by the Bidder, its Member 
or Associate in the past but its assignment expired or was terminated 6 (six) months prior to the 
date of issue of RFP for the Project. Nor will this disqualification apply where such advisor is 
engaged after a period of 3 (three) years from the date of signing of this Concession Agreement. 

 Composition of the Consortium 2.2

2.2.1 The Consortium can have a maximum of 3 (three) members. This clause 2.1.1 shall be applicable 
throughout the Concession Period. 

2.2.2 Change in the composition of a Consortium will not be permitted after submission of the Bids; 

2.2.3 A Bidder may, within 10 (ten) days after the Bid Due Date, remove from its Consortium any 
Member who suffers from a Conflict of Interest, and such removal shall be deemed to cure the 
Conflict of Interest arising in respect thereof. The Bidder shall ensure the substitute is at least 
equal, in terms of Technical Capacity, to the Consortium Member who is sought to be 
substituted and the modified Consortium shall continue to meet the qualification and short-
listing criteria for Bidders. The modified/ reconstituted Consortium shall submit a revised Jt. 
Bidding Agreement within 10 (ten) days after removal of Consortium Member who suffers from 
a Conflict of Interest, substantially in the form at Appendix-IV. 
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2.2.4 Approval for change in the composition of a Consortium shall be at the sole discretion of the 
Authority and must be approved by the Authority in writing. 

2.2.5 The Consortium shall submit a Power of Attorney and, a Joint Bidding Agreement substantially in 
the form at Appendix-III and Appendix-IV respectively along with the Bid, prior to the Bid Due 
Date. Except as provided under this RFP and the Bidding Documents, there shall not be any 
amendment to the Joint Bidding Agreement without prior written consent of the Authority. The 
Joint Bidding Agreement, to be submitted along with the Bid, shall, inter alia: 

a) convey the intent to form an SPV with shareholding/ownership equity commitment(s) in 
accordance with this RFP, which would enter into the Concession Agreement and 
subsequently carry out all the responsibilities as Concessionaire in terms of the Concession 
Agreement, in case the right to undertake the Project is awarded to the Consortium; 

b) clearly outline the proposed roles and responsibilities, if any, of each Member; 
c) commit the minimum equity stake to be held by each Member; 
d) Minimum 26% equity is must in Consortium to be considered for experience; 
e) no member of Consortium whose technical and financial capacity was evaluated for the 

purpose of qualifications in response to Request for Proposal shall hold until expiry of 2 years 
after COD less than 

i. 26% of subscribed and paid up equity of the SPV; 
ii. 5% of the Total Project Cost specified in the Concession Agreement. 

 
f) the Lead Member shall hold equity share capital not less than 51% (fifty one percent) of the 

subscribed and paid up equity share capital of the SPV until expiry of two (2) years after COD; 
g) lead member of the Consortium undertake that they shall collectively hold at least 51% (fifty 

one per cent) of the subscribed and paid up equity of the SPV at all times until the 
completion of commercial operation of the Project; and 

h) Include a statement to the effect that all Members of the Consortium shall, be liable jointly 
and severally for all obligations of the Concessionaire in relation to the Project until the 
expiry of the Concession Agreement. 

 Lock in period and Change in Ownership 2.3

2.3.1 By submitting the Bid, the Bidder acknowledges that, in case the Bidder is a single entity, it shall 
be required to form the SPV, to execute the Concession Agreement and implement the Project 
and shall ensure that the Bidder holds at least 51% (fifty one percent) of the subscribed and paid 
up equity of the SPV until expiry of two (2) years after COD. 

2.3.2 By submitting the Bid, the Bidder acknowledges that, in case the Bidder is a Consortium, it shall, 
in addition to forming a SPV, comply with the following additional requirements: 

a) the Lead Member, as defined in the RFP, (“Lead Member”), who shall have an equity share 
holding of at least 51% (fifty one percent) of the paid up and subscribed equity of the SPV 
until expiry of two (2) years after COD. The nomination(s) shall be supported by a Power of 
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Attorney, as per the format at Appendix IV, signed by all the other members of the 
Consortium; 

b) each of the members, whose experience has been evaluated for Technical Capacity and the 
Financial Capacity for the purposes of this Bid, shall individually subscribe to 26% (twenty six 
percent) or more of the paid up and subscribed equity of the SPV until expiry of two (2) years 
after COD 

c) The Concessionaire shall ensure that the Bidder/ members of the Consortium maintain 
Management Control at least until expiry of the two (2) years after COD as also maintain their 
equity holding in the Concessionaire such that: 
a. Selected Bidder/Consortium Members together with its/their Associates hold not less 

than 51% (Fifty One Percent) of its issued and paid up equity and that no member of 
Consortium whose technical and financial capacity was evaluated for the purposes of 
qualifications in response to Request for Proposal shall hold less than 26% (Twenty Six 
Percent) of such equity until expiry of two (2) years after COD. At any time, after expiry of 
the aforesaid share holding period, lead member can approach Authority for approval 
proposing a new entity/ consortium. Authority may at its sole discretion consider and 
approve it subject to the entity/consortium meeting the eligibility criteria as prescribed in 
Bid Document for the Project; and 

b. “Lead Member” of the Consortium (original or new as the case may be) legally and 
beneficially holds at any time not less than 51% (fifty one percent) of the Consortium’s 
holding in the paid up equity capital of the Concessionaire. Any Transfer of shareholding 
in the Concessionaire and/or direct or indirect change in the Management Control of the 
Concessionaire, including by way of a restructuring or amalgamation, shall only be with 
the prior written approval of the Concessioning Authority which consent shall not be 
withheld except (i) for reasons of national security; or (ii) [if the Person proposed for 
assuming such Management Control would by virtue of the restrictions imposed under 
the Applicable Law or the conditions of bidding (including restrictions to avoid anti-
competitive and monopolistic practice) and/or public policy be disqualified from 
undertaking the Project.] 
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2.3.3 By submitting the Bid, the Bidder shall also be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed that in 
the event of a change in control of a Consortium Member or an Associate whose Technical 
Capacity, Financial Capacity and/ or the O&M Experience was taken into consideration for the 
purposes of qualification under and in accordance with the RFP, the Bidder shall be deemed to 
have knowledge of the same and shall be required to inform the Authority forthwith along with 
all relevant particulars about the same and the Authority may, in its sole discretion, disqualify 
the Bidder or withdraw the LOA from the Selected Bidder, as the case may be. In the event such 
change in control occurs after signing of the Concession Agreement but prior to Financial Close 
of the Project, it would, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Concession 
Agreement, be deemed to be a breach of the Concession Agreement, and the same shall be 
liable to be terminated without the Authority being liable in any manner whatsoever to the 
Concessionaire. In such an event, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the 
Concession Agreement, the Authority shall be entitled to forfeit and appropriate the Bid Security 
or Performance Security, as the case may be, as Damages, without prejudice to any other right 
or remedy that may be available to the Authority under the Bidding Documents and/ or the 
Concession Agreement or otherwise. 

 Cost of Bidding 2.4

2.4.1 The Bidders shall be responsible for all of the costs associated with the preparation of their Bids 
and their participation in the Bidding Process. The Authority will not be responsible or in any 
way liable for such costs, regardless of the conduct or outcome of the Bidding Process. 

 Site visit and verification of information 2.5

2.5.1 Bidders are encouraged to submit their respective Bids after visiting the Project site and 
ascertaining for themselves the site conditions, baseline of assets, location, surroundings, 
climate, availability of power, handling and storage of materials, applicable laws and regulations, 
and any other matter considered relevant by them. 

2.5.2 It shall be deemed that by submitting a Bid, the Bidder has: 

a. made a complete and careful examination of the Bidding Documents; 
b. received all relevant information requested from the Authority; 
c. accepted the risk of inadequacy, error or mistake in the information provided in the Bidding 

Documents or furnished by or on behalf of the Authority relating to any of the matters 
referred to in Clause 2.5.1 above; 

d. satisfied itself about all matters, things and information including matters referred to in 
Clause 2.5.1 hereinabove necessary and required for submitting an informed Bid, execution 
of the Project in accordance with the Bidding Documents and performance of all of its 
obligations thereunder; 
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e. acknowledged and agreed that inadequacy, lack of completeness or incorrectness of 
information provided in the Bidding Documents or ignorance of any of the matters referred 
to in Clause 2.5.1 hereinabove shall not be a basis for any claim for compensation, damages, 
extension of time for performance of its obligations, loss of profits etc. from the Authority, 
or a ground for termination of the Concession Agreement by the Concessionaire; 

f. acknowledged that it does not have a Conflict of Interest; and 
g. agreed to be bound by the undertakings provided by it under and in terms hereof. 

2.5.3 The Authority shall not be liable for any omission, mistake or error in respect of any of the above 
or on account of any matter or thing arising out of or concerning or relating to RFP, the Bidding 
Documents or the Bidding Process, including any error or mistake therein or in any information 
or data provided by the Authority. 

2.5.4 The Bidder shall continue to be responsible for all claims and declarations made under its Bid for 
the entire Bidding Process and if selected under the Bid Process as Successful Bidder, 
throughout the Concession Period. 

 Verification and Disqualification 2.6

2.6.1 The Authority reserves the right to verify all statements, information and documents submitted 
by the Bidder in response to the RFP or the Bidding Documents and the Bidder shall, when so 
required by the Authority, make available all such information, evidence and documents as may 
be necessary for such verification. Any such verification or lack of such verification by the 
Authority shall not relieve the Bidder of its obligations or liabilities hereunder nor will it affect 
any rights of the Authority thereunder. 

2.6.2 Without prejudice to Clause 2.24.4, the Authority reserves the right to reject any Bid and 
appropriate the Bid Security if: 

a. at any time, a material misrepresentation is made or uncovered, or 
b. the Bidder does not provide, within the time specified by the Authority, the supplemental 

information sought by them for evaluation of the Bid. 

Such misrepresentation/ improper response shall lead to the disqualification of the Bidder. If 
the Bidder is a Consortium, then the entire Consortium and each Member may be 
disqualified/ rejected. If such disqualification/ rejection occurs after the Bids have been 
opened and the Successful Bidder gets disqualified/ rejected, then the Authority reserves the 
right to invite a Bidder amongst the qualified Bidders in order of their rank in accordance 
with Clause 3.5. 



RFP- Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (DBFOT) Basis 
 

23 
 

2.6.3 In case it is found during the evaluation or at any time before signing of the Concession 
Agreement or after their execution and during the period of subsistence thereof, including the 
Concession thereby granted by the Authority, that one or more of the qualification conditions 
have not been met by the Bidder, or the Bidder has made material misrepresentation or has 
given any materially incorrect or false information, the Bidder shall be disqualified forthwith if 
not yet appointed as the Concessionaire either by issue of the LOA or entering into of the 
Concession Agreement, and if the Successful Bidder has already been issued the LOA or has 
entered into the Concession Agreement, as the case may be, the same shall, notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained therein or in this RFP, be liable to be terminated, by a 
communication in writing by the Authority to the Successful Bidder or the Concessionaire, as the 
case may be, without the Authority being liable in any manner whatsoever to the Successful 
Bidder or Concessionaire. In such an event, the Authority shall be entitled to forfeit and 
appropriate the Bid Security or Performance Security, as the case may be, as liquidated 
damages, without prejudice to any other right or remedy that may be available to it under the 
Bidding Documents and/or the Concession Agreement, or otherwise. 

2.6.4 The Bidder acknowledges and agrees that provisions of this RFP which by their nature or subject 
matter are intended to survive the completion of the Bidding or to apply throughout the 
Concession Period shall continue to survive and bind the Bidders throughout the Concession 
Period. 

 Other Provisions 2.7

2.7.1 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that the Bid Due Date 
falls within three months of the closing of the latest financial year of a Bidder, it shall ignore 
such financial year for the purposes of its Bid and furnish all its information and certification 
with reference to the 1 (one) year, preceding its latest financial year. For the avoidance of 
doubt, financial year shall, for the purposes of a Bid hereunder, mean the accounting year 
followed by the Bidder in the course of its normal business. 

2.7.2 Any entity which has been barred by the Central/ State/UT Government, or any entity controlled 
by it, from participating in any project (PPP or otherwise), and the bar subsists as on the date of 
Bid, would not be eligible to submit a Bid, either individually or as member of a Consortium. 
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2.7.3 A Bidder including any Consortium Member or Associate should, in the last 3 (three) years, have 
neither failed to perform on any contract, as evidenced by imposition of a penalty by an arbitral 
or judicial authority or a judicial pronouncement or arbitration award against the Bidder, 
Consortium Member or Associate, as the case may be, nor has been expelled from any project 
or contract by any public entity nor have had any contract terminated by any public entity for 
breach by such Bidder, Consortium Member or Associate. Provided, however, that where a 
Bidder claims that its disqualification arising on account of any cause or event specified in this 
Clause 2.7.3 is such that it does not reflect (a) any malfeasance on its part in relation to such 
cause or event; (b) any willful default or patent breach of the material terms of the relevant 
contract; (c) any fraud, deceit or misrepresentation in relation to such contract; or (d) any 
rescinding or abandoning of such contract, it may make a representation to this effect to the 
Authority for seeking a waiver from the disqualification hereunder and the Authority may, in its 
sole discretion and for reasons to be recorded in writing, grant such waiver if it is satisfied with 
the grounds of such representation and is further satisfied that such waiver is not in any manner 
likely to cause a material adverse impact on the Bidding Process or on the implementation of 
the Project. 

2.7.4 This RFP is not transferable. 

2.7.5 Any award of Concession pursuant to this RFP shall be subject to the terms of the Bidding 
Documents. 

 Appointment of Independent Engineer 2.8

2.8.1 The Authority shall appoint a consulting engineering firm, to be the independent consultant 
under this Agreement (the “Independent Engineer”). The appointment shall be made no later 
than 90 (ninety) days from the date of this Agreement and shall be for a period of 2 (Two) years. 
On expiry or termination of the aforesaid period, the Authority may in its discretion renew the 
appointment, or appoint another firm from a fresh panel constituted pursuant to Schedule-I to 
be the Independent Engineer for a term of 2 (two) years, and such procedure shall be repeated 
after expiry of each appointment. The Independent engineer during project implementation/ 
construction phase shall be the PMC already engaged by DSCL for Diu Smart City project. 

If desired, by the Independent Engineer for monitoring the quality of works which is executed as 
per Indian standards, he may assign this work on his behalf to the reputed firms locally to carry 
out inspection, testing in accordance with Indian Codes. 
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 Appointment of Independent Auditor 2.9

2.9.1 Irrespective of auditor appointment by Concessionaire, separate Independent Auditor will be 
appointed by the Authority to check the books of accounts of the Concessionaire. The 
Concessionaire has to allow and permit to check all the transactions details, fees received, 
expenses, costs, realizations, which the auditors are required to do, undertake or certify. All fees 
and expenses of the Independent Auditor shall be borne by the Authority.  

2.9.2 Safety Guarantee Audit – The Concessionaire should carry out safety guarantee audit every 6 
months and submit Safety Certificates to the Authority. If not, it will be considered as an event 
of default. Safety Auditor will be appointed as per Schedule I of DCA but the firm/ individual 
appointed as an Independent Engineer for this project should not be appointed as Safety 
Auditor. 

DOCUMENTS  

 Contents of the RFP 2.10

2.10.1 This RFP comprises the disclaimer set forth hereinabove, the contents as listed below, and will 
additionally include any Addenda issued in accordance with Clause 2.12 and any clarifications 
and interpretations issued in accordance with Clause 2.11. 

Notice Inviting Tenders 

Disclaimer 

Section 1. Introduction 

Section 2. Instructions to Bidders 

Section 3. Evaluation of Bids 

Section 4. Fraud & Corrupt Practices 

Section 5. Pre Bid Conference 

Section 6. Miscellaneous 

Appendices 

I. Appendix I: Annex I : Letter for Bid 
Appendix I: Annex II: Details of Bidder 
Appendix I: Annex III: Statement of Legal Capacity 
Appendix I: Annex IV: Bank Guarantee for Bid Security 

II. Appendix II: Power of Attorney for signing of Bid 
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III. Appendix III: Power of Attorney for Lead Member of Consortium 
IV. Appendix IV: Joint Bidding Agreement for Consortium 
V. Appendix V: Anti-Collusion Certificate 

VI. Appendix VI: Annex I: Format of Financial Capacity for purpose of evaluation 
Appendix VI: Annex II: Format of Technical Capacity for purpose of evaluation 
Appendix VI: Annex III: Details of Eligible Projects 

VII. Appendix VII: Format of Commercial Proposal 
VIII. Appendix VIII: Guidelines of the Department of Disinvestment 

IX. Appendix IX: Certificate of Undertaking from OEM- Supply and Installation 
X. Appendix X: Certificate of Undertaking from OEM- Maintenance 

XI. Appendix XI: Project Information Memorandum 

2.10.2 Draft Concession Agreement. 

 Clarifications 2.11

2.11.1 Bidders requiring any clarification on the RFP may notify the Authority in writing in accordance 
with below given table. They should send in their queries on or before the date mentioned in 
the Schedule of Bidding Process specified in Clause 1.3. 

2.11.2 Any queries or request for additional information concerning this RFP shall be submitted 
through speed post/courier/special messenger and by e-mail (diudscl@gmail.com) to the officer 
by the specified date. The envelopes/ communications shall clearly bear the following 
identification/title: “Queries/Request for Additional Information: “Development of Cable Car 
from Diu to Ghoghla on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP 
Framework” The queries should be sent to: 

The Manager Construction, Diu Smart City Ltd, C/o Diu Municipal council, Fort Road, Diu, - 
362520, e-mail - diudscl@gmail.com 

Sl. No Clause No. Existing Provision 
Clarification 

Required 
Suggested Text for 

Amendment 
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2.11.3 The Authority shall endeavor to respond to the questions raised or clarifications sought by the 
Bidders. However, the Authority reserves the right not to respond to any question or provide 
any clarification, in its sole discretion, and nothing in this Clause shall be taken or read as 
compelling or requiring the Authority to respond to any question or to provide any clarification 
including within any specified time limit. All the queries and its responses thereto, shall be 
hoisted on the website. 

2.11.4 The Authority however reserves the right not to respond to any question or provide any 
clarification, in its sole discretion, and nothing in this Clause shall be taken or read as compelling 
or requiring the Authority to respond to any question or to provide any clarification. 

2.11.5 The Authority may also on its own motion, if deemed necessary, issue interpretations and 
clarifications to all Bidders. All clarifications and interpretations issued shall be deemed to be 
part of the Bidding Documents. Verbal clarifications and information given by the Authority or 
its employees or representatives shall not in any way or manner be binding on the Authority. 

 Amendment of RFP 2.12

2.12.1 At any time prior to the Bid Due Date, the Authority may, for any reason, whether at its own 
initiative or in response to clarifications requested by a Bidder, modify the RFP by the issuance 
of an addendum to the RFP. 

2.12.2 Any addendum issued hereunder will be published on the e-procure website. 

2.12.3 In order to afford the Bidders a reasonable time for taking an addendum into account, or for any 
other reason, the Authority may, in its sole discretion, extend the Bid Due Date. 

PREPARATION AND SUBMISSION OF BIDS 

 Format and Signing of Bid 2.13

2.13.1 The Bidder shall in its Bid provide all the information sought under the Bidding Documents. The 
Authority will evaluate only those Bids that are received in the required formats and complete in 
all respects. 

2.13.2 The Bid shall be typed or written in indelible ink and signed by the authorized signatory of the 
Bidder who shall also initial each page, in blue ink. In case of printed and published documents, 
only the cover shall be initialed. All the alterations, omissions, additions or any other 
amendments made to the Bid shall be initialed by the person(s) signing the Bid. The Bid shall 
contain page numbers. 
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2.13.3 Bidders should attach clearly marked and referenced continuation sheets in the event that the 
space provided in the prescribed forms in the Annexes is insufficient.; Alternatively, Bidders may 
format the prescribed forms making due provision for incorporation of the requested 
information; 

2.13.4 The information supplied by a Bidder (or other constituent Member if the Bidder is a 
Consortium) must apply to the Bidder, Member named in the Bid and not, unless specifically 
requested, to other associated companies or firms; 

2.13.5 While qualification is open to firms from any country, the following provisions shall apply for 
foreign countries: 

a. Where, on the date of the Bid, 25% (twenty five per cent) or more of the aggregate issued, 
subscribed and paid up equity share capital in a Bidder or its Member is held by persons 
resident outside India or where a Bidder or its Member is controlled by persons resident 
outside India; or 

b. if at any subsequent stage after the date of the Bid, there is an acquisition of 25% (twenty 
five per cent) of the aggregate issued, subscribed and paid up equity share capital or control, 
by persons resident outside India, in or of the Bid or its Member; 

i. then the qualification of such Bidder or in the event described in sub clause b) above, the 
continued qualification of the Bidder shall be subject to approval of the Authority from 
national security and public interest perspective. The decision of the Authority in this 
behalf shall be final and conclusive and binding on the Bidder. 

ii. The holding or acquisition of equity or control, as above, shall include direct or indirect 
holding/ acquisition, including by transfer, of the direct or indirect legal or beneficial 
ownership or control, by persons acting for themselves or in concert and in determining 
such holding or acquisition, the Authority shall be guided by the principles, precedents 
and definitions contained in the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial 
Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) Regulations, 1997, or any substitute thereof, as in 
force on the date of such acquisition. 

iii. The Bidder shall promptly inform the Authority of any change in the shareholding, as 
above, and failure to do so shall render the Bidder liable for disqualification from the 
Bidding Process. 
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 Uploading of Bids 2.14

2.14.1 The interested bidders (“Bidders”) are being called upon to submit their technical and financial 
capacity details in Cover-1 at the e-tendering website (“Qualification”) as per relevant Appendix 
mentioned in Clause 2.15 and financial proposals in the format at Appendix-VII in Cover-2 at the 
e-tendering website (“Commercial Proposal”) (both shall collectively have referred as “Bid”) in 
accordance with the terms specified in these Bidding Documents. The Bid shall be valid for a 
period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days from the Bid Due Date. The Bidders shall submit 
their respective Bids online at the e procure website (https://ddtenders.gov.in/) only. Any bid 
submitted in physical form shall be rejected by the Authority. For the purpose of submission of 
the Bid online, a Bidder shall first register itself on the e-tendering website. 

2.14.2 Each Bid shall have to be prepared and submitted in accordance with provisions of this RFP. 
Thus the Bid shall comprise of 2 (two) submissions: 

Submission 1: Technical Proposal (Qualification) 
Submission 2: Commercial Proposal 
The Bid shall be in accordance with Clause 2.14. 

2.14.3 The documents for each Submission as per Clause 2.14.2, should be uploaded by the Bidders in 
the form of PDF files in the same order as mentioned below, on the e-tendering website during 
the online Bid Preparation stage. Also two physical copies of technical proposal required to be 
submitted at Diu Smart City office on or before the Bid Due Date. In case of any discrepancy of 
information between online and physical submission, then online submission shall be final. 

 Submission 1: Technical Proposal (Qualification) 2.15

a. A Bidder is required to deposit, along with its Bid, a bid security of Rs. 20,00,000/- (Rupees 
Twenty Lakh only) (the “Bid Security”), which is refundable, except in the case of the Selected 
Bidder whose Bid Security shall be retained till it has provided a Performance Security as 
mentioned in the Concession Agreement. The Bidders will have to provide Bid Security in the 
form of a bank guarantee acceptable from the any Scheduled Commercial Bank in India 
preferably a nationalized Bank to the Authority, in the format specified in Appendix-I Annex IV 
or the Demand Draft from the any Scheduled Commercial Bank in India preferably a nationalized 
bank Payable at Diu. The validity period of bank guarantee shall not be less than 240 (two 
hundred forty) days from the Bid Due Date, inclusive of a claim period of 60 (sixty) days, and 
may be extended as may be mutually agreed between the Authority and the Bidder from time 
to time. The Bid shall be summarily rejected if it is not accompanied by the Bid Security. 

b. Bid in the prescribed format (Appendix I to Appendix X) along with Annexes and supporting 
documents should be submitted for technical eligibility and Appendix – VII for Commercial 
proposal to be submitted separately; 

c. Power of Attorney for signing of Bid in the format at Appendix-II; 
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d. If applicable, the Power of Attorney for Lead Member of Consortium in the format at Appendix-
III; 

e. If applicable, the Joint Bidding Agreement between the Members of Consortium in the format at 
Appendix-IV; 

f. Anti-Collusion Certificate in the format at Appendix V; 
g. Certified true copy of the incorporation certificate of the Single Entity Company. In the case of a 

Consortium, certified true copy of the incorporation certificate of each of the Members of the 
Consortium companies; and 

h. Bidding Documents signed by the authorized signatory of the Bidder. 
i. If Bidder is willing to add any additional facilities for passengers, tourists or for revenue 

generation the same may submitted with detailed drawings and brief scheme 
j. Draft Concession Agreement/RFP duly signed on every page by the Bidder should be submitted 

along with technical proposal. 

Submission 2: Commercial Proposal 

a. The Commercial Proposal shall be submitted in the format specified at Appendix VII. 
b. It may be noted that Bids of Bidders, which do not contain the Commercial Proposal as specified 

in the RFP, would be considered as invalid and liable for rejection. 

2.15.1 All eligible/interested Bidders are required to be enrolled on portal “https://ddtenders.gov.in/” 
before downloading tender documents and participate in e-tendering. 

2.15.2 Other instructions can be seen in the tender form. All or any one of the tender may be rejected 
by competent authority. 

2.15.3 Bidders will have to pay cost of Tender Document through Demand Draft of Rs 10,000/- (Rupees 
Ten thousand only) including all taxes towards the non-refundable Tender Fee. The payment of 
Tender fee is to be made in favour of "Chief Executive Officer, DSCL, Diu" on any 
Scheduled/Nationalized Bank having its branch at Diu. The same shall be submitted along with 
the Bid Security prior to the bid due date, failing which the offer of the firm will be left out of 
consideration. The downloading of the tender documents shall be carried out strictly as 
provided on the web site. No editing, addition / deletion of matter shall be permitted. If such 
action is observed at any stage, such offer is liable for outright rejection. 

2.15.4 For a bidder, online bidding process consists of following 3 stages: 

1. Online Tender Document Download 
2. Online Bid Preparation- Technical 
3. Online Bid Submission- Commercial 

All of 3 stages are mandatory in order for Bidders to successfully complete Online Bidding Process. 
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 Bid Due Date 2.16

2.16.1 Bids should be submitted as per the schedule provided in Clause 1.3 and in the manner provided 
in Clause 2.13 and Clause 2.14 and in form as detailed in the Bidding Documents. 

2.16.2 The Authority may, in its sole discretion, extend the Bid Due Date by issuing an addendum in 
accordance with Clause 2.12 uniformly for all Bidders. 

 Late Bids 2.17

2.17.1 Bids will not be accepted by the e-tendering system (or the Authority) after the specified time 
on the Bid Due Date under any circumstances. 

 Contents of the Bid (Commercial Proposal) 2.18

2.18.1 Without prejudice to the other provisions of the Bidding Documents, the Bid shall be furnished 
in the format at Appendix-VII, and shall consist of a revenue share, offered to the Authority, in 
the form of percentage share of Gross Revenue to be quoted by the Bidder to undertake the 
Project in accordance with this RFP and the provisions of the Concession Agreement. The Bidder 
shall pay to the Authority in Four Equal Installment, equivalent to higher of: 

i. Revenue Share as a %age (To be quoted as bid variable by the Bidder, (subject to a minimum 
5% of the Gross Revenue) of the Gross Revenue for the period. 

ii. Minimum Guarantee Payment of that period - INR 10 Lakh, (Ten lakh) per annum, Payment 
shall be made in four equal installment, Minimum Guarantee payment will be increase at a 
rate of 5% each year over the Minimum Guarantee Payment of the previous year. 

2.18.2 The Revenue Share shall be payable in the form and manner provided in the Concession 
Agreement. 

2.18.3 Generally, the Project will be awarded to the Highest Bidder. 

2.18.4 The opening of Bids and acceptance thereof shall be substantially in accordance with the 
Bidding Documents. 

2.18.5 The draft Concession Agreement enclosed with this RFP shall be deemed to be part of the Bid. 
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 Modifications/Substitution/Withdrawal of Bids 2.19

2.19.1 The Bidder may modify, substitute or withdraw its Bid after submission, provided that written 
notice of the modification, substitution or withdrawal is received by the Authority prior to the 
Bid Due Date. No Bid shall be modified, substituted or withdrawn by the Bidder on or after the 
Bid Due Date. 

 Rejection of Bids 2.20

2.20.1 Notwithstanding anything contained in this RFP, the Authority reserves the right to reject any 
Bid and to annul the Bidding Process and reject all Bids at any time without any liability or any 
obligation for such acceptance, rejection or annulment, and without assigning any reasons 
thereof. In the event that the Authority rejects or annuls all the Bids, it may, in its discretion, 
invite all eligible Bidders to submit fresh Bids hereunder. 

2.20.2 The Authority reserves the right not to proceed with the Bidding Process or to modify the 
Bidding Process at any time, without notice or liability, and to reject any Bid without assigning 
any reasons. 

 Validity of Bids 2.21

2.21.1 The Bids shall be valid for a period of not less than 180 (one hundred and eighty) days from the 
Bid Due Date. The validity of Bids may be extended by mutual consent of the respective Bidders 
and the Authority. 

 Confidentiality 2.22

2.22.1 Information relating to the examination, clarification, evaluation and recommendation for the 
Bidders shall not be disclosed to any person who is not officially concerned with the Bidding 
Process or is not a retained professional advisor advising the Authority in relation to or matters 
arising out of, or concerning the Bidding Process. The Authority will treat all information, 
submitted as part of the Bid, in confidence and will require all those who have access to such 
material to treat the same in confidence. The Authority may not divulge any such information 
unless it is directed to do so by any statutory entity that has the power under law to require its 
disclosure or is to enforce or assert any right or privilege of the statutory entity and/or the 
Authority or as may be required by law or in connection with any legal process. 

 Correspondence with the Bidder 2.23

2.23.1 Save and except as provided in this RFP, the Authority shall not entertain any correspondence 
with any Bidder in relation to acceptance or rejection of any Bid. 
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 Bid Security 2.24

2.24.1 The Bidder shall furnish as part of its Bid, the Bid Security of Rs. 20,00,000/- (Rupees Twenty 
Lakh only) must be submitted in sealed envelope along with the hard copy of Submission 1: 
Qualification prior to the bid due date. 

2.24.2 Any Bid not accompanied by the Bid Security shall be summarily rejected as non-responsive. 

2.24.3 The Bid Security of the Bidder not qualifying in the Technical eligibility will be returned without 
any interest as promptly as possible. 

The Bid Security of unsuccessful Bidders (Commercial Proposal) will be returned, without any 
interest, as promptly as possible after execution of the LOA by the Selected Bidder or when the 
Bidding Process is cancelled. 

2.24.4 The Selected Bidder’s Bid Security will be returned, without any interest, upon the signing the 
Concession Agreement and furnishing the Performance Security. The Authority shall retain the 
Bid Security of the Selected Bidder until the execution of the Concession Agreement and 
furnishing of the Performance Security. The Performance Guarantee shall be for a sum of Rs. 1 
Crore (Rupees One Crore only) (fixed at 5% of the Estimated Project Cost) for the initial 
18(Eighteen) months after COD and thereafter sum of Rs. 50 Lakh (Rupees Fifty Lakh only) (fixed 
at 2.5% of the Estimated Project Cost).Till such time the Concessionaire provides to 
Concessioning Authority the Performance Security pursuant hereto, the Bid Security shall 
remain in full force and effect. 

2.24.5 The Authority shall be entitled to forfeit and appropriate the Bid Security as liquidated damages 
inter alia in any of the events specified in Clause 2.24.6 herein below and pursuant to other 
provisions of this RFP providing for a forfeiture of Bid Security. The Bidder, by submitting its Bid 
pursuant to this RFP, shall be deemed to have acknowledged and confirmed that the Authority 
will suffer loss and damage on account of withdrawal of its Bid or for any other default by the 
Bidder during the period of Bid validity as specified in this RFP. No relaxation of any kind on Bid 
Security shall be given to any Bidder. 

2.24.6 The Bid Security shall be forfeited as liquidated damages without prejudice to any other right or 
remedy that may be available to the Authority under the Bidding Documents and/ or under the 
Concession Agreement, or otherwise, under the following conditions: 

a. If a Bidder engages in a corrupt practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, undesirable 
practice or restrictive practice as specified in Section 4 of this RFP; 

b. If a Bidder modifies or substitutes (without the prior written approval of the Authority) or 
withdraws its Bid during the period of Bid validity as specified in this RFP and as extended in 
accordance with the terms of the Bidding Documents; or 

c. In the case of Selected Bidder, if within the specified time limit – 
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i. it fails to sign and return the duplicate copy of LOA; 
ii. it fails to incorporate the SPV or such SPV fails or refuses to sign the Concession 

Agreement; 
iii. the SPV fails to provide the Performance Security in accordance with the Bidding 

Document; 
iv. the Successful Bidder fails or refuses to provide any documents required to be provided 

by it after its selection; 
v. the Successful Bidder, having signed the Concession Agreement, commits any breach 

thereof prior to furnishing the Performance Security. 
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3 Evaluation of Bids 

 Opening and Evaluation of Bids 3.1

3.1.1 The Authority will examine and evaluate the Bids in accordance with the provisions set out in 
this Section 3. 

3.1.2 To facilitate evaluation of Bids, the Authority may, at its sole discretion, seek clarifications in 
writing from any Bidder regarding its Bid and such Bidder shall provide its response within the 
time period specified by the Authority in this regard. 

 Tests of responsiveness 3.2

3.2.1 Prior to evaluation of Bids, the Authority shall determine whether each Bid is responsive to the 
requirements of this RFP. A Bid shall be considered responsive only if: 

a. it is received as per the format specified in this document for Technical proposal; 
b. it is received by the Bid Due Date including any extension thereof pursuant to Clause 2.16.2; 
c. it is signed, marked and uploaded as stipulated in Clauses 2.13, 2.14 and 2.15; 
d. the Bid Security and tender fee is paid as specified in Clause 2.1.5 and 2.15.3 respectively; 
e. it is accompanied by the Power(s) of Attorney as specified in Clauses 2.1.6 and 2.1.7, as the 

case may be; 
f. it contains certificates from its statutory auditors/chartered accountant in the formats 

specified at Appendix VI of the RFP; 
g. it contains all the information (complete in all respects) as requested in this RFP and/or 

Bidding Documents (and if formats have been specified, then in those formats); 
h. it contains the Bidding Documents signed by the authorized signatory of the Bidder; 
i. it does not contain any condition or qualification; and 
j. it is not non-responsive or inconsistent in terms of the Bidding Documents. 

3.2.2 The Authority reserves the right to reject any Bid which is non-responsive and no request for 
alteration, modification, substitution or withdrawal shall be entertained by the Authority in 
respect of such Bid. 

 Selection of Bidder 3.3

3.3.1 Subject to the provisions of Clause 2.20.1, the Bidder whose Bid is adjudged as responsive in 
terms of Clause 3.2.1, has quoted the highest Revenue Share offered to the Authority, shall be 
declared as the successful Bidder (the “Selected Bidder”). The revenue share will be computed 
against the gross revenue. The Gross Revenue shall be computed as detailed in Clause 1.2.6. 
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3.3.2 In the event that two or more Bidders quote the same amount of Revenue Share (“Tie Bidders”), 
the Authority shall identify the Selected Bidder by draw of lots, which shall be conducted, with 
prior notice, in presence of the Tie Bidders who choose to attend. 

3.3.3 In the event that the Highest Bidder withdraws or is not selected for any reason whatsoever 
(“first round of bidding”), the Authority may invite all the remaining Bidders to revalidate or 
extend their respective Bid Security, as necessary, and match the Bid of the aforesaid Highest 
Bidder (“second round of bidding”) within the period notified in such notice of invitation. If in 
the second round of bidding, only one Bidder matches the Highest Bidder, it shall be the 
Selected Bidder. If two or more Bidders match the said Highest Bidder in the second round of 
bidding, then the Bidder whose Bid was higher as compared to other Bidder(s) in the first round 
of bidding shall be the Selected Bidder. For example, if the third and fifth highest Bidders in the 
first round of bidding offer to match the said Highest Bidder in the second round of bidding, the 
said third highest Bidder shall be the Selected Bidder. 

3.3.4 In the event that no Bidder offers to match the Highest Bidder in the second round of bidding as 
specified in Clause 3.3.3, the Authority may, in its discretion, invite fresh Bids (“third round of 
bidding”) from all Bidders except the Highest Bidder of the first round of bidding, or annul the 
Bidding Process, as the case may be. In case the Bidders are invited in the third round of bidding 
to revalidate or extend their Bid Security, as necessary, and offer fresh Bids, they shall be eligible 
for submission of fresh Bids provided, however, that in such third round of bidding only such 
Bids shall be eligible for consideration which are higher than the Bid of the second highest 
Bidder in the first round of bidding. 

3.3.5 After selection, a Letter of Award (“LOA”) shall be issued, in duplicate, by the Authority to the 
Selected Bidder and the Selected Bidder shall, within 7 (seven) days of the receipt of the LOA, 
sign and return the duplicate copy of the LOA in acknowledgement thereof. In the event the 
duplicate copy of the LOA duly signed by the Selected Bidder is not received by the stipulated 
date, the Authority may, unless it consents to extension of time for submission thereof, 
appropriate the Bid Security of such Bidder as Damages on account of failure of the Selected 
Bidder to acknowledge the LOA, and the next eligible Bidder may be considered. 

3.3.6 After acknowledgement of the LOA as aforesaid by the Selected Bidder, it shall cause the 
Concessionaire to execute the Concession Agreement within the period prescribed in Clause 1.3. 
The Selected Bidder shall not be entitled to seek any deviation, modification or amendment in 
the Concession Agreement. 

3.3.7 The evaluation of Bids shall be undertaken in the following sequence: 

1. Evaluation of Submission 1: Qualification; 
2. Evaluation of Submission 2: Commercial Proposal 
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 Evaluation of Submission 1: Qualification 3.4

3.4.1 For the purpose of qualifying under Submission 1, the Bidder shall have to demonstrate the 
minimum Technical Capacity as stipulated under clauses 3.4.4 and minimum Financial Capacity 
as stipulated under Clause 3.4.6 and 3.4.7 of this RFP document. 

3.4.2 In computing the eligibility under Clauses 3.4.4, 3.4.5, 3.4.6. and 3.4.7 of the Bidder/ Consortium 
Members, which is a company or a corporation, the Technical Capacity, Financial Capacity of 
their respective Associates would be eligible hereunder. 

3.4.3 Deleted 

3.4.4 Eligibility Criteria – Technical Capacity 

The Bidder shall meet the following eligibility criteria for Technical Qualification. Certification in support 
of qualification criteria shall be submitted along with details in relevant Annexures. 

Category-1 

a. Must have an experience of at least one Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs. 16 Crores or Two 
Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs 10 Crore or three Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs 8 Crore in 
the last Seven years. 

b. Must have an experience of single marine project of Rs. 20 Crores in the last Seven years. 

(OR) 

Category-2 

a. Must have an experience of at least one Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs. 16 Crores or Two 
Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs 10 Crore or three Ropeway/Cable Car Project of Rs 8 Crore in 
the last Seven years. 

b. Must have an experience of any infrastructure project (marine not necessary) of Rs.40 Crore in 
maximum 3 cumulative projects in the last Seven years. 

(OR) 

Category-3 

Must have an experience of any infrastructure project (marine necessary) of Rs.40 Crore in maximum 3 
cumulative projects in the last 7 years. 

Note 

a. The cost of the projects specified in the categories above should be excluding of land cost. 
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b. It is a mandatory condition for the Bidder to furnish the Certificate of undertaking from 3S 
manufacturer as per the format given by the Authority along with the Technical Proposal as 
provided in Appendix – IX. 

c. It is a mandatory condition that the Bidder should furnish the undertaking from manufacturer of 
equipment and guarantee of equipment of 10 years along with maintenance of 10 years. 

d. The infrastructure projects to be considered is per the harmonized list of the infrastructure 
project. 

e. For the evaluation purpose, the successfully completed projects will only be considered as 
eligible projects. 

3.4.4.1 The successful completion certificate / other relevant certificate(s) from client / concerned 
authority should be submitted in support of the eligibility claims along with the Technical 
Proposal. The abovementioned information is to be submitted as per the relevant Appendix 
along with the Technical Proposal. 

3.4.5 Technical capacity for purpose of evaluation 

3.4.5.1 Experience for any activity relating to an Eligible Project shall not be claimed by two or more 
Members of the Consortium. In other words, no double counting by a Consortium in respect of 
the same experience for a particular category shall be permitted in any manner whatsoever. 

3.4.5.2 The Bidder must furnish the details of experience of the Eligible Project for the last 7 (Seven) 
Financial Years immediately preceding the Bid Due Date. This will include certificate(s) from its 
statutory auditors1 or its concerned client stating the payments made/ received or works 
commissioned, as the case may be, during the past 7 (Seven) years in respect of the project 
submitted for evaluation of Technical Capacity as per Clause 3.4.4; In case a particular job/ 
contract has been jointly executed by the Bidder (as part of a consortium), it should further 
support its claim for the share in work done for that particular job/ contract by producing a 
certificate from its statutory auditor or from the client. 

3.4.5.3 The Bidder should furnish the required information and evidence in support of its claim of 
Technical Capacity, as per format specified at Annex II of Appendix-VI. The information and 
evidence in support of Technical Capacity as per format at Annex III of Appendix VI shall form 
part of the Submission I. 

 

                                                           
1 Jurisdictions that do not have statutory auditor, the firm of auditors (Chartered Accountant) which audits the 
annual accounts of the Bidder may provide the certificates required under this RFP 
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3.4.5.4 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that the Bid Due Date 
falls within 3 (three) months of the closing of the latest Financial Year of a Bidder, it shall 
ignore such Financial Year for the purposes of its Bid and furnish all its information and 
certification with reference to the 7 (Seven) Financial Years, preceding its latest Financial Year. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Financial Year shall, for the purposes of a Bid hereunder, mean 
accounting year followed by the Bidder in the course of its normal business. 

3.4.5.5 Deleted. 

3.4.6 Eligibility Criteria – Financial Capacity 

3.4.6.1 In any of the category (category 1, 2 or 3), the Bidder shall have to demonstrate the minimum 
Average Turnover and positive net worth (the “Financial Capacity”) as; 

a. Minimum Average Annual turnover of Rs 6,00,00,000/- (Rupees Six crores) in last 3 year 
only. 

b. Positive net worth at the close of preceding financial year 

For the purposes of this RFP, Net Worth (the “Net Worth”) shall mean the sum of subscribed 
and paid up equity and reserves from which shall be deducted the sum of revaluation reserves, 
miscellaneous expenditure not written off and reserves not available for distribution to equity 
shareholders. 

3.4.7 Financial Information for Purpose of evaluation 

3.4.7.1 The Bidder shall provide a certificate from its statutory auditor specifying the Average Annual 
turnover and Net Worth of the Bidder. 

3.4.7.2 The Bid must be accompanied by the audited annual reports of the Bidder (or Members who 
are to be evaluated for Financial Capacity in case of a Consortium) for the last 3 (three) 
Financial Years, preceding the year in which the Bid is made. 

3.4.7.3 In case the annual accounts for the latest Financial Year are not audited and therefore the 
Bidder could not make it available, the Bidder shall give an undertaking to this effect and the 
statutory auditor shall certify the same. In such a case, the Bidder shall provide the audited 
annual reports for 3(three) years preceding the year for which the audited annual report is not 
being provided. Also Income tax returns or copies of 26 AS should be furnished. 

3.4.7.4 The Bidder must establish an average annual turnover and minimum Net Worth as specified in 
Clause 3.4.5 and provide details as per format at Annex-I of Appendix-VI. 
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3.4.7.5 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that the Bid Due Date 
falls within 3 (three) months of the closing of the latest Financial Year of a Bidder, it shall 
ignore such Financial Year for the purposes of its Bid and furnish all its information and 
certification with reference to the 5 (five) Financial Years for Technical Capacity or 3 (three) 
Financial years for Financial Capacity, as the case may be, preceding its latest Financial Year. 
For the avoidance of doubt, the Financial Year shall, for the purposes of a Bid hereunder, mean 
accounting year followed by the Bidder in the course of its normal business. 

3.4.8 Shortlisting of bidders 

3.4.8.1 The bidders meeting eligibility criteria, Clause 3.4.4, Clause 3.4.5 and Clause 3.4.6 would be 
deemed eligible. 

3.4.8.2 Deleted 

3.4.8.3 Only those bidders who also qualified as per terms mentioned in the RFP will have their 
Commercial Proposals evaluated. 

3.4.8.4 If the Bidder does not meet the minimum Technical Capacity and Financial Capacity as 
specified, then the Bidder shall be disqualified from the Bidding Process and the Bid Security of 
the Bidder shall be returned as per Clause 2.24.3 and their Commercial Proposals shall not be 
opened. 

 Bid Parameter 3.5

3.5.1 The Bid shall comprise a Revenue Share, to be quoted by the Bidder in accordance with the 
provisions of the Concession Agreement. The Bidder who offers the highest percentage of 
Revenue Share for Gross Revenue share from Cable Car project shall ordinarily be the Successful 
Bidder. The Revenue Share comprising the Bid shall be offered in accordance with the provisions 
of Clause 3.5.2. 

3.5.2 The Bid for the Project shall comprise of a Revenue Share that shall be payable by the Bidder to 
the Authority. The share as quoted by the Bidder in the Commercial Proposal shall be payable 
on Quarterly basis from the Date of signing the Concession Agreement. 

 Evaluation of Submission 2: Commercial Proposal 3.6

3.6.1 The Commercial Proposal evaluation seeks to select the Bidder offering the best commercial 
terms. The information requirements and guidelines for submission of the Commercials 
Proposal are detailed in Appendix VII of this RFP document. 
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3.6.2 Subject to the provisions of Clause 2.20, the Bidder whose Bid is adjudged as responsive in 
terms of Clause 3.2 and is short-listed and who quotes the highest Revenue Share offered to the 
Authority, shall ordinarily be declared as the successful Bidder (the “Selected Bidder”). In the 
event that the Authority rejects or annuls all the Bids, it may, in its discretion, invite all Bidders 
to submit fresh Bids hereunder. 

3.6.3 Bidders are requested to note that the Revenue Share quoted in the Commercial Proposal shall 
not have any conditionality attached or deviations from the Concession Agreement or RFP. Bids 
with conditions attached shall be treated as non-responsive. 

3.6.4 In the event that two or more Bidders quote the same amount of Revenue Share (the “Tie 
Bidders”), the Successful Bidder shall be identified by draw of lots, which shall be conducted, 
with prior notice, in the presence of the Tie Bidders who choose to attend. 

3.6.5 In the event that the Highest Bidder withdraws or is not selected for any reason in the first 
instance (the “first round of bidding”), all the remaining Bidders may be invited to revalidate or 
extend their respective Bid Security, as necessary, and match the Bid of the aforesaid Highest 
Bidder (the “second round of bidding”). If in the second round of bidding, only one Bidder 
matches the Highest Bidder, it shall be the Successful Bidder. If two or more Bidders match the 
said Highest Bidder in the second round of bidding, then the Bidder whose Bid was higher as 
compared to other Bidder(s) in the first round of bidding shall be the Successful Bidder. For 
example, if the third and fifth lowest Bidders in the first round of bidding offer to match the said 
Highest Bidder in the second round of bidding, the said third Highest Bidder shall be the 
Successful Bidder. 

3.6.6 In the event that no Bidder offers to match the Highest Bidder in the second round of bidding as 
specified in Clause 3.6.5, the Authority may, in its discretion, invite fresh Bids (the “third round 
of bidding”) from all Bidders except the Highest Bidder of the first round of bidding, or annul the 
Bidding Process, as the case may be. In case the Bidders are invited in the third round of bidding 
to revalidate or extend their Bid Security, as necessary, and offer fresh Bids, they shall be eligible 
for submission of fresh Bids provided, however, that in such third round of bidding only such 
Bids shall be eligible for consideration which are higher than the Bid of the second highest 
Bidder in the first round of bidding. 
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 Issue of LOA and execution of the Concession Agreement 3.7

3.7.1 Subsequent to the Selection of the Selected Bidder, a letter of award (“LOA” or “Letter of 
Award”) would be issued, in duplicate, to the Selected Bidder, by the Authority. Within 7 (seven) 
days from the date of issue of the LOA, the Selected Bidder shall sign and return the duplicate 
copy of the LOA in acknowledgement thereof. In the event the duplicate copy of the LOA duly 
signed by the Successful Bidder is not received by the stipulated date, the Authority may, unless 
it consents to extension of time for submission thereof, appropriate the Bid Security of such 
Bidder as Damages on account of failure of the Selected Bidder to acknowledge the LOA, and 
the next eligible Bidder may be considered. After receipt of the acknowledgement from the 
Selected Bidder, the Authority will promptly notify other Bidders that their Commercial 
Proposals have been unsuccessful and their Bid Security shall be returned within 30 (thirty) 
days, without interest, of the receipt of the acknowledgement from the Successful Bidder. The 
Selected Bidder on the date of signing of the Concession Agreement shall furnish the 
Performance Security by way of an irrevocable Bank Guarantee issued by a 
Scheduled/Nationalized bank in favour of the Authority (en-cashable at Diu), as required under 
the Concession Agreement. 

Failure of the Selected Bidder to comply with the requirements mentioned in the above 
paragraph shall constitute sufficient grounds for the annulment of the LOA, and forfeiture of the 
Bid Security. In such an event, the Authority reserves the right to select the Successful Bidder as 
per Clause 3.6 or take any such measure as may be deemed fit in the sole discretion of the 
Authority, including annulment of the Bidding Process. 

3.7.2 Special Purpose Company 

a. After the issue of the LOA, the Selected Bidder shall incorporate a special purpose company 
specifically formed and incorporated in India only for the purpose of undertaking the Project 
pursuant to the Concession Agreement (“SPV” or the "Special Purpose Company") as a 
limited liability company under the Companies Act 2013. The Selected Bidder shall ensure 
that the Special Purpose Company is incorporated and capitalised within thirty (30) days 
from the date of issue of the LOA and promptly upon such incorporation and capitalisation 
provide evidence thereof to the Authority. 

b. Subject to the terms of the Concession Agreement, in the event that the Selected Bidder is a 
Single Entity, the shareholding of the Special Purpose Company shall be owned directly by 
such Single Entity. 

c. In the event that the Selected Bidder is a Consortium, the shareholding of the Special 
Purpose Company shall be owned directly by the Members in accordance with the terms of 
the Bidding Documents including the Concession Agreement and shall comply with the 
following additional requirements: 

i. Number of members in a consortium shall not exceed 3 (three) 
ii. Subject to this provision of sub-clause (i) above, the Bid should contain the information 

required for each member of the Consortium; 
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iii. members of the Consortium shall nominate one member as the lead member (the "Lead 
Member"). The nomination(s) shall be supported by a Power of Attorney, as per the 
format at Appendix-III, signed by all the other members of the Consortium; 

iv. the Bidder should include a brief description of the roles and responsibilities of 
individual members, particularly with reference to financial, technical obligations; 

v. an individual Bidder cannot at the same time be member of a Consortium applying for 
qualification. Further, a member of a particular Consortium cannot be member of any 
other Consortium applying for qualification; 

vi. the members of a Consortium shall form an appropriate SPV to execute the Agreement 
and implement the Project, if awarded to the Consortium. The other shareholders in the 
SPV should not have been disqualified under the criteria mentioned herein. 

vii. members of the Consortium shall enter into a binding Joint Bidding Agreement, 
substantially in the form specified at Appendix-IV (the "Joint Bidding Agreement"), for 
the purpose of submitting this Bid. 

d. The Special Purpose Company shall execute the Concession Agreement within the period 
prescribed in concession agreement (unless such period is extended by the Authority). Upon 
or prior to such execution by the Special Purpose Company it shall submit to the Authority 
the Performance Security in accordance with the Bidding Documents. 

3.7.3 The Authority reserves the right to cancel the award in case the Successful Bidder fails to 
incorporate the Special Purpose Company or the Special Purpose Company fails or refuses to 
sign the Concession Agreement and/or does not submit the Performance Security and/or the 
other documents mentioned in the Bidding Documents. 

 Contacts during Bid Evaluation 3.8

3.8.1 Bids shall be deemed to be under consideration immediately after they are opened and until 
such time the Authority makes official intimation of award/rejection to the Bidders. While the 
Bids are under consideration, Bidders and/or their representatives or other interested parties 
are advised to refrain, save and except as required under the Bidding Documents, from 
contacting by any means, the Authority and/or their employees/representatives on matters 
related to the Bids under consideration. 
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4 Fraud and Corrupt Practices 

4.1  The Bidders and their respective officers, employees, agents and advisers shall observe the highest 
standard of ethics during the Bidding Process and subsequent to the issue of the LOA and during the 
subsistence of the Concession Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, 
or in the LOA or the Concession Agreement, the Authority shall reject a Bid, withdraw the LOA, or 
terminate the Concession Agreement, as the case may be, without being liable in any manner 
whatsoever to the Bidder or Developer, as the case may be, if it determines that the Bidder or 
Developer, as the case may be, has, directly or indirectly or through an agent, engaged in corrupt 
practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, undesirable practice or restrictive practice in the Bidding 
Process. In such an event, the Authority shall forfeit and appropriate the Bid Security or Construction 
Period Performance Security, as the case may be, as mutually agreed genuine pre-estimated 
compensation and damages payable to the Authority towards, inter alia, time, cost and effort of the 
Authority, without prejudice to any other right or remedy that may be available to the Authority 
hereunder or otherwise. 
 

4.2 Without prejudice to the rights of the Authority under Clause 4.1 hereinabove and the rights and 
remedies which the Authority may have under the LOA or the Concession Agreement, if a Bidder or 
Developer, as the case may be, is found by the Authority to have directly or indirectly or through an 
agent, engaged or indulged in any corrupt practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, undesirable 
practice or restrictive practice during the Bidding Process, or after the issue of the LOA or the execution 
of the Concession Agreement, such Bidder or Developer shall not be eligible to participate in any tender 
or RFP issued by the Authority during a period of 2 (two) years from the date such Bidder or Developer, 
as the case may be, is found by the Authority to have directly or indirectly or through an agent, engaged 
or indulged in any corrupt practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, undesirable practice or 
restrictive practices, as the case may be. 
 

4.3 For the purposes of this Clause , the following terms shall have the meaning hereinafter respectively 
assigned to them: 
a. “corrupt practice” means (i) the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting, directly or indirectly, 

of anything of value to influence the actions of any person connected with the Bidding 
Process (for avoidance  of  doubt,  offering of employment to or employing or engaging in any 
manner whatsoever, directly or indirectly, any official of the Authority who  is  or  has been 
associated in any manner, directly or indirectly with the Bidding Process or the LOA or has 
dealt with matters concerning the Concession Agreement or arising therefrom, before or after 
the execution thereof, at any time prior to the expiry of one year from the date such official 
resigns or retires from or otherwise ceases to be in the service of the Authority, shall be 
deemed to constitute influencing the actions of a person connected with the Bidding 
Process); or (ii) engaging in any manner whatsoever, whether during the Bidding Process or 
after the issue of the LOA or after the execution of the Concession Agreement, as the case  
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may be, any person in respect of  any matter relating to the Project or the LOA or the 
Concession Agreement, who at any time has been or is a legal, financial or technical adviser  
of the Authority in relation to any matter concerning the Project; 

b. “fraudulent practice” means a misrepresentation or omission of facts or suppression of facts 
or disclosure of incomplete facts, in order to influence the Bidding Process; 

c. “coercive practice” means impairing or harming, or threatening to impair or harm, directly or 
indirectly, any person or property to influence any person’s participation or action in the 
Bidding Process; 

d. “undesirable practice” means (i) establishing contact with any person connected with or 
employed or engaged by the Authority with the objective of canvassing, lobbying or in any 
manner influencing or attempting to influence the Bidding Process; or (ii) having a Conflict of 
Interest; and 

e. “restrictive practice” means forming a cartel or arriving at any understanding or arrangement 
among Bidders with the objective of restricting or manipulating a full and fair competition in 
the Bidding Process. 
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5 Pre-Bid Conference 

5.1 Pre-Bid conferences of the Bidders shall be convened at the designated date, time and place. Only 
duly authorized representatives of the Bidders shall be allowed to participate in the Pre-Bid 
conference. A maximum of 2 (two) representatives of each Bidder shall be allowed to participate 
on production of authority letter from the Bidder. 

During the course of Pre-Bid conferences, the Bidders will be free to seek clarifications and make 
suggestions for consideration of the Authority. The Authority shall endeavour to provide 
clarifications and such further information as it may, in its sole discretion, consider appropriate for 
facilitating a fair, transparent and competitive Bidding Process. 

The Bidder is advised to procure & study the Bidding Documents completely, undertake site visits 
and submit the queries in writing or by email to the Authority. The queries should be sent to the 
Authority at least 2 (two) working days before the scheduled Pre-Bid meeting. 
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6 Miscellaneous 

6.1 The Bidding Process shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of India 
and the Courts of Diu shall have exclusive jurisdiction over all disputes arising under, pursuant to and/or 
in connection with the Bidding Documents and/or the Bidding Process. 

6.2 The Authority, in its sole discretion and without incurring any obligation or liability, reserves the 
right, at any time, to; 

i. suspend and/ or cancel the Bidding Process and/ or amend and/ or supplement the 
Bidding Process or modify the dates or other terms and conditions relating  thereto; 

ii. consult with any Bidder in order to receive clarification or further information; 
iii. retain any information and/ or evidence submitted to the Authority by, on behalf of, 

and/ or in relation to any Bidder; and/ or 
iv. independently verify, disqualify, reject and/ or accept any and all submissions or other 

information and/ or evidence submitted by or on behalf of any Bidder. 
v. amend, modify or reissue the Bidding Documents or any part thereof; 

vi. to accept or reject any or all of the Bids; and/or 
vii. include additional evaluation criteria or to modify the eligibility criteria for the further 

short-listing of person for issue of the Bidding Documents during the Bidding Process. 
viii. to consider any variation in the Bid submitted by the Bidder provided such variation is as 

per the project scope, project structure and as per the terms and conditions of the RFP. 
 
6.3 It shall be deemed that by submitting the Bid, the Bidder agrees and releases the Authority, its 
employees, agents  and  advisers,  irrevocably, unconditionally, fully  and finally from any and all 
liability for claims, losses, damages, costs, expenses or liabilities in any way related to or arising from 
the exercise of any rights and/ or performance of any obligations hereunder, pursuant hereto and/ or 
in connection herewith and waives any and all rights and/ or claims it may have in this respect, 
whether actual or contingent, whether present or future. 
 
6.4 The bidders should note that the authority may provide support only Cable car project related 
clearances required for commencement of construction. Other clearances required for operation and 
maintenance and successful completion of the project will be the responsibility of the Concessionaire. 
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APPENDICES 
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Appendix-I Annex I 

Letter for Bid 

(To be submitted on the Letterhead of the Bidder/ Lead Member in case of a Consortium) 

 

Date: dd/mm/yyyy 

 

To, 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited, 
Diu 
 

Sub: Proposal for Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, 
Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Framework 

 

Dear Madam / Sir, 

With reference to your RFP dated_____________ I/we, having examined the RFP and understood its 
contents, hereby submit my/our Bid for the aforesaid project. The Bid is unconditional and unqualified. 

1. I/We acknowledge that the Authority will be relying on the information provided in the Bid and 
the documents accompanying such Bid for selection of the Bidders for the aforesaid Project and 
I/we certify that all information provided in the Bid and in Appendices to this Letter of Bid are 
true and correct; nothing has been omitted which renders such information misleading; and all 
documents accompanying such Bid are true copies of their respective originals. 
 

2. The Bid is being submitted and submissions in this letter are being made for the express purpose 
of our selection as Concessionaire for the aforesaid Project. 
 

3. I/We shall make available to the Authority any additional information it may find necessary or 
require to supplement or authenticate the submissions. 
 

4. I/We acknowledge the right of the Authority to reject our Bid without assigning any reason or 
otherwise and hereby waive my/our right to challenge the same on any account whatsoever. 
 

5. I/We certify that in the last 3 (three) years, I/we/any of the Members have neither failed to 
perform on any contract, as evidenced by imposition of a penalty by an arbitral or judicial 
authority or a judicial pronouncement or arbitration award, nor been expelled from any project 
or contract by any public authority nor have had any contract terminated by any public 
authority for breach on our part. 
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6. I/ We certify that we are not barred by UT Administration of Daman and Diu (UTDD), any other 

State Government in India (SG) or Government of India (GOI), or any of the agencies of 
UTDD/SG/GOI from participating in similar projects as on …………………………..(Bid Due Date). 
 

7. I/We declare that: 
 

a. I/We have examined and have no reservations to the RFP, including any addendum issued 
by the Authority; 

b. I/We do not have any Conflict of Interest in accordance with Clauses 2.1.11 and 2.1.12 of 
the RFP; 

c. I/We have not directly or indirectly or through an agent engaged or indulged in any corrupt 
practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, undesirable practice or restrictive practice, 
as defined in Section 0 of the RFP, in respect of any tender or request for proposal issued by 
or any agreement entered into with the Authority or any other public sector enterprise or 
any government, Central or UT/State;  

d. I/We hereby certify that I/we have taken steps to ensure that in conformity with the 
provisions of Clause 0 of the RFP, no person acting for me/ us or on my/our behalf has 
engaged or will engage in any corrupt practice, fraudulent practice, coercive practice, 
undesirable practice or restrictive practice; and  

 
8. I/We understand that you may cancel the Bidding Process at any time and that you are neither 

bound to accept any Bid that you may receive, without incurring any liability to the Bidders, in 
accordance with Clause 2.20 of the RFP. 
 

9. I/ We understand that the Authority or its representatives shall have the right to physically 
verify project facilities that are part of the project experience claimed by us. I/ We agree to 
abide by the decision of the Authority in this regard and hereby waive my/our right to challenge 
the same on any account whatsoever. 
 

10. I/We believe that I/we/our Consortium satisfy(s) and meet(s) all the requirements as specified in 
the RFP and are/is qualified to submit a Bid. 
 

11. I/We declare that I/we/any Member or Associate, am/are not a member of a/any other 
Consortium applying for the Project. 
 

12. I/We certify that in regard to matters other than security and integrity of the country, I/we or 
any Member have not been convicted by a court of law or indicted or adverse orders passed by 
a regulatory authority which could cast a doubt on our ability to undertake the Project or which 
relates to a grave offence that outrages the moral sense of the community. 
 

13. I/We further certify that in regard to matters relating to security and integrity of the country, 
I/we have not been charge-sheeted by any Government Instrumentality or convicted by a court 
of law. 
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14. I/We further certify that no investigation by a regulatory authority is pending either against 
me/us/any Member or against our chief executive officer or any of my/our 
directors/managers/employees. 
 

15. I/We undertake that in case due to any change in facts or circumstances during the Bidding 
Process, I/we am/are attracted by the provisions of disqualification in terms of the provisions of 
this RFP, I/we shall intimate the Authority of the same immediately. 
 

16. The Statement of Legal Capacity as per format provided at Annex-III in Appendix-I of the RFP, 
duly signed, is enclosed. The Power of Attorney for signing of Bid and the Power of Attorney for 
Lead Member of Consortium, as per format provided at Appendix II and III respectively of the 
RFP, are also enclosed. 
 

17. I/ We understand that the Successful Bidder shall either be an existing Company incorporated 
under the Indian Companies Act, 1956, or shall incorporate as such prior to execution of the 
Concession Agreement. 
 

18. I/We hereby irrevocably waive any right, which we may have at any stage at law or howsoever 
otherwise arising to challenge or question any decision taken by the Authority in connection 
with the selection of Bidders or in connection with the Bidding Process itself, in respect of the 
above mentioned Project and the terms and implementation thereof. 
 

19. In the event of my/ our being declared as the Successful Bidder, I/we agree to enter into a 
Concession Agreement in accordance with the draft that has been provided to me/ us prior to 
the Bid Due Date. We agree not to seek any changes in the aforesaid draft and agree to abide by 
the same. 
 

20. I/ We have studied all the Bidding Documents carefully and also surveyed the Project. We 
understand that except to the extent as expressly set forth in the Concession Agreement, we 
shall have no claim, right or title arising out of any documents or information provided to us by 
the Authority or in respect of any matter arising out of or relating to the Bidding Process 
including the award of Concession. 
 

21. I/ We offer a Bid Security of Rs. ____________ (Rupees in words) to the Authority in accordance 
with the RFP Document. 
 

22. The Bid Security in the form of a bank guarantee has been submitted in original to the authority 
and a scanned copy of the same has been attached with this submission. 
 

23. I/ We agree and understand that the Bid is subject to the provisions of the Bidding Documents. 
In no case, I/we shall have any claim or right of whatsoever nature if the Project / Concession is 
not awarded to me/us or our Bid is not opened or rejected. 
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24. The Revenue Share has been quoted by me/us after taking into consideration all the terms and 
conditions stated in the RFP, draft Concession Agreement, our own estimates of costs and after 
a careful assessment of the site and all the conditions that may affect the project cost and 
implementation of the project. 
 

25. I/We agree and undertake to abide by all the terms and conditions of the RFP. 
 

26. We, the Consortium Members agree and undertake to be jointly and severally liable for all the 
obligations of the Concessionaire under the Concession Agreement in accordance with the 
Concession Agreement. 
 

27. I/We agree and undertake to be jointly and severally liable for all our obligations under the 
Concession Agreement as per the provisions set out therein. 
 

28. I/ We shall keep this offer valid for 180(one hundred and eighty) days from the Bid Due Date 
specified in this RFP. 

In witness thereof, I/We submit this Bid under and in accordance with the terms of the RFP. 

 

 

Yours faithfully, 

 

(Signature of the Authorized signatory)  

Date:  

Place: ------------------------  

(Name and designation of the of the Authorized signatory)  

Name and seal of Bidder/ lead Member of the Consortium 

Note: Paragraphs in curly parenthesis may be omitted by the Bidder, if not applicable to it, or 
modified as necessary to reflect Bidder specific particulars. 

 

1. All blank spaces shall be suitably filled up by the Bidder to reflect the particulars relating 
to such Bidder. 
 

2. If the Bidder is not a consortium, the provisions applicable to consortium may be 
omitted. 
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Appendix I Annex-II 

Details of Bidder 

(To be submitted on the Letterhead of the Bidder/ Lead Member in case of a Consortium) 

 
1. Details of Bidder 

 
(a) Name: 

 
(b) Country of incorporation: 

 
(c) Address of the corporate headquarters and its branch office(s), if any, in India: 

 
(d) Date of incorporation and/or commencement of business (Please provide a true copy of the 

incorporation certificate): 
 

2. Brief description of the Company including details of its main lines of business and 
proposed role and responsibilities in this Projects: 

 
3. Details of individual(s) who will serve as  the  point  of  contact/  communication for the 

Authority: 

1. Name: 
2. Designation: 
3. Company: 
4. Address: 
5. Telephone Number: 
6. Mobile Number: 
7. E-Mail Address: 
8. Fax Number: 

 
4. Particulars of the Authorized Signatory of the Bidder: 

1. Name: 
2. Designation: 
3. Company: 
4. Address: 
5. Telephone Number: 
6. E-Mail Address: 
7. Mobile Number: 

 
5. In case of a Consortium: 

a. The information above (1-4) should be provided for all the members of the Consortium. 
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b. A copy of the Jt. Bidding Agreement, as envisaged in Clause 2.2.5 should be attached to the 
Bid. 

c. Information regarding role of each member should be provided as per table below: 
 

 
Name of Member 

Role* {Refer Clause 
2.2.5} 

Percentage of equity in the Consortium {Refer 
Clause 2.2.5} 

1.    

2.    
* The role of each Member, as may be determined by the Bidder, should be indicated in 
accordance with instruction 4 at Annex-III of Appendix VI. 

d. The following information shall also be provided for each member of the Consortium: 
 

Sl. No Criteria Yes / No 
1 Has the Bidder/ constituent of the Consortium been barred/blacklisted by the 

Central/ State Government, or any entity controlled by it, from participating in 
any project (BOT or otherwise)? 

 

2 If the answer to 1 is yes, does the bar/blacklisting subsist as on the date of Bid?  
3 Has the Bidder/ constituent of the Consortium paid liquidated damages of more 

than 5% of the contract value in a contract due to delay or has been penalised 
due to any other reason in relation to execution of a contract, in the last 3 years? 
 

 

 

6. A statement by the Bidder and each of the members of its consortium (where applicable) 
disclosing material non-performance or contractual non-compliance in past projects, contractual 
disputes and litigation/ arbitration in the recent past is given below (Attach extra sheets, if 
necessary): 
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Appendix I Annex-III 

Statement of Legal Capacity 

(To be forwarded on the letterhead of the Bidder/lead Member of Consortium) 

 

Date: 

To, 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited, 
Diu, 
 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

We hereby confirm that we/our Members in the Consortium (constitution of which has been described 
in the Bid) satisfy the terms and conditions laid out in the RFP. 

We have agreed that ……………………………………… (insert member’s name) will act as the lead Member of 
our consortium.* 

We have agreed that ………………….. (insert individual’s name) will act as our representative/will act as the 
representative of the Consortium on its behalf and has been duly authorized to submit the RFP. Further, 
the authorised signatory is vested with requisite powers to furnish such letter and authenticate the 
same. 

Thanking you, 

 

 

 

 

Yours faithfully, 

(Signature, name and designation of the authorised signatory) 

For and on behalf of …………………………… 

*Please strike out whichever is not applicable. 
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Appendix I Annex-IV 

Bank Guarantee for Bid Security 
(To be submitted on Stamp paper of appropriate value) 

 
 

B.G. No.          Dated: dd/mm/yyyy 

1. In consideration of you, Chief Executive Officer, having its office at Diu Municipal Council, Fort 
Road, Diu, (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority”, which expression shall unless it be 
repugnant to the subject or context thereof include its, successors and assigns) having agreed     
to receive the Bid of_________________________________ [a Company registered under 
provision of the Companies Act, 1956/2013] and having its registered office 
at_________________ [and acting on behalf of its Consortium] (hereinafter referred to as the 
“Bidder” which expression shall unless it be repugnant to the subject or context thereof  include  
its/their executors administrators, successors and assigns), for the Development of Cable Car 
from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP 
Framework (hereinafter referred to as the “Project”) pursuant to the RFP dated 
_____________issued in respect of the Project and other related documents without limitation 
the Concession Agreement (hereinafter collectively referred   to as “Bidding Documents”), we 
[Name of the Bank] having our registered office at ___________________ and one  of its
 branches at ______________________ (hereinafter referred to as the “Bank”), at the 
request of the Bidder, do hereby in terms of the RFP, irrevocably, unconditionally and without 
reservation guarantee the due and faithful fulfilment and compliance of the terms and 
conditions of the Bidding Documents (including the RFP) by the said Bidder and unconditionally 
and irrevocably undertake to pay forthwith to the Authority an amount of Rs. 20,00,000/- 
(Rupees Twenty Lakh only) as bid security (hereinafter referred to as the “Bid Security”) as our 
primary obligation without any demur, reservation, recourse, contest or protest and without 
reference to the Bidder if the Bidder shall fail to fulfil or comply with all or any of the terms and 
conditions contained in the said Bidding Documents. 
 

2. Any such written demand made by the Authority stating that the Bidder is in default of the due 
and faithful fulfilment and compliance with the terms and conditions contained in the Bidding 
Documents shall be final, conclusive and binding on the Bank. 
 

3. We, the Bank, do hereby unconditionally undertake to pay the amounts due and payable under 
this Guarantee without any demur, reservation, recourse, contest or protest and without any 
reference to the Bidder or any other person and irrespective of whether the claim of the 
Authority is disputed by the Bidder or not merely on the first demand from the Authority stating 
that the amount claimed is due to the Authority by reason of failure of the Bidder to fulfil and 
comply with the terms and conditions contained in the Bidding Documents including failure of 
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the said Bidder to keep its Bid  open  during  the  Bid validity period as set-forth in the said 
Bidding Documents for any reason whatsoever. Any such demand made on the Bank shall be 
conclusive as regards amount due and payable by the Bank under this Guarantee. However, our 
liability under this Guarantee shall be restricted to an amount not exceeding Rs 20,00,000/- 
(Rupees Twenty Lakh only). 
 

4. This Guarantee shall be irrevocable and unconditional and remain in full force for a period of 
240 (Two hundred and forty) days from the Bid Due Date inclusive of a claim period of 60 (sixty) 
days or for such extended period as may be mutually agreed between the Authority and the 
Bidder, and agreed to by the Bank, and shall continue to be enforceable till all amounts under 
this Guarantee have been paid. 
 

5. We,  the  Bank, further agree that the Authority shall be the sole judge to decide as to whether 
the Bidder is in default of due and faithful fulfilment and compliance with the terms and 
conditions contained in the Bidding Documents including, inter alia, the failure of the Bidder to 
keep its Bid open during the Bid validity period set forth in the said Bidding Documents, and the 
decision of the Authority that the Bidder is in default as aforesaid shall be final and binding on 
us, notwithstanding any differences between the Authority and the Bidder or any dispute 
pending before any Court, Tribunal, Arbitrator or any other authority. 
 

6. The Guarantee shall not be affected by any change in the constitution or winding up of the 
Bidder or the Bank or any absorption, merger or amalgamation of the Bidder or the Bank with 
any other person. 
 

7. In order to give full effect to this Guarantee, the Authority shall be entitled to treat the Bank as 
the principal debtor. The Authority shall have the fullest liberty without affecting in any way the 
liability of the Bank under this Guarantee from time to time to vary any of the terms and 
conditions contained in the said Bidding Documents or to extend time for submission of the Bids 
or the Bid validity period or the period for conveying acceptance of Letter of Award by the 
Bidder or the period for fulfilment and compliance with all or any of the terms and conditions 
contained in the said Bidding  Documents  by  the  said Bidder or to postpone for any time and 
from time to time any of the powers exercisable by it against the said Bidder and either to 
enforce or forbear from enforcing any of the terms and conditions contained in the said Bidding 
Documents or the securities available to the Authority, and the Bank shall not be released from 
its liability under these presents by any exercise by the Authority  of  the  liberty  with reference  
to the matters aforesaid or by reason of time being given to the said Bidder or any other 
forbearance, act or omission on the part of the Authority or any indulgence by the Authority to 
the said Bidder or by any change in the constitution of the Authority or its absorption, merger or 
amalgamation with any other person or any other matter or thing whatsoever which under the 
law relating to sureties would but for this provision have the effect of releasing the Bank from its 
such liability. 
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8. Any notice by way of request, demand or otherwise hereunder shall be sufficiently given or 
made if addressed to the Bank and sent by courier or by registered mail to the Bank at the 
address set forth herein. 
 

9. We undertake to make the payment on receipt of your notice of claim on us addressed to [name 
of Bank along with branch address] and delivered at our above.  
 

10. branch that shall be deemed to have been duly authorized to receive the said notice of claim. 
 

11. It shall not be necessary for the Authority to proceed against the said Bidder before proceeding 
against the Bank and the guarantee herein contained shall be enforce able against the Bank, 
notwithstanding any other security which the Authority may have obtained from the said Bidder 
or any other person and which shall, at the time when proceedings are taken against the Bank 
hereunder, be outstanding or unrealized. 
 

12. We, the Bank, further undertake not to revoke this Guarantee during its currency except with 
the previous express consent of the Authority in writing. 
 

13. The Bank declares that it has power to issue this Guarantee and discharge the obligations 
contemplated herein, the undersigned is duly authorized and has full power to execute this 
Guarantee for and on behalf of the Bank. 
 

14. For the avoidance of doubt, the Bank’s liability under this Guarantee shall be restricted to Rs. 
20,00,000/- (Rupees Twenty Lakh only). The Bank shall be liable to pay the said amount or any 
part thereof only if the Authority serves a written claim on the Bank in accordance with 
paragraph 9 hereof, on or before *** (indicate date falling 240 days after the Bid Due Date). 
 
 
 
Signed and Delivered by  Bank 
 
By the hand of Mr./Ms_______________________________, its ___________________ and 
authorized official. 
 
 
 
(Signature of the Authorized Signatory)  
 
(Official Seal) 
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Appendix II 

Power of Attorney for Signing of Bid 
(To be submitted on Stamp paper of relevant value) 

 

Know all men by these presents, We, ______________________________________________  (name 
of the firm and address of the registered office) do hereby irrevocably constitute, nominate, appoint and 
authorize Mr. / Ms___________________________________________, son/daughter/wife 
of____________________________________________________________ and presently residing at, 
____________________________________________________________________ who is presently 
employed with us/ the Lead Member of our Consortium and holding the position 
of_________________, as our true and lawful attorney (hereinafter referred to as the “Attorney”) to do 
in our name and on our behalf, all such acts, deeds and things as are necessary or required in connection 
with or incidental to submission of our bid for the Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on 
Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Framework  (the “Project”) proposed by 
the Diu Smart City Limited (the “Authority”) including but not limited to signing and submission of all 
Bids, and other documents and writings, participate in bidders' and other conferences and providing 
information / responses to the Authority, representing us in all matters before the Authority, signing 
and execution of all contracts including the Concession Agreement and undertakings consequent to 
acceptance of our bid, and generally dealing with the Authority in all matters in connection with or 
relating to or arising out of our bid for the said Project and/or upon award thereof to us and/or till the 
entering into of the concession Agreement with the Authority. 
 
AND we hereby agree to ratify and confirm and do hereby ratify and confirm all acts, deed, matters and 
things lawfully done or caused to be done by our said Attorney pursuant to and in exercise of the 
powers conferred by this Power of Attorney and that all acts, deeds and things done by our said 
Attorney in exercise of the powers hereby conferred shall and shall always be deemed to have been 
done by us. 
 
Capitalised terms not defined herein shall have the meaning assigned to them under the RFP. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF WE, _________________, THE ABOVE NAMED PRINCIPAL HAVE EXECUTED THIS 
POWER OF ATTORNEY ON THIS DAY OF ___, 20   . 
 

For --------------------------- 

(Signature, name, designation and address) 

Witnesses: 
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1. 

2. 

(Notarized) 

Accepted 

(Signature) 

(Name, Title and Address of the Attorney) 

Notes: 

1. The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if 
any, laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executants and when it is 
so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required 
procedure. 

2. Wherever required, the Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter 
documents and documents such as a board or shareholder’s resolution/ power of attorney in 
favour of the person executing this Power of Attorney for the delegation of power hereunder on 
behalf of the Bidder. 

3. For a Power of Attorney executed and issued overseas, the document will also have to be 
legalized by the Indian Embassy and notarized in the jurisdiction where the Power of Attorney is 
being issued. However, the Power of Attorney provided by Bidders from countries that have 
signed The Hague Legislation Convention, 1961 are not required to be legalized by the Indian 
Embassy if it carries a conforming Apostille certificate. 
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Appendix III 

Power of Attorney for Lead Member of Consortium 

(To be submitted on Stamp paper of relevant value) 

 

Whereas the “Authority” has invited Bids from interested parties for the Development of Cable Car 
from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Framework. 

 

Whereas, _______________,___________________And_______________ (Collectively the 
“Consortium”) being Members of the Consortium are interested in bidding for the Project in accordance 
with the terms and conditions of RFP and other connected documents in respect of the Project, and 

Whereas, it is necessary under the RFP Document for the members of the Consortium to designate one 
of them as the Lead Member with all necessary power and authority to do for and on behalf of the 
Consortium, all acts, deeds and things as may be necessary in connection with the Consortium’s bid for 
the Project who, acting jointly, would have all necessary power and authority to do all acts, deeds and 
things on behalf of the Consortium, as may be necessary in connection with the Consortium’s bid for the 
Project. 

 

NOW THIS POWER OF ATTORNEY WITNESSETH THAT; 

 

We, M/s. __________________________(Lead Member) and M/s __________________ (the respective 
names and addresses of the registered office) do hereby designate M/s. 
_________________________________ being one of the members of the Consortium, as the Lead 
Member of the Consortium, to do on behalf of the Consortium, all or any of the acts, deeds or things 
necessary or incidental to the Consortium’s bid for the Project, including submission of Bid/proposal, 
participating in conferences, responding to queries, submission of information/ documents and 
generally to represent the Consortium in all its dealings with the Authority, any other Government 
Agency or any person, in connection with the Project until culmination of the process of bidding and 
thereafter till the Concession Agreement is entered into with the Authority. 

We hereby agree to ratify all acts, deeds and things lawfully done by Lead Member, our said attorney 
pursuant to this Power of Attorney and that all acts deeds and things done by our aforesaid attorney 
shall and shall always be deemed to have been done by us/Consortium. 
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Dated this the _____day of _____, 20____ 

For (Signature) 

 

_________________________ 

 (Executants) 

Witnesses:  

1. ………………………………………. 

2. ……………………………………… 

 

Notes: 

1. This Power of Attorney must be submitted in original. 
2. The mode of execution of the Power of Attorney should be in accordance with the procedure, if 

any, laid down by the applicable law and the charter documents of the executants and when it is 
so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with the required 
procedure. 

3. Also, wherever required, the Bidder should submit for verification the extract of the charter 
documents and documents such as a board or shareholders’ resolution/power of attorney in 
favour of the person executing this Power of Attorney for the delegation of power hereunder on 
behalf of the Bidder. 

4. For a Power of Attorney executed and issued overseas, the document will also have to be 
legalized by the Indian Embassy and notarized in the jurisdiction where the Power of Attorney is 
being issued. However, the Power of Attorney provided by Bidders from countries that have 
signed The Hague Legislation Convention, 1961 are not required to be legalized by the Indian 
Embassy if it carries a conforming Apostille certificate. 
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Appendix IV 

Joint Bidding Agreement 

(To be executed on Stamp paper of appropriate value) 

 

THIS JOINT BIDDING AGREEMENT is entered into on this the ………… day of………,20….. (the “Agreement”)  
 
 
AMONGST 
 

A. {………… Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 19562} and having its registered 
office at …………………………. (hereinafter referred to as the “First Part” which expression shall, unless 
repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted assigns) 

AND 

B. {………… Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956}  and having its registered 
office at ………… (hereinafter referred to as the “Second Part” which expression shall, unless 
repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted assigns). 
 
AND 
 

C. {………… Limited, a limited liability company incorporated under the (Indian) Companies Act, 1956 
and having its registered office at ………… (hereinafter referred to as the “Third Part” which 
expression shall, unless repugnant to the context include its successors and permitted assigns)} 3 

 

The above mentioned parties of the FIRST, SECOND, THIRD PARTY are collectively referred to as the 
“Parties” and each is individually referred to as a “Party”  

 

WHEREAS 

A. Diu smart city Limited , represented by its Chief Executive Officer and , having its office at Diu 
Municipal Council, Fort Road, Diu, (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority” which expression shall, 
unless repugnant to the context or meaning thereof, include its administrators, successors and 
assigns) has invited Bids (the “Bids”) by its RFP Notice No ……….………… dated ……………… (the “RFP”) 

                                                           
2 A Bidder who is registered abroad may substitute the words, viz “a company registered under the Companies Act, 
1956/2013” by the words, viz “a company duly organised and validly existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of 
its incorporation”. A similar modification may be made in Recital 2, as necessary. 
3 The number of Parties will be shown here, as applicable, subject however to a maximum of 3 (three) 
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for selection of bidders for Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, 
Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Framework  (the “Project”). 

B. The Parties are interested in jointly bidding for the Project as members of a Consortium and in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the RFP and other bid documents in respect of the 
Project, and 

C. It is a necessary condition under the RFP that the members of the Consortium shall enter into a Joint 
Bidding Agreement and furnish a copy thereof with the Bid. 

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 

1. Definitions and Interpretations 

In this Agreement, the capitalised terms shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the 
meaning ascribed thereto under the RFP. 

2. Consortium 
 

i. The Parties do hereby irrevocably constitute a consortium (the “Consortium”) for the purposes 
of jointly participating in the Bidding Process for the Project. 

ii. The Parties hereby undertake to participate in the Bidding Process only through this Consortium 
and not individually and/ or through any other consortium constituted for this Project, either 
directly or indirectly or through any of their Associates. 
 

3. Covenants 
 
The Parties hereby undertake that in the event the Consortium is declared the Successful Bidder and 
awarded the Project, it shall incorporate the SPV under the (Indian) Companies Act 1956 as required 
by and in accordance with the Bidding Documents for performing all its obligations as the 
Concessionaire in terms of the Concession Agreement for the Project. 
 

4. Role of the Parties 

The Parties hereby undertake to perform the roles and responsibilities as described below: 

a. Party of the First Part shall be the Lead member of the Consortium with experience in 
Development/ Construction and Operation of Cable Car Systems and shall have the power 
of attorney from Other Member for conducting all business for and on behalf of the 
Consortium during the Bidding Process and until the Appointed Date under the Concession 
Agreement when all the obligations of the Developer shall become effective; 

b. Party of the Second Part shall be ________________{the Other Member of the Consortium} 
 

5. Joint and Several Liability 
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The Parties do hereby undertake to be jointly and severally responsible for all obligations and 
liabilities relating to the Project in accordance with the terms of the RFP, the Concession Agreement 
and for the performance of the Concessionaire’s obligations under the Concession Agreement. 

 
6. Shareholding in the Developer 

1. The Parties agree that the proportion of shareholding among the Parties in the Developer shall 
be as follows: 
First Party: 
Second Party: 
Third Party (If any): 

2. Subject to the terms of the Concession Agreement, the lead Member shall during the term of 
the Concession Agreement hold equity share capital not less than 51% (fifty one percent) of the 
subscribed, paid up and voting equity share capital of the SPV until the completion of 
commercial operation of the Project; 

3. Subject to the terms of this Concession Agreement, members of the Consortium undertake that 
they shall collectively hold at least 51% (fifty one per cent) of the subscribed and paid up equity 
of the SPV at all times till the end of commercial operation of the Project; and 

4. Subject to the terms of the Concession Agreement, the Member (other than the Lead Member) 
whose financial and technical capacities has been utilized for the purposes of qualification and 
in the Bid shall, at all times till the completion of commercial operation of the Project, hold 
equity share capital not less than 26% (twenty six percent) of the subscribed, paid up and voting 
equity share capital of the SPV. 
 
The Parties undertake that they shall comply with all equity lock-in requirements set forth in the 
Concession Agreement. 
 

7. Representation of the Parties 
Each Party represents to the other Parties as of the date of this Agreement that: 
a. Such Party is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its 

incorporation and has all requisite power and authority to enter into this Agreement; 
b. The execution, delivery and performance by such Party of this Agreement has been authorized 

by all necessary and appropriate corporate or governmental action and a copy of the extract of 
the charter documents and board resolution/ power of attorney in favour of the person 
executing this Agreement for the delegation of power and authority to execute this Agreement 
on behalf of the Consortium Member is annexed to this Agreement, and will not, to the best of 
its knowledge: 

i. require any consent or approval not already obtained; 
ii. violate any Applicable Law presently in effect and having applicability to it; 

iii. violate the memorandum and articles of  association,  by-laws  or  other applicable 
organizational documents thereof; 

iv. violate any clearance, permit, concession, grant, license or other governmental 
authorization, approval, judgement, order or decree or any mortgage agreement, 



RFP- Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (DBFOT) Basis 
 

66 
 

indenture or any other instrument to which such Party is a party or by which such Party 
or any of its properties or assets are bound or that is otherwise applicable to such Party; 
or 

v. create or impose any liens, mortgages, pledges, claims, security interests, charges or 
Encumbrances or obligations to create a lien, charge, pledge, security interest, 
encumbrances  or  mortgage  in   or on  the  property  of  such  Party,  except  for 
encumbrances that  would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse 
effect on the financial condition or prospects or business of such Party so as to prevent 
such Party from fulfilling its obligations under this Agreement; 

c. this Agreement is the legal and binding obligation of such Party, enforceable in accordance with 
its terms against it; and 

d. there is no litigation pending or, to the best of such Party’s knowledge, threatened to which it or 
any of its Affiliates is a party that presently affects or which would have a material adverse 
effect on the financial condition or prospects or business of such Party in  the  fulfilment  of  its 
obligations  under this Agreement. 
 

8. Termination 
This Agreement shall be effective from the date hereof and shall continue in full force and effect 
until the Financial Closure of the Project is achieved under and in accordance with the Concession 
Agreement, in case the Project is awarded to the Consortium. However, in case the Consortium is 
either not qualified for the Project or does not get selected for award of the Project, the Agreement 
will stand terminated in case the Bidder is not qualified or upon return of the Bid Security by the 
Authority to the Bidder, as the case may be. 

 
9. Miscellaneous 

i. This Joint Bidding Agreement shall be governed by laws of India. 
ii. The Parties acknowledge and accept that this Agreement shall not be amended by the Parties 

without the prior written consent of the Authority. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES ABOVE NAMED HAVE EXECUTED AND DELIVERED THIS AGREEMENT 
AS OF THE DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN. 

 

 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 
For and on behalf of 
 

LEAD MEMBER by: (Signature)  
(Name)  



RFP- Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (DBFOT) Basis 
 

67 
 

(Designation)  
(Address) 
 

SECOND PART by: (Signature)  
(Name)  
(Designation)  
(Address) 
 

THIRD PART by: (Signature)  
(Name)  
(Designation)  
(Address) 
 

 

In the presence of: 

1. 

2. 

Notes: 

1. The mode of the execution of the Joint Bidding Agreement should be in accordance with the 
procedure, if any, laid down by the Applicable Law and the charter documents of the executants 
and when it is so required, the same should be under common seal affixed in accordance with 
the required procedure. 

2. Each Joint Bidding Agreement should attach a copy of the extract of the charter documents and 
documents such as resolution / power of attorney in favour of the person executing this 
Agreement for the delegation of power and authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of 
the Consortium Member. 

3. For a Joint Bidding Agreement executed and issued overseas, the document shall be legalised by 
the Indian Embassy and notarized in the jurisdiction where the Power of Attorney has been 
executed. 
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Appendix V 

Anti-Collusion Certificate  

(To be executed on Stamp paper of appropriate value) 

 

We undertake that, in competing for (and, if the award is made to us, in executing) the above contract, 
we will strictly observe the laws against fraud and corruption in force in India namely “Prevention of 
Corruption Act, 1988” and its subsequent amendments thereof. 

We hereby certify and confirm that in the preparation and submission of our Proposal, we have not 
acted in concert or in collusion with any other Bidder or other person(s) and also not done any act, deed 
or thing which is or could be regarded as anti-competitive. 

We further confirm that we have not offered nor will offer any illegal gratification in cash or kind to any 
person or agency in connection with the instant Proposal. 

Dated this ..........................Day of ......................, 20……. 

 

.................................................... 

(Name of the Bidder) 

 

 

.................................................... 

(Signature of the Bidder / Authorised Person 

 

 

.................................................... 

(Name of the Authorised Person) 
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Appendix VI Annex-I 

Format of Financial Capacity for purpose of evaluation  

[On the letter head of the Single Entity/lead Member] 

 

           (In Rs. Crore) 

Bidder type Member 
Code 

Annual turnover Average 
Annual 
Turnover 

Net Worth 

  Year 1 Year 2 Year 3   
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Single Entity       
Consortium 
Member 1 

      

Consortium 
Member 2 

      

Consortium 
Member 3 

      

       
TOTAL       
 

Name & address of Bidder’s Bankers: 

Instructions: 

1) The Bidder/ its constituent Consortium Members shall attach copies of the balance sheets, financial 
statements and Annual Reports for 3 (three) years preceding the Bid Due Date. The financial 
statements shall: 
a. reflect the financial situation of the Bidder or Consortium Members; 
b. be audited by a statutory auditor; 
c. be complete, including all notes to the financial statements; and 
d. Correspond to accounting periods already completed and audited (no statements for partial 

periods shall be requested or accepted). 
 

2) Net Worth shall mean (Subscribed and Paid-up Equity + Reserves) less (Revaluation reserves + 
miscellaneous expenditure not written off + reserves not available for distribution to equity 
shareholders). 
 

3) Year 1 will be the latest completed financial year, preceding the bidding. Year 2 shall be the year 
immediately preceding Year 1 and so on. In case the Bid Due Date falls within 3 (three) months of 
the close of the latest financial year. 
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4) In the case of a Consortium, a copy of the Jt. Bidding Agreement shall be submitted in accordance 
with Clause 2.2.5 of the RFP document. 

 
5) The Bidder shall also provide the name and address of the Bankers to the Authority. 

 
6) The Bidder, except in the case of publicly listed companies, shall provide an Auditor’s Certificate 

specifying the Average Annual turnover of 3 year and net worth of the Bidder and also specifying the 
methodology adopted for calculating such net worth in accordance with Clause 3.4.6 of the RFP 
document.  
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Appendix VI Annex-II 

Format of Technical Capacity for purpose of evaluation 

Technical Capacity of the Bidder 

(To be submitted on the Letterhead of the Bidder/ Lead Member in case of a Consortium) 

 

 

Sl
 .N

o.
 

N
am

e 
of

 
Ro

pe
w

ay
/ 

(M
ar

in
e/

 
in

fr
as

tr
uc

tu
re

) p
ro

je
ct

s 
ex

ec
ut

ed
 in

 la
st

 7
 y

ea
rs

 

In
 c

as
e 

of
 ro

pe
w

ay
 in

st
al

le
d 

ov
er

 s
ea

 (Y
es

/ 
N

o/
N

A)
 

Lo
ca

tio
n 

(In
di

a/
 C

ou
nt

ry
 N

am
e)

 

Sa
lie

nt
 fe

at
ur

es
 

Pr
oj

ec
t C

os
t (

in
 R

s.
 C

ro
re

s)
**

 

N
am

e 
of

 E
nt

ity
 a

nd
 %

 
sh

ar
eh

ol
di

ng
 o

f m
em

be
r o

f 
co

ns
or

tiu
m

 w
ho

se
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e 
is

 

Ca
te

go
ry

 T
yp

e 
an

d 
de

ta
ils

 (1
, 2

 
&

 3
) 

1        
2        
3        
4        
 

 Provide details of only those projects that have been undertaken by the Bidder under its own 
name and/ or by an Associate specified in Clause 2.1.12. 

 In case credit is claimed for an Associate, necessary evidence to establish the relationship of the 
Bidder with such Associate, shall be provided 

 Associate Relationship of the Legal Entity shall indicate NA for Not Applicable in case of a single 
entity Bidder. 

 

**For conversion of US Dollars to Rupees, the rate of conversion shall be Rupees 65 (sixty five) to a US 
Dollar. In case of any other currency, the same shall first be converted to US Dollars as on the date 60 
(sixty) days prior to the Bid Due Date, and the amount so derived in US Dollars shall be converted into 
Rupees at the aforesaid rate. The conversion rate of such currencies shall be the daily representative 
exchange rates published by the International Monetary Fund for the relevant date. 
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Appendix VI Annex-III 

Details of the Eligible Project 

 

Project Code:       Member Code: 

 

 

Item  Particulars 
Title of the project   
Nature of the project   
Entity for which the project was constructed/ 
developed/maintained 

  

Location   
Date of commencement of project/ contract   
Date of completion/ commissioning   
Date of start of operations and end of operations   
Equity shareholding 
(with period during which equity was held) 

  

 

Instructions: 

1) Bidders are expected to provide information of only one Eligible Project in this Annex. The 
project cited must comply with the eligibility criteria specified. Information provided in this 
section is intended to serve as a backup for information provided in the Bid. Bidders should also 
refer to the Instructions below. 

2) For a single entity Bidder, the Project Codes would be a, b, c, d etc. In case the Bidder is a 
Consortium then for Member 1, the Project Codes would be 1a, 1b, 1c, 1d etc., for Member 2 
the Project Codes shall be 2a, 2b, 2c, 2d etc., and so on. 

3) Member Code shall indicate NA for Not Applicable in case of a single entity Bidder. For other 
Members, the following abbreviations are suggested viz. LM means Lead Member, TM means 
Technical Member, FM means Financial Member, OMM means Operation & Maintenance 
Member; and OM means Other Member. 

4) Particulars such as name, address and contact details of owner/ Authority/ Agency (i.e. 
concession grantor, counter party to PPA, etc.) may be provided. 

5) The date of commencement of the project must be mentioned. 
6) The date of commissioning of the project, upon completion, should be indicated. 
7) The equity shareholding of the Bidder, in the company owning the Eligible Project, held 

continuously during the period for which experience is claimed, needs to be given 
8) Experience for any activity relating to an Eligible Project shall not be claimed by two or more 

Members of the Consortium. In other words, no double counting by a consortium in respect of 
the same experience shall be permitted in any manner whatsoever. 
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9) Certificate from the Bidder's statutory auditor or its respective clients must be furnished for 
each Eligible Project. In case of bidders that do not have statutory auditors, the auditors who 
audit the annual accounts of the Bidder/ Member may provide the requisite certification. 

10) It may be noted that in the absence of any detail in the above certificate, the information would 
be considered inadequate and could lead to exclusion of the relevant project in computation of 
Technical Capacity. 
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Appendix VII 

Format of Commercial Proposal 

ORIGINAL 

(to be submitted on the letter head) 

 

Date: 

 

To, 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited, 
Diu 
 

Sub: Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer 
Basis under PPP Framework. 

 

Sir/Madam, 

Having gone through this RFP document and having fully understood the Scope of Work for the Project 
as set out by the Authority in the RFP, we hereby submit the Bid for undertaking the aforesaid Project in 
accordance with the Bidding Documents and the Draft Concession Agreement, I/We offer Diu Smart City 
Ltd, the following present Revenue Share against Gross Revenue from Ropeway system calculated 
according to the relevant provisions of the RFP and Draft Concession Agreement document: 

Payment to the Authority: Higher of:  

i. Revenue Share: ………………………… % of Gross Revenue  
 

ii. Minimum Guarantee Payment of INR 10 Lakh per annum which is payable in Four Equal 
installment. (To be increased at a rate of 5% every year over the minimum guarantee payment 
of previous year.) 

 

We have reviewed all the terms and conditions of the Request for Proposal including the Draft 
Concession Agreement and would undertake to abide by all the terms and conditions contained therein. 
We hereby declare that there are, and shall be, no deviations from the stated terms in the RFP 
Document. 

Yours faithfully, 

For and on behalf of (Name of Bidder) 
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Duly signed by the Authorised Signatory of the Bidder 

(Name, Designation and Address of the Authorised Signatory)   
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Appendix VIII 

 

Guidelines of the Department of Disinvestment 

No. 6/4/2001-DD-II 

Government of India 

Department of Disinvestment 

Block 14, CGO Complex New Delhi. Dated 13th July, 2001. 

 

OFFICE MEMORANDUM 

 

Sub: Guidelines for qualification of Bidders seeking to acquire stakes in Public Sector Enterprises through 
the process of disinvestment 

 

Government has examined the issue of framing comprehensive and transparent guidelines defining the 
criteria for bidders interested in PSE-disinvestment so that the parties selected through competitive 
bidding could inspire public confidence. Earlier, criteria like Net Worth, experience etc. used to be 
prescribed. Based on experience and in consultation with concerned departments, Government has 
decided to prescribe the following additional criteria for the qualification/ disqualification of the parties 
seeking to acquire stakes in public sector enterprises through disinvestment: 

a. In regard to matters other than the security and integrity of the country, any conviction by a Court 
of Law or indictment/ adverse order by a regulatory authority that casts a doubt on the ability of the 
bidder to manage the public sector unit when it is disinvested, or which relates to a grave offence 
would constitute disqualification. Grave offence is defined to be of such a nature that it outrages the 
moral sense of the community. The decision in regard to the nature of the offence would be taken 
on case to case basis after considering the facts of the case and relevant legal principles, by the 
Government of India. 

b. In regard to matters relating to the security and integrity of the country, any charge-sheet by an 
agency of the Government/ conviction by a Court of Law for an offence committed by the bidding 
party or by any sister concern of the bidding party would result in disqualification. The decision in 
regard to the relationship between the sister concerns would be taken, based on the relevant facts 
and after examining whether the two concerns are substantially controlled by the same person/ 
persons. 

c. In both (a) and (b), disqualification shall continue for a period that Government deems appropriate. 
d. Any entity, which is disqualified from participating in the disinvestment process, would not be 

allowed to remain associated with it or get associated merely because it has preferred an appeal 
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against the order based on which it has been disqualified. The mere pendency of appeal will have no 
effect on the disqualification. 

e. The disqualification criteria would come into effect immediately and would apply to all bidders for 
various disinvestment transactions, which have not been completed as yet. 

f. Before disqualifying a concern, a Show Cause Notice why it should not be disqualified would be 
issued to it and it would be given an opportunity to explain its position. 

g. Henceforth, these criteria will be prescribed in the advertisements seeking Expression of Interest 
(EOI) from the interested parties. The interested parties would be required to provide the 
information on the above criteria, along with their Expressions of Interest (EOI). The bidders shall be 
required to provide with their EOI an undertaking to the effect that no investigation by a regulatory 
authority is pending against them. In case any investigation is pending against the concern or its 
sister concern or against its CEO or any of its Directors/ Managers/ employees, full details of such 
investigation including the name of the investigating agency, the charge/ offence for which the 
investigation has been launched, name and designation of persons against whom the investigation 
has been launched and other relevant information should be disclosed, to the satisfaction of the 
Government. For other criteria also, a similar undertaking shall be obtained along with EOI. 

 

 

 

  



RFP- Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (DBFOT) Basis 
 

78 
 

Appendix IX 

CERTIFICATE OF UNDERTAKING FROM ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER OF 3S ROPEWAY 
SYSTEM (CEN) FOR SUPPLY AND INSTALATION 

On the letterhead of OEM 

Date: 

To, 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited, 
Diu, 
 

Sub: Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer 
Basis under PPP Framework. 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

We, M/S ______________ (name of the OEM) having registered office at ______________ (address of 
the manufacturer) by virtue of being original equipment manufacturer for 3S Ropeway System ________ 
(name of the product/s), hereby authorise M/S ___________ (name of the bidder) having their office at 
________ (address of the bidder) to submit, quote, supply, install and provide after sales support for our 
range of products quoted by them to meet the above mentioned tender requirements. 

We hereby confirm the following points- 

 Parts supplied by us are certified and compatible with the offered solution 
 Parts will be available for minimum of ten years from date of acceptance of the system 
 Parts supplied are not declared as End-of-Life now or in near future. After installation, if such parts 

are found End-of-Life, then it will be our responsibility to replace with newer and compatible parts 
to the bidder upto ten years from Commercial Date of Operation (COD). 

The undersigned is authorised to issue such authorization on behalf of M/S __________ (name of the 
manufacturer). 

For. M/S ______________________ (name of the manufacturer) 

Signature and Company Seal 

Name 

Designation 

Email 

Mobile No.  
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Appendix X 

 

CERTIFICATE OF UNDERTAKING FROM ORIGINAL EQUIPMENT MANUFACTURER OF 3S ROPEWAY 
SYSTEM (CEN) FOR MAINTENANCE 

On the letterhead of OEM 

 

To, 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited, 
Diu, 
 

Sub: Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer 
Basis under PPP Framework. 

 

Dear Sir/Madam, 

We, M/S __________ (name of the OEM) having registered office at __________ (address of the 
manufacturer) by virtue of being original equipment manufacturer for 3S Ropeway System ______ 
(name of the product/s), hereby agree to maintain the equipment, parts or range of products supplied 
for 3S technology ropeway project at the location specified in the subject above for ten years after 
commissioning of the project (COD) with due diligence of standard and quality as per 3S (CEN- European 
Union Standard). 

The undersigned is authorised to issue such authorization on behalf of M/S _____ (name of the 
manufacturer). 

For. M/S ____ (name of the manufacturer) 

Signature and Company Seal 

Name 

Designation 

Email 

Mobile No. 
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Appendix XI: Project Information Memorandum 

A) Introduction: 

The envisaged Cable Car is proposed to connect the Diu island with the mainland at Ghoghla. The 
alignment of Cable Car would be over the bay between Diu and Ghoghla. The envisaged length of the 
ropeway is about 1500 m. One end of the ropeway would be on the waterfront side of the Fort Road 
and the second end would be near the walkway adjacent to Ghoghla beach.  

 

B) Project Rationale and benefits 

The proposed Cable Car would connect the popular tourist destination of waterfront along Fort Road 
with the beach at Ghoghla. The Cable Car would be a convenient, time saving, eco-friendly means of 
transport. It will make the already established tourist destinations more attractive. The Cable Car 
would be a tourist attraction itself offering the visitors a panoramic bird’s eye view of the sea, Diu 
Fort, Panikotha as well as the waterfront. 

 

C) Proposed Location and alignment 

 

 

 

Site Layout of plot designated for proposed Terminal station at Diu 
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Proposed Landing Point for Cable Car on Diu side waterfront 
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Site Layout of plot designated for proposed Terminal station at Ghoghla

 

 

Proposed Landing Point for Cable Car at Ghoghla side near walkway and beach

 

 

D) Proposed Ropeway for Diu to Ghoghla: 

For the proposed Ropeway between Ghogla to Diu, a 3S System is recommended. The recommendation 
is based on the following advantages: 



RFP- Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (DBFOT) Basis 
 

83 
 

1) Capacity requirement is easily met by a 3S system.  
2) Operation and Maintenance cost is less as compared to other systems.  
3) Ground terrain is suitable for 3S System.  
4) Safe and comfortable cabins.  
5) System is flexible. Capacity enhancement / reduction can be done very easily.  
6) Passengers can have a panoramic view from the cabins.  
7) 3S System offers comfortable boarding / de-boarding operation. As the cabin will be brought to 

a halt at the terminals, it will be easier for the passengers, particularly aged people and kids, for 
boarding and de-boarding.  

Illustration of 3S system of Ropeway 

  

 
 
 

E) Project Components: 

The proposed Ropeway shall comprise of the following major items: 
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 Haulage rope, driven by electric power through Sheaves at one end and tensioned at the other end 
by hydraulics.  

 Passenger Cabins complete with suspender and grip.  
 Ropeway drive arrangement located station complete with Drive Sheave, Motor, Gearbox, Open 

gear & Pinion, Emergency and Service Brakes, Coupling etc.  
 Intermediate support tower complete with mechanicals.  
 Terminal stations complete with required Plant & Equipment and structure including electro-

mechanical control room, administration office, store room, etc. 
 Passenger amenities at the Terminal Landing stations such as ticketing booth, waiting lounge, 

toilets, snack counter, etc. 

F) Demand Estimation: 

The demand for proposed Cable Car has been estimated based on the number of tourists visiting Diu. 

Total Tourist Footfall in last 20 Years 

Year Total Tourist Visited Stay in Hotel Day Travelers 

1999 345,378             80,378               265,000  

2000 405,932           105,932               300,000  

2001 436,752           111,752               325,000  

2002 471,026           131,026               340,000  

2003 501,520           158,927               342,593  

2004 504,968           170,756               334,212  

2005 508,404           172,072               336,332  

2006 525,097           199,097               326,000  

2007 564,728           217,097               347,631  

2008 533,100           224,652               308,448  

2009 472,638           244,821               227,817  

2010 487,532           273,627               213,905  

2011 792,984           331,308               461,676  

2012 1,268,539           359,357               909,182  

2013 1,380,590           383,995               996,595  

2014 1,742,811           357,662           1,385,149  

2015 2,258,320           436,709           1,821,611  

2016 1,466,589           402,587           1,064,002  

2017 1,270,512           427,916               842,596  

2018 1,000,315           494,456               505,859  

Data Source: - Tourism Department Diu 

 

Growth rate in tourist footfall at Diu:  

Year 1999-2008 2009-2018 
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CAGR 5% 9% 
Data Source: - Tourism Department Diu 

Passenger footfalls Estimate for Cable Car: 

Passenger footfalls at proposed Cable Car are estimated as 20% from the Total tourists in Diu. 

Projected Customer Counts Per year 
No of Customer 2,00,000 
Bidder can do self-assessment for project.  

 

G) Proposed Implementation Model: 

The proposed PPP model will have the Diu Smart City as the Authority, which will enter into a 
Concession Agreement with the selected bidder to undertake the Project during the concession period 
of 25 (Twenty Five) years.  

 

The concessionaire will be responsible for financing the Project, with its funds, which may comprise of 
its equity and debt from lenders (commercial banks or domestic financial institutions). It will generate 
revenue through ticket charges from users. 

 



 
 

Development of Cable Car from Diu to Ghoghla, 
on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer 
(DBFOT) Basis under PPP Framework 
 

Volume II 

Draft Concession Agreement 

 
 

Tender No. 07/2020-21/DSCL-Diu 
Bid due date: 17-08-2020 

up to 17:30 hrs 

 

Diu Smart City Limited 
C/o Diu Municipal Council 

Fort Road, Diu - 362520 
Contact : +91 2875 252126 
Email: Diudscl@gmail.com 

 



2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION ................................................................................................. 13 

1.1. Definitions .................................................................................................................................. 13 

1.2. Interpretation ............................................................................................................................. 13 

1.3. Measurements and arithmetic conventions ............................................................................. 15 

1.4. Measurements and arithmetic conventions ............................................................................. 15 

2. Scope of the Project ........................................................................................................................... 16 

2.1. Scope of the Project ................................................................................................................... 16 

3. Grant of Concession ........................................................................................................................... 19 

3.1. Concession .................................................................................................................................. 19 

4. Conditions Precedent ......................................................................................................................... 20 

4.1. Conditions Precedent ................................................................................................................. 20 

4.2. Time allotted for compliance with conditions precedent ........................................................ 21 

4.3. Waiver of Conditions precedent ................................................................................................ 21 

4.4. Damages for Delay by the Authority ......................................................................................... 21 

4.5. Damages for Delay by the Concessionaire ................................................................................ 21 

4.6. Termination for non-compliance of conditions precedents ..................................................... 22 

5. Obligations of the Concessionaire ..................................................................................................... 23 

5.1. Obligations of the Concessionaire ............................................................................................. 23 

5.2. Obligations relating to Project Agreements .............................................................................. 24 

5.3. Obligations relating to change in ownership ............................................................................ 26 

5.4. Employment of foreign national ................................................................................................ 27 

5.5. Employment of trained personal ............................................................................................... 28 

5.6. Obligations relating to medical aid ............................................................................................ 28 

5.7. Obligations relating to basic amenities ..................................................................................... 28 

5.8. Obligations relating to noise control ......................................................................................... 28 

5.9. Sole purpose of the Concessionaire .......................................................................................... 28 

5.10. Branding of the Ropeway ....................................................................................................... 29 

5.11. Facility for physically challenged and elderly persons .......................................................... 29 

5.12. Obligations relating to maintenance of the Ropeway .......................................................... 29 

5.13. Obligations relating to aesthetic quality of the project ........................................................ 29 

5.14. Obligations relating to water, air and sound pollution control ............................................ 29 

5.15. Obligations relating to establish a cloak room facilities at terminal buildings .................... 30 



3 | P a g e  
 

5.16. Obligations relating to establish a vehicle parking facilities at terminal buildings ............. 30 

6. Obligations of the Authority .............................................................................................................. 31 

6.1. Obligations of the Authority ...................................................................................................... 31 

6.2. Obligations of Transaction Authority  – Diu Smart City Ltd: ..................................................... 31 

7. Representations and Warranties ....................................................................................................... 33 

7.1. Representations and Warranties of the Concessionaire .......................................................... 33 

7.2. Representations and Warranties of the Authority ................................................................... 34 

7.3. Disclosure ................................................................................................................................... 34 

8. Disclaimer ........................................................................................................................................... 36 

8.1. Disclaimer ................................................................................................................................... 36 

9. Performance Security ......................................................................................................................... 37 

9.1. Construction period performance security ............................................................................... 37 

10. Right of Way ................................................................................................................................... 38 

10.1. The Site ................................................................................................................................... 38 

10.2. License, Access and Right of Way .......................................................................................... 38 

10.3. Procurement of the site ......................................................................................................... 39 

10.4. Site to be free from Encumbrances ....................................................................................... 40 

10.5. Protection of Site from encroachments ................................................................................ 41 

10.6. Special/temporary right of way ............................................................................................. 41 

10.7. Access to the Authority and Independent Engineer ............................................................. 41 

10.8. Geological and archaeological finds ...................................................................................... 41 

11. UTILITIES, ASSOCIATED ROADS AND TREES .................................................................................. 43 

11.1. Existing utilities and roads ..................................................................................................... 43 

11.2. Shifting of Obstructing Utilities ............................................................................................. 43 

11.3. New utilities and roads .......................................................................................................... 43 

11.4. Felling of trees ........................................................................................................................ 43 

12. CONSTRUCTION OF THE ROPEWAY FROM DIU TO GHOGHLA...................................................... 45 

12.1. Obligations prior to commencement of construction .......................................................... 45 

12.2. Drawings ................................................................................................................................. 45 

12.3. Construction of the Ropeway ................................................................................................ 46 

13. MONITORING OF CONSTRUCTION................................................................................................. 48 

13.1. Monthly Progress report ........................................................................................................ 48 

13.2. Inspection ............................................................................................................................... 48 



4 | P a g e  
 

13.3. Tests ........................................................................................................................................ 48 

13.4. Delays during construction .................................................................................................... 49 

13.5. Suspension of unsafe Construction Works ............................................................................ 49 

13.6. Video recording ...................................................................................................................... 50 

14. COMPLETION CERTIFICATE............................................................................................................. 51 

14.1. Test .......................................................................................................................................... 51 

14.2. Completion Certificate ........................................................................................................... 52 

14.3. Provisional Certificate ............................................................................................................ 52 

14.4. Completion of Punch List items ............................................................................................. 52 

14.5. Rescheduling of Tests ............................................................................................................. 53 

15. ENTRY INTO COMMERCIAL SERVICE .............................................................................................. 54 

15.1. Commercial Operation Date (COD)........................................................................................ 54 

15.2. Damages for delay .................................................................................................................. 54 

15.3. Termination due to delay ....................................................................................................... 54 

16. CHANGE IN SCOPE .......................................................................................................................... 55 

16.1. Change in Scope...................................................................................................................... 55 

16.2. Procedure for Change of Scope .............................................................................................. 55 

16.3. Payment for Change of Scope ................................................................................................ 57 

16.4. Restrictions on certain works ................................................................................................ 58 

16.5. Power of the Authority to undertake works ......................................................................... 58 

16.6. Reduction in Scope of the Project .......................................................................................... 58 

17. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE .................................................................................................. 60 

17.1. O&M Obligations of the Concessionaire ............................................................................... 60 

17.2. Maintenance Requirement .................................................................................................... 61 

17.3. Maintenance Manual ............................................................................................................. 61 

17.4. Maintenance Program ............................................................................................................ 61 

17.5. Safety, breakdowns and accidents ........................................................................................ 62 

17.6. De-commissioning due to Emergency ................................................................................... 62 

17.7. Damages for breach of maintenance obligations ................................................................. 63 

17.8. Authority's right to take remedial measures ........................................................................ 63 

17.9. O&M Overriding powers of the Authority ............................................................................ 64 

17.10. Restoration of loss or damage to Project .............................................................................. 64 

17.11. Modifications to the Project .................................................................................................. 65 



5 | P a g e  
 

17.12. Excuse from performance of obligations............................................................................... 65 

17.13. Barriers and diversions ........................................................................................................... 65 

17.14. Advertising on the Site ........................................................................................................... 66 

18. Safety Requirements ...................................................................................................................... 67 

18.1. Safety Requirements .............................................................................................................. 67 

18.2. Expenditure on Safety Requirements .................................................................................... 67 

19. Monitoring of Operation and Maintenance .................................................................................. 68 

19.1. Monthly status report ............................................................................................................ 68 

19.2. Inspection ............................................................................................................................... 68 

19.3. Tests ........................................................................................................................................ 68 

19.4. Remedial measures ................................................................................................................ 68 

19.5. Monthly Fee Statement ......................................................................................................... 69 

19.6. Reports on unusual occurrence ............................................................................................. 69 

20. Key Performance Indicators ........................................................................................................... 70 

20.1. Key Performance Indicators ................................................................................................... 70 

20.2. Operation of Ropeway Cabins ............................................................................................... 70 

20.3. Provisions of Cabins ............................................................................................................... 70 

20.4. Operation of Terminal Stations ............................................................................................. 70 

20.5. Monthly status report ............................................................................................................ 71 

20.6. Penalty for shortfall in performance ..................................................................................... 71 

20.7. CEN certification ..................................................................................................................... 72 

20.8. Passenger Charter .................................................................................................................. 72 

21. EMERGENCT MEDICAL AID ............................................................................................................. 73 

21.1. Medical Aid Posts ................................................................................................................... 73 

22. Independent Engineer .................................................................................................................... 74 

22.1. Appointment of Independent engineer ................................................................................ 74 

22.2. Duties and function ................................................................................................................ 74 

22.3. Remuneration ......................................................................................................................... 75 

22.4. Termination of appointment ................................................................................................. 75 

22.5. Authorized signatories ........................................................................................................... 75 

22.6. Dispute resolution .................................................................................................................. 75 

23. Financial Close ................................................................................................................................ 76 

23.1. Financial Close ........................................................................................................................ 76 



6 | P a g e  
 

23.2. Termination due to failure to achieve Financial Close .......................................................... 76 

24. Concession Fee ............................................................................................................................... 78 

24.1. Revenue Share from ticketing of Ropeway System .............................................................. 78 

24.2. Additional Utilities or Services ............................................................................................... 79 

24.3. Certified Accounts .................................................................................................................. 80 

25. User Fee .......................................................................................................................................... 81 

25.1. Collection and appropriation of User Fee ............................................................................. 81 

25.2. Revision of Fee........................................................................................................................ 81 

25.3. Display of Fee Rates ............................................................................................................... 81 

25.4. Commercial Activity ............................................................................................................... 81 

26. Traffic Regulation ........................................................................................................................... 82 

26.1. Traffic Regulation by the Concessionaire .............................................................................. 82 

26.2. Police assistance ..................................................................................................................... 82 

27. Insurance ........................................................................................................................................ 83 

27.1. Insurance during Concession Period ...................................................................................... 83 

27.2. Notices to the Authority ........................................................................................................ 83 

27.3. Evidence of Insurance Cover .................................................................................................. 84 

27.4. Remedy for failure to insure .................................................................................................. 84 

27.5. Waiver of subrogation............................................................................................................ 84 

27.6. Concessionaire's waiver ......................................................................................................... 84 

27.7. Application of insurance proceeds ........................................................................................ 84 

28. Accounts and Audit ........................................................................................................................ 86 

28.1. Audited Accounts ................................................................................................................... 86 

28.2. Appointment of auditors ....................................................................................................... 88 

28.3. Certification of claims by Statutory Auditors ........................................................................ 88 

28.4. Set-off ..................................................................................................................................... 88 

28.5. Appointment of Independent Auditor .................................................................................. 88 

28.6. Dispute resolution .................................................................................................................. 90 

29. Force Majeure ................................................................................................................................ 91 

29.1. Force Majeure......................................................................................................................... 91 

29.2. Non Political Event ................................................................................................................. 91 

29.3. Indirect Political Event ........................................................................................................... 92 

29.4. Political Event ......................................................................................................................... 92 



7 | P a g e  
 

29.5. Duty to report Force Majeure Event ...................................................................................... 93 

29.6. Effect of Force Majeure Event on the Concession ................................................................ 93 

29.7. Allocation of costs arising out of Force Majeure................................................................... 94 

29.8. Termination Notice for Force Majeure Event ........................................................................ 94 

29.9. Termination Payment for Force Majeure Event .................................................................... 95 

29.10. Dispute resolution .................................................................................................................. 95 

29.11. Excuse from performance of obligations............................................................................... 95 

30. COMPENSTION FOR BREAH OF AGREEMENT ................................................................................ 97 

30.1. Compensation for default by the Concessionaire ................................................................. 97 

30.2. Compensation for default by the Authority .......................................................................... 97 

30.3. Extension of Concession Period ............................................................................................. 97 

31. Suspension of Concessionaire’s Rights .......................................................................................... 99 

31.1. Suspension upon Concessionaire Default ............................................................................. 99 

31.2. Authority to act on behalf of Concessionaire ........................................................................ 99 

31.3. Revocation of Suspension .................................................................................................... 100 

31.4. Substitution of Concessionaire ............................................................................................ 100 

31.5. Termination .......................................................................................................................... 100 

32. Termination .................................................................................................................................. 101 

32.1. Termination for Concessionaire Default.............................................................................. 101 

32.2. Termination for Authority Default ...................................................................................... 103 

32.3. Termination Payment........................................................................................................... 104 

32.4. Other rights and obligations of the Authority ..................................................................... 105 

32.5. Certain limitations on Termination Payment ...................................................................... 106 

32.6. No Compensation on Expiry of Concession Period ............................................................. 106 

32.7. Survival of rights ................................................................................................................... 107 

33. DIVESTMENT OF RIGHTS AND INTEREST ..................................................................................... 108 

33.1. Divestment requirement ...................................................................................................... 108 

33.2. Inspection and cure .............................................................................................................. 109 

33.3. Cooperation and assistance on transfer of Project ............................................................. 109 

33.4. Vesting Certificate ................................................................................................................ 109 

33.5. Additional Facilities .............................................................................................................. 110 

33.6. Divestment Cost etc. ............................................................................................................ 110 

34. DEFECTS LIABILITY AFTER TERMINATION .................................................................................... 111 



8 | P a g e  
 

34.1. Liability for defects after Termination ................................................................................. 111 

35. ASSIGNMENT AND CHARGES ....................................................................................................... 112 

35.1. Restrictions on assignment and charges ............................................................................. 112 

35.2. Permitted assignment and charges ..................................................................................... 112 

35.3. Substitution Agreement ....................................................................................................... 112 

35.4. Assignment by the Authority ............................................................................................... 113 

36. Change in Law ............................................................................................................................... 114 

36.1. Change in Law ....................................................................................................................... 114 

36.2. The Concessionaire’s Remedy .............................................................................................. 114 

37. Liability and Indemnity ................................................................................................................ 117 

37.1. General indemnity ................................................................................................................ 117 

37.2. Indemnity by the Concessionaire ........................................................................................ 117 

37.3. Notice and contest of claims ................................................................................................ 118 

37.4. Defence of claims ................................................................................................................. 119 

37.5. No consequential claims ...................................................................................................... 120 

37.6. Survival on Termination ....................................................................................................... 120 

38. RIGHTS AND TITLE OVER THE SITE ............................................................................................... 121 

38.1. Licensee rights ...................................................................................................................... 121 

38.2. Access rights of the Authority and others ........................................................................... 121 

38.3. Property taxes ...................................................................................................................... 121 

38.4. Stamp Duty and other incidental charges ........................................................................... 121 

38.5. Restriction on sub-letting ..................................................................................................... 121 

39. DISPUTE RESOLUTION .................................................................................................................. 122 

39.1. Amicable Settlement ............................................................................................................ 122 

39.2. Conciliation by Expert .......................................................................................................... 122 

39.3. Arbitration ............................................................................................................................ 123 

39.4. Adjudication by Adjudicatory Board ................................................................................... 123 

40. DISCLOSURE .................................................................................................................................. 125 

40.1. Disclosure of Specified Document ....................................................................................... 125 

40.2. Disclosure of Documents relating to safety ........................................................................ 125 

40.3. Disclosure for circumstance ................................................................................................. 125 

41. REDRESSAL OF PUBLIC GRIEVANCE ............................................................................................. 126 

41.1. Complaints Register ............................................................................................................. 126 



9 | P a g e  
 

41.2. Redressal of complaints ....................................................................................................... 126 

42. Miscellaneous ............................................................................................................................... 127 

42.1. Governing law and Jurisdiction ............................................................................................ 127 

42.2. Waiver of immunity ............................................................................................................. 127 

42.3. Depreciation and Interest .................................................................................................... 127 

42.4. Delayed payments ................................................................................................................ 127 

42.5. Waiver ................................................................................................................................... 128 

42.6. Liability for review of Documents and Drawings ................................................................ 128 

42.7. Exclusion of implied warranties etc. .................................................................................... 128 

42.8. Survival: ................................................................................................................................ 128 

42.9. Entire Agreement ................................................................................................................. 129 

42.10. Severability ........................................................................................................................... 129 

42.11. No partnership...................................................................................................................... 129 

42.12. Third Parties.......................................................................................................................... 129 

42.13. Successors and assigns ......................................................................................................... 130 

42.14. Notices .................................................................................................................................. 130 

42.15. Language ............................................................................................................................... 130 

42.16. Counterparts ......................................................................................................................... 130 

42.17. Counterparts ......................................................................................................................... 131 

43. ASSETS: OWNERSHIP AND PERMITTED CHARGE......................................................................... 132 

43.1. Ownership of Assets ............................................................................................................. 132 

43.2. Permitted Charge on Assets ................................................................................................. 132 

44. TRANSFER ON EXPIRY OF THE CONCESSION ............................................................................... 133 

44.1. General Scope of Transfer/Payment ................................................................................... 133 

44.2. Concessionaire’s Obligations ............................................................................................... 133 

44.3. Concessionaire’s Obligations ............................................................................................... 134 

44.4. Concessioning Authority’s Obligations ................................................................................ 134 

44.5. Risk ........................................................................................................................................ 134 

45. GENERAL RIGHTS, DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS ............................................................................ 135 

45.1. Of the Concessionaire .......................................................................................................... 135 

45.2. Of the Concessioning Authority ........................................................................................... 137 

45.3. Of the Concessioning Authority and the Concessionaire .................................................... 137 

46. Definitions .................................................................................................................................... 139 



10 | P a g e  
 

46.1. Definitions ............................................................................................................................ 139 

Schedule A: SITE OF THE PROJECT ............................................................................................................ 153 

Schedule B: DEVELOPMENT OF THE ROPEWAY AND SCOPE .................................................................... 157 

Schedule C: PROJECT FACILITIES ............................................................................................................... 162 

Schedule D: Specifications and Standards ................................................................................................ 163 

Schedule E: APPLICABLE PERMITS ............................................................................................................ 178 

Schedule F: PERFORMANCE SECURITY ..................................................................................................... 180 

Schedule H: DRAWINGS ............................................................................................................................ 185 

Schedule I: SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT ENGINEER ............................................................................... 187 

Schedule K: COMPLETION CERTIFICATE .................................................................................................... 199 

Schedule L: PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS ......................................................... 201 

Schedule M: SAFETY REQUIREMENTS ....................................................................................................... 205 

Schedule N: VESTING CERTIFICATE ........................................................................................................... 211 

Schedule O: SUBSTITUTION AGREEMENT ................................................................................................. 212 

Schedule P: FEE NOTIFICATION ................................................................................................................. 223 

Schedule Q: MONTHLY FEE STATEMENT .................................................................................................. 230 

Schedule R: MONTHLY TRAFFIC CENSUS .................................................................................................. 231 

Schedule S: COMPENSATION AMOUNT .................................................................................................... 232 

Schedule T: PASSENGER CHARTER ............................................................................................................ 233 

  



11 | P a g e  
 

 

Concession Agreement 

 

This Concession Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into on this the ___day of__20 _____at________. 

 

AMONGST 

Tourism Department, Diu, UT Administration of Daman and Diu represented by the ………………….. and 
having its principal office at Diu, (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority” which expression shall, 
unless the context otherwise requires, include its administrators, successors and permitted assigns and 
substitutes) of First Part 
 

AND 

[Name of SPV], a company incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013, (as re-
enacted, substituted, amended from time to time) and having its registered office at 
_________________(hereinafter referred to as the "Concessionaire" which expression shall, unless 
repugnant to the context or meaning thereof, include its successors and permitted assigns and 
substitutes) of the Second Part. 

AND 

Diu Smart City Limited, represented herein by its Chief Executive Officer / Authorized Officer, and 
having its Registered office at Office of Diu Smart City Limited, C/o Diu Municipal Council, Fort Road, Diu, 
Daman and Diu- 362520. (hereinafter referred to as the "Authority”) which expression shall, unless 
repugnant to the context or meaning thereof, include its administrators, successors and assigns) of Third 
Part; 

WHEREAS: 

A. Tourism Department, Diu, UT Administration of Daman and Diu (the “Authority”) is engaged in the 
development of tourism infrastructure and as part of this endeavor, it has decided to undertake 
development of aerial passenger ropeway at Diu island to Ghoghla on Design, Build, Finance, 
Operate and Transfer (the "DBFOT") basis under Public Private Partnership Mode (the “Project”) in 
accordance with the terms and conditions to be set forth in this Agreement.  
 

B. The Diu Smart City Limited (“DSCL” or the “Transaction Authority”) is the nodal agency formed by 
the UT Administration of Daman and Diu for implementing Smart City proposal in Diu city. DSCL is 
engaged in the conceptualizing and development of infrastructure in the city of Diu through various 
development models. 
 

C. The Authority had accordingly invited single stage two envelope proposals by its RFP No. ________ 
dated ____________ (the "RFP") on terms and conditions contained therein for the selection of 
successful bidder for undertaking the development of the Project on DBFOT basis in terms hereof. 
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D. After evaluation of the bids received in accordance with the RFP, the Authority had accepted the bid 

of ________________ (hereinafter referred to as the "Selected Bidder/Consortium") and issued 
Letter of Award (“LOA”) No. ______________ dated ___________ (hereinafter called the “LOA") to 
the Selected Bidder i.e. M/s ____________ requiring, inter alia, the execution of this Concession 
Agreement within 45 (forty-five) days of the date of issue of LOA. 
 

E. The Selected Bidder has incorporated an appropriate Special Purpose Vehicle under the Indian 
Companies Act, 2013 (hereinafter called the “Concessionaire”) and has requested the Authority to 
accept the Concessionaire as the entity which shall undertake and perform the obligations and 
exercise the rights of the Selected Bidder under the LOA, including the obligation to enter into this 
Concession Agreement pursuant to the LOA for executing the Project. 
 

F. By its letter dated ___________, the Concessionaire has also joined in the said request of the 
Selected Bidder to the Authority to accept it as the entity which shall undertake and perform the 
obligations and exercise the rights of the Selected Bidder including the obligation to enter into this 
Agreement pursuant to the LOA. The Concessionaire has further represented to the effect that it has 
been promoted by the Selected Bidder for the purposes hereof. 
 

G. The Authority has agreed to the said request of the Selected Bidder and the Concessionaire, and has 
accordingly agreed to enter into this Agreement with the Concessionaire for execution of the Project 
on DBFOT basis, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth hereinafter. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective covenants and agreements set 
forth in this Agreement, the sufficiency and adequacy of which is hereby acknowledged, and intending 
to be legally bound hereby, the Parties, respectively, agree as follows: 
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NOW, THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSETH AS FOLLOWS: 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

1.1. Definitions 

The words and expressions beginning with capital letters and defined in this Agreement (including 
those in Article 41) shall, unless the context otherwise requires, have the meaning ascribed 
thereto herein, and the words and expressions defined in the Schedules and used therein shall 
have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Schedules. 

1.2. Interpretation 

1.2.1. In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: 

a) references to any legislation or any provision thereof shall include amendment or re- 
enactment or consolidation of such legislation or any provision thereof so far as such 
amendment or re- enactment or consolidation applies or is capable of applying to any 
transaction entered into hereunder; 

b) references to laws of Daman and Diu, laws of India or Indian law or regulation having the 
force of law shall include the laws, acts, ordinances, rules, regulations, bye laws or 
notifications which have the force of law in the territory of India and as from time to time 
may be amended, modified, supplemented, extended or re-enacted; 

c) references to a "person" and words denoting a natural person shall be construed as a 
reference to any individual, firm, company, corporation, society, trust, government, state or 
agency of a state or any association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal 
personality) of two or more of the above and shall include successors and assigns; 

d) the table of contents, headings or sub-headings in this Agreement are for convenience of 
reference only and shall not be used in, and shall not affect, the construction or 
interpretation of this Agreement; 

e) the words “include” and “including” are to be construed without limitation and shall be 
deemed to be followed by “without limitation” or “but not limited to” whether or not they 
are followed by such phrases; 

f) references to "construction" or “building” include, unless the context otherwise requires, 
investigation, design, developing, engineering, procurement, delivery, transportation, 
installation, processing, fabrication, testing, commissioning and other activities incidental to 
the construction, and "construct" or “build” shall be construed accordingly; 

g) references to "development” include, unless the context otherwise requires, construction, 
renovation, refurbishment, augmentation, up gradation and other activities incidental 
thereto, and “develop” shall be construed accordingly; 

h) any reference to any period of time shall mean a reference to that according to Indian 
Standard Time; 

i) any reference to day shall mean a reference to a calendar day; 
j) references to a "business day" shall be construed as a reference to a day (other than a 

Sunday) on which banks in Diu are generally open for business; 
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k) any reference to month shall mean a reference to a calendar month as per the Gregorian 
calendar; 

l) references to any date, period or Project Milestone shall mean and include such date, 
period or Project Milestone as may be extended pursuant to this Agreement; 

m) any reference to any period commencing "from" a specified day or date and "till" or "until" 
a specified day or date shall include both such days or dates provided that if the last day of 
any period computed under this Agreement is not a business day, then the period shall run 
until the end of the next business day; 

n) the words importing singular shall include plural and vice versa; 
o) references to any gender shall include the other and the neutral gender; 
p) "lakh" means a hundred thousand (100,000) and "crore" means ten million (10,000,000); 
q) "indebtedness" shall be construed so as to include any obligation (whether incurred as 

principal or surety) for the payment or repayment of money, whether present or future, 
actual or contingent; 

r) references to the “winding-up”, “dissolution”, “insolvency”, or “reorganization” of a 
company or corporation shall be construed so as to include any equivalent or analogous 
proceedings under the low of the jurisdiction in which such company or corporation is 
incorporated or any jurisdiction in which such company or corporation carries on business 
including the seeking of liquidation, winding-up, reorganization, dissolution, arrangement, 
protection or relief of debtors; 

s) any reference, at any time, to any agreement, deed, instrument, lease or document of any 
description shall be construed as reference to that agreement, deed, instrument, lease or 
other document as amended, varied, supplemented, modified or suspended at the time of 
such reference; provided that this Sub-clause shall not operate so as to increase liabilities or 
obligations of the Authority hereunder or pursuant hereto in any manner whatsoever; 

t) Any agreement, consent, approval, authorization, notice, communication, information or 
report required under or pursuant to this Agreement from or by any Party or the 
Independent Engineer shall be valid and effective only if it is in writing under the hand of a 
duly authorized representative of such Party or the Independent Engineer, as the case may 
be, in this behalf and not otherwise; 

u) The Schedules and Recitals to this Agreement form an integral part of this Agreement and 
will be in full force and effect as though they were expressly set out in the body of this 
Agreement; 

v) References to Recitals, Articles, Clauses, Sub-clauses or Schedules in this Agreement shall, 
except where the context otherwise requires, mean references to Recitals, Articles, Clauses, 
Sub-clauses and Schedules of or to this Agreement, and references to a Paragraph shall, 
subject to any contrary indication, be construed as a reference to a Paragraph of this 
Agreement or of the Schedule in which such reference appears; and 

w) The damages payable by either Party to the other of them, as set forth in this Agreement, 
whether on per diem basis or otherwise, are mutually agreed genuine pre-estimated loss 
and damage likely to be suffered and incurred by the Party entitled to receive the same and 
are not by way of penalty (the "Damages"). 

x) time shall be of the essence in the performance of the Parties’ respective obligations. If any 
time period specified herein is extended, such extended time shall also be of the essence. 
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1.2.2. Unless expressly provided otherwise in this Agreement, any Documentation required to be 
provided or furnished by the Concessionaire to the Authority and/or the Independent Engineer 
shall be provided free of cost and in three copies, and if the Authority and/or the Independent 
Engineer is required to return any such Documentation with their comments and/or approval, 
they shall be entitled to retain two copies thereof. 

1.2.3. The rule of construction, if any, that a contract should be interpreted against the parties 
responsible for the drafting and preparation thereof, shall not apply. 

1.2.4. Any word or expression used in this Agreement shall, unless otherwise defined or construed in 
this Agreement, bear its ordinary English meaning and, for these purposes, the General Clauses 
Act 1897 shall not apply. 

1.3. Measurements and arithmetic conventions 

All measurements and calculations shall be in the metric system and calculations done to 2 
(two) decimal places, with the third digit of 5 (five) or above being rounded up and below 5 
(five) being rounded down. 

1.4. Measurements and arithmetic conventions 

1.4.1. This agreement, and all other agreements and documents forming part of this agreement are to 
be taken as mutually explanatory and, unless otherwise expressly provided elsewhere in this 
agreement, the priority of this agreement and other documents and agreements forming part 
hereof shall, in the event of any conflict between them, be in the following order: 

a) this agreement; and 
b) all other agreements (including RFP and LOA) and documents forming part hereof; i.e. 

the agreement at (a) above shall prevail over the agreements and documents at (b) 
above. 

1.4.2. Subject to Clause 1.4.1, in case of ambiguities or discrepancies within this Agreement, the 
following shall apply: 

a) between two or more Clauses of this Agreement, the provisions of a specific Clause 
relevant to the issue under consideration shall prevail over those in other Clauses; 

b) between the Clauses of this agreement and the Schedules, the Clauses shall prevail and 
between Schedules and Annexes, the Schedules shall prevail; 

c) between any two Schedules, the Schedule relevant to the issue shall prevail; 
d) between the written description on the Drawings and the CEN Standards, the latter shall 

prevail; 
e) between the dimension scaled from the Drawing and its specific written dimension, the 

latter shall prevail; and 
f) between any value written in numerals and that in words, the latter shall prevail 
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2. Scope of the Project 

2.1. Scope of the Project 

2.1.1. The scope of the Project (the "Scope of the Project") shall mean and include, during the 
Concession Period: 

The Intended work is to provide connectivity through aerial ropeway system between Diu to 
Ghoghla on PPP (DBFOT) 

The scope of works will be as follows: 

1. The Selected bidder has to prepare the concept plan for the development of Cable Car system 
as per their own design based on the alignment provided by DSCL, which includes the 
development of terminal station at both the locations i.e. Diu and Ghoghla and necessary 
columns/pillar. 

2. The firm has to develop the Cable Car system on 3S system as per CEN (European) standards. 
The system should be duly audited and checked by the authorised auditor as specified in the 
CEN Standards. 

3. The work includes development of terminal station at Diu and Ghoghla on the area allotted by 
DSCL (2,000 Sqm consisting about 1000 Sqm for each Terminal Station or the actual area 
given), as per their own concept according to the development permitted by DMC/DSCL in 
that area. 

4. The firm has to develop all the necessary infrastructure, required for the effective operation of 
Cable Car, dispersal of traffic, parking, cloak room, evacuation of people, etc. 

5. The Concessionaire will have freedom to exploit the commercial area in the terminal station at 
Diu and Ghoghla. Accordingly bidder can plan and develop the terminal. However bidder has 
to submit the plan and design of the terminal to DSCL for its approval. 

6. The Concessionaire has to provide necessary infrastructure for smooth passage between the 
proposed terminal stations for tourist to embark/ disembark. 

7. The Concessionaire has to plan Cable Car system to connect between two terminal stations by 
fixing the span between two columns, number of columns and height of columns at all point 
as per their own concept and design. However Concessionaire has to submit the plan and 
design of the same to DSCL for its approval. 

8. The alignment of the Cable Car is crossing over the navigational channel in Diu Harbour, where 
ship/Boat movement is frequent which has to be considered during the development of the 
Cable Car. The Concessionaire has to provide clearance of minimum 30 m between water 
(high tide level) and the bottom of Gondola after considering the sag as per the standards. The 
Concessionaire has to confirm the span considered in the channel and maximum sag 
considered by anticipating maximum traffic, the future load and clearance between cable car 
and ship and provide the same to DSCL for approval. 

9. The Concessionaire has to design entire Cable Car system including civil design of terminal, 
columns, any other structure required as per their concept on their own cost. However it has 
to be approved by DSCL before implementation and execution. 
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10. The Concessionaire has to get final approval from DSCL for the entire Cable Car system after 
its development before the operation. The operation of the Cable Car system has to be carried 
out as per the CEN standards and safety standards rules approved by the government time to 
time till the concession period. 

11. The terminal station developed at Diu and Ghoghla will have to be maintained properly to 
meet need of tourist as per the prevailing laws and regulation of the government. 

12. The maintenance of entire Cable Car system has to be carried out as per the CEN standards 
and prevailing rules for safety and security laid down by the government time to time for 
entire concession period. 

13. The Concessionaire has to provide safety mechanism (as per CEN Standards) in the entire 
Cable Car system to prevent any accident and mishaps during operation for entire concession 
period. Accordingly bidder has to submit the safety mechanism plan to DSCL in advance prior 
to start of operation. 

14. The Concessionaire has to provide necessary security system (as per CEN Standards) from the 
terminal at Diu to terminal at Ghoghla to prevent any breach in the security. To achieve this 
the bidder has to plan security mechanisms such as, deployment of specialised personal at 
vantage points, CCTV security system, PA system, alarm system or any other system which he 
seems suitable at his own cost. 

15. The Concessionaire has to provide evacuation system in case of stoppage of Cable Car in 
midway, breaking of wire rope, any failure in the column, failure in machinery, any problems 
in the cable car, etc. during the operation of Cable Car. 

16. The Concessionaire has to develop the entire Cable Car system considering earth quake factor, 
so that any mishaps and public accident are prevented during the operations. 

17. As this Cable Car system is being developed in the sea area, equipment, cable cars, ropes are 
likely to corrode fast, hence the design should be adopted considering this factor and 
operation and maintenance should also be done considering the same. 

18. The Concessionaire will have freedom for the pricing of tickets, however they have to take 
insurance for the tourist, insurance of the machinery, equipment, civil structures, etc. 

19. The Concessionaire has to provide medical aid system at both the terminal stations by 
deploying ambulances, first aid, etc. 

20. The Concessionaire has to provide efficient firefighting system for the entire Cable Car 
including terminals. 

21. The Concessionaire has to submit operational manual, standard operating procedure, 
maintenance manual, overhauling system of the Cable Car, traffic dispersal system at Diu and 
Ghoghla, evacuation plan of people for both the terminal, firefighting system, medical aid 
system, security system, etc. for the approval of DSCL before the operation. 

22. All the necessary statutory approvals needed for construction and operation have to be taken 
by the Concessionaire prior to the sanction of plan, during the construction period and 
operation of services, etc. 
23. The Concessionaire has to take power connection directly from source, as required for the 

entire Cable Car system including both the terminal stations. DSCL may provide support to 
get power connection. 

24. The Concessionaire has to provide alternate power source for existing system in case of 
emergency, with adequate numbers of generators at both the stations. 
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25. The Concessionaire has to arrange at their own cost- Information Network system, 
including telephone line, OFC cables, etc. as par their requirement. 

26. The Concessionaire has to implement and execute any other works related to smooth 
operation and maintenance of entire Cable Car system during concession period as and 
when directed by DSCL on its own cost. 

27. The Concessionaire has to arrange and develop a system to monitor weather (wind speed, 
rainfall, etc.) by liasioning with Meteorological Department to ensure safe services. 

28. The Cable Car system should be mounted with modern cabins. 

2.1.2. Operation and Maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in accordance with the provisions 
of this agreement. 

2.1.3. Performance and fulfilment of all other obligations of the Concessionaire in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement and matters incidental thereto or necessary for the performance of 
any or all of the obligations of the Concessionaire under this Agreement. 
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3. Grant of Concession 

3.1. Concession 

3.1.1. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Applicable Laws and the 
Applicable Permits, the Authority hereby grants to the Concessionaire the concession set forth 
herein including the exclusive right, license and authority during the subsistence of this 
Agreement to design, construct, finance, operate and maintain the Project (the "Concession") 
for a period of 25 (Twenty Five) years (Excluding the construction period) commencing from the 
Appointed Date and ending on the Transfer Date, unless terminated earlier in accordance with 
this Agreement, and the Concessionaire hereby accepts the Concession and agrees to 
implement the Project subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth 
herein. 

3.1.2. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Concession hereby 
granted shall oblige or entitle (as the case may be) the Concessionaire to: 

a. Right of Way, access and license to the Site for the purpose of and to the extent 
conferred by the provisions of this Agreement; 

b. Finance and construct the Ropeway from Diu to Ghoghla; 
c. Manage, operate and maintain the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and regulate the use 

thereof by third parties; 
d. Demand, collect and appropriate Fee from users for using the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway 

and refuse usages if the fee due not paid; 
e. Perform and fulfill all of the Concessionaire's obligations under and in accordance with 

this Agreement; 
f. save as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, bear and pay all costs, expenses 

and charges in connection with or incidental to the performance of the obligations of 
the Concessionaire under this Agreement; and 

g. Neither assign, transfer or sublet or create any lien or Encumbrance on this Agreement, 
or the Concession hereby granted or on the whole or any part of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway nor transfer, lease or part possession thereof, save and except as expressly 
permitted by this Agreement or the Substitution Agreement. 

3.1.3. Subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and Applicable Laws, the 
Concession hereby granted shall, without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 3.1.2, entitle the 
Concessionaire to undertake development, operation and maintenance of the real estate 
specified in Schedule-A, [subject to the conditions stipulated in Schedule-B, Schedule-C and 
Schedule-D,] and to exploit such development for commercial purposes (the “Real Estate 
Development”) with the right to sub-license any or all parts thereof by means of Project 
Agreements. 
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4. Conditions Precedent 

4.1. Conditions Precedent 

4.1.1. The award of the Concession shall be subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following 
conditions precedent (the “Conditions Precedent”): 

(a) The following Conditions Precedent shall be satisfied by the Concessionaire: 
i. Furnishing of the Performance Guarantee as stipulated in Article 9.1 hereof; 

ii. Furnishing of copies (certified as true copies by a director of the Concessionaire) of the 
constituent documents of the Concessionaire; 

iii. Furnishing of all resolutions adopted by the Board of Directors of the Concessionaire 
(certified as true copies by a director of the Concessionaire) authorizing the execution, 
delivery and performance by the Concessionaire of each of the Transaction Documents; 

iv. Furnishing a certificate from its principal officer/director on the shareholding pattern of the 
Concessionaire; 

v. Submission of the Financing Plan and Financing Documents for the Project and 
demonstrating Financial Close for verification that there is no inconsistency/contradiction 
with the terms & condition of the agreement. Authority, within 15 days shall notify 
concessionaire of inconsistency/contradictions, in any which case shall be promptly 
addressed by the Concessionaire. 

vi. Procuring and furnishing the following confirmations, in original, from the Applicant/ 
members of Consortium: 
a) it/they shall at all times comply with the provisions of Article 5.3 in respect of their 

shareholding in the Concessionaire; 
b) it/they has/have the financial standing and resources to fund /raise finances for 

undertaking and implementing the Project in accordance with this Agreement; 
c) the Applicant is/each of the member of the Consortium is duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation, and has requested the 
Concessioning Authority to enter into this Agreement with the Concessionaire and has 
agreed to and unconditionally accepted the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement; 

vii. Furnishing to the Concessioning Authority a legal opinion from the legal counsel of the 
Concessionaire with respect to the authority of the Concessionaire to enter into this 
Agreement and the enforceability hereof; and 

viii. Obtaining Applicable Permits as may be required for commencement of Construction Works 
as stated in Schedule E. 
 

(b) The Concessionaire may, upon providing the Performance Security to the Authority in 
accordance with Article 9, at any time after [90 (ninety)] days from the date of this Agreement 
or on an earlier day acceptable to the Authority, by notice require the Authority to satisfy any or 
all of the Conditions Precedent set forth in this Clause within a period of 30 (thirty) days of the 
notice, or such longer period not exceeding 60 (sixty) days as may be specified therein, and the 
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Conditions Precedent required to be satisfied by the Authority shall be deemed to have been 
fulfilled when the Authority shall have: 

i. procured for the Concessionaire the Right of Way to the Site in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 10; 

4.2. Time allotted for compliance with conditions precedent 

The aforesaid Conditions Precedent shall be complied with within 180 - (One Hundred and eighty) Days 
of the date of the Agreement, except submission of the performance Guarantee, which shall be 
submitted prior to signing of the Agreement. For the purpose of compliance of Financial Close 
obligation, Concessionaire, shall not be considered at default if the conditions pending for achieving 
financial close are only those which are required to be fulfilled by the Concessioning Authority. 

4.3. Waiver of Conditions precedent  

Any of the Conditions Precedent set forth in Articles 4.1.1 (a) may be waived fully or partially by the 
Concessioning Authority at any time in its sole discretion or the Concessioning Authority may grant 
additional time for compliance with these conditions and the Concessionaire shall be bound to ensure 
compliance within such additional time as may be specified by the Concessioning Authority. Any of the 
Conditions Precedent set forth in Articles 4.1.1 (b) may be waived fully or partially by the Concessionaire 
at any time in its sole discretion. 

4.4. Damages for Delay by the Authority 

If the Concessionaire has fulfilled all the Conditions Precedent under Article 4.1.1 (a) including the 
furnishing of the Bank Guarantee and has not waived or extended the time under Clause 4.3 above, and 
if the Concessioning Authority has failed to fulfill the Conditions Precedent to be fulfilled by it under 
Article 4.1.1 (b) (and which are within the power of the Concessioning Authority), the Concessioning 
Authority shall be liable to pay liquidated damages in a sum calculated at the rate of 0.1% (zero point 
one percent) of the Performance Guarantee for each day’s delay until fulfilment of the Conditions 
Precedent subject to a maximum of 5% (five percent) of the figure mentioned in the Performance 
Guarantee furnished by the Concessionaire. In such event, having regard to the quantum of damages, 
the time for the performance shall be deemed to have been extended by the number of days for which 
the liquidated damages is paid and if, after the extended period the Concessioning Authority is still not 
in a position to comply with the Conditions Precedent, then the agreement shall be liable to be 
terminated as provided for in Clause 4.6 below; 

4.5. Damages for Delay by the Concessionaire  

If the Concessioning Authority has fulfilled all the Conditions Precedent under Article 4.1.1 (b) and has 
not waived or extended the time under Clause 4.3 above, and if the Concessionaire has failed to fulfil 
the Conditions Precedent to be fulfilled by it under Article 4.1.1 (a) (and which are within the power of 
the Concessionaire), the Concessionaire shall be liable to pay liquidated damages in a sum calculated at 
the rate of 0.2% (zero point two percent) of the Performance Guarantee for each day’s delay until 
fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent subject to a maximum of 5% (five percent) of the figure 
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mentioned in the Performance Guarantee furnished by the Concessionaire. In such event, having regard 
to the quantum of damages, the time for the performance shall be deemed to have been extended by 
the number of days for which the liquidated damages is paid and if, after the extended period the 
Concessionaire is still not in a position to comply with the Conditions Precedent, then the agreement 
shall be liable to be terminated as provided for in Clause 4.6 below; 

4.6. Termination for non-compliance of conditions precedents  

In the event that the Conditions Precedents are not complied with within the time (including the 
extended time, if any) in terms of the aforesaid Articles 4.2 to 4.5, this Agreement shall be liable to be 
terminated. If such termination is on account of failure of the Concessionaire to comply with the 
Conditions Precedent, the Bid Security shall stand forfeited. If such termination is on account of failure 
of the Concessioning Authority, the Concessioning Authority shall be obliged to return the Bid 
Security/Performance Guarantee. It is clarified that except for the payment as stipulated in the 
foregoing Article 4.4 and 4.5 and forfeiture in this Article 4.6, each party hereto shall have no claims 
against the other for costs, damages, compensation or otherwise. 
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5. Obligations of the Concessionaire  

5.1. Obligations of the Concessionaire 

5.1.1. Subject to and on the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Concessionaire shall at its 
cost and expense procure finance for and undertake the design, engineering, procurement, 
construction, operation and maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and observe, fulfill, 
comply with and perform all its obligations set out in this Agreement or arising hereunder. 

5.1.2. The Concessionaire shall comply with all Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits (including 
renewals as required) in the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

5.1.3. Subject to Clauses 5.1.1 and 5.1.2, the Concessionaire shall discharge its obligations in 
accordance with Good Industry Practice and as a reasonable and prudent person. 

5.1.4. The Concessionaire shall, at its own cost and expense, in addition to and not in derogation of its 
obligations elsewhere set out in this Agreement: 

a) make, or cause to be made, necessary applications to the relevant Government 
Instrumentalities with such particulars and details, as may be required for obtaining all 
Applicable Permits (Schedule E) and obtain and keep in force and effect such Applicable 
Permits in conformity with the Applicable Laws; 

b) comply and adhere to the terms and conditions including renewals indicated in the 
clearances with respect to, CRZ, forest, wildlife and environment and keep these clearances 
in force including any renewal or modification, if required; 

c) procure, as required, the appropriate proprietary rights, licenses, lease, agreements and 
permissions for materials, methods, processes and systems used or incorporated into the 
Diu to Ghoghla Cable Car. 

d) perform and fulfill its obligations under the Financing Agreements; 
e) make reasonable efforts to maintain harmony and good industrial relations among the 

personnel employed by it or its Contractors in connection with the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement; 

f) ensure and procure that its Contractors comply with all Applicable Permits and Applicable 
Laws in the performance by them of any of the Concessionaire's obligations under this 
Agreement; 

g) not do or omit to do any act, deed or thing which may in any manner be volatile of any of 
the provisions of this Agreement; 

h) support, cooperate with and facilitate the Authority in the implementation and operation of 
the Project and Project Facilities in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and 

i) transfer the Project and Project Facilities to the Authority upon Termination, of this 
agreement, in accordance with the provisions thereof. 

j) Transfer the land back to the Authority free of cost and other assets will be valued as stated 
below: 



24 | P a g e  
 

 Transfer of real estate plus ropeway system in working condition including all stations, 
towers, etc. should be made as per the Indian Accounting Standard. The valuation to be 
carried out by the IndAS113 utilizing the Cost Approach basis of provisions of Indian 
Accounting Standard. 

k) provide to the representative(s) of the Concessioning Authority, at reasonable times and 
upon prior intimation, access to the Project Site to review progress in construction and to 
ascertain compliance with any of the requirements of this Agreement. Provided that non-
inspection by the Concessioning Authority of any works shall not, in relation to such works, 

l) amount to any consent or approval by the Concessioning Authority nor shall the same be 
deemed to be waiver of any of the rights of the Concessioning Authority under this 
Agreement; and (ii) release or discharge the Concessionaire from its obligations or liabilities 
under this Agreement in respect of such work; 

m) provide monthly reports on the progress of Construction Works or such other relevant 
information as may be required by the Independent Engineer; 

n) promptly carry out at its cost such further works as may be necessary to remove any defects 
or deficiencies observed by the Independent Engineer and ensure timely completion of 
construction of the Project / the Project Facilities and Services in all respects in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement; and 

o) to ensure safe and timely construction and completion of the Project/Project Facilities and 
Services, the Concessionaire may, at its cost, interrupt and divert/create barriers on the flow 
of water or on the road or port traffic, adjacent to the Project Site if such interruption and 
diversion is imperative for the efficient progress of Construction Works and conforms to 
Good Industry Practice; provided that such interruption and diversion shall be undertaken 
by the Concessionaire only with the prior written approval of the Independent Engineer 
which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed 
that the Concessionaire shall at all times be responsible for ensuring safe operation of 
Construction Works and shall remove the interruption or diversion within the period 
specified by the Independent Engineer. 

5.2. Obligations relating to Project Agreements 

5.2.1. It is expressly agreed that the Concessionaire shall, at all times, be responsible and liable for all 
its obligations under this Agreement notwithstanding anything contained in the Project 
Agreements or any other agreement, and no default under any Project Agreement or 
agreement shall excuse the Concessionaire from its obligations or liability hereunder. 
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5.2.2. The Concessionaire shall submit to the Authority the drafts of all Project Agreements or any 
amendments or replacements thereto for its review and comments, and the Authority shall 
have the right but not the obligation to undertake such review and provide its comments, if 
any, to the Concessionaire within 15 (fifteen) days of the receipt of such drafts. Within 7 
(seven) days of execution of any Project Agreement or amendment thereto, the Concessionaire 
shall submit to the Authority a true copy thereof, duly attested by a Director of the 
Concessionaire, for its record. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that the review and 
comments hereunder shall be limited to ensuring compliance with the terms of this 
Agreement. It is further agreed that no review and/or observation of the Authority and/or its 
failure to review and/or convey its observations on any document shall relieve the 
Concessionaire of its obligations and liabilities under this Agreement in any manner nor shall 
the Authority be liable for the same in any manner whatsoever. 

5.2.3. The Concessionaire shall not make any replacement or amendments to any of the Financing 
Agreements without the prior written consent of the Authority if such replacement or 
amendment has, or may have, the effect of imposing or increasing any financial liability or 
obligation on the Authority, and in the event that any replacement or amendment is made 
without such consent, the Concessionaire shall not enforce such replacement or amendment 
nor permit enforcement thereof against the Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Authority acknowledges and agrees that it shall not unreasonably withhold its consent for 
restructuring or rescheduling of the debt of the Concessionaire. 

5.2.4. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Concessionaire 
shall not sub-licence, assign or in any manner create an Encumbrance on any Project Asset 
forming part of Real Estate Development without prior written approval of the Authority, 
which approval the Authority may, in its discretion, deny if such sub-licence, assignment or 
Encumbrance has or may have a material adverse effect on the rights and obligations of the 
Authority under this Agreement or Applicable Laws; provided that the provisions of this Clause 
5.2.4 shall not apply where the Concessionaire grants a sub-licence for a cumulative period, 
including any renewals thereof, not exceeding 11 (eleven) months. For the voidance of doubt, 
it is agreed that if the Authority does not deny the approval required under this Clause 5.2.4 
within a period of 60 (sixty) days from the date of receiving a notice along with full particulars 
and documents from the Concessionaire, the approval shall be deemed to have been granted 
to the extent such sub-licence, assignment or Encumbrance, as the case may be, is in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 
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5.2.5. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Clause 5.2.4, the Concessionaire shall 
not sub–licence, assign or in any manner create an Encumbrance on any Project Asset forming 
part of Real Estate Development at any time prior to the 18 months of the Appointed Date. For 
the avoidance of doubt, the restriction imposed herein shall not apply to assignment under the 
Substitution Agreement. 

5.2.6. The Concessionaire shall procure that each of the Project Agreements contains provisions that 
entitle the Authority to step into such agreement, in its sole discretion, in substitution of the 
Concessionaire in the event of Termination or Suspension (the “Covenant”). For the avoidance 
of doubt, it is expressly agreed that in the event the Authority does not exercise such rights of 
substitution within a period not exceeding 90 (ninety) days from the Transfer Date, the Project 
Agreements shall be deemed to cease to be in force and effect on the Transfer Date without 
any liability whatsoever on the Authority and the Covenant shall expressly provide for such 
eventuality. The Concessionaire expressly agrees to include the Covenant in all its Project 
Agreements and undertakes that it shall, in respect of each of the Project Agreements, procure 
and deliver to the Authority an acknowledgment and undertaking, in a form acceptable to the 
Authority, from the counter party(ies) of each of the Project Agreements, where under such 
counter party(ies) shall acknowledge and accept the Covenant and undertake to be bound by 
the same and not to seek any relief or remedy whatsoever from the Authority in the event of 
Termination or Suspension. 

5.3. Obligations relating to change in ownership 

5.3.1. Ownership Structure 

The Applicant/Consortium has caused the Concessionaire to be incorporated as a special 
purpose company to implement, operate and maintain the Project/Project Facilities and 
Services in accordance with this Agreement. The shareholding pattern of Concessionaire/each 
member of the Consortium in the Concessionaire is [●]. 

5.3.2. Shareholding 

The Concessionaire shall ensure that the Applicant/ members of the Consortium maintain 
Management Control at least until expiry of the two (2) years after COD as also maintain their 
equity holding in the Concessionaire such that: 

a) Selected Bidder/Consortium Members together with its/their Associates hold not less than 
51% (Fifty One Percent) of its issued and paid up equity and that no member of Consortium 
whose technical and financial capacity was evaluated for the purposes of Pre-qualifications 
in response to Request for Qualification shall hold less than 26% (Twenty Six Percent) of 
such equity until expiry of two (2) years after COD. At any time, after expiry of the aforesaid 
share holding period, lead member can approach Authority for approval proposing a new 
entity/ consortium. Authority may at its sole discretion consider and approve it subject to 
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the entity/consortium meeting the eligibility criteria as prescribed in Bid Document for the 
Project; and 

b) M/s [●] (“Lead Member”) of the Consor um (original or new as the case may be) legally and 
beneficially holds at any time not less than 51% (fifty one percent) of the Consortium’s 
holding in the paid up equity capital of the Concessionaire. 

Any Transfer of shareholding in the Concessionaire and/or direct or indirect change in the 
Management Control of the Concessionaire, including by way of a restructuring or 
amalgamation, shall only be with the prior written approval of the Concessioning Authority 
which consent shall not be withheld except (i) for reasons of national security; or (ii) [if the 
Person proposed for assuming such Management Control would by virtue of the restrictions 
imposed under the Applicable Law or the conditions of bidding (including restrictions to avoid 
anti-competitive and monopolistic practice) and/or public policy be disqualified from 
undertaking the Project.] 

Provided, nothing contained in this Article shall preclude or prevent pledge of shares in the 
Concessionaire in favour of Senior Lenders as security for the Financial Assistance subject to 
the enforcement and consequent Transfer thereof only with the prior written consent of the 
Concessioning Authority as stated hereinbefore and in accordance with the Financing 
Documents. 

5.3.3. Constituent Documents 

The Concessionaire shall ensure that its articles of association adequately reflect the aforesaid 
and the relevant commitments, obligations and responsibilities of the Applicant/Consortium. 

In particular, the articles of association and the memorandum of association of the 
Concessionaire shall be amended within 3 (three) months of the Date of Award of Concession 
to include the terms and conditions regarding the composition of shareholding and 
management stipulated in this Agreement; and terms and conditions related to changes in the 
share-holding pattern stipulated in this Agreement. The Concessionaire shall submit the 
amended articles of association and the memorandum of association to the Concessioning 
Authority as soon as may be reasonably possible. 

Any subsequent change in the articles of association or the memorandum of association which 
alter the provisions required by this Article shall require the prior approval of the 
Concessioning Authority and the articles of association and memorandum of association of the 
Concessionaire shall include a specific provision to this effect. 

5.4. Employment of foreign national 

The Concessionaire acknowledges, agrees and undertakes that employment of foreign 
personnel by the Concessionaire and/or its contractors and their subcontractors shall be 
subject to grant of requisite regulatory permits and approvals including employment/ 
residential visas and work permits, if any required, and the obligation to apply for and obtain 
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the same shall and will always be of the Concessionaire and, notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained in this Agreement, refusal of or inability to obtain any such permits and 
approvals by the Concessionaire or any of its contractors or sub- contractors shall not 
constitute Force Majeure Event, and shall not in any manner excuse the Concessionaire from 
the performance and discharge of its obligations and liabilities under this Agreement. 

5.5. Employment of trained personal 

The Concessionaire shall ensure that the personnel engaged by it in the performance of its 
obligations under this Agreement are at all times properly trained for their respective functions. 

5.6. Obligations relating to medical aid 

For providing emergency medical aid to Users, the Concessionaire shall, at each Terminal 
Station, set up and operate a medical aid post (the "Medical Aid Post") equipped to render first 
aid and to assist in accessing emergency medical aid from hospitals / clinics in the vicinity. 

5.7. Obligations relating to basic amenities 

5.7.1. The Concessionaire shall during the entire term of the Concession Period, in addition to the 
infrastructure required to be developed, operated and maintained by it under this Agreement, 
provide and maintain amenities, in adequate numbers in accordance with Good Industry 
Practice for non-discriminatory use by the Users of the Project. These shall include drinking 
water facilities, sanitation facilities, toilets, and telephone and communication facilities. 

5.7.2. The Concessionaire shall, during the entire term of the Concession Period, provide and procure 
hygienic and safe low-cost eateries and canteens, in adequate numbers and in accordance with 
Good Industry Practice. 

5.8. Obligations relating to noise control 

The Concessionaire shall take all such measures as may be necessary in accordance with 
Applicable Laws and Good Industry Practice to control and mitigate the noise arising from the 
Project and its impact on Users and the neighborhood. 

5.9. Sole purpose of the Concessionaire 

The Concessionaire having been set up for the sole purpose of exercising the rights and 
observing and performing its obligations and liabilities under this Agreement, the 
Concessionaire or any of its subsidiaries shall not, except with the previous written consent of 
the Authority, be or become directly or indirectly engaged, concerned or interested in any 
business other than as envisaged herein. 
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5.10. Branding of the Ropeway 

The Ropeway Service between Diu and Ghoghla may be branded to advertise, display or reflect 
the name or identity of the Concessionaire or its shareholders. The Concessionaire may use the 
name or entity of the Ropeway Service between Diu and Ghoghla to advertise or display its own 
identity, brand equity or business interests, including those of its shareholders. For the 
avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that the Concessionaire may display its own name at a spot 
where other public notices are displayed for the Users. It is further agreed that the Ropeway 
Service between Diu and Ghoghla shall be known, promoted, displayed and advertised by the 
name of Authority. 

5.11. Facility for physically challenged and elderly persons 

The Concessionaire shall, in conformity with the guidelines issued from time to time by the 
Government of India, procure a barrier free environment for the physically or visually 
challenged and for elderly persons using the Project. 

5.12. Obligations relating to maintenance of the Ropeway 

The Concessionaire agrees that it shall enter into a maintenance agreement with the original 
equipment or technical supplier of the equipment for a term of 10 (ten) years following COD. 
The Concessionaire shall furnish an undertaking to certify that it is in compliance with this 
obligation under Clause 5.12 no later than [15] days prior to COD. The equipment or technical 
supplier of the equipment shall provide guarantee of the equipment for a term of 10 (ten) years 
following COD. 

5.13. Obligations relating to aesthetic quality of the project  

The Concessionaire shall maintain a high standard in the appearance and aesthetic quality of 
the Project and achieve integration of the Project with the character of the surrounding 
landscape through both appropriate design and sensitive management of all visible elements. 
The aesthetics of visible structure of the ropeway terminal stations shall be designed to 
integrate harmoniously with the adjacent Ghoghla beach and the architectural heritage 
structures including the Diu Fort and Panikotha. The Concessionaire shall engage professional 
architects and town planners of repute for ensuring that the design of the Project meets the 
aforesaid aesthetic standards. 

5.14. Obligations relating to water, air and sound pollution control 

The Concessionaire shall take all such measures as may be necessary in accordance with 
Applicable Laws and Good Industry Practice to control and mitigate the water, air and sound 
pollution arising from the Project and its impact on Users and the neighborhood. 
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5.15. Obligations relating to establish a cloak room facilities at terminal buildings 

The Concessionaire shall establish a cloak room at the terminal buildings with adequate 
number of lockers for visitors and tourists who shall avail the ropeway facilities. The 
notification of Locker Fee shall be issued by the Concessionaire itself and fixed and modified by 
the Concessionaire according to market demand and the locker fee rate shall be intimated to 
Authority forthwith. 

5.16. Obligations relating to establish a vehicle parking facilities at terminal buildings 

The Concessionaire shall establish sufficient and adequate numbers of parking facilities for 
visiting motor vehicles at the terminal buildings for visitors and tourists who shall avail the 
ropeway facilities. The notification of Motor Vehicles Parking Fee shall be issued by the 
Concessionaire itself and fixed and modified by the Concessionaire according to market 
demand and the motor vehicle parking fee rate shall be intimated to Authority forthwith. 

 

 

 

. 
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6. Obligations of the Authority 

6.1. Obligations of the Authority 

6.1.1. The Authority shall, at its own cost and expense undertake, comply with and perform all its 
obligations set out in this Agreement or arising hereunder. 

6.1.2. The Authority agrees to provide support to the Concessionaire and undertakes to observe, 
comply with and perform, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement 
and the Applicable Laws, the following: 

a) upon written request from the Concessionaire, and subject to the Concessionaire complying 
with Applicable Laws, may provide support and facilitation to the Concessionaire in 
procuring Applicable Permits (Schedule – E) required from any Government Instrumentality 
for implementation and operation of the Project; 

b) upon written request from the Concessionaire, may provide support the Concessionaire in 
obtaining access to all necessary infrastructure facilities and utilities, including water and 
electricity at rates and on terms no less favorable to the Concessionaire than those generally 
available to commercial customers receiving substantially equivalent services; 

c) ensure that no barriers are erected or placed on the  Site  by  any Government 
Instrumentality or persons claiming through or under it, except for reasons of Emergency, 
national security, law and order or collection of inter-state taxes; 

d) Make best endeavours  to procure that no local Tax, toll or charge is levied or imposed on 
the use of whole or any part of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; 

e) subject to and in accordance with the Applicable Laws, grant to the Concessionaire the 
authority to regulate traffic on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; 

f) if required, assist the Concessionaire in procuring police assistance from the UT Police 
Department or a substitute thereof; 

g) not do or omit to do any act, deed or thing which may in any manner be violate of any of the 
provisions of this Agreement; 

h) support, cooperate with and facilitate the Concessionaire in the implementation and 
operation of the Project in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and 

i) upon written request from the Concessionaire and subject to the provisions of Clause 5.4, 
may provide facilitation to the Concessionaire and any expatriate personnel of the 
Concessionaire or its Contractors to obtain applicable visas and work permits for the 
purposes of discharge by the Concessionaire or its Contractors their obligations under this 
Agreement and the Project Agreements. 

6.2. Obligations of Transaction Authority  – Diu Smart City Ltd: 

The Authority has designated Diu Smart City Ltd (“DSCL”) as the Transaction Authority, on behalf of the 
Authority, for selection of a private sector operator for the implementation, management and O&M of 
the Project. DSCL had accordingly, prescribed technical and commercial terms and conditions and 
invited proposals (the “Request for Proposal” or “RFP”) from the interested bidders for execution of the 



32 | P a g e  
 

above referred Project on PPP basis in DBFOT format. 

 Diu Smart City Limited shall monitor the Project during the implementation/ construction phase. 
 PMC team working for implementation of Diu Smart city project is the PMC for the 

implementation phase of the project. 
 DSCL will handover the project monitoring role after implementation of the project to the 

Authority. 
 The Transaction Authority shall assist the Authority to select and appoint an Independent 

engineer for the operation phase of the project 
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7. Representations and Warranties 

7.1. Representations and Warranties of the Concessionaire 

The Concessionaire represents and warrants to the Authority that: 

a) it is duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of India and hereby 
expressly and irrevocably waives any immunity in any jurisdiction in respect of this Agreement 
or matters arising thereunder including any obligation, liability or responsibility hereunder; 

b) it has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement; 

c) it has taken all necessary action to authorise the execution, delivery and performance of this 
Agreement; 

d) this Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Concessionaire, 
enforceable against it in accordance with the terms hereof; 

e) there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or to its best knowledge, threatened against 
or affecting it before any court, administrative body or arbitral tribunal which might materially 
and adversely affect its ability to meet or perform any of its obligations under this Agreement; 

f) it has the financial standing and capacity to undertake the Project in accordance with the terms 
of this Agreement; 

g) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement will not conflict with, result in the 
breach of, constitute a default under, or accelerate performance required by any of the terms of 
its memorandum of association and articles of association or any Applicable Laws or any 
covenant, contract, agreement, arrangement, understanding, decree or order to which it is a 
party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound or affected; 

h) it has no knowledge of any violation or default with respect to any order, writ, injunction or 
decree of any court or any legally binding order of any Government Instrumentality which may 
result in any material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement and no fact or circumstance exists which may give rise to such proceedings that 
would adversely affect the performance of its obligations under this Agreement; 

i) it has complied with Applicable Laws in all material respects and has not been subject to any 
fines, penalties, injunctive relief or any other civil or criminal liabilities which in the aggregate 
have or may have a material adverse effect on its ability to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement; 

j) all its rights and interests in the Project shall pass to and vest in the Authority on the Transfer 
Date free and clear of all liens, claims and Encumbrances, without any further act or deed on its 
part or that of the Authority, and that none of the Project Assets shall be acquired by it, subject 
to any agreement under which a security interest or other lien or Encumbrance is retained by 
any person, save and except as expressly provided in this Agreement; 

k) no representation or warranty by it contained herein or in any other document furnished by it 
to the Authority or to any Government Instrumentality in relation to Applicable Permits contains 
or will contain any untrue or misleading statement of material fact or omits or will omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make such representation or warranty not misleading; and 
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l) no sums, in cash or kind, have been paid or will be paid, by it or on its behalf, to any person by 
way of fees, commission or otherwise for securing the Concession or entering into this 
Agreement or for influencing or attempting to influence any officer or employee of the 
Authority in connection therewith. 

m) agrees generally in respect of the enforcement of any judgement against it in any proceedings in 
any jurisdiction to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such 
proceedings. 

n) consents generally in respect of the enforcement of any judgement against it in any proceedings 
in any jurisdiction to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such 
proceedings. 

7.2. Representations and Warranties of the Authority 

The Authority represents and warrants to the Concessionaire that: 
 

a) it is duly organised, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of India; 
b) it has full power and authority to execute, deliver and perform its obligations under this 

Agreement; 
c) it has taken all necessary actions under the Applicable Laws to authorize the execution, delivery 

and performance of this Agreement; 
d) this Agreement constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation enforceable against it in 

accordance with the terms hereof; 
e) there are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or to its best knowledge, threatened against 

or affecting it before any court, administrative body or arbitral tribunal which might materially 
and adversely affect its ability to meet or perform any of its obligations under this Agreement 

f) it has no knowledge of any violation or default with respect to any order, writ, injunction or any 
decree of any court or any legally binding order of any Government Instrumentality which may 
result in any material adverse effect on the Authority's ability to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement; and 

g) it has complied with Applicable Laws in all material respects. 

7.3. Disclosure  

In the event that any occurrence or circumstance comes to the attention of either Party that 
renders any of its aforesaid representations or warranties untrue or incorrect, such Party shall 
immediately notify the other Party of the same. Such notification shall not have the effect of 
remedying any breach of their presentation or warranty that has been found to be untrue or 
incorrect nor shall it adversely affect or waive any obligation of either Party under this 
Agreement. 
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8. Disclaimer  

8.1. Disclaimer 

8.1.1. The Concessionaire acknowledges that prior to the execution of this Agreement, the 
Concessionaire has, after a complete and careful examination, made an independent evaluation 
of the Request for Proposals, Scope of the Project, CEN Standards, Site, existing structures, local 
conditions, physical qualities of ground, subsoil and geology, traffic volumes and all information 
provided by the Authority or obtained, procured or gathered otherwise, and has determined to 
its satisfaction the accuracy or otherwise thereof and the nature and extent of difficulties, risks 
and hazards as are likely to arise or may be faced by it in the course of performance of its 
obligations hereunder. The Authority makes no representation whatsoever, express, implicit or 
otherwise, regarding the accuracy, adequacy, correctness, reliability and/or completeness of any 
assessment, assumptions, statement or information provided by it and the Concessionaire 
confirms that it shall have no claim whatsoever against the Authority in this regard. 

8.1.2. The Concessionaire acknowledges and hereby accepts the risk of inadequacy, mistake or error in 
or relating to any of the matters set forth in Clause 8.1.1 above and hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that the Authority shall not be liable for the same in any manner whatsoever to the 
Concessionaire, {the Consortium Members and their} Associates or any person claiming through 
or under any of them. 

8.1.3. The Parties agree that any mistake or error in or relating to any of the matters set forth in 
Clause 8.1.1 above shall not vitiate this Agreement, or render it voidable. 

8.1.4. In the event that either Party becomes aware of any mistake or error relating to any of the 
matters set forth in Clause 8.1.1 above, that Party shall immediately notify the other Party, 
specifying the mistake or error; provided, however, that a failure on part of the Authority to give 
any notice pursuant to this Clause 8.1.4 shall not prejudice the disclaimer of the Authority 
contained in Clause 8.1.1 and shall not in any manner shift to the Authority any risks assumed by 
the Concessionaire pursuant to this Agreement. 

8.1.5. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, all risks relating to the Project shall be borne by 
the Concessionaire and the Authority shall not be liable in any manner for such risks or the 
consequences thereof. 
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9. Performance Security  

9.1. Construction period performance security  

9.1.1. The Concessionaire shall for due performance of its obligations during the Construction Phase 
provide to Concessioning Authority an unconditional and irrevocable bank guarantee from 
Scheduled/Nationalized Bank, in favour of the Concessioning Authority en-cashable and 
enforceable at Diu, substantially in the form set forth in Schedule F (the “Performance 
Guarantee”). The Performance Guarantee shall be for a sum of Rs. 1 Crore (Rupees One Crore 
only) (fixed at 5% of the Estimated Project Cost) for the initial 2 (two) years after COD and 
thereafter sum of Rs. 50 Lakh (Rupees Fifty Lakh only) (fixed at 2.5% of the Estimated Project 
Cost).Till such time the Concessionaire provides to Concessioning Authority the Performance 
Guarantee pursuant hereto, the Bid Security shall remain in full force and effect. The 
Performance Guarantee, in the form of a bank guarantee shall be valid for an initial period of 1 
(one) year and shall be renewed 30 (thirty) Days prior to expiry of each year, for an additional 
term of 1 (one) year. It is clarified that the Concessionaire shall be liable to restore the 
Performance Guarantee to the full amount in case of part encashment of the same by the 
Concessioning Authority. This shall be done within 30 (thirty) Days of any such part encashment. 
The Performance Guarantee furnished under this provision shall be valid until expiry of 24 
(twenty four) months from the Date of Commercial Operations. Post 2 years of Commercial 
Operation Date, Concessionaire shall be liable to provide Performance Guarantee of Rs. 50 Lakh 
for the remaining Concession Period. Failure of the Concessionaire to provide a valid 
Performance Guarantee and/or restore and maintain the Performance Guarantee in accordance 
with this Article shall entitle the Concessioning Authority to forthwith terminate this Agreement 
and also if relevant, to forfeit the Bid Security. 
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10. Right of Way  

10.1. The Site  

10.1.1. The site of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall comprise the real estate described in Schedule-A 
and in respect of which the Right of Way shall be provided and granted by the Authority to the 
Concessionaire as a licensee under and in accordance with this Agreement (the “Site”). For the 
avoidance of doubt, it is hereby acknowledged and agreed that references to the Site shall be 
construed as references to the real estate required for Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway as set forth in 
Schedule-A or any real estate ancillary thereto that may be built, constructed, erected and/or 
developed in future pertaining to the real estate as laid down in Schedule A hereunder. 

10.2. License, Access and Right of Way 

10.2.1. The Authority hereby grants to the Concessionaire access to the Site for carrying out any 
surveys, investigations and soil tests that the Concessionaire may deem necessary during the 
Development Period, it being expressly agreed and understood that the Authority shall have no 
liability whatsoever in respect of survey, investigations and tests carried out or work undertaken 
by the Concessionaire on or about the Site pursuant hereto in the event of Termination or 
otherwise. 

10.2.2. In consideration of the Concession Fee, this Agreement and the covenants and warranties on 
the part of the Concessionaire herein contained, the Authority, in accordance with the terms 
and conditions set forth herein, hereby grants to the Concessionaire, commencing from the 
Appointed Date, leave and licence rights in respect of all the land (along with any buildings, 
constructions or immovable assets, if any, thereon) comprising the Site which is described, 
delineated and shown in Schedule-A hereto (the “Licensed Premises”), on an “as is where is” 
basis, free of any Encumbrances, to develop, operate and maintain the said Licensed Premises, 
together with all and singular rights, liberties, privileges, easements and appurtenances 
whatsoever to the said Licensed Premises, hereditaments or premises or any part thereof 
belonging to or in any way appurtenant thereto or enjoyed therewith, for the duration of the 
Concession Period and, for the purposes permitted under this Agreement, and for no other 
purpose whatsoever. 

10.2.3. It is expressly agreed that the licence granted hereunder shall terminate automatically and 
forthwith, without the need for any action to be taken by the Authority to terminate the licence, 
upon the Termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, 
the Parties expressly agree that notwithstanding any temporary or permanent structures 
erected on the Site by the Concessionaire or its sub-licensees, the licence in respect of the Site 
shall automatically terminate, without any further act of the Parties, upon Termination of this 
Agreement. 
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10.2.4. The Concessionaire hereby irrevocably appoints the Authority (acting directly or through a 
nominee) to be its true and lawful attorney, to execute and sign in the name of the 
Concessionaire a transfer or surrender of the licence granted hereunder at any time after the 
Concession Period has expired or has been terminated earlier in terms hereof, a sufficient proof 
of which will be the declaration of any duly authorised officer of the Authority, and the 
Concessionaire consents to it being registered for this purpose. 

10.2.5. It is expressly agreed that with regard to the trees on the Site are property of the Authority 
except that the Concessionaire shall be entitled to exercise usufructory rights thereon during 
the Concession Period. 

10.3. Procurement of the site 

10.3.1. Pursuant to the notice the Authority’s Representative and the Concessionaire shall, on a 
mutually agreed date and time, inspect the Site and prepare a memorandum containing an 
inventory of the Site including the vacant and unencumbered land, buildings, structures, road 
works, trees and any other immovable property on or attached to the Site. Such memorandum 
shall have appended thereto a Schedule specifying in reasonable detail those parts of the Site to 
which vacant access and Right of Way has not been granted to the Concessionaire. Signing of 
the memorandum, in two counterparts (each of which shall constitute an original), by the 
authorised representatives of the Parties shall, subject to the provisions of Clause 10.2.2, be 
deemed to constitute a valid licence and Right of Way to the Concessionaire for free and 
unrestricted use and development of the vacant and unencumbered Site during the Concession 
Period under and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and for no other purpose 
whatsoever. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that valid licence and Right of Way with 
respect to the parts of the Site as set forth in the Schedule shall be deemed to have been 
granted to the Concessionaire upon vacant access thereto being provided by the Authority to 
the Concessionaire. 

10.3.2. Without prejudice to the provisions of Clause 10.3.1, the Parties hereto agree that on or prior to 
the Appointed Date, the Authority shall have granted vacant access and Right of Way such that 
the Schedule shall not include more than 20% (twenty per cent) of the total area of the Site 
required and necessary for the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, and in the event Financial Close is 
delayed solely on account of delay in grant of such vacant access and Right of Way, the 
Authority shall not be liable to payment of Damages under and in accordance with the 
provisions of Clause 4.2. 
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10.3.3. On and after signing the memorandum referred to in Clause 10.3.1, and until the Transfer Date, 
the Concessionaire shall maintain a round-the-clock vigil over the Site and shall ensure and 
procure that no encroachment thereon takes place, and in the event of any encroachment or 
occupation on any part thereof, the Concessionaire shall report such encroachment or 
occupation forthwith to the Authority and undertake its removal at its cost and expenses. 

10.3.4. The Authority shall make best efforts to procure and grant, no later than 90 (ninety) days from 
the Appointed Date, the Right of Way to the Concessionaire in respect of all land included in the 
Schedule, and in the event of delay for any reason other than Force Majeure or breach of this 
Agreement by the Concessionaire, the authority will not be liable until Right of Way is procured. 

10.3.5. Upon receiving Right of Way in respect of any land included in the Schedules (If needed), the 
Concessionaire shall complete the Construction Works thereon within a reasonable period to be 
determined by the Independent Engineer, in accordance with Good Industry Practice; provided 
that the issue of Provisional Certificate shall not be affected or delayed on account of vacant 
access to any part of the Site not being granted to the Concessionaire or any construction on 
such part of the Site remaining incomplete on the date of Tests on account of the delay or denial 
of such access thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, it is expressly agreed that Construction 
Works on all lands for which Right of Way is granted within 90 (ninety) days of the Appointed 
Date shall be completed before the Project Completion Date. It is further agreed that the 
obligation of the Concessionaire to complete the affected Construction Works shall subsist so 
long as the Authority continues to pay the Damages specified herein, and upon the Authority 
ceasing to pay such Damages after giving 60 (sixty) days’ notice thereof to the Concessionaire, 
the obligation of the Concessionaire to complete such works on such part of the Site shall cease 
forthwith. It is also expressly agreed that completion of the respective Construction Works 
within the time determined by the Independent Engineer hereunder shall be deemed to be 
Project Milestones for the purposes of levy and recovery of Damages. 

10.4. Site to be free from Encumbrances 

10.4.1. Subject to the provisions of Clause 10.3, the Site shall be made available by the Authority to the 
Concessionaire pursuant hereto free from all Encumbrances and occupations and without the 
Concessionaire being required to make any payment to the Authority on account of any costs, 
compensation, expenses and charges for the acquisition and use of such Site for the duration of 
the Concession Period, except insofar as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement. For 
the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that existing rights of way, easements, privileges, liberties 
and appurtenances to the Licensed Premises shall not be deemed to be Encumbrances. It is 
further agreed that the Concessionaire accepts and undertakes to bear any and all risks arising 
out of the inadequacy or physical condition of the Site. 
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10.5. Protection of Site from encroachments 

10.5.1. During the Concession Period, the Concessionaire shall protect the Site from any and all 
occupations, encroachments or Encumbrances, and shall not place or create nor permit any 
Contractor or other person claiming through or under the Concessionaire to place or create any 
Encumbrance or security interest over all or any part of the Site or the Project Assets, or on any 
rights of the Concessionaire therein or under this Agreement, save and except as otherwise 
expressly set forth in this Agreement. 

10.6. Special/temporary right of way 

10.6.1. The Concessionaire shall bear all costs and charges for any special or temporary right of way 
required by it in connection with access to the Site. The Concessionaire shall obtain at its cost 
such facilities on or outside the Site as may be required by it for the purposes of the Project and 
the performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

10.7. Access to the Authority and Independent Engineer 

10.7.1. The license, Right of Way and right to the Site granted to the Concessionaire hereunder shall 
always be subject to the right of access of the Authority and the Independent Engineer and 
other employees and agents of the Authority for inspection, viewing and exercise of their rights 
and performance of their obligations under this Agreement. 

10.7.2. The Concessionaire shall allow free access to the Site at all times for the authorized 
representatives of the Authority, Lenders, Independent Engineer, and for the persons duly 
authorized by any Government Instrumentality to inspect the Project or Project Facilities or to 
investigate any matter within their authority, and upon reasonable notice, the Concessionaire 
shall provide to such persons’ reasonable assistance necessary to carry out their respective 
duties and functions. 

10.7.3. The Concessionaire shall, for the purpose of operation and maintenance of any utility, allow free 
access to the Site at all times for the authorized persons of the controlling body of such utility. 

10.8. Geological and archaeological finds 

It is expressly agreed that mining, geological and archaeological rights do not form part of 
the license granted to the Concessionaire under this Agreement and the Concessionaire 
hereby acknowledges that it shall not have any mining rights or interest in the underlying 
minerals, fossils, antiquities, structures or other remnants or things either of particular 
geological or archaeological interest and that such rights, interest and property on or under 
the Site shall vest in and belong to the Authority or the concerned Government 
Instrumentality. The Concessionaire shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent its 
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workmen or any other person from removing or damaging such interest or property and shall 
inform the Authority forthwith of the discovery thereof and comply with such instructions as 
the concerned Government Instrumentality may reasonably give for the removal of such 
property. The Authority shall procure that the instructions hereunder are issued by the 
concerned Government Instrumentality within a reasonable period. 
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11. UTILITIES, ASSOCIATED ROADS AND TREES 

11.1. Existing utilities and roads 

11.1.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Concessionaire shall ensure that 
the respective entities owning the existing roads, right of way or utilities on, under or above the 
Site are enabled by it to keep such utilities in continuous satisfactory use, if necessary, by 
providing suitable temporary or permanent diversions with the authority of the controlling body 
of that road, right of way or utility, and the Authority shall, upon written request from the 
Concessionaire, initiate and undertake at the Concessionaire’s cost, legal proceedings for 
acquisition of any right of way necessary for such diversion. 

11.2. Shifting of Obstructing Utilities 

11.2.1. The Concessionaire shall, subject to Applicable Laws and with assistance of the Authority, 
undertake shifting of any utility including electric lines, water pipes and telephone cables, to an 
appropriate location or alignment within or outside the Site if and only if such utility causes or 
shall cause a material adverse effect on the construction, operation or maintenance of the Diu 
to Ghoghla Ropeway. The cost of such shifting shall be borne by the Concessionaire and in the 
event of any delay in shifting thereof, the Concessionaire shall be excused for failure to perform 
any of its obligations hereunder if such failure is a direct consequence of delay on the part of the 
entity owning such electric lines, water pipes or telephone cables, as the case may be. Shifting of 
obstructing utilities 

11.3. New utilities and roads 

11.3.1. The Concessionaire shall allow, subject to such conditions as the Authority may specify, access 
to, and use of the Site for laying telephone lines, water pipes, electric cables or other public 
utilities. Where such access or use causes any financial loss to the Concessionaire, it may require 
the user of the Site to pay compensation or damages as per Applicable Laws. For the avoidance 
of doubt, it is agreed that use of the Site under this Clause shall not in any manner relieve the 
Concessionaire of its obligation to maintain the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in accordance with this 
Agreement and any damage caused by such use shall be restored forthwith. 

11.4. Felling of trees 
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11.4.1. The Authority may facilitate the Concessionaire in obtaining the Applicable Permits for felling of 
trees that are to be identified by the Authority for this purpose if and only if such trees cause a 
material adverse effect on the construction, operation or maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway. The cost of such felling shall be borne by the Concessionaire, and in the event of any 
delay in felling thereof for reasons beyond the control of the Concessionaire, it shall be excused 
for failure to perform any of its obligations hereunder if such failure is a direct consequence of 
delay in the felling of trees. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties hereto agree that the felled 
trees shall be deemed to be owned by the Authority and shall be disposed in such manner and 
subject to such conditions as the Authority may in its sole discretion deem appropriate. 
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12. CONSTRUCTION OF THE ROPEWAY FROM DIU TO GHOGHLA 

12.1. Obligations prior to commencement of construction 

Prior to commencement of Construction Works, the Concessionaire shall: 

a) submit to the Authority its detailed design, construction methodology, quality assurance 
procedures, and the procurement, engineering and construction time schedule for 
completion of the Project in accordance with the Project Completion Schedule as set forth in 
Schedule-G; 

b) shall obtain the approval of the Authority and the applicable government agencies on the 
detailed design of the proposed ropeway and its ancillary facilities 

c) appoint it’s representative duly authorized to deal with the Authority in respect of all 
matters under or arising out of or relating to this Agreement; 

d) undertake, do and perform all such acts, deeds and things as may be necessary or required 
before commencement of construction under and in accordance with this Agreement, the 
Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits; and 

e) make its own arrangements for quarrying of materials needed for the Project under and in 
accordance with the Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits. 

12.2. Drawings  

In respect of the Concessionaire’s obligations relating to the Drawings of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway as set forth in Schedule-H, the following shall apply: 

a) The Concessionaire shall prepare and submit, with reasonable promptness and in such 
sequence as is consistent with the Project Completion Schedule, 3 (three) copies each of all 
Drawings to the Independent Engineer for review. 

b) By submitting the Drawings for review to the Independent Engineer, the Concessionaire 
shall be deemed to have represented that it has determined and verified that the design 
and engineering, including field construction criteria related thereto, are in conformity with 
the Scope of the Project and CEN Standards. 

c) Within 21 (twenty one) days of the receipt of the Drawings, the Independent Engineer shall 
review the same and convey its observations to the Concessionaire with particular reference 
to their conformity or otherwise with the Scope of the Project and CEN Standards. The 
Concessionaire shall not be obliged to await the observations of the Independent Engineer 
on the Drawings submitted pursuant hereto beyond the said 21 (twenty one) days period 
and may begin or continue Construction Works at its own discretion and risk. 

d) If the aforesaid observations of the Independent Engineer indicate that the Drawings are not 
in conformity with the Scope of the Project or CEN Standards, such Drawings shall be revised 
by the Concessionaire and resubmitted to the Independent Engineer for review. The 
Independent Engineer shall give its observations, if any, within 7 (seven) days of receipt of 
the revised Drawings. 

e) No review and/or observation of the Independent Engineer and/or its failure to review 
and/or convey its observations on any Drawings shall relieve the Concessionaire of its 
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obligations and liabilities under this Agreement in any manner nor shall the Independent 
Engineer or the Authority be liable for the same in any manner. 

f) Without prejudice to the foregoing provisions of this Clause 12.2, the Concessionaire shall 
submit to the Independent Engineer for review and comments, its Drawings relating to 
alignment of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and the Independent Engineer shall have the right 
but not the obligation to undertake such review and provide its comments, if any, within 30 
(thirty) days of the receipt of such Drawings. The provisions of this Clause 12.2 shall apply 
mutatis mutandis to the review and comments hereunder.  

g) Within 90 (ninety) days of the Project Completion Date, the Concessionaire shall furnish to 
the Independent Engineer and the Authority a complete set of as-built Drawings, in 2 (two) 
hard copies and in micro film form or in such other medium as may be acceptable to the 
Authority, reflecting the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway as actually designed, engineered and 
constructed, including an as-built survey illustrating the layout of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway and setback lines, if any, of the buildings and structures forming part of Project 
Facilities. 

12.3. Construction of the Ropeway 

12.3.1. On or after the Appointed Date, the Concessionaire shall undertake construction of the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway as specified in Schedule-B and Schedule-C, and in conformity with the 
Specifications and CEN Standards set forth in Schedule-D. The [540 day or 18 months, whichever 
is before] from the Appointed Date shall be the scheduled date for completion of the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway (the “Scheduled Date”) and the Concessionaire agrees and undertakes that 
construction of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be completed on or before the Scheduled 
Date. 

If desirable, the Concessionaire should follow Indian Standards required for construction as 
detailed in Schedule – D (I) for civil, mechanical and electrical work except ropeway system 
installed as per CEN standards, if considered more safe. 
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12.3.2. The Concessionaire shall construct the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in accordance with the Project 
Completion Schedule set forth in Schedule-G. In the event that the Concessionaire fails to 
achieve any Project Milestone within a period of 90 (ninety) days from the date set forth for 
such Milestone in Schedule-G, unless such failure has occurred due to Force Majeure or for 
reasons solely attributable to the Authority, it shall pay Damages to the Authority in a sum 
calculated at the rate of 0.2% (zero point Two per cent) of the amount of Performance Security 
for delay of each day subject to a maximum of 5% (five percent); provided that if any or all 
Project Milestones or the Scheduled Date are extended in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement, the dates set forth in Schedule-G shall be deemed to be modified accordingly and 
the provisions of this Agreement shall apply as if Schedule-G has been amended as above; 
provided further that in the event Project Completion Date is achieved on or before the 
Scheduled Date, the Damages paid under this Clause 12.3.2 shall be refunded by the Authority 
to the Concessionaire, but without any interest thereon. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed 
that recovery of Damages under this Clause 12.3.2 shall be without prejudice to the rights of the 
Authority under this Agreement, including the right of Termination thereof.  

12.3.3. In the event that the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway is not completed within 180 (One hundred and 
Eighty) days from the Scheduled Date, unless the delay is on account of reasons solely 
attributable to the Authority or due to Force Majeure, the Authority shall be entitled to 
terminate this Agreement. 
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13. MONITORING OF CONSTRUCTION 

13.1. Monthly Progress report 

During the Construction Period, the Concessionaire shall, no later than the expiry of 7 (seven) 
days after the close of each month, furnish to the Authority and the Independent Engineer a 
monthly report on progress of the Construction Works and shall promptly give such other 
relevant information as may be required by the Independent Engineer. 

13.2. Inspection 

During the Construction Period, the Independent Engineer shall inspect the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway periodically as per CEN Standards/other relevant and applicable standards and submit 
a report of such inspection (the “Inspection Report”) to the Authority stating in reasonable 
detail the defects or deficiencies, if any, with particular reference to the Scope of the Project 
and CEN Standards. It shall send a copy of the Inspection Report to the Authority and the 
Concessionaire within 7 (seven) days of such inspection and upon receipt thereof, the 
Concessionaire shall rectify and remedy the defects or deficiencies, if any, stated in the 
Inspection Report. Such inspection or submission of Inspection Report by the Independent 
Engineer shall not relieve or absolve the Concessionaire of its obligations and liabilities 
hereunder in any manner whatsoever. The scope of work for the Independent Engineer is 
provided in Schedules. 

13.3. Tests 

13.3.1. For determining that the Construction Works conform to the CEN Standards/other relevant and 
applicable standards, the Independent Engineer shall require the Concessionaire to carry out or 
cause to be carried out tests, at such time and frequency and in such manner as may be 
specified by the Independent Engineer from time to time, in accordance with Good Industry 
Practice for quality assurance. The Concessionaire shall, with due diligence, carry out or cause to 
be carried out all the tests in accordance with the instructions of the Independent Engineer and 
furnish the results thereof to the Independent Engineer. One half of the costs incurred on such 
tests, and to the extent certified by the Independent Engineer as reasonable, shall be 
reimbursed by the Authority to the Concessionaire. For the avoidance of doubt, the costs to be 
incurred on any Test which is undertaken for determining the rectification of any defect or 
deficiency in construction shall be borne solely by the Concessionaire. 
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13.3.2. In the event that results of any tests conducted under this Clause 13.3 establish any defects or 
deficiencies in the Construction Works, the Concessionaire shall carry out remedial measures 
and furnish a report to the Independent Engineer in this behalf. The Independent Engineer shall 
require the Concessionaire to carry out or cause to be carried out tests to determine that such 
remedial measures have brought the Construction Works into compliance with CEN Standards/ 
other relevant and applicable standards, and the procedure set forth in this Clause 13.3 shall be 
repeated until such Construction Works conform to CEN Standards. For the avoidance of doubt, 
it is agreed that tests pursuant to this Clause 13.3 shall be undertaken in addition to and 
independent of the tests that shall be carried out by the Concessionaire for its own quality 
assurance in accordance with Good Industry Practice. It is also agreed that a copy of the results 
of such tests shall be sent by the Concessionaire to the Independent Engineer forthwith. 

13.4. Delays during construction 

13.4.1. Without prejudice to the provisions herein, if the Concessionaire does not achieve any of the 
Project Milestones or the Independent Engineer shall have reasonably determined that the rate 
of progress of Construction Works is such that commissioning of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway is not 
likely to be achieved by the Scheduled Date, it shall notify the Concessionaire to this effect, and 
the Concessionaire shall, within 15 (fifteen) days of such notice, by a communication inform the 
Independent Engineer in reasonable detail about the steps it proposes to take to expedite 
progress and the period within which it shall achieve the Project Completion Date. 

13.5. Suspension of unsafe Construction Works 

13.5.1. Upon recommendation of the Independent Engineer to this effect, the Authority may by notice 
require the Concessionaire to suspend forthwith the whole or any part of the Construction 
Works if, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, such work threatens the safety of the Users 
and pedestrians. 

13.5.2. The Concessionaire shall, pursuant to the notice under Clause 13.5.1, suspend the Construction 
Works or any part thereof for such time and in such manner as may be specified by the 
Authority and thereupon carry out remedial measures to secure the safety of suspended works 
and the Users. The Concessionaire may by notice require the Independent Engineer to inspect 
such remedial measures forthwith and make a report to the Authority recommending whether 
or not the suspension hereunder may be revoked. Upon receiving the recommendations of the 
Independent Engineer, the Authority shall either revoke such suspension or instruct the 
Concessionaire to carry out such other and further remedial measures as may be necessary in 
the reasonable opinion of the Authority, and the procedure set forth in this Clause 13.5 shall be 
repeated until the suspension hereunder is revoked. 
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13.5.3. All reasonable costs incurred for maintaining and protecting the Construction Works or part 
thereof during the period of suspension (the “Preservation Costs”), shall be borne by the 
Concessionaire. 

13.5.4. If suspension of Construction Works is for reasons not attributable to the Concessionaire, the 
Independent Engineer shall determine any extension of the dates set forth in the Project 
Completion Schedule to which the Concessionaire is reasonably entitled, and shall notify the 
Authority accordingly whereupon the Authority shall extend such Project Completion Schedule 
dates in accordance with the recommendations of the Independent Engineer. In the event that 
the Schedule Date is extended pursuant hereto, the Concession Period shall be deemed to be 
extended by a period equal in length to the period of extension of the Schedule Date. 

13.6. Video recording 

13.6.1. During the Construction Period, the Concessionaire shall provide to the Authority for every 
calendar quarter, a video recording, which will be compiled into a 3 (three)-hour compact disc or 
digital video disc, as the case may be, covering the status and progress of Construction Works in 
that quarter. The first such video recording shall be provided to the Authority within 7 (seven) 
days of the Appointed Date and thereafter, no later than 15 (fifteen) days after the close of each 
quarter. 
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14. COMPLETION CERTIFICATE 

14.1. Test  

14.1.1. At least 45 (forty-five) Days prior to the likely completion of the Project, the Concessionaire shall 
notify the Independent Engineer of the date when it intends to commence commercial 
operations. The Independent Engineer shall then proceed to inspect the Construction Works 
with the intention of issuing the Completion Certificate and determine and notify to the 
Concessionaire the schedule and manner of the tests as are specified in Schedule J that it shall 
carry out to ensure that the Project meets with the Construction Standards (“the Tests”). The 
date and time of each of the Tests shall be determined by the Independent Engineer in 
consultation with the Concessionaire, and notified to the Concessioning Authority who may 
designate its representative to witness the Tests. The Concessionaire shall provide such 
assistance as the Independent Engineer may reasonably require for conducting the Tests. In the 
event of the Concessionaire and the Independent Engineer failing to mutually agree on the 
dates for conducting the Tests, the Concessionaire shall fix the dates by not less than 7 (Seven) 
days’ notice to the Independent Engineer; 

14.1.2. Upon completion of each Test, the Independent Engineer shall provide to the Concessionaire 
and the Concessioning Authority copies of all Test data including detailed Test results; 

14.1.3. Upon completion of Construction Works and the Independent Engineer determining all the 
Tests to be successful, it shall forthwith issue to the Concessionaire and the Concessioning 
Authority a Completion Certificate substantially in the form set forth in Schedule K; 

14.1.4. The Independent Engineer may, at the request of the Concessionaire, issue a provisional 
certificate of completion substantially in the form set forth in Schedule K (the “Provisional 
Certificate”) if the Tests are successful and the Project can be safely and reliably placed in 
commercial operation though certain works or things forming part thereof are outstanding and 
not yet complete. The Provisional Certificate shall have appended thereto a list of outstanding 
items signed jointly by the Independent Engineer and the Concessionaire (the “Punch List”) to 
be completed by the Concessionaire within a stipulated time. Provided, notwithstanding the 
foregoing, no such Provisional Certificate will be issued pending notifications in the Official 
Gazette by the Collector of Customs. All items in the Punch List shall be completed by the 
Concessionaire within 90 (ninety) Days of the date of issue of the Provisional Certificate or such 
other extended period that the Concessioning Authority may in its sole discretion determine, 
failing which the Provisional Certificate shall lose its validity and the Concessioning Authority 
shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement; 
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14.1.5. Without prejudice to the foregoing, if the Concessionaire shall have failed to complete any 
Construction Works on account of Force Majeure or for reasons solely attributable to the 
Concessioning Authority, the Concessioning Authority may, in its discretion, reduce the scope of 
Project and require the Concessionaire to pay 80% (eighty percent) of the sum saved due to 
such reduction of scope. Upon such payment to the Concessioning Authority, the obligations of 
the Concessionaire in respect of such works shall be deemed to have been fulfilled. 

14.2. Completion Certificate  

14.2.1. Upon completion of Construction Works and the Independent Engineer determining the Tests to 
be successful, it shall forthwith issue to the Concessionaire and the Authority a certificate 
substantially in the form set forth in Schedule K (the "Completion Certificate"). 

14.3. Provisional Certificate  

14.3.1. The Authority may, at the request of the Concessionaire, issue a provisional certificate of 
completion substantially in the form set forth in Schedule- K (the “Provisional Certificate”) if the 
Tests are successful and the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway can be safely and reliably placed in 
commercial operation though certain associated works and / or facilities for users forming part 
thereof are outstanding and not yet complete. In such an event, the Provisional Certificate shall 
have appended thereto a list of outstanding items signed jointly by the Authority and the 
Concessionaire (the “Punch List”); provided that the Authority shall not withhold the Provisional 
Certificate for reason of any work remaining incomplete if the delay in completion thereof is 
attributable to the Authority. 

14.4. Completion of Punch List items  

14.4.1. All items in the Punch List shall be completed by the Concessionaire within 90 (ninety) days of 
the date of issue of the Provisional Certificate and for any delay thereafter, other than for 
reasons solely attributable to the Authority or due to Force Majeure, the Authority shall be 
entitled to recover Damages from the Concessionaire to be calculated and paid for each day of 
delay until all items are completed, at the lower of (a) 0.2% (zero point two per cent) of the 
Performance Security, and (b) 0.3% (zero point three per cent) of the cost of completing such 
items as estimated by the Authority. Subject to payment of such Damages, the Concessionaire 
shall be entitled to a further period not exceeding 120 (one hundred and twenty) days for 
completion of the Punch List items. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that if completion of 
any item is delayed for reasons solely attributable to the Authority or due to Force Majeure, the 
completion date thereof shall be determined by the Authority in accordance with Good Industry 
Practice, and such completion date shall be deemed to be the date of issue of the Provisional 
Certificate for the purposes of Damages, if any, payable for such item under this Clause 14.4.1. 
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14.4.2. Upon completion of all Punch List items, the Independent Engineer shall issue the Completion 
Certificate. Failure of the Concessionaire to complete all the Punch List items within the time set 
forth in Clause 14.4.1 for any reason, other than conditions constituting Force Majeure or for 
reasons solely attributable to the Authority, shall entitle the Authority to terminate this 
Agreement. 

14.5. Rescheduling of Tests 

14.5.1. If the Independent Engineer certifies to the Authority and the Concessionaire that it is unable to 
issue the Completion Certificate or Provisional Certificate, as the case may be, because of events 
or circumstances on account of which the Tests could not be held or had to be suspended, the 
Concessionaire shall be entitled to re-schedule the Tests and hold the same as soon as 
reasonably practicable. 
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15. ENTRY INTO COMMERCIAL SERVICE 

15.1. Commercial Operation Date (COD) 

15.1.1. Commissioning of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be deemed to be complete when the 
Completion Certificate or the Provisional Certificate, as the case may be, is issued under the 
provisions of Article 14 and in accordance with the format provided in Schedule K. hereunder 
The Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall enter into commercial service on COD whereupon the 
Concessionaire shall be entitled to demand and collect Fee in accordance with the provisions of 
Article 25. Concessionaire may initiate Commercial activity only after the commissioning 
operation of Ropeways. 

15.1.2. No commercial activity shall start before COD of the ropeway project. Thus, only after ropeway 
starts functioning shall other commercial activities be permitted to be taken up. 

15.2. Damages for delay 

15.2.1. Subject to the provisions of Clause 12.3, if COD does not occur prior to the 61st (sixty first) day 
from the Schedule Date, unless the delay is on account of reasons solely attributable to the 
Authority or due to Force Majeure, the Concessionaire shall pay Damages to the Authority at the 
rate of 0.2% of the Construction Period Performance Security for delay of each day subject to a 
maximum of 5% (five percent). 

15.3. Termination due to delay 

15.3.1. In the event that Project and Project Facilities are not completed within 180 (one hundred 
eighty) days from the Schedule Date, unless the delay is on account of reasons solely 
attributable to the Authority or due to Force Majeure, the Authority shall be entitled to 
terminate this Agreement. 
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16. CHANGE IN SCOPE 

16.1. Change in Scope 

16.1.1. The Authority may, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, 
require the provision of additional works and services which are not included in the Scope of the 
Project as contemplated by this Agreement (the “Change of Scope”). Any such Change of Scope 
shall be made in accordance with the provisions of this Article 16 and the costs thereof shall be 
expended by the Concessionaire and reimbursed to it by the Authority in accordance with 
Clause 16.3. 

16.1.2. If the Concessionaire determines at any time that a Change of Scope is necessary for providing 
safer and improved services to the Users, it shall by notices in writing request the Authority to 
consider such Change of Scope. The Authority, may in its sole discretion, within 30 days of 
receipt of such notice, either accept such Change of Scope with modifications, if any, and initiate 
proceedings therefore in accordance with this Article 16 or inform the Concessionaire in writing 
of its reasons for not accepting such Change of Scope. 

16.1.3. Any works or services which are provided under and in accordance with this Article 16 shall form 
part of the Project and the provisions of this Agreement shall apply mutatis mutandis to such 
works or services. 

16.2. Procedure for Change of Scope 

16.2.1. In the event of the Authority determining that a Change of Scope is necessary, it shall issue to 
the Concessionaire a notice specifying in reasonable detail the works and services contemplated 
thereunder (the “Change of Scope Notice”). Any change of scope of work will also comply with 
requisite Specifications and CEN Standards wherever applicable 

16.2.2. Upon receipt of a Change of Scope Notice, the Concessionaire shall, with due diligence, provide 
to the Authority such information as is necessary, together with preliminary Documentation in 
support of: 

a) the impact, if any, which the Change of Scope is likely to have on the Project Completion 
Schedule, if the works or services are required to be carried out during the Construction 
Period; and 

b) the options for implementing the proposed Change of Scope and the effect, if any, each 
such option would have on the costs and time thereof, including a detailed breakdown by 
work classifications specifying the material and labour costs calculated in accordance with 
the schedule of rates applicable to the works assigned by the Authority to its contractors, 
along with the proposed premium/ discount on such rates; provided that the cost incurred 
by the Concessionaire in providing such information shall be reimbursed by the Authority to 
the extent such cost is certified by the Independent Engineer as reasonable. 
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16.2.3. Upon receipt of information set forth in Clause 16.2.2, if the Authority decides to proceed with 
the Change of Scope, it shall convey its preferred option to the Concessionaire, and the Parties 
shall, with the assistance of the Independent Engineer thereupon make good faith efforts to 
agree upon the time and costs for implementation thereof. Upon reaching an agreement, the 
Authority shall issue an order (the “Change of Scope Order”) requiring the Concessionaire to 
proceed with the performance thereof. In the event that the Parties are unable to agree, the 
Authority may, by issuing a Change of Scope Order, require the Concessionaire to proceed with 
the performance thereof pending resolution of the Dispute, or carry out the works in 
accordance with Clause 16.5. 

16.2.4. The provisions of this Agreement, insofar as they relate to Construction Works and Tests, shall 
apply mutatis mutandis to the works undertaken by the Concessionaire under this Article 16. 

16.3. Payment for Change of Scope 

16.3.1. Within 30 (thirty) days of issuing a Change of Scope Order, the Authority shall make an advance 
payment to the Concessionaire in a sum equal to 20% (twenty per cent) of the cost of Change of 
Scope as agreed hereunder, and in the event of a Dispute, 20% (twenty per cent) of the cost 
assessed by the Independent Engineer. The Concessionaire shall, after commencement of work, 
present to the Authority bills for payment in respect of the works in progress or completed 
works, as the case may be, supported by such Documentation as is reasonably sufficient for the 
Authority to determine the accuracy thereof. Within 30 (thirty) days of receipt of such bills, the 
Authority shall disburse to the Concessionaire such amounts after making a proportionate 
deduction for the advance payment made hereunder, and in the event of any Dispute, final 
adjustments thereto shall be made under and in accordance with the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure. 

16.3.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Clause 16.3.1, all costs arising out of any 
Change of Scope Order issued during the Construction Period shall be borne by the 
Concessionaire, subject to an aggregate ceiling of 0.25% (zero point two five per cent) of the 
Total Project Cost. Any costs in excess of the ceiling shall be reimbursed by the Authority in 
accordance with Clause 16.3.1. In the event that the total cost arising out of Change of Scope 
Orders (if any) issued prior to the Project Completion Date is less than 0.25% (zero point two 
five per cent) of the Total Project Cost, the difference thereof shall be credited by the 
Concessionaire to the Safety Fund within a period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days of the 
Project Completion Date. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that the aforesaid 0.25% (zero 
point two five per cent) of the Total Project Cost shall, to the extent borne by the 
Concessionaire, be deemed to form part of the actual capital cost of the Project. 
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16.4. Restrictions on certain works 

16.4.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 16, but subject to the 
provisions of Clause 16.4.2, the Authority shall not require the Concessionaire to undertake any 
works or services if such works or services are likely to delay completion of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway; provided that in the event that the Authority considers such works or services to be 
essential, it may issue a Change of Scope Order, subject to the condition that the works forming 
part of or affected by such Order shall not be reckoned for purposes of determining completion 
of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and issuing the Provisional Certificate. 

16.4.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 16, the Concessionaire shall 
be entitled to nullify any Change of Scope Order if it causes the cumulative costs relating to all 
the Change of Scope Orders to exceed 5% (five per cent) of the Total Project Cost in any 
continuous period of 3 (three) years immediately preceding the date of such Change of Scope 
Order or if such cumulative costs exceed 20% (twenty per cent) of the Total Project Cost at any 
time during the Concession Period. 

16.5. Power of the Authority to undertake works 

16.5.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Clauses 16.1.1, 16.2 and 16.3, the 
Authority may, after giving notice to the Concessionaire and considering its reply thereto, award 
any works or services, contemplated under Clause 16.1.1, to any person on the basis of open 
competitive bidding; provided that the Concessionaire shall have the option of matching the 
first ranked bid in terms of the selection criteria, subject to payment of 2% (two per cent) of the 
bid amount to the Authority, and thereupon securing the award of such works or services. For 
the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that the Concessionaire shall be entitled to exercise such 
option only if it has participated in the bidding process and its bid does not exceed the first 
ranked bid by more than 10% (ten percent) thereof. It is also agreed that the Concessionaire 
shall provide access, assistance and cooperation to the person who undertakes the works or 
services hereunder. 

16.5.2. The works undertaken in accordance with this Clause 16.5 shall conform to the Specifications 
and Standards and shall be carried out in a manner that minimizes the disruption in operation of 
the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway. The provisions of this Agreement, insofar as they relate to 
Construction Works and Tests, shall apply mutatis mutandis to the works carried out under this 
Clause 16.5. 

16.6. Reduction in Scope of the Project 
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16.6.1. If the Concessionaire shall have failed to complete any Construction Works on account of Force 
Majeure or for reasons solely attributable to the Authority, the Authority may, in its discretion, 
require the Concessionaire to pay 80% (eighty percent) of the sum saved therefrom, and upon 
such payment to the Authority, the obligations of the Concessionaire in respect of such works 
shall be deemed to have been fulfilled. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that in the event 
such reduction in Scope of the Project causes or will cause a reduction in net after-tax return of 
the Concessionaire, the Parties shall meet, as soon as reasonably practical, and agree on a full or 
partial waiver of the aforesaid payment of 80% (eighty per cent) so as to place the 
Concessionaire in the same financial position as it would have enjoyed had there been no 
reduction in Scope of the Project. It is further agreed that the liability of the Authority under this 
Clause 16.6 shall not extend beyond waiver of the aforesaid 80% (eighty per cent). It is also 
agreed that in the event of a dispute, the Dispute Resolution Procedure shall apply.  

16.6.2. For determining the obligations of the Concessionaire under this Clause 16.6, the provisions of 
Clauses 16.1, 16.2 and 16.4 shall apply mutatis mutandis, and upon issue of Change of Scope 
Order by the Authority hereunder, the Concessionaire shall pay forthwith the sum specified 
therein 
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17. OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE 

17.1. O&M Obligations of the Concessionaire 

17.1.1. During the Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall operate and maintain the Project and 
Project Facilities in accordance with this Agreement either by itself, or through the O&M 
Contractor and if required, modify, repair or otherwise make improvements to the Project 
Facilities to comply with the provisions of this Agreement, Applicable Laws and Applicable 
Permits, and conform to CEN standards Good Industry Practice. The obligations of the 
Concessionaire hereunder shall include: 

a) permitting safe, smooth and uninterrupted flow of passengers on the Ropeway/ Cable Car 
during normal operating conditions; 

b) collecting and appropriating the Fee; 
c) minimizing disruption of operation of Project in terms hereof in the event of accidents or 

other incidents affecting the safety and use of the Project by providing a rapid and effective 
response and maintaining liaison with emergency services available in the State/UT; 

d) carrying out periodic preventive maintenance of the Ropeway/ Cable Car; 
e) undertaking routine maintenance of the Project; 
f) undertaking major maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; (the technology and 

equipment supplier shall maintain the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway for a minimum of 10 years); 
g) preventing, with the assistance of concerned law enforcement agencies, any unauthorized 

use or encroachments of the Project, including the Site; 
h) preventing, with the assistance of the concerned law enforcement agencies, any 

encroachments on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; 
i) Protection of the environment in and around the ropeway system as per statutory rules 

prevailing in the region. It includes maintaining the environment around mud flat in the 
alinement of ropeway, breeding ground of Flamingoes, protection of sea environment, near 
terminal station, pillars and terminal station in the water area. The operator has to maintain 
the environment and ecological balance to protect the environment adequately. 

j) provision of equipment and materials thereof; 
k) operation and maintenance of all communication, control and administrative systems 

necessary for the efficient operation of the Project; 
l) maintaining a public relations unit to interface with and attend to suggestions from the 

Users, government agencies, media and other agencies; and 
m) complying with Safety Requirements in accordance with Article 18.  
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17.1.2. The Concessionaire shall remove promptly from the Project all surplus construction machinery 
and materials, waste materials (including hazardous materials and waste water), rubbish and 
other debris (including, without limitation, accident debris) and keep the Project and Project 
Facilities in a clean, tidy and orderly condition, and in conformity with the Applicable Laws, 
Applicable Permits and Good Industry Practice. 

17.2. Maintenance Requirement  

17.2.1. The Concessionaire shall procure that at all times during the Operation Period; the Project 
Facility conforms to the maintenance requirements set forth in Schedule L and M (the 
"Maintenance / Safety Requirements"). 

17.3. Maintenance Manual  

17.3.1. No later than 60 (Sixty Days) days prior to the Scheduled Date, the Concessionaire shall submit 
the authorised repair and maintenance manual (the “Maintenance Manual”) of the technology 
and equipment supplier which shall be in compliance with CEN Standards for the regular and 
preventive maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in conformity with the CEN Standards, 
Maintenance Requirements, Safety Requirements and Good Industry Practice, and shall provide 
5 (five) copies thereof to the Authority and 2 (two) copies to the Independent Engineer. The 
Maintenance Manual shall be revised and updated once every 3 (three) years and the provisions 
of this Clause 17.3 shall apply, mutatis mutandis. 

17.3.2. Without prejudice to the provision of Clause 17.3.1, the Maintenance Manual shall, in particular, 
include provisions for maintenance of Project Assets and shall provide for life cycle 
maintenance, routine maintenance and reactive maintenance which may be reasonably 
necessary for maintenance and repair of the Project Assets, including replacement thereof, such 
that their overall condition conforms to Good Industry Practice. 

17.4. Maintenance Program  

17.4.1. On or Before COD and No later than 45 (forty-five) days prior to the beginning of each 
Accounting Year during the Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall provide to the Authority, 
its proposed annual programme of preventive, urgent and other Scheduled maintenance (the 
"Maintenance Programme") to comply with the Maintenance Requirements, Maintenance 
Manual and Safety Requirements as per CEN Standards. Such Maintenance Programme shall 
include: 

a) preventive maintenance schedule; 
b) arrangements and procedures for carrying out urgent repairs; 
c) criteria to be adopted for deciding maintenance needs; 
d) intervals and procedures for carrying out inspection of all elements of the Project; 
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e) intervals at which the Concessionaire shall carry out periodic maintenance; 
f) arrangements and procedures for carrying out safety related measures; and 
g) intervals for major maintenance works and the scope thereof. 

17.4.2. Within 30 (thirty) days of receipt of the Maintenance Programme, the Authority shall review the 
same and convey its comments to the Concessionaire with particular reference to its conformity 
with the Maintenance Requirements, Maintenance Manual and Safety Requirements. 

17.4.3. The Concessionaire may modify the Maintenance Programme as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances, and the procedure specified in Clauses 17.4.1 and 17.4.2 shall apply mutatis 
mutandis to such modifications. 

17.5. Safety, breakdowns and accidents 

17.5.1. The Concessionaire shall ensure safe conditions for the Users, and in the event of unsafe 
conditions, breakdowns and accidents, it shall follow the relevant operating procedures as per 
and removal of obstruction and debris without delay. Such procedures shall conform to the 
provisions of this Agreement, Applicable Laws, Applicable Permits and Good Industry Practice. 

17.5.2. The Concessionaire’s responsibility for rescue operations on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall 
be limited to getting the passengers to the nearest station for disembarkation. The technology 
provider shall define procedure / capability under such circumstances. Alternatively, rescue 
operations procedure to be followed as per CEN Standards with the responsibility of the 
Concessionaire to get people safely on the ground. 

17.6. De-commissioning due to Emergency 

17.6.1. If, in the reasonable opinion of the Concessionaire, there exists an Emergency which warrants 
de- commissioning and closure to Users of the whole or any part of the Project, the 
Concessionaire shall be entitled to de-commission and close the whole or any part of the Project 
to Users for so long as such Emergency and the consequences thereof warrant; provided that 
such decommissioning and particulars thereof shall be notified by the Concessionaire to the 
Authority without any delay, and the Concessionaire shall diligently carry out and abide by any 
reasonable directions that the Authority may give for dealing with such Emergency. 

17.6.2. The Concessionaire shall re-commission the Project or the affected part thereof as quickly as 
practicable after the circumstances leading to its decommissioning and closure have ceased to 
exist or have so abated as to enable the Concessionaire to re-commission the Project and shall 
notify the Authority of the same without any delay. 
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17.6.3. Any decommissioning or closure of any part of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and the re-
commissioning thereof shall, as soon as practicable, be brought to the notice of affected 
persons by means of public announcements/notice. 

17.7. Damages for breach of maintenance obligations 

17.7.1. In the event that the Concessionaire fails to repair or rectify any defect or deficiency set forth in 
the Maintenance Requirements within the period specified therein, it shall be deemed to be in 
breach of this Agreement and the Authority shall be entitled to recover Damages, to be 
calculated and paid for each day of delay until the breach is cured, at the higher of (a) 0.5% (zero 
point five per cent) of Average Daily Fee, and (b) 0.1% (zero point one per cent) of the cost of 
such repair or rectification as estimated by the Independent Engineer. Recovery of such 
Damages shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Authority under this Agreement, 
including the right of Termination thereof. 

17.7.2. The Damages set forth in Clause 17.7.1 may be assessed and specified forthwith by the 
Independent Engineer; provided that the Authority may, in its discretion, demand a smaller sum 
as Damages, if in its opinion, the breach has been cured promptly and the Concessionaire is 
otherwise in compliance with its obligations hereunder. The Concessionaire shall pay such 
Damages forthwith and in the event that it contests such Damages, the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure shall apply. 

17.8. Authority's right to take remedial measures 

17.8.1. In the event the Concessionaire does not maintain and/or repair the Project or any part thereof 
in conformity with the Maintenance Requirements, the Maintenance Manual or the 
Maintenance Programme, as the case may be, and fails to commence remedial works within 15 
(fifteen) days of receipt of the O&M Inspection Report or a notice in this behalf from the 
Authority or the Independent Engineer, as the case may be, the Authority shall, without 
prejudice to its rights under this Agreement including Termination thereof, be entitled to 
undertake, by itself and/or through third party / agency, such remedial measures at the risk and 
cost of the Concessionaire, and to recover its cost from the Concessionaire. In addition to 
recovery of the aforesaid cost, a sum equal to 20% (twenty per cent) of such cost shall be paid 
by the Concessionaire to the Authority as Damages. For the avoidance of doubt, the right of the 
Authority under this Clause 17.8.1 shall be without prejudice to its rights and remedies provided 
under Clause 17.7. 
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17.8.2. The Authority shall have the right and the Concessionaire hereby expressly grants to the 
Authority the right, to recover the costs and damage specified in Clause 17.8.1 directly from the 
Operation Period Performance Security.  

17.9. O&M Overriding powers of the Authority 

17.9.1. If in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, the Concessionaire is in material breach of its 
obligations under this Agreement and, in particular, the Maintenance Requirements, and such 
breach is causing or likely to cause material hardship or danger to the Users, the Authority may, 
without prejudice to any of its rights under this Agreement including Termination thereof, by 
notice require the Concessionaire to take reasonable measures immediately for rectifying or 
removing such hardship or danger, as the case may be. 

17.9.2. In the event that the Concessionaire, upon notice under Clause 17.9.1, fails to rectify or remove 
any hardship or danger within a reasonable period, the Authority may exercise overriding 
powers under this Clause 17.9.2 and take over the performance of any or all the obligations of 
the Concessionaire to the extent deemed necessary by it for rectifying or removing such 
hardship or danger; provided that the exercise of such overriding powers by the Authority shall 
be of no greater scope and of no longer duration than is reasonably required hereunder; 
provided further that any costs and expenses incurred by the Authority in discharge of its 
obligations hereunder shall be deemed to be O&M Expenses, and the Authority shall be entitled 
to recover them from the Concessionaire in accordance with the provisions of Clause 17.8 along 
with the Damages specified therein . 

17.9.3. In the event of a national emergency, civil commotion or any other act specified in Clause 29.3, 
the Authority may take over the performance of any or all the obligations of the Concessionaire 
to the extent deemed necessary by it or as directed by the State/UT Government or 
Government of India, and exercise such control over the Project or give such directions to the 
Concessionaire as may be deemed necessary; provided that the exercise of such overriding 
powers by the Authority shall be of no greater scope and of no longer duration than is 
reasonably required in the circumstances which caused the exercise of such overriding power by 
the Authority. For the avoidance of doubt, the consequences of such action shall be dealt in 
accordance with the provisions of Article 29. It is also agreed that the Concessionaire shall 
comply with such instructions as the Authority may issue in pursuance of the provisions of this 
Clause and shall provide assistance and cooperation to the Authority, on a best effort basis, for 
performance of its obligations hereunder. 

17.10. Restoration of loss or damage to Project 

Save and except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, in the event that the Project 
or any part thereof suffers any loss or damage during the Concession Period from any cause 
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whatsoever, the Concessionaire shall, at its cost and expense, rectify and remedy such loss or 
damage forthwith so that the Project conforms to the provisions of this Agreement. 

17.11. Modifications to the Project 

The Concessionaire shall not carry out any material modifications to the Project save and except 
where such modifications are necessary for the Project to operate in conformity with the CEN 
Standards, Maintenance Requirements and Good Industry Practice and Applicable Laws; 
provided that the Concessionaire shall notify the Independent Engineer or Authority of the 
proposed modifications along with particulars thereof at least 30 (thirty) days before 
commencing work on such modifications and shall comply with all suggestions that the 
Authority may make within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving the Concessionaire's proposal. For the 
avoidance of doubt, all modifications made hereunder shall comply with the CEN Standards, 
Applicable Laws and the provisions of this Agreement. 

17.12. Excuse from performance of obligations 

The Concessionaire shall not be considered in breach of its obligations under this Agreement if 
any part of the Project is not available to User on account of any of the following for the 
duration thereof: 

a) an event of Force Majeure; 

b) measures taken to ensure the safe use of the Project or any part thereof except when unsafe 
conditions occurred because of failure of the Concessionaire to perform its obligations under 
this Agreement; or 

c) compliance with a request from the Authority or the directions of any Government 
Instrumentality, the effect of which is to close all or any part of the Project. 

Notwithstanding the above, the Concessionaire shall keep all unaffected parts of the Project 
open to Users provided they can be operated safely. 

17.13. Barriers and diversions 

The Authority shall procure that during the Operation Period, no barriers are erected or placed 
by any Government Instrumentality on the Project Site except for reasons of Emergency, 
national security and law & order. The Authority shall also make best endeavors to procure that 
no Government Instrumentality shall undertake or cause to be undertaken, except for reasons 
of Emergency, national security or law and order, any diversions of traffic from, or closing down 
of approach roads to the Project Site that may cause a material adverse effect on the flow of 
traffic to and from the Project Site. 
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17.14. Advertising on the Site 

The Concessionaire shall be permitted commercial advertising, display or hoarding at specific 
places on the Site as per prevalent approvals from local authority. All advertising on the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway shall also conform to Good Industry Practice. For the avoidance of doubt, it is 
agreed that the rights of the Concessionaire hereunder shall be subject to Applicable Laws, as in 
force and effect from time to time, and no compensation shall be claimed on account on 
thereof.  
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18. Safety Requirements 

18.1. Safety Requirements 

18.1.1. The Concessionaire shall comply with the provisions of this Agreement, Applicable Laws and 
Applicable Permits and conform to Good Industry Practice for securing the safety of the Users. 
In particular, the Concessionaire shall develop, implement and administer a surveillance and 
safety programme for providing a safe environment on or about the Project, and shall comply 
with the safety requirements set forth in Schedule-M (the "Safety Requirements"). 

18.1.2. The Authority may appoint an experienced and qualified firm or organization (“Safety 
Consultant”) for carrying out safety audit of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in accordance with the 
Safety Requirements and CEN Standards, and shall take all other actions necessary for securing 
compliance with the Safety Requirements. 

18.1.3. Safety Guarantee Audit 

The Concessionaire shall obtain Safety Certificate every 6 (six) months from the Certified Safety 
Auditor of 3S Ropeway system (CEN standard) which shall be an accredited notified body 
according to EU regulation (EC) 2016/24. The same shall be officially certified inspection body 
and testing body according to EN ISO/IEC 17020 (inspection) and EN ISO/IEC17025 (testing). 

18.2. Expenditure on Safety Requirements 

All costs and expenses arising out of or relating to Safety Requirements shall be borne by the 
Concessionaire to the extent such costs and expenses form part of the works and services 
included in the Scope of the Project. 
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19. Monitoring of Operation and Maintenance 

19.1. Monthly status report 

19.1.1. During Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall, no later than 7 (seven) days after the close of 
each month, furnish to the Authority a monthly report stating in reasonable detail the condition 
of the Project including its compliance or otherwise with the Maintenance Requirements, 
Maintenance Manual, Maintenance Programme and Safety Requirements, and shall promptly 
give such other relevant information as may be required by the Authority or Independent 
Engineer. In particular, such report shall separately identify and state in reasonable detail the 
defects and deficiencies that require rectification. 

19.2. Inspection 

19.2.1. The Authority or its authorized representative may inspect the Project at any time. It shall make 
a report of such inspection (the "O&M Inspection Report") stating in reasonable detail the 
defects or deficiencies, if any, with particular reference to the Maintenance Requirements, 
Maintenance Manual, the Maintenance Programme and Safety Requirements, and send a copy 
thereof to the Concessionaire within 7 (Seven) days of such inspection. 

19.3. Tests 

19.3.1. Any tests warranted by maintenance requirements have to comply with applicable CEN 
Standards which will be carried out by the Concessionaire and furnish results of such tests to the 
Independent Engineer. 

19.3.2. One half of the costs incurred on such tests, and to the extent certified by the Independent 
Engineer as reasonable, shall be reimbursed by the Authority to the Concessionaire. 

19.4. Remedial measures 

19.4.1. The Concessionaire shall repair or rectify the defects or deficiencies, if any, set forth in the O&M 
Inspection Report or in the test results referred to in Clause 19.3 and furnish a report in respect 
thereof to the Authority within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving the O&M Inspection Report or the 
test results, as the case may be; provided that where the remedying of such defects or 
deficiencies is likely to take more than 15 (fifteen) days, the Concessionaire shall submit 
progress reports of the repair works once every week until such works are completed in 
conformity with this Agreement. 
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19.4.2. The Authority or Independ Engineer shall require the Concessionaire to carry out or cause to be 
carried out tests, at its own cost, to determine that such remedial measures have brought the 
Project into compliance with the Maintenance Requirements and the procedure set forth in this 
Clause 19.4 shall be repeated until the Project conforms to the Maintenance Requirements. In 
the event that remedial measures are not completed by the Concessionaire in conformity with 
the provisions of this Agreement, the Authority shall be entitled to do these remedial measures 
at its own cost and recover the same from the Concessionaire under and in accordance with the 
provisions of Clause 17.8. 

19.5. Monthly Fee Statement  

19.5.1. During the Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall furnish to the Authority, within 7 (seven) 
days of completion of each month, a statement of Fee substantially in the form set forth in 
Schedule – Q (the "Monthly Fee Statement"). The Concessionaire shall also furnish to the 
Authority such other information as the Authority may reasonably require, at specified intervals, 
in discharge of its statutory functions. 

19.6. Reports on unusual occurrence   

19.6.1. The Concessionaire shall, prior to the close of each day, send to the Authority and the 
Independent Engineer, by facsimile or e-mail, a report stating accidents and unusual 
occurrences on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway relating to the safety and security of the Users and 
Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway. A weekly and monthly summary of such reports shall also be sent 
within 3 (three) days of the closing of each week and month, as the case may be. For the 
purposes of this Clause 19.6, accidents and unusual occurrences on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway 
shall include: 

a. death or injury to any person; 
b. damaged or dislodged fixed equipment; 
c. any obstruction on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, which results in slow down of the services 

being provided by the Concessionaire; 
d. disablement of any equipment during operation; 
e. communication failure affecting the operation of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; 
f. smoke or fire or any other hazard or accident; and 
g. such other relevant information as may be required by the Authority or the Independent 

Engineer. 
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20. Key Performance Indicators  

20.1. Key Performance Indicators  

Without prejudice to the obligations specified in this Agreement, the Concessionaire shall 
operate the Project such that it achieves or exceeds the performance indicators specified in this 
Clause 20 (the "Key Performance Indicators"). 

20.2. Operation of Ropeway Cabins 

20.2.1. The Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be operated such that the service shall operate between [XXX 
hours] and [YYY hours] at the service levels specified in this Clause 20.2; provided that the 
duration of services may be customized as per the requirements. 

20.2.2. The Concessionaire shall at all times ensure that: 

a) the Ropeway Cabins are clean, hygienic and free of odour; and 
b) there is adequate lighting within the Cabin and station in conformity with the Specifications 

and Standards. 

20.3. Provisions of Cabins 

The number of cabin & capacity of the cabin will be decided by the Concessionaire as per the 
demand. Any time passengers shall not exceed the design capacity of the cabin. 

20.4. Operation of Terminal Stations 

20.4.1. The Parties hereto agree that the primary purpose of the station is to provide space for the 
Users who normally stay at a station for a period of time no longer than necessary, to wait for 
and enter the cabin or to exit the station or after exiting from the cabin. 

20.4.2. The design, construction, operation and maintenance of the stations shall be such that: 

a. a User alighting at the platform should be able to reach a point outside the station in not more 
than [3 (three)] minutes of brisk walking and a User crossing the fee collection point should be 
able to reach the platform in not more than [2 (two)] minutes of brisk walking; and 

b. in case of emergency, evacuation from any point on the platform to a point of safety in an open 
space within or outside the station shall not exceed [100 (one hundred)] meters. 

20.4.3. The entry and exit gates, including the automatic ticket verification machines, shall be so 
designed and operated that the waiting time for the Users shall not exceed [2 (two)] minutes. 
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20.4.4. The Concessionaire shall provide adequate number of ticket vending machines and ticket 
counters such that waiting time for the Users shall not exceed [2 (two)] minutes. 

20.4.5. The Concessionaire shall at all times ensure that: 

a. the stations and its toilets are clean, hygienic and free of odour; 
b. there is adequate lighting within the stations in conformity with the Specifications and 

Standards; 
c. the temperature in common areas within the station is maintained in accordance with 

Maintenance Requirements; 
d. all entry and exit points, passages, circulation areas and vehicular traffic are so managed 

that they do not have a queue with a waiting time exceeding 5 (five) minutes; 
e. all lifts, escalators, walkalators, train information systems, public address systems and 

lighting systems function efficiently and their availability is no less than 98% (ninety eight 
per cent) in a month; and 

f. 50% (fifty) percent of all phone calls relating to the Diu to Ghogha Ropeway are answered 
within 30 (thirty) seconds. 

20.5. Monthly status report 

20.5.1. During Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall, no later than 7 (seven) days after the close of 
each month, furnish a monthly report stating in reasonable detail the compliance with all the 
Key Performance Indicators specified in this Article 20 along with an analysis of the reasons for 
failures, if any, and the strategies for addressing the same and for otherwise improving the 
operational performance of the Project. 

20.6. Penalty for shortfall in performance 

20.6.1. The Concessionaire shall ensure and procure compliance of each of the Key Performance 
Indicators specified in this Article 20 and for any shortfall in average performance during a 
quarter, it shall pay Damages within 30 (thirty) days of the close of the quarter in which the 
shortfall occurred. The Damages due and payable under this Clause 20.6 shall be determined at 
the rate of 1% (one per cent) of the Total revenue from fee in respective quarter for every 
shortfall of 10% (ten per cent) in any single performance indicator specified in this article 20; 
provided, however, that the Authority may waive the Damages, in part or full, if it is satisfied 
that the Concessionaire has been carrying out its obligations diligently and efficiently and that 
the shortfall to be waived was on account of reasons beyond the control of the Concessionaire. 
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20.7. CEN certification 

20.7.1. The Concessionaire shall construct the ropeway after the issue of certificate of completion for 
compliance as per CEN Standards/other standards from the Independent Engineer in 
accordance with Specifications and Standards. 

20.8. Passenger Charter 

20.8.1. The Concessionaire shall publish and implement a charter articulating the rights and 
expectations of Users (the "Passenger Charter") substantially in the form specified in Schedule-T 
of this Agreement. The Concessionaire shall at all-time be accountable and liable to Users in 
accordance with the provisions of the Passenger Charter and Applicable Laws. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  



73 | P a g e  
 

21. EMERGENCT MEDICAL AID 

21.1. Medical Aid Posts 

The Concessionaire shall have requisite and sufficient number of first aid kits at each terminal station as 
well as the basic first aid training to the ropeway operators. (Similar to first aid kits and training of air 
hostesses in airlines).  

For providing emergency medical aid during the Operation Period, as set forth in this Agreement, the 
Concessionaire shall assist the State/UT Government [or a substitute thereof to be designated by the 
Authority] in setting up and operating a medical aid post (the “Medical Aid Post”) at each of the 
terminal building with round-the-clock ambulance services for victims of accidents on the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway. 
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22. Independent Engineer 

22.1. Appointment of Independent engineer 

22.1.1. The Authority shall appoint a consulting engineering firm, to be the independent consultant 
under this Agreement (the “Independent Engineer”). The Independent engineer during project 
implementation/ construction phase shall be the PMC already engaged by DSCL for Diu Smart 
City project. On expiry or termination of the aforesaid period, the Authority may in its discretion 
renew the appointment on mutually agreed terms, or appoint another firm from a fresh panel 
constituted pursuant to Schedule-I to be the Independent Engineer for a term of 2 (two) years, 
and such procedure shall be repeated after expiry of each appointment. Selection criteria for 
Independent Engineer set forth in Schedule-I 

22.1.2. If desired, by the Independent Engineer for monitoring the quality of works which is executed as 
per Indian standards, he may assign this work on his behalf to the reputed firms locally to carry 
out inspection, testing in accordance with Indian Codes. 

22.2. Duties and function 

22.2.1. The Independent Engineer shall discharge its duties and functions substantially in accordance 
with the terms of reference set forth in Schedule I. 

22.2.2. The Independent Engineer shall submit regular periodic reports (at least once every month) to 
the Authority in respect of its duties and functions set forth in Schedule I. 

22.2.3. True copy of all communications sent by the Authority to the Independent Engineer and by the 
Independent Engineer to the Authority, shall be sent forthwith by the Independent Engineer to 
the Concessionaire. 

22.2.4. True copy of all communications sent by the Independent Engineer to the Concessionaire and by 
the Concessionaire to the Independent Engineer shall be sent forthwith by the Independent 
Engineer to the Authority. 

22.2.5. Independent Engineer shall periodically submit data on the progress / status of construction 
works, financial progress and other requisite details at such interval, as mentioned in the TOR, 
which shall enable the Authority for updating the project specific website.  
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22.3. Remuneration  

22.3.1. The remuneration, cost and expenses of the Independent Engineer shall be paid by the 
Authority.  

22.4. Termination of appointment 

22.4.1. The Authority may, in its discretion, terminate the appointment of the Independent Engineer at 
any time, but only after appointment of another Independent Engineer in accordance with 
Clause 22.1. 

22.4.2. If the Concessionaire has reason to believe that the Independent Engineer is not discharging its 
duties and functions in a fair, efficient and diligent manner, it may make a written 
representation to the Authority and seek termination of the appointment of the Independent 
Engineer. Upon receipt of such representation, the Authority shall hold a tripartite meeting with 
the Concessionaire and Independent Engineer for an amicable resolution of the Dispute, and if 
any difference or disagreement between the Authority and the Concessionaire remains 
unresolved, the Dispute shall be settled in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. In 
the event that the appointment of the Independent Engineer is terminated hereunder, the 
Authority shall appoint forthwith another Independent Engineer in accordance with Clause 22.1. 

22.5. Authorized signatories 

22.5.1. The Authority shall require the Independent Engineer to designate and notify to the Authority 
and the Concessionaire up to 2 (two) persons employed in its firm to sign for and on behalf of 
the Independent Engineer. Any communication/report/document submitted by the 
Independent Engineer in terms hereof shall be valid and effective only if signed by any of the 
designated persons; provided that the Independent Engineer may, by notice in writing, 
substitute any of the designated persons by any of its employees. 

22.6. Dispute resolution 

22.6.1. If either Party disputes any advice, instruction, decision, direction or award of the Independent 
Engineer, or as the case may be, the assertion or failure to assert jurisdiction, the Dispute shall 
be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 
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23. Financial Close 

23.1. Financial Close 

23.1.1. The Concessionaire hereby agrees and undertakes that it shall achieve Financial Close within 180 
(one hundred and eighty) days from the date of this Agreement and in the event of delay, it shall 
be entitled to a further period not exceeding [60 (Sixty)] days, subject to payment of Damages to 
the Authority in a sum calculated at the rate of 0.2% (zero point Two per cent) of the 
Performance Security for each day of delay, and for a further period not exceeding [80 (eighty)] 
days, subject to payment of Damages at the rate specified in Clause 15.2; provided that the 
Damages specified herein shall be payable every week in advance and the period beyond the 
said 180 (one hundred and eighty) days shall be granted only to the extent of Damages so paid; 
provided further that no Damages shall be payable if such delay in Financial Close has occurred 
solely as a result of any default or delay by the Authority in procuring satisfaction of the 
Conditions Precedent or due to Force Majeure. For the avoidance of doubt, the Damages 
payable hereunder by the Concessionaire shall be in addition to the Damages, if any, due and 
payable under the provisions of Clause 4.3. 

23.1.2. The Concessionaire shall, upon occurrence of Financial Close, notify the Authority forthwith, and 
shall have provided to the Authority, at least 2 (two) days prior to Financial Close, 3 (three) true 
copies of the Financial Package and the Financial Model, duly attested by a Director of the 
Concessionaire, along with 3 (three) soft copies of the Financial Model in MS Excel version or 
any substitute thereof, which is acceptable to the Senior Lenders. 

23.2. Termination due to failure to achieve Financial Close 

23.2.1. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, but subject to Clause 
29.6.1, in the event that Financial Close does not occur, for any reason whatsoever, within the 
period set forth in Clause 23.1.1, all rights, privileges, claims and entitlements of the 
Concessionaire under or arising out of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been waived by, 
and to have ceased with the concurrence of the Concessionaire, and the Concession Agreement 
shall be deemed to have been terminated by mutual agreement of the Parties. For the 
avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that in the event the Parties hereto have, by mutual consent, 
determined the Appointed Date to precede the Financial Close, the provisions of this Clause 
23.2.1 shall not apply. 
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23.2.2. Upon Termination under Clause 23.2.1, the Authority shall be entitled to encash the Bid Security 
and appropriate the proceeds thereof as Damages; provided, however, that if Financial Close 
has not occurred solely as a result of the Authority being in default of any of its obligations 
under Clause 4.2, it shall, upon Termination, return the Bid Security forthwith along with the 
Damages due and payable under Clause 4 For the avoidance of doubt, it is expressly agreed that 
if the Bid Security shall have been substituted by Performance Security, the Authority shall be 
entitled to encash therefrom an amount equal to Bid Security. 
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24. Concession Fee 

24.1. Revenue Share from ticketing of Ropeway System 

24.1.1. The concessioner shall pay to the Authority in Four Equal Installment, amount equivalent to 
higher of: 

i. Revenue Share as a %age (To be quoted as bid variable by the Bidder, (subject to a minimum 
5% of the Gross Revenue) of the Gross Revenue for the period. 
OR 

ii. Minimum Guarantee Payment of that period - INR 10 Lakh, (Ten lakh) per annum, Payment 
shall be made in four equal installment, Minimum Guarantee payment will increase at a rate 
of 5% each year over the Minimum Guarantee Payment of the previous year. 

For the avoidance of doubt, it is clarified the term “Gross Revenue” mean all pre-tax gross 
revenues earned by the Concessionaire under or pursuant to the Concession Agreement from 
the Ropeway system from passengers traffic and other commercial activity, at any time from the 
date of execution of the Concession Agreement upto the Transfer Date (as defined in the 
Concession Agreement) and shall include any monies received from sub-licensees and other 
persons, by the Concessionaire as deposits (refundable or otherwise), but shall exclude the 
following 

a) any insurance proceeds received by the Concessionaire relating to: (i) third party liability 
insurance paid or to be paid to the person whose claim(s) constitute(s) the risk or liability 
insured against; and (ii) any form of physical damage of assets, and the Concessionaire has 
incurred or will incur an expenditure greater than or equal to such proceeds received for 
repair, reinstatement or otherwise replacement, promptly and diligently of such assets; 
 

b) any monies received by the Concessionaire, for or on behalf of any Government 
Instrumentality (as defined in the Concession Agreement), as an authorized agent of such 
Government Instrumentality; 
 

c) any deposit amounts refunded to the relevant sub-licensee or any other person authorized by 
the Authority in a particular Concession Year provided these pertain to past deposits on which 
Revenue Share has been paid to the Authority. 
 

d) any deposit amounts refunded to the relevant sub-licensee or any other person authorized by 
the Authority in a particular Concession Year provided these pertain to past deposits on which 
Revenue Share has been paid to the Authority. 
 
It is expressly clarified that: 

i. insurance proceeds referred to in exclusion (a) above, shall not include any exclusion 
of insurance proceeds received for loss of revenues and/or business interruption; 
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ii. monies referred to in exclusion (b) above, shall be excluded only if the same has been 
credited or will be credited by the Concessionaire to the relevant Government 
Instrumentality promptly and diligently and any fine, penalty or other amounts of 
similar nature that may accrue as a result of non-payment or delayed payment of such 
monies under the Applicable Laws, will not be excluded; 
 

iii. Gross Revenue will be computed on an monthly basis for an Accounting Year, in 
accordance with the Indian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, as applicable on 
closing of financial year; 

24.1.2. in case of any dispute, discrepancy, ambiguity, doubt or otherwise, relating to the computation 
and/ or meaning of Gross Revenue, the decision of the Authority, at its sole discretion, shall be 
final. 

24.1.3. For the avoidance of doubt, it is clarified the term ‘Revenue Share’ as referred in para above 
shall be as applicable for one financial year. In accordance with and in compliance with the 
terms of this Agreement, if payment of such ‘Premium’ is due and payable only for part of such 
financial year, then only pro rata payments @ 1/12th of such Revenue Share shall be payable for 
each month of such part financial year for which such Revenue Share payments are due and 
payable. For the purpose of assessing the amount due for payment on such payment of Revenue 
Share, part of the month shall be deemed to be a full month. In such circumstances the 
subsequent year as referred to in para above. 

24.1.4. Payment of Revenue share- The Concessionaire shall pay to the Concessioning authority the 
revenue share per quarter. It should be paid on or before the seventh day of the immediately 
succeeding quarter. The payment of revenue share shall commence from the month in which 
the concessionaire commences to provide the services and shall be irrespective of date of 
commercial operation. 

24.1.5. Revenue share amounts unpaid on respective due dates would carry interest at the rate of 10 
year G-Sec plus 6% per annum from the due date till the date of realization thereof. 

24.2. Additional Utilities or Services 

The Concessionaire shall also pay rent or other charges for any additional land (other than the 
Project Site) or additional utilities or services, made available by the Concessioning Authority to 
the Concessionaire as per the terms, conditions and covenants including on payment of rates 
specified by the Concessioning Authority. Such rates shall be equal to 1.20 times the Scale of 
Rates. The charges in case of additional land will be 1.20 times of scale of rates as applicable at 
the time of giving additional land, where the fees is paid on quarterly/ half year/ yearly basis, it 
may also contain an escalation clause as in Bidding Documents but periodic review of SOR, if any 
will not be applicable. 
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24.3. Certified Accounts 

During the subsistence of this Agreement, the Concessionaire shall maintain all documents and 
supporting evidences for its financial statements including agreements and documents with 
respect to all capital and debt raised by the Concessionaire, capital and revenue expenses 
towards the Project. And, as relevant, the details of passengers handled by category, fare 
charged and the amount of rates received. The Concessionaire shall submit to the Concessioning 
Authority a financial statement including number of passengers handled for every 6 (six) 
monthly period ending 30th September and 31st March every year, duly certified by its 
Statutory Auditors. The certificate must be furnished within 30 (thirty) Days of the end of each 
such period. 

The Concessioning Authority shall, at its own cost, have the option to appoint another firm of 
chartered accountants duly licensed to practice in India (the “Additional Auditor”) to conduct a 
special audit of the passengers handled and the financial statements, documents and supporting 
evidences thereto as may be mandated by the Concessioning Authority and report to the 
Concessioning Authority such information as may be desired by the Concessioning Authority for 
any period and the passenger (“Special Audit”). 

In the event that the passenger handled reported by the Additional Auditor is higher than that 
reported by the Statutory Auditor, the auditors shall meet to resolve such differences and if they 
are unable to resolve the same the Concessionaire shall pay revenue share passengers handled 
reported by the Additional Auditor. The Concessionaire shall also pay interest @ 10 year GSec 
plus 6% - (Six percent) on the difference between the revenue share paid by the Concessionaire 
based on the passengers handled reported by the Statutory Auditor and that payable by the 
Concessionaire based on the passengers handled reported by the Additional Auditor for the 
intervening period between the payment of the revenue share as above. Further the 
Concessionaire shall reimburse all costs, charges and expenses related to the Special Audit. 
Without prejudice to the aforesaid, if the difference between the passengers handled reported 
by the Additional Auditor and that reported by the Statutory Auditor is higher than [5]% (five 
percent), the Concessioning Authority shall at its sole discretion have the right to require a 
Special Audit for the entire outstanding tenure of the Concession. 
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25. User Fee 

25.1. Collection and appropriation of User Fee  

25.1.1. On and from the COD till the Transfer Date, the Concessionaire shall have the sole and exclusive 
right to demand, collect and appropriate Fee from the Users subject to and in accordance with 
the Fee Notification as issued by Authority according to market demand (Schedule P). 

25.1.2. The Concessionaire acknowledges and agrees that upon payment of Fee, any User shall be 
entitled to use the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and the Concessionaire shall not place, or cause to 
be placed, any restriction on such use, except to the extent specified in any Applicable Law, 
Applicable Permit or the provisions of this Agreement. 

25.2. Revision of Fee  

25.2.1. The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the Fee shall be revised annually on April 1 of 
the respective years subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Fee Notification. 

25.3. Display of Fee Rates  

25.3.1. The Concessionaire shall conspicuously display the Fee structure at the Lower and Upper 
terminal stations of the Project at least in English, Hindi and Gujarati. 

25.3.2. The Concessionaire shall, from time to time, inform the Authority of the applicable Fee. Such 
information shall be communicated at least 15 (fifteen) days prior to the revision of Fee under 
and in accordance with this Agreement. 

25.3.3. The Concessionaire shall not revise, display or collect any amounts in excess of the rates of Fee 
payable under this Agreement. In the event any excess amounts are collected by or on behalf of 
the Concessionaire, it shall, upon receiving a notice to this effect from the Authority, refund 
such excess amounts to the Authority along with Damages equal to 4% (Four percent) thereof. 

25.4. Commercial Activity  

25.4.1. No commercial activity should start before the COD of the ropeway project. Thus, only after 
ropeway starts functioning should other commercial activities be permitted to be taken up. 
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26. Traffic Regulation 

26.1. Traffic Regulation by the Concessionaire  

The Concessionaire shall regulate the passenger traffic on the Ropeway Facility in accordance 
with the Applicable Laws, and subject to the supervision and control of the Authority or a 
substitute thereof empowered in this behalf under the Applicable Laws. 

26.2. Police assistance 

For regulating the use of Ropeway Facility in accordance with the Applicable Laws and this 
Agreement, the Authority may assist the Concessionaire in procuring police assistance from the 
UT Police Department or a substitute thereof. 
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27. Insurance 

27.1. Insurance during Concession Period 

27.1.1. The Concessionaire shall effect and maintain at its own cost, during the Construction Period and 
the Operation Period, such insurances for such maximum sums as may be required under the 
Financing Agreements, and the Applicable Laws, and such insurances as may be necessary or 
prudent in accordance with Good Industry Practice (the "Insurance Cover"). The Concessionaire 
shall also effect and maintain such insurances as may be necessary for mitigating the risks that 
may devolve on the Authority as a consequence of any act or omission of the Concessionaire 
during the Construction Period and/or Operation Period. For the avoidance of doubt, the level 
of insurance to be maintained by the Concessionaire after repayment of Lenders' dues in full 
shall be determined on the same principles as applicable for determining the level of insurance 
prior to such repayment of Lenders' dues. 

27.1.2. The Concessionaire shall, procure and maintain Insurance Cover including but not limited to the 
following: 

i. Standard Fire and Special Perils Policy with earthquake cover to insure loss, damage or 
destruction of the Project Assets; 

ii. Machinery Break-down Insurance Policy for insuring critical plant & equipment against 
any damage; 

iii. Comprehensive third party liability insurance including injury to or death of personnel of 
the Authority or others who may enter the Project; 

iv. Concessionaire's general liability arising out of the Concession; 
v. Workmen’s compensation insurance, personal accident insurance and medical insurance; 

vi. Passenger accident insurance for the passengers on-board the ropeway project having a 
valid ticket; and 

vii. any other insurance that may be necessary to protect the Concessionaire and its 
employees, including all Force Majeure Events that are insurable at commercially 
reasonable premiums and not otherwise covered in items (i) to (vi) above. 

27.2. Notices to the Authority 

Not later than 45 (forty-five) days prior to commencement of the Construction Period or the 
Operation Period, as the case may be, the Concessionaire shall by notice furnish to the 
Authority, in reasonable detail, information in respect of the insurances that it proposes to 
effect and maintain in accordance with this Article 27. Within 30 (thirty) days of receipt of such 
notice, the Authority may require the Concessionaire to effect and maintain such other 
insurances as may be necessary pursuant hereto, and in the event of any difference or 
disagreement relating to any such insurance, the Dispute Resolution Procedure shall apply. 
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27.3. Evidence of Insurance Cover 

All insurances obtained by the Concessionaire in accordance with this Article 27 shall be 
maintained with insurers on terms consistent with Good Industry Practice. Within 15 (fifteen) 
days of obtaining any insurance cover, the Concessionaire shall furnish to the Authority, copies 
of the certificate(s) of insurance, copies of insurance policies and premium payment receipts in 
respect of such insurance, and no such insurance shall be cancelled, modified, or allowed to 
expire or lapse until the expiration of at least 45 (forty-five) days after notice of such proposed 
cancellation, modification or non-renewal has been delivered by the Concessionaire to the 
Authority. 

27.4. Remedy for failure to insure 

If the Concessionaire shall fail to effect and keep in force all insurances for which it is 
responsible pursuant hereto, the Authority shall have the option to either keep in force any such 
insurances, and pay such premium and recover the costs thereof from the Concessionaire, or in 
the event of computation of a Termination Payment, treat an amount equal to the Insurance 
Cover as deemed to have been received by the Concessionaire. 

27.5. Waiver of subrogation 

All insurance policies in respect of the insurance obtained by the Concessionaire pursuant to this 
Article 27 shall include a waiver of any and all rights of subrogation or recovery of the insurers 
thereunder against, inter alia, the Authority, and its assigns, successors, undertakings and their 
subsidiaries, affiliates, employees, insurers and underwriters, and of any right of the insurers to 
any set-off or counterclaim or any other deduction, whether by attachment or otherwise, in 
respect of any liability of any such person insured under any such policy or in any way connected 
with any loss, liability or obligation covered by such policies of insurance. 

27.6. Concessionaire's waiver 

The Concessionaire hereby further releases, assigns and waives any and all rights of subrogation 
or recovery against, inter alia, the Authority and its assigns, undertakings and their subsidiaries, 
affiliates, employees, successors, insurers and underwriters, which the Concessionaire may 
otherwise have or acquire in or from or in any way connected with any loss, liability or 
obligation covered by policies of insurance maintained or required to be maintained by the 
Concessionaire pursuant to this Agreement (other than third party liability insurance policies) or 
because of deductible clauses in or inadequacy of limits of any such policies of insurance. 

27.7. Application of insurance proceeds 

The proceeds from all insurance claims, except life and injury, shall be paid to the 
Concessionaire and it shall, apply such proceeds for any necessary repair, reconstruction, 
reinstatement, replacement, improvement, delivery or installation of the Project, and the 



85 | P a g e  
 

balance remaining, if any, shall be applied in accordance with the provisions contained in this 
behalf in the Financing Agreements. 
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28. Accounts and Audit 

28.1. Audited Accounts 

28.1.1. The Concessionaire shall maintain books of accounts recording all its receipts (including all fees 
and other revenues derived/collected by it from or on account of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway 
and/or its use), income, expenditure, payments, assets and liabilities, in accordance with this 
Agreement, Good Industry Practice, Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits. The Concessionaire 
shall provide 2 (two) copies of its Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and Profit and Loss 
Account, along with a report thereon by its Statutory Auditors, within 90 (ninety) days of the 
close of the Accounting Year to which they pertain and such audited accounts, save and except 
where expressly provided to the contrary, shall form the basis of payments by either Party 
under this Agreement. The Authority shall have the right to inspect the records of the 
Concessionaire during office hours and require copies of relevant extracts of books of accounts, 
duly certified by the Statutory Auditors, to be provided to the Authority for verification of basis 
of payments, and in the event of any discrepancy or error being found, the same shall be 
rectified and such rectified account shall form the basis of payments by either Party under this 
Agreement. 

28.1.2. The Concessionaire shall, within 30 (thirty) days of the close of each quarter of an Accounting 
Year, furnish to the Authority its unaudited financial results in respect of the preceding quarter, 
in the manner and form prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Board of India for publication 
of quarterly results by the companies listed on a stock exchange. 

28.1.3. On or before the thirty-first day of May each Year, the Concessionaire shall provide to the 
Authority, for the preceding Accounting Year, a statement duly audited by its Statutory Auditors 
giving summarized information on (a) the number of passenger using the Ropeway Facility and 
liable for payment of Fee thereof, (b) Fee charged and received and other revenues derived 
from the Project and (c) such other information as the Authority may reasonably require. 

28.1.4. On or before the thirty-first day of May each Year, the Concessionaire shall provide to the 
Authority, for the preceding Accounting Year, a statement duly audited by its Statutory Auditors 
giving summarised information on (a) the number of passengers using the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway and liable for payment of Fee therefor, (b) Fee charged and received and other 
revenues derived from the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, and (c) such other information as the 
Authority may reasonably require. 

28.1.5. Concessionaire may by virtue of concession or any other covenant may come under the Purview 
of C&AG scrutiny at their (C&AG’s) own protocol. 
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28.2. Appointment of auditors 

28.2.1. The Concessionaire shall appoint, and have during the subsistence of this Agreement as its 
Statutory Auditors, a firm chosen by it from the mutually agreed list of 10 (ten) reputable firms 
of chartered accountants (the “Panel of Chartered Accountants”), such list to be prepared 
substantially in accordance with the criteria set forth in Schedule-S. All fees and expenses of the 
Statutory Auditors shall be borne by the Concessionaire. 

28.2.2. The Concessionaire may terminate the appointment of its Statutory Auditors after a notice of 45 
(forty-five) days to the Authority, subject to the replacement Statutory Auditors being appointed 
from the Panel of Chartered Accountants. 

28.2.3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Authority shall have 
the right, but not the obligation, to appoint at its cost from time to time and at any time, 
another firm (the “Additional Auditors”) from the panel of Chartered Accountants to audit and 
verify all those matters, expenses, costs, realizations and things which the Statutory Auditors are 
required to do, undertake or certify pursuant to this Agreement. 

28.3. Certification of claims by Statutory Auditors 

28.3.1. Any claim or document provided by the Concessionaire to the Authority in connection with or 
relating to receipts, income, payments, costs, expenses, accounts or audit, and any matter 
incidental thereto shall be valid and effective only if certified by its Statutory Auditors. For the 
avoidance of doubt, such certification shall not be required for exchange of information in the 
normal course of business including the submission of Monthly Fee Statements under Clause 
19.5. 

28.4. Set-off 

28.4.1. In the event any amount is due and payable by the Authority to the Concessionaire, it may set-
off any sums payable to it by the Concessionaire and pay the balance remaining. Any exercise by 
the Authority of its rights under this Clause shall be without prejudice to any other rights or 
remedies available to it under this Agreement or otherwise. 

28.5. Appointment of Independent Auditor 

28.5.1. Irrespective of auditor appointment by concessionaire, separate Independent Auditor will be 
appointed by the Authority to check the books of accounts of the concessionaire. The 
concessionaire has to allow and permit to check all the transactions details, fees received, 
expenses, costs, realizations, which the auditors are required to do, undertake or certify. All fees 
and expenses of the Independent Auditor shall be borne by the Concessionaire after the 
intimation of expenditure by the Authority. 
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28.5.2. Duties and functions 

28.5.2.1. The role of Independent Auditor is to ascertain, quantify, check, audit, monitor all the 
revenue streams of the Concessionaire based on Indian Accounting Standard. The Concessionaire 
has to facilitate the Independent Auditor to check and verify to free access to the book of 
accounts, inspection of the documents, physical verification etc. connected with revenue stream 
of the Concessionaire. 

28.5.2.2. The Independent Auditor shall discharge its duties and functions in accordance with the 
terms of reference set by the Authority. 

28.5.2.3. The Independent Auditor shall submit regular periodic reports (at least once every 
month) to the Authority in respect of its duties and functions. 

28.5.2.4. True copy of all communications sent by the Authority to the Independent Auditor and 
by the Independent Auditor to the Authority, shall be sent forthwith by the Independent Auditor 
to the Concessionaire. 

28.5.2.5. True copy of all communications sent by the Independent Auditor to the Concessionaire 
and by the Concessionaire to the Independent Auditor shall be sent forthwith by the Independent 
Auditor to the Authority. 

28.5.2.6. Independent Auditor shall periodically submit data on financial progress and other 
requisite details at such interval, as mentioned in the Term of Reference. 

28.5.3. Remuneration 

The remuneration, cost and expenses of the Independent Auditor shall be paid by the Authority.  

28.5.4. Termination of appointment 

28.5.4.1. The Authority may, in its discretion, terminate the appointment of the Independent 
Auditor at any time, but only after appointment of another Independent Auditor in accordance 
with Terms of Reference of appointment. 
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28.5.4.2. If the Concessionaire has reason to believe that the Independent Auditor is not 
discharging its duties and functions in a fair, efficient and diligent manner, it may make a written 
representation to the Authority and seek termination of the appointment of the Independent 
Auditor. Upon receipt of such representation, the Authority shall hold a tripartite meeting with 
the Concessionaire and Independent Auditor for an amicable resolution of the Dispute, and if any 
difference or disagreement between the Authority and the Concessionaire remains unresolved, 
the Dispute shall be settled in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. In the event 
that the appointment of the Independent Auditor is terminated hereunder, the Authority shall 
appoint forthwith another Independent Auditor. 

28.5.5. Authorised signatories 

The Authority shall require the Independent Auditor to designate and notify to the Authority 
and the Concessionaire up to 2 (two) persons employed in its firm to sign for and on behalf of 
the Independent Auditor, and any communication or document required to be signed by the 
Independent Auditor shall be valid and effective only if signed by any of the designated persons; 
provided that the Independent Auditor may, by notice in writing, substitute any of the 
designated persons by any of its employees. 

28.5.6. Dispute resolution 

If either Party disputes any advice, instruction, decision, direction or award of the Independent 
Auditor, or, as the case may be, the assertion or failure to assert jurisdiction, the Dispute shall 
be resolved in accordance with the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 

28.6. Dispute resolution 

28.6.1. In the event of there being any difference between the findings of the Additional Auditors and 
the certification provided by the Statutory Auditors, such Auditors shall meet to resolve the 
differences and if they are unable to resolve the same, such Disputes shall be resolved by the 
Authority by recourse to the Dispute Resolution Procedure. 
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29. Force Majeure 

29.1. Force Majeure 

29.1.1. As used in this Agreement, the expression "Force Majeure" or "Force Majeure Event" shall 
mean occurrence in India of any or all of Non-Political Event, Indirect Political Event and Political 
Event, as defined in Clauses 29.2, 29.3 and 29.4 respectively, if it affects the performance by the 
Party claiming the benefit of Force Majeure (the "Affected Party") of its obligations under this 
Agreement and which act or event  

i. is beyond the reasonable control of the Affected Party, and  
ii. the Affected Party could not have prevented or overcome by exercise of due diligence 

and following Good Industry Practice, and  
iii. has Material Adverse Effect on the Affected Party. 

29.2. Non Political Event 

29.2.1. Any of the following events which prevent the Affected Party from performing any of its 
obligations for a continuous period of not less than 7 (seven) Days from the date of its 
occurrence, shall constitute a Non-Political Event: 

a. act of God, epidemic, extremely adverse weather conditions, lightning, earthquake, 
landslide, cyclone, flood, volcanic eruption, chemical or radioactive contamination or 
ionizing radiation, fire or explosion (to the extent of contamination or radiation or fire or 
explosion originating from a source external to the Site); 

b. strikes or boycotts (other than those involving the Concessionaire, Contractors or their 
respective employees/representatives, or attributable to any act or omission of any of 
them) interrupting supplies and services to the Project for a continuous period of 7 (seven) 
days and an aggregate period exceeding 30 (thirty) days in an Accounting Year, and not 
being an Indirect Political Event set forth in Clause 29.3; 

c. any failure or delay of a Contractor but only to the extent caused by another Non- Political 
Event and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the 
Concessionaire by or on behalf of such Contractor; 

d. any delay or failure of an overseas contractor to deliver rolling stock or equipment in India if 
such delay or failure is caused outside India by any event specified in Sub- clause (a) above 
and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the 
Concessionaire by or on behalf of such overseas contractor, 

e. any judgment or order of any court of competent jurisdiction or statutory authority made 
against the Concessionaire in any proceedings for reasons other than (i) failure of the 
Concessionaire to comply with any Applicable Law or Applicable Permit, or (ii) on account of 
breach of any Applicable Law or Applicable Permit or of any contract, or (iii) enforcement of 
this Agreement, or (iv) exercise of any of its rights under this Agreement by the Authority; 
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f. the discovery of geological conditions, toxic contamination or archaeological remains on the 
Site that could not reasonably have been expected to be discovered through a site 
inspection; or 

g. any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing. 

29.3. Indirect Political Event 

29.3.1. An Indirect Political Event shall mean one or more of the following acts or events: 

a. an act of war (whether declared or undeclared), invasion, armed conflict or act of foreign 
enemy, blockade, embargo, riot, insurrection, terrorist or military action, civil commotion or 
politically motivated sabotage; 

b. industry-wide or State-wide strikes or industrial action for a continuous period of 7 (seven) 
days and exceeding an aggregate period of 30 (thirty) days in an Accounting Year; 

c. any civil commotion, boycott or political agitation which prevents collection of Fee by the 
Concessionaire for an aggregate period exceeding 30 (thirty) days in an Accounting Year; 

d. any failure or delay of a Contractor to the extent caused by any Indirect Political Event and 
which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the Concessionaire 
by or on behalf of such Contractor; 

e. any Indirect Political Event that causes a Non-Political Event; or 
f. any event or circumstances of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing. 

29.4. Political Event 

29.4.1. A Political Event shall mean one or more of the following acts or events by or on account of any 
Government Instrumentality: 

a. Change in Law, only if consequences thereof cannot be dealt with under and in accordance 
with the provisions of Article 36; and its effect, in financial terms, exceeds the sum specified 
in Clause 36.1; 

b. compulsory acquisition in national interest or expropriation of any Project Assets or rights of 
the Concessionaire or of the Contractors; or 

c. unlawful or unauthorised or without jurisdiction revocation of, or refusal to renew or grant 
without valid cause, any clearance, licence, permit, authorisation, no objection certificate, 
consent, approval or exemption required by the Concessionaire or any of the Contractors to 
perform their respective obligations under this Agreement and the Project Agreements; 
provided that such delay, modification, denial, refusal or revocation did not result from the 
Concessionaire’s or any Contractor’s inability or failure to comply with any condition relating 
to grant, maintenance or renewal of such clearance, licence, authorisation, no objection 
certificate, exemption, consent, approval or permit; 

d. any failure or delay of a Contractor but only to the extent caused by another Political Event 
and which does not result in any offsetting compensation being payable to the 
Concessionaire by or on behalf of such Contractor; or 

e. any event or circumstance of a nature analogous to any of the foregoing. 
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29.5. Duty to report Force Majeure Event 

29.5.1. Upon occurrence of a Force Majeure Event, the Affected Party shall by notice report such 
occurrence to the other Party forthwith. Any notice pursuant hereto shall include full particulars 
of: 

a. the nature and extent of each Force Majeure Event which is the subject of any claim for 
relief under this Article 29 with evidence in support thereof; 

b. the estimated duration and the effect or probable effect which such Force Majeure Event is 
having or will have on the Affected Party's performance of its obligations under this 
Agreement; 

c. the measures which the Affected Party is taking or proposes to take for alleviating the 
impact of such Force Majeure Event; and 

d. any other information relevant to the Affected Party's claim. 

29.5.2. The Affected Party shall not be entitled to any relief for or in respect of a Force Majeure Event 
unless it shall have notified the other Party of the occurrence of the Force Majeure Event as 
soon as reasonably practicable, and in any event not later than 7 (seven) days after the Affected 
Party knew, or ought reasonably to have known, of its occurrence, and shall have given 
particulars of the probable material effect that the Force Majeure Event is likely to have on the 
performance of its obligations under this Agreement. 

29.5.3. For so long as the Affected Party continues to claim to be materially affected by such Force 
Majeure Event, it shall provide the other Party with regular (and not less than weekly) reports 
containing information as required by Clause 29.5.1, and such other information as the other 
Party may reasonably request the Affected Party to provide. 

29.6. Effect of Force Majeure Event on the Concession 

29.6.1. Upon the occurrence of any Force Majeure Event prior to the Appointed Date, the period set 
forth in Clause 23.1.1 for achieving Financial Close shall be extended by a period equal in length 
to the duration of the Force Majeure Event. 

29.6.2. At any time after the Appointed Date, if any Force Majeure Event occurs: 

a. before COD, the Concession Period and the dates set forth in the Project Completion 
Schedule shall be extended by a period equal in length to the duration for which such Force 
Majeure Event subsists; or 

b. after COD, whereupon the Concessionaire is unable to collect Fee despite making best 
efforts or it is directed by the Authority to suspend the collection thereof during the 
subsistence of such Force Majeure Event, the Concession Period shall be extended by a 
period, equal in length to the period during which the Concessionaire was prevented from 
collection of Fee on account thereof. 
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29.7. Allocation of costs arising out of Force Majeure 

29.7.1. Upon occurrence of any Force Majeure Event, the Parties shall bear their respective costs and 
no Party shall be required to pay to the other Party any costs thereof. 

29.7.2. Upon occurrence of a Force Majeure Event after the Appointed Date, the costs incurred and 
attributable to such event and directly relating to the Project (the “Force Majeure Costs”) shall 
be allocated and paid as follows: 

a. upon occurrence of a Non-Political Event, the Parties shall bear their respective Force 
Majeure Costs and neither Party shall be required to pay to the other Party any costs 
thereof; 

b. upon occurrence of an Indirect Political Event, all Force Majeure Costs attributable to such 
Indirect Political Event, and not exceeding the Insurance Cover for such Indirect Political 
Event, shall be borne by the Concessionaire, and to the extent Force Majeure Costs exceed 
such Insurance Cover, one half of such excess amount shall be reimbursed by the Authority 
to the Concessionaire; and 

c. upon occurrence of a Political Event, all Force Majeure Costs attributable to such Political 
Event shall be reimbursed by the Authority to the Concessionaire. 

For the avoidance of doubt, Force Majeure Costs may include interest payments on debt, O&M 
Expenses, any increase in the cost of Construction Works on account of inflation and all other 
costs directly attributable to the Force Majeure Event, but shall not include loss of Fee revenues 
or debt repayment obligations, and for determining such costs, information contained in the 
Financial Package may be relied upon to the extent that such information is relevant. 

29.7.3. Save and except as expressly provided in this Article 29, neither Party shall be liable in any 
manner whatsoever to the other Party in respect of any loss, damage, cost, expense, claims, 
demands and proceedings relating to or arising out of occurrence or existence of any Force 
Majeure Event or exercise of any right pursuant hereto. 

29.8. Termination Notice for Force Majeure Event 

If a Force Majeure Event subsists for a period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days or more 
within a continuous period of 365 (three hundred and sixty five) days, either Party may in its 
discretion terminate this Agreement by issuing a Termination Notice to the other Party without 
being liable in any manner whatsoever, save as provided in this Article 29, and upon issue of 
such Termination Notice, this Agreement shall, notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained herein, stand terminated forthwith; provided that before issuing such Termination 
Notice, the Party intending to issue the Termination Notice shall inform the other Party of such 
intention and grant 15 (fifteen) days’ time to make a representation, and may after the expiry of 
such 15 (fifteen) days period, whether or not it is in receipt of such representation, in its sole 
discretion issue the Termination Notice. 
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29.9. Termination Payment for Force Majeure Event 

29.9.1. If the termination is due to a Non Political Event, compensation payable to the Concessionaire 
shall be the lower of the Book Value or the Debt Due LESS any amount due to the Concessioning 
Authority by the Concessionaire under this Agreement LESS all insurance claims received or 
admitted. 

29.9.2. If the termination is due to the Other Event compensation payable to the Concessionaire shall 
be the higher of the Book Value or the Debt Due LESS any amount due to the Concessioning 
Authority by the Concessionaire under this Agreement LESS all insurance claims received or 
admitted. Provided, the Book Value or the Debt Due, as the case may be shall not exceed the 
Total Project Cost. 

29.9.3. If termination is due to a Political Event, compensation payable to the Concessionaire shall be 
the same as that stipulated for termination due to a Concessioning Authority Event of Default 
under Article 30.2. 

Provided, no compensation shall be payable to the Concessionaire if the Concessionaire fails to 
maintain Insurance Cover as contemplated under Article 27 of this Agreement. 

29.10. Dispute resolution 

In the event that the Parties are unable to agree in good faith about the occurrence or existence 
of a Force Majeure Event, such Dispute shall be finally settled in accordance with the Dispute 
Resolution Procedure; provided that the burden of proof as to the occurrence or existence of 
such Force Majeure Event shall be upon the Party claiming relief and/or excuse on account of 
such Force Majeure Event. 

29.11. Excuse from performance of obligations 

If the Affected Party is rendered wholly or partially unable to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement because of a Force Majeure Event, it shall be excused from performance of such of 
its obligations to the extent it is unable to perform on account of such Force Majeure Event; 
provided that: 

a. the suspension of performance shall be of no greater scope and of no longer duration than 
is reasonably required by the Force Majeure Event; 

b. the Affected Party shall make all reasonable efforts to mitigate or limit damage to the other 
Party arising out of or as a result of the existence or occurrence of such Force Majeure Event 
and to cure the same with due diligence; and 
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c. when the Affected Party is able to resume performance of its  obligations under this 
Agreement, it shall give to the other Party notice to that effect and shall promptly resume 
performance of its obligations hereunder.  
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30. COMPENSTION FOR BREAH OF AGREEMENT 

30.1. Compensation for default by the Concessionaire 

In the event of the Concessionaire being in material breach or default of this Agreement, it shall 
pay to the Authority by way of compensation, all direct and/or incidental costs suffered or 
incurred by the Authority as a consequence of such material breach or default, within 30 (thirty) 
days of receipt of the demand supported by necessary particulars thereof; provided that no 
compensation shall be payable under this Clause 30.1 for any material breach or default in 
respect of which Damages are expressly specified and payable under this Agreement or for any 
consequential losses incurred by the Authority. 

30.2. Compensation for default by the Authority 

In the event of the Authority being in material breach or default of this Agreement at any time 
after the Appointed Date, it shall pay to the Concessionaire by way of compensation, all direct 
costs suffered or incurred by the Concessionaire as a consequence of such material breach or 
default within 30 (thirty) days of receipt of the demand supported by necessary particulars 
thereof; provided that no such compensation shall be payable for any material breach or default 
in respect of which Damages have been expressly specified in this Agreement. For the avoidance 
of doubt, compensation payable may include interest payments on debt, O&M Expenses, any 
increase in capital costs on account of inflation and all other costs directly attributable to such 
material breach or default but shall not include loss of Fee revenues, debt repayment 
obligations or other consequential losses, and for determining such compensation, information 
contained in the Financial Package and the Financial Model may be relied upon to the extent it is 
relevant. 

30.3. Extension of Concession Period 

Subject to the provisions of Clause 30.2, in the event that a material breach or default of this 
Agreement set forth in Clause 30.2 causes delay in achieving COD or leads to suspension of or 
reduction in collection of Fee, as the case may be, the Authority shall, in addition to payment of 
compensation under Clause 30.2, extend the Concession Period, such extension being equal in 
duration to the period by which COD was delayed or the collection of Fee remained suspended 
on account thereof, as the case may be; and in the event of reduction in collection of Fee where 
the daily collection is less than 90% (ninety per cent) of the Average Daily Fee, the Authority 
shall, in addition to payment of compensation under Clause 30.2, extend the Concession Period 
in proportion to the loss of Fee on a daily basis. For the avoidance of doubt, loss of 25% (twenty 
five per cent) in collection of Fee as compared to the Average Daily Fee for four days shall entitle 
the Concessionaire to extension of one day in the Concession Period. 
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31. Suspension of Concessionaire’s Rights 

31.1. Suspension upon Concessionaire Default 

Upon occurrence of a Concessionaire Default, the Authority shall be entitled, without prejudice 
to its other rights and remedies under this Agreement including its rights of Termination 
hereunder, to (i) suspend all rights of the Concessionaire under this Agreement including the 
Concessionaire's right to collect Fee, and other revenues pursuant hereto, and (ii) exercise such 
rights itself or authorize any other person to exercise the same on its behalf during such 
suspension (the "Suspension"). Suspension hereunder shall be effective forthwith upon issue of 
notice by the Authority to the Concessionaire and may extend up to a period not exceeding 180 
(one hundred and eighty) days from the date of issue of such notice; provided that upon written 
request from the Concessionaire and the Lenders' Representative, the Authority shall extend the 
aforesaid period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days by a further period not exceeding 90 
(ninety) days. 

31.2. Authority to act on behalf of Concessionaire 

31.2.1. During the period of Suspension, the Authority shall, on behalf of the Concessionaire, collect all 
Fee and revenues under and in accordance with this Agreement and deposit the same in the 
Project Account. The Authority shall be entitled to make withdrawals from the Project Account 
for meeting the costs incurred by it for remedying and rectifying the cause of Suspension, and 
thereafter for defraying the expenses. 

31.2.2. During the period of Suspension hereunder, all assets and liabilities in relation to the Project 
shall continue to vest in the Concessionaire and all things done or actions taken, including 
expenditure incurred by the Authority for discharging the obligations of the Concessionaire 
under and in accordance with this Agreement and the Project Agreements, shall be deemed to 
have been done or taken for and on behalf of the Concessionaire and the Concessionaire 
undertakes to indemnify the Authority for all costs incurred during such period. The 
Concessionaire hereby licences and sub-licences respectively, the Authority or any other person 
authorised by it under Clause 31.1 to use during Suspension, all Intellectual Property belonging 
to or licenced to the Concessionaire with respect to the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and its design, 
engineering, construction, operation and maintenance, and which is used or created by the 
Concessionaire in performing its obligations under the Agreement. 
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31.3. Revocation of Suspension 

31.3.1. In the event that the Authority shall have rectified or removed the cause of Suspension within a 
period not exceeding 90 (ninety) days from the date of Suspension, it shall revoke the 
Suspension forthwith and restore all rights of the Concessionaire under this Agreement.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Parties expressly agree that the Authority may, in its discretion, revoke 
the Suspension at any time, whether or not the cause of Suspension has been rectified or 
removed hereunder. 

31.3.2. Upon the Concessionaire having cured the Concessionaire Default within a period not exceeding 
90 (ninety) days from the date of Suspension, the Authority shall revoke the Suspension 
forthwith and restore all rights of the Concessionaire under this Agreement. 

31.4. Substitution of Concessionaire 

At any time during the period of Suspension, the Lenders' Representative, on behalf of Lenders, 
shall be entitled to substitute the Concessionaire under and in accordance with the Substitution 
Agreement, and upon receipt of notice thereunder from the Lenders' Representative, the 
Authority shall withhold Termination for a period not exceeding 180 (one hundred and eighty) 
days from the date of Suspension, and any extension thereof under Clause 31.1, for enabling  
the  Lenders' Representative to exercise its rights of substitution on behalf of Lenders. 

31.5. Termination 

31.5.1. At any time during the period of Suspension under this Article 31, the Concessionaire may by 
notice require the Authority to revoke the Suspension and issue a Termination Notice. Subject 
to the rights of the Lenders' Representative to undertake substitution in accordance with the 
provisions of this Agreement and within the period specified in Clause 31.4, the Authority shall 
within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt of such notice, terminate this Agreement under and in 
accordance with Article 32. 

31.5.2. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, in the event that 
Suspension is not revoked within 180 (one hundred and eighty) days from the date of 
Suspension hereunder or within the extended period, if any, set forth in Clause 31.1, the 
Concession Agreement shall, upon expiry of the aforesaid period, be deemed to have been 
terminated by mutual agreement of the Parties and all the provisions of this Agreement shall 
apply, mutatis mutandis, to such Termination as if a Termination Notice had been issued by the 
Authority upon occurrence of a Concessionaire Default. 
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32. Termination 

32.1. Termination for Concessionaire Default  

32.1.1. Save as otherwise provided in this Agreement, in the event that any of the defaults specified 
below shall have occurred, and the Concessionaire fails to cure the default within the Cure 
Period set forth below, or where no Cure Period is specified, then within a Cure Period of 60 
(Sixty) days, the Concessionaire shall be deemed to be in default of this Agreement (a 
"Concessionaire Default"), unless the default has occurred solely as a result of any breach of this 
Agreement by the Authority or due to Force Majeure. The defaults referred to herein shall 
include: 

a. the Performance Security has been encashed and appropriated in accordance with Clause 
9.1. and the Concessionaire fails to replenish or provide fresh Performance Security within a 
Cure Period of 30 (thirty) days; 

b. subsequent to the replenishment or furnishing of fresh Performance Security in accordance 
with this clause 9.1,  the Concessionaire fails to cure, within a Cure Period of 30 (thirty) days, 
the Concessionaire Default for which whole or part of the Performance Security as the case 
may be was appropriated; 

c. the Concessionaire does not achieve the latest outstanding Project Milestone due in 
accordance with the provisions of Schedule G and continues to be in default for 60 (sixty) 
days; 

d. the Concessionaire abandons or manifests intention to abandon the construction or 
operation of the Project Facilities without the prior written consent of the Authority; 

e. Project Completion Date does not occur within the period; 
f. the Punch List items have not been completed within the period set forth in Clause 14.4.1; 
g. the Concessionaire is in breach of the Maintenance Requirements or the Safety 

Requirements, as the case may be; 
h. the Concessionaire has failed to make any payment such as Concession Fee to the Authority 

within the period specified in this Agreement; 
i. occurrence of a Financial Default, the Lenders' Representative has by notice required the 

Authority to undertake Suspension or Termination, as the case may be, in accordance with 
the Substitution Agreement and the Concessionaire fails to cure the default within the Cure 
Period specified hereinabove; 

j. a breach of any of the Project Agreements by the Concessionaire has caused a Material 
Adverse Effect; 

k. the Concessionaire creates any Encumbrance in breach of this Agreement; 
l. the Concessionaire repudiates this Agreement or otherwise takes any action or evidences or 

conveys an intention not to be bound by the Agreement; 
m. Change in Ownership has occurred in breach of the provisions of Clause 5.3; 
n. there is a transfer, pursuant to law either of (i) the rights and/or obligations of the 

Concessionaire under any of the Project Agreements, or of (ii) all or part of the assets or 
undertaking of the Concessionaire, and such transfer causes Material Adverse Effect; 
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o. an execution levied on any of the assets of the Concessionaire has caused a Material 
Adverse Effect; 

p. the Concessionaire is adjudged bankrupt or insolvent, or if a trustee or receiver is appointed 
for the Concessionaire or for the whole or material part of its assets that has a material 
bearing on the Project; 

q. the Concessionaire has been, or is in the process of being liquidated, dissolved, wound- up, 
amalgamated or reconstituted in a manner that would cause, in the reasonable opinion of 
the Authority, a Material Adverse Effect; 

r. resolution for winding up of the Concessionaire is passed, or any petition for winding up on 
the Concessionaire is admitted by a court of competent jurisdiction and a provisional 
liquidator or receiver is appointed and such order has not been set aside within 90 (ninety) 
days of the date thereof or the Concessionaire is ordered to be wound up by Court except 
for the purpose of amalgamation or reconstruction, provided that, as part of such 
amalgamation or reconstruction, the entire property, assets and undertaking of the 
Concessionaire are transferred to the amalgamated or reconstructed entity and that the 
amalgamated or reconstructed entity has unconditionally assumed the obligations of the 
Concessionaire under this Agreement and the Project Agreements, provided further that: 

i. the amalgamated or reconstructed entity has the capability and operating 
experience necessary for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement 
and the Project Agreements; 

ii. the amalgamated or reconstructed entity has the financial standing to perform its 
obligations under this Agreement and the Project Agreements and has a credit 
worthiness at least as good as that of the Concessionaire as at the Appointed Date, 
and  

iii. each of the Project Agreements remains in full force and effect; 
s. any representation or warranty of the Concessionaire / Selected Bidder herein contained 

which is, a s of the date hereof, found to be materially false, incorrect or misleading or the 
Concessionaire is at any time hereafter found to be in breach thereof; 

t.  the Concessionaire/ Selected Bidder submits to the Authority any statement which has a 
material effect on the Authority's rights, obligations or interests and which is false in 
material particulars; 

u.  the Concessionaire has failed to fulfill any obligation, for which failure Termination has 
been specified in this Agreement; or 

v.  the Concessionaire commits a default in complying with any other provision of this 
Agreement if such a default causes a Material Adverse Effect on the Authority. 
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32.1.2. Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies which the Authority may have under this 
Agreement, upon occurrence of a Concessionaire Default, the Authority shall be entitled to 
terminate this Agreement by issuing a Termination Notice to the Concessionaire; provided that 
before issuing the Termination Notice, the Authority shall by a notice inform the Concessionaire 
of its intention to issue such Termination Notice and grant 15 (fifteen) days to the 
Concessionaire to make a representation, issue the Termination Notice, subject to the 
provisions of clause 32.1.3. 

 

32.1.3. The Authority shall, if there be Lenders, send a copy of its notice of intention to issue a 
Termination Notice referred to in Clause 32.1.2 to inform the Lenders' Representative and grant 
15 (fifteen) days to the Lenders' Representative, for making a representation on behalf of the 
Lenders stating the intention to substitute the Concessionaire in accordance with the 
Substitution Agreement. In the event the Authority receives such representation on behalf of 
Lenders, it shall, in its discretion, either withhold Termination for a period not exceeding 180 
(one hundred and eighty) days from the date of such representation or exercise its right of 
Suspension, as the case may be, for enabling the Lenders' Representative to exercise the 
Lenders' right of substitution in accordance with the Substitution Agreement: 

Provided that the Lenders' Representative may, instead of exercising the Lenders' right of 
substitution, procure that the default specified in the notice is cured within the aforesaid period 
of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days, and upon such curing thereof, the Authority shall 
withdraw its notice referred to above and restore all the rights of the Concessionaire: 

Provided further that upon written request from the Lenders' Representative and the 
Concessionaire, the Authority shall extend the aforesaid period of 180 (one hundred and 
eighty) days by such further period not exceeding 90 (ninety) days, as the Authority may 
deem appropriate. 

32.2. Termination for Authority Default 

32.2.1. In the event that any of the defaults specified below shall have occurred, and the Authority fails 
to cure such default within a Cure Period of 120 (one hundred twenty) days or such longer 
period as has been expressly provided in this Agreement, the Authority shall be deemed to be in 
default of this Agreement (the "Authority Default") unless the default has occurred as a result 
of any breach of this Agreement by the Concessionaire or due to Force Majeure. The defaults 
referred to herein shall include: 

a. The Authority commits a material default in complying with any of the provisions of this 
Agreement and such default has a Material Adverse Effect on the Concessionaire; 
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b. the Authority has failed to make any payment to the Concessionaire within the period 
specified in this Agreement; 

c. The Authority repudiates this Agreement or otherwise takes any action that amounts to or 
manifests an irrevocable intention not to be bound by this Agreement; or the Authority 
repudiates this Agreement. 

d. the State commits a material default in complying with the provisions of the State Support 
Agreement if such default has a Material Adverse Effect on the Concessionaire and the 
breach continues for a period of 90 (ninety) days from the date of notice given in this behalf 
by the Concessionaire to the Authority. 

e. Agreement by the Concessionaire or due to Force Majeure. The defaults referred to herein 
shall include: 

f. The Authority commits a material default in complying with any of the provisions of this 
Agreement and such default has a Material Adverse Effect on the Concessionaire; 

32.2.2. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy which the Concessionaire may have under this 
Agreement, upon occurrence of an Authority Default, the Concessionaire shall, subject to the 
provisions of the Substitution Agreement, be entitled to terminate this Agreement by issuing a 
Termination Notice to the Authority; provided that before issuing the Termination Notice, the 
Concessionaire shall by a notice inform the Authority of its intention to issue the Termination 
Notice and grant 15 (fifteen) days to the Authority to make a representation, and may after the 
expiry of such 15 (fifteen) days, whether or not it is in receipt of such representation, issue the 
Termination Notice. 

32.2.3. On operational ground or any other Administrative Exigencies: Licensor reserve the rights to 
terminate Concession Agreement by giving 30 (Thirty) days advance notice in such exigency. 

32.3. Termination Payment 

32.3.1. No Termination Payment shall be made by the Authority on account of termination of the 
Agreement on a Concessionaire Default. Further, in such case, the Authority shall be entitled to 
forfeit and appropriate the Performance Security, as the case may be, without any prejudice to 
its other rights and remedies available under law or otherwise. 

32.3.2. Upon Termination on account of an Authority Default or Terminated by Authority, the Authority 
shall pay to the Concessionaire, by way of Termination Payment, an amount equal to: 

a. Debt Due; and 
b. 150% (one hundred and fifty per cent) of the Adjusted Equity. 
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32.3.3. Termination Payment shall become due and payable to the Concessionaire within 15 (fifteen) 
days of a demand being made by the Concessionaire to the Authority with the necessary 
particulars, and in the event of any delay, the Authority shall pay interest at a rate equal to 3% 
(three per cent) above the Bank Rate on the amount of Termination Payment remaining unpaid; 
provided that such delay shall not exceed 90 (ninety) days. For the avoidance of doubt, it is 
expressly agreed that Termination Payment shall constitute full discharge by the Authority of its 
payment obligations in respect thereof hereunder. 

32.3.4. The Concessionaire expressly agrees that Termination Payment under this Article 32 shall 
constitute a full and final settlement of all claims of the Concessionaire on account of 
Termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever and that the Concessionaire or any 
shareholder thereof shall not have any further right or claim under any law, treaty, convention, 
contract or otherwise. 

 

32.4. Other rights and obligations of the Authority 

Upon Termination for any reason whatsoever, the Authority shall: 

a. be deemed to have taken unencumbered possession and control of the Project, Site and 
Project Assets and Project Facilities forthwith free of any encroachments or Encumbrances; 

b. take possession and control of all the terminal stations, building, structures, towers 
including land given to the Concessionaire; 

c. take possession and control of all materials, stores, implements, tangible and intangible 
assets including movable and immovable properties and tools, furniture, consumer durables 
on or about the Site; 

d. be entitled to restrain the Concessionaire and any person claiming through or under the 
Concessionaire from entering upon the Site or any part of the Project; 

e. require the Concessionaire to comply with the Divestment Requirements set forth in Clause 
33.1;  

f. succeed upon election by the Authority, without the necessity of any further action by the 
Concessionaire, to the interests of the Concessionaire under such of the Project Agreements 
as the Authority may in its discretion deem appropriate, and shall upon such election be 
liable to the Contractors only for compensation accruing and becoming due and payable to 
them under the terms of their respective Project Agreements from and after the date the 
Authority elects to succeed to the interests of the Concessionaire. For the avoidance of 
doubt, it is hereby agreed, and the Concessionaire hereby acknowledges, that all sums 
claimed by such Contractors as being due and owing for works and services performed or 
accruing on account of any act, omission or event prior to such date shall constitute debt 
between the Concessionaire and such Contractors, and the Authority shall not in any 
manner be liable for such sums. It is further agreed that in the event the Authority elects to 
cure any outstanding defaults under such Project Agreements, the amount expended by the 
Authority for this purpose shall be deducted from the Termination Payment; and 
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g. transfer of all of Concessionaire’s rights, titles and interest in or over the Project including 
tangible assets and intangible assets comprised in the Project [including Site and Project 
Asset] to Authority through execution of appropriate deeds and documents as may be 
necessary for the said purpose and complete all legal or other formalities required in this 
regard at its cost. In this regard, the Parties hereby agree and confirm that notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, such transfer of the Concessionaire’s 
rights, titles and interest in or over the Project, Project Assets and Site to the Authority 
through appropriate conveyance documents shall be against a consideration equivalent to 
Re. 1 (Rupee one) to be paid by the Authority to the Concessionaire. 

32.5. Certain limitations on Termination Payment 

32.5.1. Termination Payment, not being Additional Termination Payment, due and payable under this 
Agreement shall be limited to the Debt Due and Adjusted Equity, as the case may be, which 
form part of the Total Project Cost in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; 
provided that the amount payable in respect of any Debt Due expressed in foreign currency shall 
be computed at the Reference Exchange Rate for conversion into the relevant foreign currency 
as on the date of Termination Payment. For the avoidance of doubt, it is agreed that within a 
period of 60 (sixty) days from COD, the Concessionaire shall notify to the Authority, the Total 
Project Cost as on COD and its disaggregation between Debt Due and Equity, and only the 
amounts so conveyed shall form the basis of computing Termination Payment, and it is further 
agreed that in the event such disaggregation is not notified to the Authority, Equity shall be 
deemed to be the amount arrived at by subtracting Debt Due from Total Project Cost. 

32.5.2. Additional Termination Payment due and payable in respect of Real Estate Development 
forming part of Specified Assets shall be limited to the lowest of: 

a. Adjusted Depreciated Value thereof; 
b. the replacement value thereof, as assessed by an Approved Valuer, who shall be selected 

and appointed by the Authority, within 15 (fifteen) days of Termination, for submitting his 
assessment within 30 (thirty) days of his appointment hereunder; and 

c. [40% (forty per cent)] of the sum of Total Project Cost and Equity Support, if any. 

32.6. No Compensation on Expiry of Concession Period 

In the event of expiry of Concession by efflux of time (the Concession having run its full course), 
the Concessionaire shall hand over/ transfer peaceful possession of the Project Site, Project 
Assets and the Project Facilities and Services free of cost and Encumbrance. While Transfer of 
asset pertaining to Real Estate/ commercial activities shall be compensated as per the provision 
of Indian Accounting Standard and the valuation shall be carried out as per the deprecated value 
of replacement cost. Valuation to be carried out by the IndAS113 utilizing the cost approach 
basis of Provisions of Indian Accounting Standard. 
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32.7. Survival of rights 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, any Termination 
pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement shall be without prejudice to the accrued rights of 
either Party including its right to claim and recover money damages, insurance proceeds, 
security deposits, and other rights and remedies, which it may have in law or contract. All rights 
and obligations of either Party under this Agreement, including Termination Payments and 
Divestment Requirements, shall survive the Termination to the extent such survival is necessary 
for giving effect to such rights and obligations. 
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33. DIVESTMENT OF RIGHTS AND INTEREST  

33.1. Divestment requirement  

33.1.1. Upon Termination, the Concessionaire shall comply with and conform to the following 
Divestment Requirements: 

a. notify to the Authority forthwith the location and particulars of all Project Assets; 
b. deliver forthwith the actual or constructive possession of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, free 

and clear of all Encumbrances, save and except to the extent set forth in the Substitution 
Agreement; 

c. cure all Project Assets, of all defects and deficiencies so that the Project and Project 
Facilities are compliant with the Maintenance Requirements; provided that in the event of 
Termination during the Construction Period, all Project Assets shall be handed over on 'as is 
where is' basis after bringing them to a safe condition; 

d. deliver and transfer relevant records, reports, Intellectual Property and other licences 
pertaining to the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and its design, engineering, construction, 
operation and maintenance, including all programmes and manuals pertaining thereto, and 
complete ‘as built’ Drawings as on the Transfer Date. For the avoidance of doubt, the 
Concessionaire represents and warrants that the Intellectual Property delivered hereunder 
shall be adequate and complete for the design, engineering, construction, operation and 
maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and shall be assigned to the Authority free of 
any encumbrance; 

e. transfer and/or deliver all Applicable Permits to the extent permissible under Applicable 
Laws; 

f. execute such deeds of conveyance, documents and other writings as the Authority may 
reasonably require for conveying, divesting and assigning all the rights, title and interest of 
the Concessionaire in the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, including manufacturers’ warranties in 
respect of any plant or equipment and the right to receive outstanding insurance claims to 
the extent due and payable to the Authority, absolutely unto the Authority or its nominee; 
and 

g. comply with all other requirements as may be prescribed or required under Applicable Laws 
for completing the divestment and assignment of all rights, title and interest of the 
Concessionaire in the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, free from all Encumbrances, absolutely unto 
the Authority or to its nominee. 

33.1.2. Subject to the exercise by the Authority of its rights under this Agreement or under any of the 
Project Agreements to perform or procure the performance by a third party of any of the 
obligations of the Concessionaire, the Parties shall continue to perform their obligations under 
this Agreement, notwithstanding the giving of any Termination Notice, until the Termination of 
this Agreement becomes effective in accordance with its terms. 
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33.2. Inspection and cure 

33.2.1. Not earlier than 90 (ninety) days prior to Termination but not later than 15 (fifteen) days prior to 
the effective date of such Termination, the Independent Engineer shall verify, after giving due 
notice to the Concessionaire of the time, date and venue of such verification, compliance by the 
Concessionaire with the Maintenance Requirements, and if required, cause appropriate tests to 
be carried out at the Concessionaire’s cost for this purpose. Defaults, if any, in the Maintenance 
Requirements shall be cured by the Concessionaire at its cost and the provisions of Article 34 
shall apply, mutatis mutandis, in relation to curing of defects or deficiencies under this Article 
33. 

33.3. Cooperation and assistance on transfer of Project 

33.3.1. The Parties shall cooperate on a best effort basis and take all necessary measures, in good faith, 
to achieve a smooth transfer of the Project in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement 
so as to protect the safety of and avoid undue delay or inconvenience to the Users, other 
members of the public or the lawful occupiers of any part of the Site. 

33.3.2. The Parties shall provide to each other, 9 (nine) months prior to the Transfer Date in the event 
Termination by efflux of time and immediately in the event of either Party conveying to the 
other Party its intent to issue a Termination Notice, as the case may be, as much information 
and advice as is reasonably practicable regarding the proposed arrangements for operation of 
the Project following the Transfer Date. The Concessionaire shall further provide such 
reasonable advice and assistance as the Authority or its nominee may reasonably require for 
operation of the Project until the expiry of 6 (six) months after the Transfer Date. 

33.3.3. The Authority shall have the option to purchase or hire from the Concessionaire at a fair market 
value and free from any encumbrance all or any part of the plant and machinery used in 
connection with the Project but which does not form part of the assets specified in Clause 33.1.1 
and is reasonably required in connection with operation of the Project. For the avoidance of 
doubt, in the event of dispute or difference relating to fair market value, the Dispute Resolution 
Procedure shall apply. 

33.4. Vesting Certificate 

The divestment of all rights, title and interest in the Project shall be deemed to be complete on 
the date when all of the Divestment Requirements have been fulfilled, and the Authority shall, 
without unreasonable delay, thereupon issue a certificate substantially in the form set forth in 
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Schedule N (the "Vesting Certificate"), which will have the effect of constituting evidence of 
divestment by the Concessionaire of all of its rights, title and interest in the Project, and their 
vesting in the Authority pursuant hereto. It is expressly agreed that any defect or deficiency in 
the Divestment Requirements shall not in any manner be construed or interpreted as restricting 
the exercise of any rights by the Authority or its nominee on, or in respect of, the Project on the 
footing that all Divestment Requirements have been complied with by the Concessionaire. 

33.5. Additional Facilities 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, all Additional Facilities 
shall continue to vest in the Concessionaire upon and after Termination. 

33.6. Divestment Cost etc. 

33.6.1. The Concessionaire shall bear and pay all costs incidental to divestment of all of the rights, title 
and interest of the Concessionaire in the Project in favour of the Authority upon termination, 
save and except that all stamp duties payable on any deeds or Documents executed by the 
Concessionaire in connection with such divestment shall be borne by the Authority: 

33.6.2. In the event of any dispute relating to matters covered by and under this Article 33, the Dispute 
Resolution Procedure shall apply. 
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34. DEFECTS LIABILITY AFTER TERMINATION 

34.1. Liability for defects after Termination 

The Concessionaire shall be responsible for all defects and deficiencies in the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway for a period of 120 (One hundred and twenty) days after Termination, and it shall have 
the obligation to repair or rectify, at its own cost, all defects and deficiencies observed by the 
Independent Engineer in the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway during the aforesaid period. In the event 
that the Concessionaire fails to repair or rectify such defect or deficiency within a period of 15 
(fifteen) days from the date of notice issued by the Authority in this behalf, the Authority shall 
be entitled to get the same repaired or rectified at the Concessionaire’s risk and cost so as to 
make the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway conform to the Maintenance Requirements. All costs 
incurred by the Authority hereunder shall be reimbursed by the Concessionaire to the Authority 
within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt of demand thereof, and in the event of default in reimbursing 
such costs, the Authority shall be entitled to recover the same from the Performance Security. 
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35. ASSIGNMENT AND CHARGES 

35.1. Restrictions on assignment and charges  

35.1.1. Subject to Clauses 35.2 and 35.3, this Agreement shall not be assigned by the Concessionaire to 
any person, save and except with the prior consent in writing of the Authority, which consent 
the Authority shall be entitled to decline without assigning any reason. 

35.1.2. Subject to the provisions of Clause 35.2, the Concessionaire shall not create nor permit to 
subsist any Encumbrance, or otherwise transfer or dispose of all or any of its rights and benefits 
under this Agreement or any Project Agreement to which the Concessionaire is a party except 
with prior consent in writing of the Authority, which consent the Authority shall be entitled to 
decline without assigning any reason. 

35.2. Permitted assignment and charges 

The restraints set forth in Clause 35.1 shall not apply to: 

a. liens arising by operation of law (or by an agreement evidencing the same) in the 
ordinary course of business of the Project Facilities; 

b. mortgages/pledges/hypothecation of goods/assets/receivables accruing from the 
Project other than Project Assets, and their related documents of title, arising or created 
in the ordinary course of business of the Project, and as security only for indebtedness 
to the Lenders under the Financing Agreements and/or for working capital 
arrangements for the Project; 

c. assignment of rights, interest and obligations of the Concessionaire to or in favour of the 
Lender’s Representative as nominee and for the benefit of the Lenders, to the extent 
covered by and in accordance with the Substitution Agreement as security for financing 
provided by Lenders under the Financing Agreements; and  

d. liens or encumbrances required by any Applicable Law. 

35.3. Substitution Agreement 

35.3.1. The Lenders' Representative, on behalf of Lenders, may exercise the right to substitute the 
Concessionaire in accordance with the agreement for substitution of the Concessionaire (the 
"Substitution Agreement") to be entered into amongst the Concessionaire, the Authority and 
the Lenders' Representative, on behalf of Lenders, substantially in the form set forth in Schedule 
O. 
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35.3.2. Upon substitution of the Concessionaire under and in accordance with the Substitution 
Agreement, the Nominated Company substituting the Concessionaire shall be deemed to be the 
Concessionaire under this Agreement and shall enjoy all rights and be responsible for all 
obligations of the Concessionaire under this Agreement as if it were the Concessionaire; 
provided that where the Concessionaire is in breach of this Agreement on the date of such 
substitution, the Authority shall by notice grant a Cure Period of 120 (one hundred and twenty) 
days to the Concessionaire for curing such breach. 

35.4. Assignment by the Authority 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Authority may, after 
giving 60 (sixty) days’ notice to the Concessionaire, assign any of its rights and benefits and/or 
obligations under this Agreement; to an assignee who is, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Authority, capable of fulfilling all of the Authority's then outstanding obligations under this 
Agreement. 
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36. Change in Law 

36.1. Change in Law 

“Change in Law” means any of the following events which has a Material Adverse Effect: 

A. adoption, promulgation, modification, reinterpretation or repeal after the date of this 
Agreement by any Government Authority of any statute, rule, ordinance, regulation or order, 
treaty, convention, directive, guideline, policy having force of law; or 

B. the imposition by any Government Authority of any material condition (other than a condition 
which has been imposed as a consequence of a violation by the Concessionaire of any 
Applicable Permit) in connection with the issuance, renewal or modification of any Applicable 
Permits after the date of this Agreement which renders the performance by the Concessionaire 
of any of the terms of this Agreement impossible or unviable; or 

C. Any Applicable Permit previously granted, ceasing to remain in full force and effect for reasons 
other than breach/violation by or the negligence of the Concessionaire or if granted for a limited 
period, being renewed on terms different from those previously stipulated. 

D. Any imposition of new Taxes except a new Direct Tax (both State and Central), duties, cess and 
the like and/or the increase in Taxes except in Direct Taxes (both State and Central), duties, cess 
and the like effected from time to time by any Government Authority, and/or imposition of 
standards and conditions of operations, maintenance and safety arising out of a new or revised 
Environmental Law; and/or imposition of standards and terms of employment and working 
conditions of Labourers and Workmen; and/or any rules or regulations stipulated by other 
regulatory authority having jurisdiction over the Project in respect of standards of service. A 
change in the interpretation or application of any Indian Law by the judgement of a court of 
record which has become final and binding in place of such interpretation or application of law 
by a count of record prior to the bid due date 

36.2. The Concessionaire’s Remedy 

A. In the event of Change in Law the Concessionaire may propose to the Concessioning Authority 
modifications to the relevant terms of this Agreement which are reasonable and intended to 
mitigate the effect of the Change in Law. Thereupon, the Parties shall, in good faith, negotiate 
and agree upon suitable changes in the terms of this Agreement including extension of the 
Concession Period, so as to place the Concessionaire in substantially the same legal and financial 
position as it were prior to such Change in Law. i.e Protecting Project IRR as per Financing Plan. 
Provided however, that if the resultant Material Adverse Effect is such that this Agreement is 
frustrated or is rendered illegal or impossible of performance, the Change in Law shall be 
deemed to be a Political Event, whereupon the provisions with respect thereto shall apply. 

B. In the alternative to the aforesaid, subject to the Concessionaire taking necessary measures to 
mitigate the impact or the likely impact of Change in Law on the Project, if as a direct 
consequence of a Change in Law, the Concessionaire is obliged to incur Additional Cost in any 
accounting year, any such Additional Cost above a sum of Rs. [●]1 crore may at the option of the 

                                                           
1 This should be at least 5 to 7% of the estimated project cost 
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Concessioning Authority be borne by the Concessioning Authority. It is clarified that Additional 
Cost upto Rs. [●]1 (Rupees [●]1 only) in any accounting year shall be borne by the 
Concessionaire; 

C. Upon occurrence of a Change in Law, the Concessionaire shall notify the Concessioning 
Authority, of the following: 

i. the particulars, nature and the impact of Change in Law on the Project; 
ii. ii. in sufficient detail, the estimate of the Additional Cost likely to be incurred by the 

Concessionaire on account of the Change in Law; and 
iii. the measures, which the Concessionaire has taken or proposes to take to mitigate the 

impact of Change in Law, including in particular, minimising the Additional Cost. 
D. Upon receipt of the notice of Change in Law issued by the Concessionaire pursuant to the 

preceding sub-article(C), the Concessioning Authority and the Concessionaire shall hold 
discussions and take all such steps as may be necessary including determination/certification by 
an Expert, appointed by the Parties by mutual consent, of the Additional Cost and to determine 
the quantum of the Additional Cost to be incurred. 

E. If it is determined that the only material impact of a Change in Law is Additional Cost and the 
Concessioning Authority opts to compensate the same in accordance with the preceding sub-
article (B), the Concessionaire shall not be entitled to any other remedy nor shall seek any 
alterations to the Agreement and the Concessioning Authority shall, within 30 (thirty) Days from 
the date of determination of quantum of Additional Cost to be borne by the Concessioning 
Authority in accordance with sub-article (B) above, compensate the Concessionaire in either of 
the following ways: 

i. by lump-sum reimbursement of such Additional Cost to the Concessionaire; 
ii. reimbursement of the such Additional Cost to the Concessionaire, in not exceeding four 

half yearly installments, subject to payment of interest at 10 Year GSEC + 6% - (Six 
percent) on the amount the payment of which is deferred. 

Notwithstanding the aforesaid, if in terms of Good Industry Practice, the event constituting a 
Change in Law could be insured, the Concessionaire shall not be entitled to any remedy under 
this Article;  

If as a result of Change in Law, the Concessionaire incurs a reduction in costs or other financial 
gain or benefit in connection with its development or operation of the Project, the aggregate 
financial effect of which exceeds Rs. [●]1 (Rupees [●]1 only) in any Financial Year, the 
Concessionaire shall notify the Concessioning Authority and pay to the Concessioning Authority 
an amount that would put the Concessionaire in the same financial position it would have 
occupied had there been no such Change in Law resulting in such cost reduction, increase in 
return or other financial gain or benefit as aforesaid. Without prejudice to the aforesaid, the 
Concessioning Authority may, by notice in writing require the Concessionaire to pay an amount 
that would put the Concessionaire in the same financial position it would have occupied had 
there been no such Change in Law resulting in such cost reduction, increase in return or other 
gain or benefit. 

The Concessionaire shall make payment of such compensation within sixty (60) Days of the said 
financial benefit. If the Concessionaire shall dispute the quantum of such compensation claim of 
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the Concessioning Authority, the same shall be finally settledin accordance with the dispute 
resolution mechanism. 
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37. Liability and Indemnity  

37.1. General indemnity  

37.1.1. The Concessionaire will indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the Authority and its officers, 
servants, agents, Government Instrumentalities and Government owned and/or controlled 
entities/enterprises, ("the Authority Indemnified Persons") against any and all suits, 
proceedings, actions, demands and third party claims for any loss, damage, cost and expense of 
whatever kind and nature arising out of any breach by the Concessionaire of any of its 
obligations under this Agreement or any related agreement or on account of any defect or 
deficiency in the provision of services by the Concessionaire to any User, except to the extent 
that any such suits, proceedings, actions, demands and claims have arisen solely due to any 
negligent act or omission, or breach of this Agreement on the part of the Authority Indemnified 
Persons. 

37.1.2. The Authority will indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the Concessionaire against any 
and all suits, proceedings, actions, demands and third party claims for any loss, damage, cost 
and expense of whatever kind and nature arising out of (i) defect in title and /or the right of the 
Authority in the land comprised in the site, and/or (ii) breach by the Authority of any of its 
obligations under this Agreement or any related agreement, which materially and adversely 
affect the performance by the Concessionaire of its obligations under this Agreement, save and 
except that where any such claim, suit, proceeding, action, and/or demand has arisen due to a 
negligent act or omission, or breach of any of its obligations under any provision of this 
Agreement or any related agreement and/or breach of its statutory duty on the part of the 
Concessionaire, its subsidiaries, affiliates, contractors, servants or agents, the same shall be the 
liability of the Concessionaire. 

37.2. Indemnity by the Concessionaire 

37.2.1. Without limiting the generality of Clause 37.1, the Concessionaire shall fully indemnify, hold 
harmless and defend the Authority and the Authority Indemnified Persons from and against any 
all loss and/or damages arising out of or with respect to: 

a. failure of the Concessionaire to comply with Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits: 
b. payment of taxes required to be made by the Concessionaire in respect of the income or 

other taxes of the Concessionaire's contractors, suppliers and representatives; or 
c. non-payment of amounts due as a result of materials or services furnished to the 

Concessionaire or any of its contractors which are payable by the Concessionaire or any 
of its contractors. 
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37.2.2. Without limiting the generality of the provisions of this Article 37, the Concessionaire shall fully 
indemnify, hold harmless and defend the Authority Indemnified Persons from and against any 
and all suits, proceedings, actions, claims, demands, liabilities and damages which the Authority 
Indemnified Persons may hereafter suffer, or pay by reason of any demands, claims, suits or 
proceedings arising out of claims of infringement of any domestic or foreign patent rights, 
copyrights or other intellectual property, proprietary or confidentiality rights with respect to any 
materials, information, design or process used by the Concessionaire or by the Concessionaire's 
Contractors in performing the Concessionaire's obligations or in any way incorporated in or 
related to the Project. If in any such suit, action, claim or proceedings, a temporary restraint 
order or preliminary injunction is granted, the Concessionaire shall make every reasonable 
effort, by giving a satisfactory bond or otherwise, to secure the revocation or suspension of the 
injunction or restraint order. If, in any such suit, action, claim or proceedings, the Project, or any 
part thereof or comprised therein, is held to constitute an infringement and its use is 
permanently enjoined, the Concessionaire shall promptly make every reasonable effort to 
secure for the Authority a lease/license, at no cost to the Authority, authorizing continued use 
of the infringing work. If the Concessionaire is unable to secure such lease/license within a 
reasonable time, the Concessionaire shall, at its own expense, and without impairing the CEN 
Standards, either replace the affected work, or part, or process thereof with non- infringing 
work or part or process, or modify the same so that it becomes non- infringing. 

37.3. Notice and contest of claims 

In the event that either Party receives a claim or demand from a third party in respect of which 
it is entitled to the benefit of an indemnity under this Article 37 (the “Indemnified Party”) it 
shall notify the other Party (the “Indemnifying Party”) within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt of the 
claim or demand and shall not settle or pay the claim without the prior approval of the 
Indemnifying Party, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In the event 
that the Indemnifying Party wishes to contest or dispute the claim or demand, it may conduct 
the proceedings in the name of the Indemnified Party, subject to the Indemnified Party being 
secured against any costs involved, to its reasonable satisfaction. 
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37.4. Defence of claims 

37.4.1. The Indemnified Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to contest, defend and litigate 
any claim, action, suit or proceeding by any third party alleged or asserted against such Party in 
respect of, resulting from, related to or arising out of any matter for which it is entitled to be 
indemnified hereunder, and reasonable costs and expenses thereof shall be indemnified by the 
Indemnifying Party. If the Indemnifying Party acknowledges in writing its obligation to indemnify 
the Indemnified Party in respect of loss to the full extent provided by this Article 35, the 
Indemnifying Party shall be entitled, at its option, to assume and control the Defence of such 
claim, action, suit or proceeding, liabilities, payments and obligations at its expense and through 
the counsel of its choice; provided it gives prompt notice of its intention to do so to the 
Indemnified Party and reimburses the Indemnified Party for the reasonable cost and expenses 
incurred by the Indemnified Party prior to the assumption by the Indemnifying Party of such 
Defence. The Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to settle or compromise any claim, 
demand, action, suit or proceeding without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, 
unless the Indemnifying Party provides such security to the Indemnified Party as shall be 
reasonably required by the Indemnified Party to secure the loss to be indemnified hereunder to 
the extent so compromised or settled. 

37.4.2. If the Indemnifying Party has exercised its rights under Clause 37.3, the Indemnified Party shall 
not be entitled to settle or compromise any claim, action, suit or proceeding without the prior 
written consent of the Indemnifying Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed). 

37.4.3. If the Indemnifying Party exercises its rights under Clause 37.3, the Indemnified Party shall 
nevertheless have the right to employ its own counsel, and such counsel may participate in such 
action, but the fees and expenses of such counsel shall be at the expense of the Indemnified 
Party when and as incurred, unless: 

a. the employment of counsel by such party has been authorized in writing by the 
Indemnifying Party; or 

b. the Indemnified Party shall have reasonably concluded that there may be a conflict of 
interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party in the conduct of 
the Defence of such action; or 

c. the Indemnifying Party shall not, in fact, have employed independent counsel 
reasonably satisfactory to the Indemnified Party, to assume the Defence of such 
action and shall have been so notified by the Indemnified Party; or 

d. the Indemnified Party shall have reasonably concluded and specifically notified the 
Indemnifying Party either: 
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i. that there may be specific defenses available to it which are different from or 
additional to those available to the Indemnifying Party; or 

ii. that such claim, action, suit or proceeding involves or could have a material 
adverse effect upon it beyond the scope of this Agreement. 

Provided that if Sub-clauses b, c or d of this Clause 37.4.3 shall be applicable, the counsel for 
the Indemnified Party shall have the right to direct the Defence of such claim, demand, 
action, suit or proceeding on behalf of the Indemnified Party, and the reasonable fees and 
disbursements of such counsel shall constitute legal or other expenses hereunder. 

37.5. No consequential claims 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Article 35, the indemnities herein 
provided shall not include any claim or recovery in respect of any cost, expense, loss or damage 
of an indirect, incidental or consequential nature, including loss of profit, except as expressly 
provided in this Agreement. 

37.6. Survival on Termination 

The provisions of this Article 37 shall survive Termination. 
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38. RIGHTS AND TITLE OVER THE SITE 

38.1. Licensee rights 

For the purpose of this Agreement, the Concessionaire shall have rights to the use of the Site as 
sole licensee subject to and in accordance with this Agreement, and to this end, it may regulate 
the entry and use of the Project by third parties in accordance with and subject to the provisions 
of this Agreement and approval of the Authority. 

38.2. Access rights of the Authority and others 

The Concessionaire shall allow free access to the Site at all times for the authorised 
representatives and vehicles of the Authority, Senior Lenders, and the Independent Engineer, 
and for the persons and vehicles duly authorised by any Government Instrumentality to inspect 
the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway or to investigate any matter within their authority, and upon 
reasonable notice, the Concessionaire shall provide to such persons reasonable assistance 
necessary to carry out their respective duties and functions. 

38.3. Property taxes 

All property taxes on the Site shall be payable by the Concessionaire; provided however, that 
any such taxes payable by the Concessionaire under Applicable Laws for use of the Site shall not 
be reimbursed or payable by the Authority. 

38.4. Stamp Duty and other incidental charges 

The Concessionaire has to bear the cost incurred towards stamp duty and registration for the 
agreement or any other documents to be registered as per the provision of law. The Authority 
shall intimate the Concessionaire in advance to pay the requisite amount to pay the stamp duty 
and registration fees to the concerned Authority. Further the Concessionaire should note that 
any incidental charges required for documentation shall be borne by the Concessionaire. 

38.5. Restriction on sub-letting 

The Concessionaire shall not sublicense or sublet the whole or any part of the Site, save and 
except as may be expressly set forth in this Agreement; provided that nothing contained herein 
shall be construed or interpreted as restricting the right of the Concessionaire to appoint 
Contractors for the performance of its obligations hereunder including for operation and 
maintenance of all or any part of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway. 

 

  



122 | P a g e  
 

39. DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

39.1. Amicable Settlement 

If any dispute or difference or claims of any kind arises between the Concessioning Authority 
and the Concessionaire in connection with construction, interpretation or application of any 
terms and conditions or any matter or thing in any way connected with or in connection with or 
arising out of this Agreement, whether before or after the termination of this Agreement, then 
the Parties shall meet together promptly, at the request of any Party, in an effort to resolve such 
dispute, difference or claim by discussion between them. 

39.2. Conciliation by Expert 

The parties, may, in appropriate cases agree to refer the matter to an Expert appointed by them 
with mutual consent. The cost of obtaining the service of the Expert shall be shared equally. 
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39.3. Arbitration 

39.3.1. Any Dispute which is not resolved amicably by conciliation, as provided in Clause 36.2, shall be 
finally decided by reference to arbitration by a Board of Arbitrators appointed in accordance 
with Clause 39.3.2. Such arbitration shall be held in accordance with the Rules of Arbitration of 
the International Centre for Alternative Dispute Resolution, New Delhi (the "Rules"),or such 
other rules as may be mutually agreed by the Parties, and shall be subject to the provisions of 
the Arbitration and Conciliation (Amendment) Act, 2015 as amended from time to time. The 
venue of such arbitration shall be at Diu and the language of arbitration proceedings shall be 
English. 

39.3.2. There shall be a Board of three arbitrators, of whom each Party shall select one, and the third 
arbitrator shall be appointed by the two arbitrators so selected and in the event of 
disagreement between the two arbitrators, the appointment shall be made in accordance with 
the Rules. 

39.3.3. The arbitrators shall make a reasoned award (the "Award"). Any Award made in arbitration held 
pursuant to this Article 39 shall be final and binding on the Parties as from the date it is made, 
and the Concessionaire and the Authority agree and undertake to carry out such Award without 
delay. 

39.3.4. The Concessionaire and the Authority agree that an Award may be enforced against the 
Concessionaire and/or the Authority, as the case may be, and their respective assets wherever 
situated. 

39.3.5. This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Parties shall remain in full force and effect, 
pending the Award in any arbitration proceedings hereunder. 

 

39.4. Adjudication by Adjudicatory Board 

In the event of constitution of a statutory Adjudicatory Board or such other forum with powers 
to receive and adjudicate upon disputes between the Concessionaire and the Concessioning 
Authority, all disputes not settled under Clause 39.2 through conciliation, can alternatively be 
referred to the Adjudicatory Board or such other forum with mutual consent of the parties in 
accordance with the applicable laws. For avoidance of doubt, parties hereto agree that 
notwithstanding anything contained herein above, after adjudication by the statutory 
Adjudicatory Board or such other forum, the parties cannot refer the dispute, difference or 
controversy of whatsoever nature again under Clause 39.3 and the adjudication hereunder shall 
be final and binding. 
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40. DISCLOSURE 

40.1. Disclosure of Specified Document 

Subject to terms hereof and Applicable Laws, the Concessionaire shall make available for 
inspection by any person, copies of this Concession Agreement, the Maintenance Manual, the 
Maintenance Programme and the Maintenance Requirements (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the “Specified Documents”), free of charge, during normal business hours on all working 
days at the Concessionaire’s registered office and at the Project Site. The Concessionaire shall 
prominently display at the Project Site, public notices stating the availability of the Specified 
Documents for such inspection, and shall provide copies of the same to any person upon 
payment of copying charges on a ‘no profit no loss’ basis. 

40.2. Disclosure of Documents relating to safety 

The Concessionaire shall make available for inspection by any person copies of all Documents 
and data relating to safety of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, free of charge, during normal 
business hours on all working days, at the Concessionaire’s Registered Office. The 
Concessionaire shall make copies of the same available to any person upon payment of copying 
charges on a ‘no profit no loss’ basis. 

Notwithstanding the provisions of Clauses 40.1 and 40.2, the Authority shall be entitled to direct 
the Concessionaire, from time to time, to withhold the disclosure of Protected Documents (as 
defined herein below) to any person in pursuance of the aforesaid Clauses. 

Explanation: 

The expression Protected Documents shall mean such of the Specified Documents or documents 
referred to in Clauses 40.1 and 40.2, or portions thereof, the disclosure of which the Authority is 
entitled to withhold under the provisions of the Right to Information Act, 2005. 

40.3. Disclosure for circumstance  

In the event that any occurrence or circumstance comes to the attention of either Party that 
renders any of its aforesaid representations or warranties untrue or incorrect, such Party shall 
immediately notify the other Party of the same. Such notification shall not have the effect of 
remedying any breach of the representation or warranty that has been found to be untrue or 
incorrect nor shall it adversely affect or waive any obligation of either Party under this 
Agreement. 
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41. REDRESSAL OF PUBLIC GRIEVANCE  

41.1. Complaints Register  

41.1.1. The Concessionaire shall maintain a public relations office at the Project Site where it shall keep 
a register (the "Complaint Register” and “Suggestion Register") open to public access at all 
times for recording of complaints by any person (the "Complainant"). Information relating to 
the availability of and access to the Complaint Register shall be prominently displayed by the 
Concessionaire at each terminal station so as to bring it to the attention of all Users. 

41.1.2. The Complaint Register shall be securely bound and each page thereof shall be duly numbered. 
It shall have appropriate columns including the complaint number, date, name and address of 
the Complainant, substance of the complaint and the action taken by the Concessionaire. 
Immediately after a complaint is registered, the Concessionaire shall give a receipt to the 
Complainant stating the date and complaint number. 

41.1.3. Without prejudice to the provisions of Clauses 41.1.1 and 41.1.2, the Authority may, in 
consultation with the Concessionaire, specify the procedure for making complaints in electronic 
form and for responses thereto. 

41.2. Redressal of complaints 

41.2.1. The Concessionaire shall inspect the Complaint Register every day and take prompt and 
reasonable action for redressal of each complaint. The action taken shall be briefly noted in the 
Complaint Register and a reply stating the particulars thereof shall be sent by the 
Concessionaire to the Complainant under a certificate of posting. 

41.2.2. Within 7 (seven) days of the close of each month, the Concessionaire shall send to the Authority, 
a true photocopy each of all the pages of the Complaint Register on which any entry has been 
recorded during the course of such month, and upon perusal thereof, the Authority may, in its 
discretion, advise the Concessionaire to take such further action as the Authority may deem 
appropriate for a fair and just redressal of any grievance. The Concessionaire shall consider such 
advice and inform the Authority of its decision thereon, and if the Authority is of the opinion 
that the Complainant is entitled to further relief, it may refer the matter to the competent 
forum for its disposal under the Consumer Protection Act, 1986, and advise the Complainant to 
pursue the complaint at his own risk and cost. 
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42. Miscellaneous  

42.1. Governing law and Jurisdiction  

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of India, and the courts at Diu shall have jurisdiction over matters arising out of or relating to 
this Agreement. 

42.2. Waiver of immunity 

Each Party unconditionally and irrevocably: 

1. agrees that the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement constitute 
commercial acts done and performed for commercial purpose; 

2. agrees that, should any proceedings be brought against it or its assets, property or revenues 
in any jurisdiction in relation to this Agreement or any transaction contemplated by this 
Agreement, no immunity (whether by reason of sovereignty or otherwise) from such 
proceedings shall be claimed by or on behalf of the Party with respect to its assets; 

3. waives any right of immunity which it or its assets, property or revenues now has, may 
acquire in the future or which may be attributed to it in any jurisdiction; and 

4. consents generally in respect of the enforcement of any judgment or award against it in any 
such proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in any jurisdiction in 
connection with such proceedings (including the making, enforcement or execution against 
it or in respect of any assets, property or revenues whatsoever irrespective of their use or 
intended use of any order or judgment that may be made or given in connection therewith). 

42.3. Depreciation and Interest 

42.3.1. For the purposes of depreciation under the Applicable Laws, the property representing the 
capital investment made by the Concessionaire in the Project shall be deemed to be acquired 
and owned by the Concessionaire. For the avoidance of doubt, the Authority shall not in any 
manner be liable in respect of any claims for depreciation to be made by the Concessionaire 
under the Applicable Laws. 

42.3.2. Unless otherwise specified, any interest payable under this Agreement shall accrue on a daily 
outstanding basis and shall be compounded on the basis of quarterly rests. 

42.4. Delayed payments 

The Parties hereto agree that payments due from one Party to the other Party under the 
provisions of this Agreement shall be made within the period set forth therein, and if no such 
period is specified, within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving a demand along with the necessary 
particulars. In the event of delay beyond such period, the defaulting Party shall pay interest for 
the period of delay calculated at a rate equal to 5% (five per cent) above the Bank Rate, and 
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recovery thereof shall be without prejudice to the rights of the Parties under this Agreement 
including Termination thereof. 

42.5. Waiver 

42.5.1. Waiver, including partial or conditional waiver, by either Party of any default by the other Party 
in the observance and performance of any provision of or obligations under this Agreement: 

a. shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent default hereof or 
of other provisions of or obligations under this Agreement; 

b. shall not be effective unless it is in writing and executed by a duly authorized representative 
of the Party; and 

c. shall not affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement in any manner. 

42.5.2. Neither the failure by either Party to insist on any occasion upon the performance of the terms, 
conditions and provisions of this Agreement or any obligation thereunder nor time or other 
indulgence granted by a Party to the other Party shall be treated or deemed as waiver of such 
breach or acceptance of any variation or the relinquishment of any such right hereunder. 

42.6. Liability for review of Documents and Drawings 

Except to the extent expressly provided in this Agreement: 

a. no review, comment or approval by the Authority or the Independent Engineer of any 
Project Agreement, Document or Drawing submitted by the Concessionaire nor any 
observation or inspection of the construction, operation or maintenance of the Project nor 
the failure to review, approve, comment, observe or inspect hereunder shall relieve or 
absolve the Concessionaire from its obligations, duties and liabilities under this Agreement, 
the Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits; and 

b. the Authority shall not be liable to the Concessionaire by reason of any review, comment, 
approval, observation or inspection referred to in Sub-clause (a) above. 

42.7. Exclusion of implied warranties etc. 

This Agreement expressly excludes any warranty, condition or other undertaking implied at law 
or by custom or otherwise arising out of any other agreement between the Parties or any 
representation by either Party not contained in a binding legal agreement executed by both 
Parties. 

42.8. Survival: 

42.8.1. Termination shall 

a. not relieve the Concessionaire or the Authority, as the case may be, of any obligations 
hereunder which expressly or by implication survive Termination hereof; and 
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b. except as otherwise provided in any provision of this Agreement expressly limiting the 
liability of either Party, not relieve either Party of any obligations or liabilities for loss or 
damage to the other Party arising out of, or caused by, acts or omissions of such Party prior 
to the effectiveness of such Termination or arising out of such Termination. 

42.8.2. All obligations surviving Termination shall only survive for a period of 3 (three) years following 
the date of such Termination. 

42.9. Entire Agreement 

This Agreement and the Schedules together constitute a complete and exclusive statement of 
the terms of the agreement between the Parties on the subject hereof, and no amendment or 
modification hereto shall be valid and effective unless such modification or amendment is 
agreed to in writing by the Parties and duly executed by persons especially empowered in this 
behalf by the respective Parties. All prior written or oral understandings, offers or other 
communications of every kind pertaining to this Agreement are abrogated and withdrawn. For 
the avoidance of doubt, the Parties hereto agree that any obligations of the Concessionaire 
arising from the Request for Proposals, as the case may be, shall be deemed to form part of this 
Agreement and treated as such. 

42.10. Severability 

If for any reason whatever, any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable or is declared by any court of competent jurisdiction or any other instrumentality 
to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions shall not be affected in any manner, and the Parties will negotiate in good faith with a 
view to agreeing to one or more provisions which may be substituted for such invalid, 
unenforceable or illegal provisions, as nearly as is practicable to such invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable provision. Failure to agree upon any such provisions shall not be subject to the 
Dispute Resolution Procedure set forth under this Agreement or otherwise. 

42.11. No partnership 

This Agreement shall not be interpreted or construed to create an association, joint venture or 
partnership between the Parties, or to impose any partnership obligation or liability upon either 
Party, and neither Party shall have any right, power or authority to enter into any agreement or 
undertaking for, or act on behalf of, or to act as or be an agent or representative of, or to 
otherwise bind, the other Party. 

42.12. Third Parties 

This Agreement is intended solely for the benefit of the Parties, and their respective successors 
and permitted assigns, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to create any duty to, 
standard of care with reference to, or any liability to, any person not a Party to this Agreement. 
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42.13. Successors and assigns 

This Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns. 

42.14. Notices 

Any notice or other communication to be given by any Party to the other Party under or in 
connection with the matters contemplated by this Agreement shall be in writing and shall: 

a. in the case of the Concessionaire, be given by facsimile or e-mail and by letter delivered by hand 
to the address of the <Designated Official of Concessionaire>of the Concessionaire or to such 
other person as the Concessionaire may from time to time designate by notice to the Authority; 
provided that notices or other communications to be given to an address outside Diu may, if 
they are subsequently confirmed by sending a copy thereof by registered acknowledgement 
due, air mail or by courier, be sent by facsimile or e-mail to the number as the Concessionaire 
may from time to time designate by notice to the Authority; 

b. in the case of the Authority, be given by facsimile and by letter delivered by hand and be 
addressed to the CEO, Diu Smart City Limited or such other person as the Authority may from 
time to time designate by notice to the Concessionaire; provided that if the Concessionaire does 
not have an office in Diu it may send such notice by facsimile and by registered 
acknowledgement due, air mail or by courier; and 

c. any notice or communication by a Party to the other Party, given in accordance herewith, shall 
be deemed to have been delivered when in the normal course of post, it ought to have been 
delivered and in all other cases, it shall be deemed to have been delivered on the actual date 
and time of delivery; provided that in the case of facsimile or e-mail, it shall be deemed to have 
been delivered on the working day following the date of its delivery. 

42.15. Language 

All notices required to be given by one Party to the other Party and all other communications, 
Documentation and proceedings which are in any way relevant to this Agreement shall be in 
writing and in English language. 

42.16. Counterparts 

This Agreement may be executed in two counterparts, each of which, when executed and 
delivered, shall constitute an original of this Agreement. 
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42.17. Counterparts 

The Authority shall not operationalize any additional facility (ropeway) from Diu to Ghoghla for 
next 20 years from Commercial Operation Date. (“Exclusivity Period”). Provided, this restriction 
shall not apply to the existing competing facility. 
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43. ASSETS: OWNERSHIP AND PERMITTED CHARGE 

43.1. Ownership of Assets 

43.1.1. Land and Water Area 

The ownership of the Project Site and Port’s Assets shall always remain vested with the 
Concessioning Authority. The rights of the Concessionaire in the Project Site and Port’s Assets 
shall only be that of a bare licensee of such assets and the Concessionaire shall neither assign, 
transfer, sublet, create any charge or Encumbrance, nor shall the Concessionaire create or 
permit creation of any third party rights whatsoever, on whole or any part of the Port’s Assets or 
Project Site. Further, any such rights of the Concessionaire shall always be subject to existing 
rights of way. It is expressly agreed that the Concessionaire’s rights in the Project Site and/or the 
Port’s Assets shall cease without the need for any action to be taken by the Concessioning 
Authority upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever. 

43.1.2. Assets created or provided by the Concessionaire 

The ownership of all infrastructure assets, buildings, structures, berths, wharfs, equipment and 
other immovable and movable assets constructed, installed, located, created or provided by the 
Concessionaire at the Project Site and/or in the Port’s Assets pursuant to this Agreement shall, 
until expiry of this Agreement or transfer to the Concessioning Authority on Termination in 
accordance with this Agreement, be with the Concessionaire. However, such ownership of 
buildings etc. erected by the Concessionaire at the Project Site shall not be construed as and 
shall not confer any rights in the Project Site or other Port’s Assets upon the Concessionaire, 
save as that of a bare licensee as provided for in this Agreement. 

43.2. Permitted Charge on Assets 

The Concessionaire shall be entitled to create a charge on its rights, title and interest in the 
assets referred to in Article 44.1 in favour of Senior Lenders for securing the Financial Assistance 
provided or agreed to be provided by them under the Financing Documents. Provided, any such 
charge shall not be effective before Financial Close and shall not continue for a period exceeding 
the Concession Period. Provided further, that such charge shall not be for the Project Site nor 
encumber the Project Site and/or the Port’s Assets. 

Provided further, in the event of termination of this Agreement, the said charge shall stand 
extinguished upon payment of compensation by the Concessioning Authority to the Senior 
Lenders, to the extent they are entitled to receive the same in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement. 
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44. TRANSFER ON EXPIRY OF THE CONCESSION 

44.1. General Scope of Transfer/Payment 

The Parties shall perform/discharge their respective obligations to be performed or discharged 
under the provisions of this Agreement on the Transfer Date in entirety. Without prejudice to 
the generality of this provision and the provisions of Article 32, the transactions to be 
consummated and the formalities to be completed by the Parties on the Transfer Date shall be 
as set out in this Article. 

44.2. Concessionaire’s Obligations 

The Concessionaire shall; 

a. hand over peaceful possession of the Project Site, Assets, the Project and the Project 
Facilities and Services free of Encumbrance; 

b. handover peaceful possession of the land, terminal stations, towers etc to the Authority 
c. transfer all its rights, titles and interests in the assets comprised in the Project Facilities and 

Services which are required to be transferred to the Concessioning Authority in accordance 
with this Agreement and execute such deeds and documents as may be necessary for the 
purpose and complete all legal or other formalities required in this regard; 

d. hand over to the Concessioning Authority all documents including as built drawings, 
manuals and records relating to operation and maintenance of the Project Facilities and 
Services; 

e. transfer technology and up-to-date know-how relating to operation and maintenance of the 
Ropeway system and other Assets and/or the Project Facilities and Services; 

f. transfer or cause to be transferred to the Concessioning Authority any Project Contracts 
which are (i) valid and subsisting; (ii) capable of being transferred to the Concessioning 
Authority; and (iii) those the Concessioning Authority has chosen to take over, and cancel or 
cause to be cancelled such Project Contracts not transferred to the Concessioning Authority. 
For this purpose, the Concessionaire shall ensure that all Project Contracts are assignable in 
favor of the Concessioning Authority without any further action on part of the respective 
counterparties. The Concessionaire shall entirely at its cost, terminate all such Project 
Contracts which are not transferred/assigned and/or are not required to be 
transferred/assigned to the Concessioning Authority; 

g. at its cost, transfer to the Concessioning Authority all such Applicable Permits which the 
Concessioning Authority may require and which can be legally transferred. Provided if the 
termination is on account of Concessioning Authority Event of Default the cost of such 
transfer shall be borne/ reimbursed by the Concessioning Authority; 

h. at its cost, remove within 90 (ninety) days from expiry of the Concession Period, from the 
Project Site, any moveable assets that are not taken over by or not to be transferred to the 
Concessioning Authority in terms of the provisions of this Agreement. 
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44.3. Concessionaire’s Obligations 

44.3.1. In the event efflux of the Concession period, the Concessionaire shall transfer the complete 
Project Facilities to the Concessioning Authority without any financial consideration. However, 
in case of real estate component (including Ropeway System, the assets shall be transferred to 
the Authority as per the deprecated value of the assets and the two independent Government 
approved valuers shall assess the value of the same. The compensation at the bpoint of transfer 
would only be the real estate development which shall be dealt with as stated above as per 
Indian Accounting Standard (IndAS113). 

44.3.2. The transfer real estate plus ropeway system in working condition including all stations, towers 
etc. should be made as per the Indian Accounting Standard. The valuation shall be carried out by 
the (IndAS113) utilizing the Cost Approach basis of Provisions of Indian Accounting Standard.  

44.3.3. The land shall be transferred back to the Authority free of cost. 

44.4. Concessioning Authority’s Obligations  

Except in the event of expiry of the Concession by efflux of time, the Concessioning Authority 
shall pay compensation payable to the Concessionaire in accordance with Article 17.1 of this 
Agreement, to the Senior Lenders, or on the written instructions of the Senior Lenders to any 
designated bank account in India, or to the Concessionaire, as the case may be. The 
Concessionaire confirms that upon such payment being made, the Concessioning Authority shall 
stand duly discharged of its obligations regarding payment of compensation under this 
Agreement and the charge created by the Concessionaire in favour of the Senior Lenders on any 
of the assets shall stand satisfied and all such assets shall on and from the Transfer Date be free 
from such charge. 

The Concessionaire further confirms that payment of compensation by Concessioning Authority 
in accordance with this Agreement shall be a valid discharge to the Concessioning Authority in 
respect of Concessioning Authority’s obligation regarding payment of compensation to the 
Concessionaire under this Agreement. 

44.5. Risk 

Until transfer in accordance with this Article 45, the Port’s Assets and the Project Facilities and 
Services shall remain at the sole risk of the Concessionaire except for any loss or damage caused 
to or suffered by the Concessionaire due to any act or omission or negligence on the part of the 
Concessioning Authority under this Agreement. 
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45. GENERAL RIGHTS, DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS 

45.1. Of the Concessionaire 

(a) Applicable Permits 

The Concessionaire shall at all times during the Concession Period maintain and comply with the 
Applicable Permits. 

(b) Taxes & duties 

The Concessionaire shall during the Concession Period pay in a timely manner all taxes, duties, 
levies, GST, cess and charges including but not limited to income tax, sales tax, excise duty, customs 
duty, service tax and etc. that may be levied, claimed or demanded from time to time by any 
Government Authority including any increase therein effected from time to time from any 
Government Authority, in respect of the Project/ the Project Facilities and Services. 

(c) Assignability 

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Concessionaire shall not assign its rights, title 
or interest in this Agreement in favour of any Persons without prior written consent of the 
Concessioning Authority. Provided the Concessionaire may assign its rights, interests and benefits 
under this Agreement to the Senior Lenders as security for the Financial Assistance. Provided further 
nothing contained in this Article shall: 

i. absolve the Concessionaire from its responsibilities to perform/discharge any of its obligations 
under and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; and 

ii. authorize or be deemed to authorize the Senior Lenders to operate the Project Facilities and 
Services themselves and any such assignment to operate shall be in terms of the Substitution 
Agreement. 
 

(d) Engagement of Contractors 

The Concessionaire may engage a Management Contractor and execute the Management Contract, 
thereby entrusting the Management Contractor with the responsibilities of operating and managing 
the Project Facilities and Services in the manner envisaged under the Request for Proposal. A copy 
of the Management Contract shall be provided to the Concessioning Authority and the same shall 
not be amended, substituted or revoked without prior written consent of the Concessioning 
Authority. 

The Concessionaire may engage any Person possessing the requisite skill, expertise and capability of 
designing, engineering, procurement and construction of civil/ mechanical/electrical engineering 
structures/equipment, and /or operation and maintenance of the Project Facilities and Services. 

Provided: 
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the Concessionaire shall at all times be solely responsible for all its obligations under this Agreement 
notwithstanding any such engagement and anything contained in any Project Contracts or any other 
agreement, and no default under any Project Contract or agreement shall excuse the Concessionaire 
from its obligations or liability hereunder and the Concessionaire shall at all times be solely 
responsible for non-performance or for any defect, deficiency or delay in the construction and 
erection and/or installation of the structures/equipment or any part thereof and for the operation 
and maintenance of the Project/the Project Facilities and Services in accordance with the provisions 
of this Agreement; 

i. the Concessionaire should have obtained, if required, security clearance for the Contractor the 
Concessionaire intends to engage; 

ii. the Concessionaire shall ensure that the Project Contracts contain provisions that entitle the 
Concessioning Authority to step into such contract in its sole discretion in substitution of the 
Concessionaire in the event of termination or suspension of this Agreement; and 

iii. any contract that it enters with an Affiliate in respect of the Project shall be on an arm’s length 
basis. 
 

(e) Condition Survey 
 

i. The Concessionaire agrees that at least 6 (six) Months prior to the expiry by efflux of time of the  
Concession Period, it shall, cause to be conducted at its cost by an Expert appointed by the 
Parties by mutual consent, a condition survey and an inventory of the entire Project Facilities 
and Services. If, as a result of such survey, the Expert shall observe/notice that the Port’s Assets 
and/or the Project Facilities and Services or any part thereof have/has not been operated and 
maintained in accordance with the requirements therefor under this Agreement (normal wear 
and tear excepted) the Concessionaire shall, at its cost and expenses, take all necessary steps to 
put the same in good working condition well before the Transfer Date. In the event the 
Concessionaire fails to comply with this provision, the Concessioning Authority may itself cause 
the condition survey and inventory of the Port’s Assets and Project Facilities and Services to be 
conducted and remove any defect or deficiency. The Concessioning Authority shall be promptly 
reimbursed by the Concessionaire for the costs incurred in conducting such survey and 
preparation of inventory as also in putting the Project Facilities and Services in a good working 
condition. 

ii. The Concessionaire shall as security for performance of its obligation in the preceding sub-article 
(i), provide/submit to the Concessioning Authority a guarantee issued by a scheduled bank in 
India for a sum of Rs [●] (Rupees ● Only) (two) years prior to the expiry of the Concession 
Period. In the event of Concessionaire’s failure to provide such guarantee, the same shall be 
deemed to be a Concessionaire Event of Default and the Concessioning Authority shall 
accordingly be entitled to terminate this Agreement. 
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45.2. Of the Concessioning Authority 

(a) Assistance in obtaining Approvals, Permits and Licenses 

The Concessioning Authority shall, at the written request of the Concessionaire, but without 
guarantees and/or without assuming any responsibility in that behalf, issue recommendatory letters 
and make best efforts to facilitate the Concessionaire in obtaining all the Applicable Permits 
including renewals thereof. Provided that, nothing contained in this Article shall relieve the 
Concessionaire of its obligations under this Agreement to obtain the Applicable Permits and to keep 
them in force and effect throughout the Concession Period. 

(b) Taxes and Duties 

Any levy or levies including increase therein of taxes, duties, cess and the hike, on account of/in 
respect of Port’s Assets payable to the State Government or any statutory authority shall be met 
and paid by the Concessioning Authority. In case of nonpayment, Concessionaire may pay the 
amount after giving 30 days’ notice to Concessioning Authority and seek reimbursement from the 
Concessioning Authority in due course. 

(c) Competing Facilities 

The Concessioning Authority shall not operationalize any additional facility from Diu to Ghoghla 
either on its own or through any other Person until the next 20 (twenty) years from Commercial 
Date of Operation. Provided, this restriction shall not apply to the existing competing facility. 

(d) General rights of inspection and verification 

The Concessioning Authority may during the pendency of the Agreement itself or by appointment of 
Experts verify the performance of obligations of the Concessionaire as set out in this Agreement. 

45.3. Of the Concessioning Authority and the Concessionaire 

(a) Monitoring Arrangement 

The parties shall furnish to each other periodical status reports relating to key milestones and 
obligations as per relevant Schedule. 

(b) Compliance with Laws and Regulations 

The Parties shall perform their respective obligations under this Agreement in accordance with the 
Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits. 

(c) Rights to Documents 
i. Concessioning Authority’s Documents 

Documents and computer programs or copies thereof, if any, provided by the Concessioning 
Authority to the Concessionaire, shall always remain the property of the Concessioning 
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Authority. Such documents, computer programs and/or copies shall not be used by the 
Concessionaire for the purposes other than for the Project. Such documents, computer 
programs and/or copies thereof shall, unless otherwise agreed upon by the Concessioning 
Authority, be returned by the Concessionaire to the Concessioning Authority on the Transfer 
Date. 

ii. Concessionaire’s Documents 

Documents and computer programs provided by the Concessionaire, or which are developed 
(and owned by the Concessionaire) for operation and/or maintenance of the Project /the 
Project Facilities and Services shall be handed over by the Concessionaire to the Concessioning 
Authority free of cost on the Transfer Date. 

iii. Confidentiality 

All confidential information and documents (whether financial, technical or otherwise) provided 
by either Party to the other shall not, unless compelled by law or the process of a Government 
Authority, be disclosed to any Person without the consent of the other Party with the exception 
of providing such information to legal advisors/auditors of the concerned party on a need-to-
know basis. This covenant shall survive the Concession Period. 

iv. Obligation to Cooperate 

The Parties shall mutually cooperate with each other in order to achieve the objectives of this 
Agreement. 
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46. Definitions  

46.1. Definitions 

In this Agreement, the following words and expressions shall, unless repugnant to the context or 
meaning thereof, have the meaning hereinafter respectively assigned to them: 

"Accounting Year" means the financial year commencing from the first day of April of any 
calendar year and ending on the thirty-first day of March of the next calendar year; provided 
however that the first Accounting Year shall be deemed to mean the period commencing from 
Appointed Date until thirty-first day of March of the immediately succeeding calendar year; and 
the last Accounting Year shall be deemed to mean the period commencing from first day of April 
of relevant calendar year until Transfer Date; 

“Additional Cost” means the additional capital expenditure which the Concessionaire has or 
would be required to incur and which has arisen as a result of Change in Law. 

“Additional Facilities” means the facilities such as service stations, motels, restaurants, 
shopping areas and amusement parks which the Concessionaire may, in its discretion and 
subject to Applicable Laws, provide or procure for the benefit of the Users, and which are in 
addition to the Project Facilities, and not situated on the Site; 

“Adjusted Equity” means the Equity funded in Indian Rupees and adjusted on the first day of 
the current month (the “Reference Date”), in the manner set forth below, to reflect the change 
in its value on account of depreciation and variations in WPI, and for any Reference Date 
occurring: 

a) on or before COD, the Adjusted Equity shall be a sum equal to the Equity funded in Indian 
Rupees and expended on the Project, revised to the extent of one half of the variation in WPI 
occurring between the first day of the month of Appointed Date and the Reference Date; 

b) from COD and until the 4th (fourth) anniversary thereof, an amount equal to the Adjusted 
Equity as on COD shall be deemed to be the base (the “Base Adjusted Equity”) and the Adjusted 
Equity hereunder shall be a sum equal to the Base Adjusted Equity, revised at the 
commencement of each month following COD to the extent of variation in WPI occurring 
between COD and the Reference Date; 

c) after the 4th (fourth) anniversary of COD, the Adjusted Equity hereunder shall be a sum equal 
to the Base Adjusted Equity, reduced by 0.33% (zero point thirty three per cent)2 thereof at the 
commencement of each month following the 4th (fourth) anniversary of COD and the amount 
so arrived at shall be revised to the extent of variation in WPI occurring between COD and the 
Reference Date; 

                                                           
2 This number shall be substituted in each case by the figure arrived at upon dividing 100 by the number of months 
comprising the Concession Period. For example, the figure for a 25 Year Concession Period shall be 100/ 300 = 
0.333 rounded off to two decimal points i.e. 0.33. 



140 | P a g e  
 

"Affected Party" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 29.1; 

"Agreement" or "Concession Agreement" means this Agreement, its Recitals, and the Schedules 
hereto and any amendments thereto made in accordance with the provisions contained in this 
Agreement; 

"Applicable Laws" means all laws, brought into force and effect by GOI or the State / UT 
Government including rules, regulations and notifications made thereunder, and judgments, 
decrees, injunctions, writs and orders of any court of record, applicable to this Agreement and 
the exercise, performance and discharge of the respective rights and obligations of the Parties 
hereunder, as may be in force and effect during the subsistence of this Agreement; 

"Applicable Permits" means all clearances, licenses, permits, authorizations, no objection 
certificates, consents, approvals and exemptions required to be obtained or maintained under 
Applicable Laws in connection with the construction, operation and maintenance of the Project 
Facilities during the subsistence of this Agreement; 

"Appointed Date" means the date on which Financial Close is achieved or an earlier date that 
the Parties may by mutual consent determine, and shall be deemed to be the date of 
commencement of the Concession Period. For the avoidance of doubt, every Condition 
Precedent shall have been satisfied or waived prior to the Appointed Date and in the event all 
Conditions Precedent are not satisfied or waived, as the case may be, the Appointed Date shall 
be deemed to occur only when each and every Condition Precedent is either satisfied or waived, 
as the case may be; 

“Approved Valuer” means a firm of valuers recognized as such by the Income Tax Department. 

"Arbitration Act" means the Arbitration and Conciliation (Amendment) Act, 2015 and shall 
include modifications to or any re-enactment thereof, as in force from time to time; 

"Associate" or "Affiliate" means, in relation to either Party (and/or Consortium Members), a 
person who controls, is controlled by, or is under the common control with such Party (or 
Consortium Member). The expression "control" shall mean, with respect to a person which is a 
company or corporation, the ownership, directly or indirectly, of more than 50% (fifty per cent) 
of the voting shares of such person, and with respect to a person which is not a company or 
corporation, the power to direct the management and policies of such person, whether by 
operation of law or by contract or otherwise; 

“Authority” shall have the meaning attributed thereto in the array of Parties hereinabove as set 
forth in the Recitals; 

“Authority Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 32.1.1; 

"Authority Representative" means such person or persons as may be authorized in writing by 
the Authority to act on its behalf under this Agreement and shall include any person or persons 
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having authority to exercise any rights or perform and fulfill any obligations of the Authority 
under this Agreement; 

“Average Daily Fee” means the amount arrived at after dividing the total revenues of the 
immediately preceding Accounting Year by 365 (three hundred and sixty five), and increasing 
the result thereof by 5% (five per cent); provided that the Average Daily Fee for any period prior 
to completion of the first Accounting Year following COD shall be a simple average of the Fee 
collected every day during the period between COD and the last day of the month preceding the 
date on which the event requiring calculation hereof occurred; 

"Bank" means a Scheduled Bank, but does not include a bank in which any Lender has an 
interest; 

"Bank Rate" means the rate of interest specified by the Reserve Bank of India from time to time 
in pursuance of section 49 of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934 or any replacement of such 
Bank Rate for the time being in effect; 

"Bid" means the documents in their entirety comprised in the bid submitted by the 
Concessionaire/ Consortium in response to the RFP in accordance with the provisions thereof; 

“Bid Security” means the security provided by the Concessionaire to the Authority along with 
the Bid in a sum of Rs. ***** Lakh (Rupees ***** Lakh), in accordance with the Request for 
Proposal, and which is to remain in force until substituted by the Performance Security; 

“CEN Standards” shall mean the standards put forth by Comité Européen De Normalisation, 
European Committee for Standardization, applicable on the date of issue of the tender 
documents (currently it is CEN 2015) and shall mean the specifications and standards relating to 
the quality, quantity, capacity and other requirements for the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, as set 
forth in Schedule-D, and any modifications thereof, or additions thereto, as included in the 
design and engineering for the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway submitted by the Concessionaire to, 
and expressly approved by, the Authority; 

“Change in Law” means the occurrence of any of the following after the Date of Bid: 

a. the enactment of any new Indian law; 
b. the repeal, modification or re-enactment of any existing Indian law; 
c. the commencement of any Indian law which has not entered into effect until the 

Effective Date; 
d. a change in the interpretation or application of any Indian law by judgment of a court of 

record which has become final conclusive and binding, as compared to such 
interpretation or application by a court of record prior to the Effective Date. 

e. any change in the rates of any of the Taxes that have a direct effect on the Project; 

 

“Change of Scope” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 16.1; 
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“Company” means the company acting as the Concessionaire under this Agreement; 

“Completion Certificate” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 14.2; 

“Concession” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 3.1.1; 

“Concessionaire” shall have the meaning attributed thereto in the array of Parties hereinabove 
as set forth in the Recitals; 

“Concession Period” means the period starting on and from the Appointed Date and ending on 
the Transfer Date; 

“Concessionaire Default” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 32.1.1; 

 “Commercial Operation Date” or “COD” shall have the meaning ascribed in clause 15.1; 

 “Concession Fee” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause Error! Reference source not 
found.; 

"Concession Period" means a period of 25 (Twenty Five) years starting from the Appointed Date 
and ending on the Transfer Date; 

“Condition Precedent " shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 4.1.1; 

"Consortium Member" means a company specified in Recital (C) as a member of the 
Consortium; 

"Construction Period" means the period beginning from the Appointed Date and ending on the 
COD; 

“Construction Phase” means the period from the Date of Award of Concession to the Date of 
Commercial Operation. 

"Construction Works" means all works and things necessary to complete the Project in 
accordance with this Agreement; 

"Contractor" means the person or persons, as the case may be, with whom the Concessionaire 
has entered into any of the EPC Contract, the O&M Contract, or any other agreement or 
contract for construction, operation and/or maintenance of the Project and / or Project Facilities 
or matters incidental thereto, but does not include a person who has entered into an agreement 
for providing financial assistance to the Concessionaire; 

“CPI” means the Consumer Price Index for all commodities as published by the Ministry of 
Industry, GOI and shall include any index which substitutes the CPI, and any reference to CPI 
shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed as a reference to the CPI published for 
the period ending with the preceding month, save and except that for the purposes of revision 
of Fee shall be computed with reference to CPI as on January 31 of that year. 
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"Cure Period" means the period specified in this Agreement for curing any breach or default of 
any provision of this Agreement by the Party responsible for such breach or default and shall: 

a. commence from the date on which a notice is delivered by one Party to the other Party 
asking the latter to cure the breach or default specified in such notice; 

b. not relieve any Party from liability to pay Damages or compensation under the 
provisions of this Agreement; and 

c. not in any way be extended by any period of Suspension under this Agreement; 
provided that if the cure of any breach by the Concessionaire requires any reasonable 
action by the Concessionaire that must be approved by the Authority hereunder, the 
applicable Cure Period shall be extended by the period taken by the Authority to accord 
their approval; 

 

“DBFOT” or “Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer” shall have the meaning set forth in 
Recital (A); 

"Damages" shall have the meaning set forth in Sub-clause (w) of Clause 1.2.1; 

"Debt Due" means the aggregate of the following sums expressed in Indian Rupees outstanding 
on the Transfer Date as verified by an Expert [whose cost shall be shared equally between 
Authority and Concessionaire] to the satisfaction of the Authority: 

a. the principal amount of the debt provided by the Lenders under the Financing 
Agreements for financing the Project (the “principal”) but excluding any part of the 
principal that had fallen due for repayment 2 (two) years prior to the Transfer Date; and 

b. all accrued interest, financing fees and charges payable under the Financing Agreements 
on, or in respect of, the debt referred to in Sub-clause (a) above until the Transfer Date 
but excluding (i) any interest, fees or charges that had fallen due 1 (one) year prior to 
the Transfer Dale, (ii) any penal interest or charges payable under the Financing 
Agreements to any Lender, and (iii) any pre-payment charges in relation to accelerated 
repayment of debt except where such changes have arisen due to Authority Default. 

"Debt Service" means the sum of all payments on account of principal, interest, financing fees 
and charges due and payable in an Accounting Year to the Lenders under the Financing 
Agreements; 

“Development Period” means the period from the date of this Agreement until the Appointed 
Date; 

"Dispute" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 39.1; 

"Dispute Resolution Procedure" means the procedure for resolution of Disputes set forth in 
Article 39; 



144 | P a g e  
 

"Divestment Requirements" means the obligations of the Concessionaire for and in respect of 
Termination as set forth in Clause 33.1; 

"Document" or "Documentation" means documentation in printed or written form, or in tapes, 
discs, drawings, computer programmers, writings, reports, photographs, films, cassettes, or 
expressed in any other written, electronic, audio or visual form; 

"Drawings" means all of the drawings, calculations and documents pertaining to the Project and 
Project Facilities as set forth in Schedule H, and shall include 'as built' drawings of the Project 
and Project Facilities; 

“Effective Date” shall mean the date on which the Concession Agreement has been executed by 
the Parties; 

"EPC Contract" means the engineering, procurement and construction contract or contracts 
entered into by the Concessionaire with one or more Contractors for, inter alia, engineering and 
construction of the Project and Project Facilities in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement; 

"EPC Contractor" means the person with whom the Concessionaire has entered into an EPC 
Contract; 

"Emergency" means a condition or situation that is likely to endanger the security of the 
individuals on or about the Project, including Users thereof, or which poses an immediate threat 
of material damage to any of the Project Assets; 

"Encumbrances" means, in relation to the Project and Project Facilities, any encumbrances such 
as mortgage, charge, pledge, lien, hypothecation, security interest, assignment, privilege or 
priority of any kind having the effect of security or other such obligations, and shall include any 
designation of loss payees or beneficiaries or any similar arrangement under any insurance 
policy pertaining to the Project and Project Facilities, where applicable herein but excluding 
utilities referred to in Clause 11.1; 

"Equity" means the sum expressed in Indian Rupees representing the paid up equity share 
capital of the Concessionaire for meeting the equity component of the Total Project Cost, and 
shall for the purposes of this Agreement include convertible instruments or other similar forms 
of capital, which shall compulsorily convert into equity share capital of the Company, and any 
interest-free funds advanced by any shareholder of the Company for meeting such equity 
component, but does not include Equity Support; 

“Expert” means any person, body or organization of repute with recognized 
technical/professional expertise in respect of any field, matter or subject relevant for the 
purpose of this Agreement, appointed by the Authority. 

"Fee" means all charges, tariff, fees, deposits and amounts received by or paid to the 
Concessionaire from or with respect to the Project, for services provided and maintenance 
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charges for the Project, including rental amounts accruing from the Project; and other tariff and 
charges including maintenance charges for services provided to the Users; 

“Fee Notification” means the Notification as issued by the Concessionaire and as modified by 
the Concessionaire according to market demand and the user fee rate shall be intimated to 
Authority forthwith, from time to time, for usage of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway; 

"Financial Close" means the date on which the Financing Agreements providing for financial 
assistance by the Lenders have become effective and conditions if any for draw down of fund 
have been met by the Concessionaire such that the Concessionaire has immediate access to 
such sanctioned funding under the Financing Agreements; 

"Financial Default" shall have the meaning set forth in Schedule O; 

"Financial Model" means the financial model adopted by Lenders, setting forth the capital and 
operating costs of the Project and revenues therefrom on the basis of which financial viability of 
the Project has been determined by the Lenders, and includes a description of the assumptions 
and parameters used for making calculations and projections therein; 

"Financial Package" means the financing package indicating the total capital cost of Project and 
the means of financing thereof, as set forth in the Financial Model and approved by the Lenders, 
and includes Equity and all financial assistance specified in the Financing Agreements; 

"Financing Agreements" means the agreements executed by the Concessionaire in respect of 
financial assistance to be provided by the Lenders by way of loans, guarantees, subscription to 
non- convertible debentures and other debt instruments including loan agreements, 
guarantees, notes, debentures, bonds and other debt instruments, security agreements, and 
other documents relating to the financing (including refinancing) of the Total Project Cost, and 
includes amendments or modifications made in accordance with Clause 5.2.2; 

"Force Majeure" or "Force Majeure Event" shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 29.1; 
"GOI" means the Government of India; 

“GOI” or “Government” means the Government of India; 

"Good Industry Practice" means the practices, methods, techniques, designs, standards, skills, 
diligence, efficiency, reliability and prudence which are generally and reasonably expected from 
a reasonably skilled and experienced operator engaged in the same type of undertaking as 
envisaged under this Agreement and which would be expected to result in the performance of 
its obligations by the Concessionaire in accordance with this Agreement, Applicable Laws and 
Applicable Permits in reliable, safe, economical and efficient manner; 

"Government Instrumentality" means any department, division or sub-division of the 
Government or the State Government and includes any commission, board, authority, agency or 
municipal and other local authority or statutory body including Panchayat under the control of 
the Government or the State Government, as the case may be, and having jurisdiction over all or 
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any part of the Project or the performance of all or any of the services or obligations of the 
Concessionaire under or pursuant to this Agreement; 

"Indemnified Party" means the Party entitled to the benefit of an indemnity pursuant to Article 
37; "Indemnifying Party" means the Party obligated to indemnify the other Party pursuant to 
Article 37;  

"Independent Engineer" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 22.1; 

"Indirect Political Event" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 29.3; 

"Insurance Cover" means the aggregate of the maximum sums insured under the insurances 
taken out by the Concessionaire pursuant to Article 27, and includes all insurances required to 
be taken out by the Concessionaire under Clause 27.1 but not actually taken, and when used in 
the context of any act or event, it shall mean the aggregate of the maximum sums insured and 
payable or deemed to be insured and payable in relation to such act or event; 

“Intellectual Property” means all patents, trademarks, service marks, logos, get-up, trade 
names, internet domain names, rights in designs, blue prints, programmes and manuals, 
drawings, copyright (including rights in computer software), database rights, semi-conductor, 
topography rights, utility models, rights in know-how and other intellectual property rights, in 
each case whether registered or unregistered and including applications for registration, and all 
rights or forms of protection having equivalent or similar effect anywhere in the world; 

“LOA” or “Letter of Award” means the letter of award referred to in Recital (C); 

“Lead Member” shall have the meaning set forth in Recital (C); 

"Lenders" means the financial institutions, banks, multilateral lending agencies, trusts, funds 
and agents or trustees of debenture holders, including their successors and assignees, who have 
agreed to guarantee or provide finance to the Concessionaire under any of the Financing 
Agreements for meeting all or any part of the Total Project Cost; 

"Lenders' Representative" means the person duly authorized by the Lenders to act for and on 
behalf of the Lenders with regard to matters arising out of or in relation to this Agreement, and 
includes his successors, assigns and substitutes; 

“Maintenance Manual” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 17.3; 

“Maintenance Programme” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 17.4.1; 

“Maintenance Requirements” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 17.2; 

“Mandatory Project” shall mean the Project components, which are mandatory to be 
developed by the Concessionaire and shall comprise of the components as more particularly 
described in Schedule B; 
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“Mandatory Project Facilities” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Schedule C; 

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect of any act or event on the ability of 
either Party to perform any of its obligations under and in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement and which act or event causes a material financial burden or loss to either Party; 

"Medical Aid Post" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 5.6; 

“Minimum Guarantee payment” means a payment of a sum specified in this document, 
irrespective of revenues of concessionaire. A part of this payment will be used for lease rent 
settlement as directed by authority.   

"Nominated Company" means a company selected by the Lenders' Representative and 
proposed to the Authority for substituting the Concessionaire in accordance with the provisions 
of the Substitution Agreement; 

"Non-Political Event" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 29.2; 

"O&M" means the operation and maintenance of the Project and Project Facilities and includes 
all matters connected with or incidental to such operation and maintenance, provision of 
services and facilities, and collection of Fee in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; 

"O&M Contract" means the operation and maintenance contract that may be entered into 
between the Concessionaire and the O&M Contractor for performance of all or any of the O&M 
obligations; 

"O&M Contractor" means the person, if any, with whom the Concessionaire has entered into an 
O&M Contract for discharging O&M obligations for and on behalf of the Concessionaire; 

"O&M Expenses" means expenses incurred by or on behalf of the Concessionaire or by the 
Authority, as the case may be, for all O&M including (a) cost of salaries and other compensation 
to employees, (b) cost of materials, supplies, utilities and other services, (c) premium for 
insurance, (d) all taxes, duties, cess and fees due and payable for O&M, (e) all repair, 
replacement, reconstruction, reinstatement, improvement and maintenance costs, (f) payments 
required to be made under the O&M Contract, or any other contract in connection with or 
incidental to O&M, and (g) all other expenditure required to be incurred under Applicable Laws, 
Applicable Permits or this Agreement; 

"O&M Inspection Report" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 19.2; 

"Operation Period" means the period commencing from COD and ending on the Transfer Date; 

"Panel of Chartered Accountants" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause Error! Reference 
source not found.; 

"Parties" means the parties to this Agreement collectively and "Party" shall mean any of the 
parties to this Agreement individually; 
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“Peak Hour” means an hour when the number of Users commuting on the Ropeway Project is 
the highest during the course of a day; 

“Performance Security” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 9.1; 

"Political Event" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 29.4; 

"Project" means the design, finance, construction, Operate and Transfer of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, and includes all works, services 
and equipment relating to or in respect of the Scope of the Project; 

"Project Agreements" means this Agreement, the Financing Agreements, EPC Contract, O&M 
Contract, and any other agreements or contracts that may be entered into by the 
Concessionaire with any person in connection with matters relating to, arising out of or 
incidental to the Project, but does not include the Substitution Agreement; 

"Project Assets" means all physical and other assets relating to and forming part of the Site 
including (a) rights over the Site in the form of lease or otherwise; (b) tangible assets such as 
civil works and equipment including but not limited to foundations, embankments, drainage 
works, sign boards, electrical systems, communication systems, rest areas, maintenance depots 
and administrative offices; (c) Project Facilities situated on the Site; (d) all rights of the 
Concessionaire under the Project Agreements; (e) insurance proceeds; and (f) Applicable 
Permits and authorizations relating to or in respect of the Project; 

"Project Completion Date" means the date on which the Completion Certificate or the 
Provisional Certificate, as the case may be, is issued under the provisions of Article 14; 

"Project Completion Schedule" means the progressive Project Milestones set forth in Schedule 
G for completion of the Mandatory Project & Project Facilities on or before the Scheduled Date; 

"Project Facilities" means all the amenities and facilities required as basic and support 
infrastructure for Project, for the optimal functioning thereof, including but not limited to 
sewage and sanitation system, water supply, electricity distribution and supply, paved roads and 
lanes, situated on the Site, as described in Schedule C; 

"Project Milestones" means the project milestones set forth in Schedule G; 

"Provisional Certificate" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 14.3; 

“Punch List” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Clause 14.3; 

"RBI" means the Reserve Bank of India, as constituted and existing under the Reserve Bank of 
India act, 1934, including any statutory modification or replacement thereof, and its successors; 

"Reference Exchange Rate" means, in respect of any one currency that is to be converted into 
another currency in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the exchange rate as of 
12.00 (twelve) noon on the relevant date quoted in Delhi by the State Bank of India, and in the 
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absence of such rate, the average of similar rates quoted in Delhi by the Bank of India and the 
Bank of Baroda; 

"Re.", "Rs." or "Rupees" or "Indian Rupees" means the lawful currency of the Republic of India; 

“Request for Proposals” or “RFP” shall have the meaning set forth in Recital (B); 

“Right of Way” means the constructive possession of the Site, together with all way leaves, 
easements, unrestricted access and other rights of way, howsoever described, necessary for 
construction, operation and maintenance of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway in accordance with 
this Agreement. 

“Ropeway Facility” shall mean Aerial Passenger ropeway at Diu to Ghoghla in Diu along with the 
lower and upper terminal stations and associated facilities. 

“Safety Consultant” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 18.1.2; 

“Safety Requirements” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 18.1.1; 

“Safety Fund” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 18.2; 

“Schedules” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 10.3.1; 

“Scheduled Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 12.3.1; 

“Scope of the Project” shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 2.1; 

“Senior Lenders” means the financial institutions, banks, multilateral lending agencies, trusts, 
funds and agents or trustees of debenture holders, including their successors and assignees, 
who have agreed to guarantee or provide finance to the Concessionaire under any of the 
Financing Agreements for meeting all or any part of the Total Project Cost and who hold pari 
passu charge on the assets, rights, title and interests of the Concessionaire; 

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge (whether fixed or floating), pledge, lien, 
hypothecation, assignment, security interest or other encumbrances of any kind securing or 
conferring any priority of payment in respect of any obligation of any Person and includes 
without limitation any right granted by a transaction which, in legal terms, is not the granting of 
security but which has an economic or financial effect similar to the granting of security in each 
case under Applicable Laws; 

“Selected Bidder” means the bidder who has been awarded the Project; 

"Site" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 10.1; 

"Specifications and Standards" means the specifications and standards relating to the quality, 
quantity, capacity and other requirements for the Ropeway Facility, as set forth in Schedule D, 
and any modifications thereof, or additions thereto, as included in the design and engineering 



150 | P a g e  
 

for the Ropeway Facility submitted by the Concessionaire to, and expressly approved by, the 
Authority; 

"State/UT" means the UT of Daman and Diu "State/UT Government" means the UT 
Administration of Daman and Diu; 

"Statutory Auditors" means a reputable firm of chartered accountants acting as the statutory 
auditors of the Concessionaire under the provisions of the Companies Act, 1956 including any 
statutory modification or re-enactment thereof, for the time being in force, and appointed in 
accordance with Clause Error! Reference source not found.; 

 "Substitution Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 35.3;  

"Suspension" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 31.1; 

"Taxes" means any Indian taxes including GST, excise duties, customs duties, value added tax, 
sales tax, local taxes, cess and any impost or surcharge of like nature (whether Central, State or 
local) on the goods, materials, equipment and services incorporated in and forming part of the 
Project charged, levied or imposed by any Government Instrumentality, but excluding any 
interest, penalties and other sums in relation thereto imposed on any account whatsoever. For 
the avoidance of doubt, Taxes shall not include taxes on corporate income; 

“Terminal Stations” means the place in the Project from where the passengers board and de- 
board the ropeway cabin and which consists of other basic facilities such as waiting area, ticket 
counter, toilets, drinking water facility, etc. 

"Termination" means the expiry or earlier termination of this Agreement and the Concession 
hereunder; 

"Termination Notice" means the communication issued in accordance with this Agreement by 
one Party to the other Party terminating this Agreement; 

“Termination Payment” means the amount payable, under and in accordance with this 
Agreement, by the Authority to the Concessionaire upon Termination. 

"Tests" means the tests set forth in schedule J to determine the completion of Project in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. 

"Total Project Cost" means the capital cost incurred on construction and financing of the 
Project, including the cost of acquisition of land, and shall be the lowest of: 

a. the capital cost of the Project, as set forth in the Financial Package; and  
b. the actual capital cost of the Project upon completion of the Project.  
c. a sum of Rs ******* lakh (Rupees ******* Lakh) Less Equity Support provided that in the 

event of Termination, the Total Project Cost shall be deemed to be modified to the extent of 
variation in WPI or Reference Exchange Rate occurring in respect of Adjusted Equity and 
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Debt Due, as the case may be, in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement; 
provided further that in the event WPI increases, on an average, by more than 6% (six per 
cent) per annum for the period between the date hereof and COD, the Parties shall meet, as 
soon as reasonably practicable, and agree upon revision of the amount hereinbefore 
specified such that the effect of increase in WPI, in excess of such 6% (six per cent), is 
reflected in the Total Project Cost; 

"Transfer Date" means the date on which this Agreement and the Concession hereunder 
expires pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement or is terminated by a Termination Notice; 

"User" means a person who uses the Project or Project Facility or any part thereof;  

"Vesting Certificate" shall have the meaning set forth in Clause 33.4; and 

“WPI” means the Wholesale Price Index for all commodities as published by the Ministry of 
Industry, GOI and shall include any index which substitutes the WPI, and any reference to WPI 
shall, unless the context otherwise requires, be construed as a reference to the WPI published 
for the period ending with the preceding month, save and except that for the purposes of 
revision of Fee shall be computed with reference to WPI as on January 31 of that year. 

 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED AND DELIVERED THIS AGREEMENT AS 
OF THE DAY, MONTH AND YEAR FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN 

 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 

 

For and on behalf of 
Tourism Department, 
Diu (“Authority”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
Diu Smart City Limited 
(“Authority”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
(“Concessionaire”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
(“Selected Bidder”) by: 

Sign and Seal: 
 
Name:  
 
Designation:  
 

Sign and Seal: 
 
Name:  
 
Designation:  
 

Sign and Seal:  
 
Name:  
 
Designation 

Sign and Seal:  
 
Name:  
 
Designation 

 

In the presence of: 
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1. 2.  
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Schedule A: SITE OF THE PROJECT 
(See Clause 10.1) 

 

 

1. The Site 
 

1.1. The Site of the Diu to Ghoghla Cable car shall include the Land, Building, Structures and road 
works as described in this Schedule-A. 

1.2. An inventory of the Site including the land, buildings, structures, road works, trees and any other 
immovable property on, or attached to, the Site shall be prepared jointly by the Authority 
Representative and the Concessionaire, and such inventory shall form part of the memorandum 
referred to in Clause 10.3.1 of the Agreement. 

Proposed Location and alignment 
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Annex – I 

(Schedule-A) 

Site for the Ropeway 

The Project envisages construction of a ropeway from Diu (Latitude 20°43'3.74"N, Longitude 
70°59'27.38"E) to Ghoghla (Latitude 20°43'49.59"N, Longitude 70°59'33.43"E). The approximate 
distance of the ropeway would be 1500 M and would be developed on 3S technology conforming to CEN 
standards. 

The Terminal Station at Diu & Ghoghla will be developed in 2,000 sq.m. of land (actual land given). The 
Concessionaire has to provide aesthetically designed, eco-friendly connectivity between Terminal 
station and jetty for smooth and safe movement of tourist to Terminal Station. The latitude and 
longitude given in this agreement are indicative.  

Site Layout of plot designated for proposed Terminal station at Diu 

 

 

Proposed Landing Point for Cable Car on Diu side waterfront 
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Site Layout of plot designated for proposed Terminal station at Ghoghla 

 

 

Proposed Landing Point for Cable Car at Ghoghla side near walkway and beach 
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By the development of ropeway, it is expected that the preference of tourists will change to use this 
mode as it will become a landmark destination in Diu city. It is expected that the number of tourists will 
increase substantially by adoption eco-friendly transportation mode. As the people will like to enjoy the 
panoramic view of Sea, Diu Fort, Panikotha and city landscape.  

The travel time by ropeways will take approximately 10 minutes (Approx) from Diu to Ghoghla by 6 to 8 
seated cable car. 3S system ropeways will also capable to handle in the future demand. 
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Schedule B: DEVELOPMENT OF THE ROPEWAY AND SCOPE 
(See Clause 2.1) 

 

 

The scope of works will be as follows: 

The scope of the Project (the “Scope of the Project”) shall mean and include, during the Concession 
Period: 

The Intended work is to provide connectivity through areal ropeway system between Diu to Ghoghla on 
PPP (DFBOT). 

The scope of works will be as follows: 

1. The Concessionaire shall prepare the concept plan for the development of aerial ropeway 
system as per their own design based on the alignment provided by DSCL, which includes the 
development of terminal station at both the locations i.e. Diu and Ghoghla and necessary 
columns/pillar. 

2. The Concessionaire shall develop the aerial ropeway system on 3S system as per CEN (European) 
standards. The system should be duly audited and checked by the authorised auditor as 
specified in the CEN Standards. 

3. The construction work includes development of terminal station at Diu and Ghoghla on the area 
allotted by DSCL (2,000 Sq. mt./ or the actual area given), as per their own concept according to 
the development permitted by DMC/DSCL in that area. 

4. The Concessionaire shall develop all the necessary infrastructure, required for the effective 
operation of ropeway, dispersal of traffic, parking, cloak room, evacuation of people, etc. 

5. The Concessionaire shall have freedom to exploit the commercial area in the terminal station at 
Diu and Ghoghla. Accordingly bidder can plan and develop the terminal. However bidder has to 
submit the plan and design of the terminal to DSCL for its approval. 

6. The Concessionaire shall to provide necessary infrastructure for smooth passage between the 
proposed terminal stations for tourist to embark/ disembark. 

7. The Concessionaire shall to plan aerial ropeway system to connect between two terminal 
stations by fixing the span between two columns, number of columns and height of columns at 
all point as per their own concept and design. However Concessionaire has to submit the plan 
and design of the same to DSCL for its approval. 

8. The alignment of the ropeway is crossing over the navigational channel in Diu Harbour, where 
ship/Boat movement is frequent which has to be considered during the development of the 
ropeway. The Concessionaire has to provide clearance of minimum 30 m between water (high 
tide level) and the bottom of Gondola after considering the sag as per the standards. The 
Concessionaire has to confirm the span considered in the channel and maximum sag considered 
by anticipating maximum traffic, the future load and clearance between cable car and ship and 
provide the same to DSCL for approval. 
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9. The Concessionaire shall to design entire ropeway system including civil design of terminal, 
columns, any other structure required as per their concept on their own cost. However it has to 
be approved by DSCL before implementation and execution. 

10. The Concessionaire shall obtain final approval from DSCL for the Master Plan and detailed 
design of the entire ropeway system before initiating its implementation. The operation of the 
ropeway system has to be carried out as per the CEN standards and safety standards rules 
approved by the government time to time till the termination or cessation of the concession 
period whichever is earlier. 

11. The Concessionaire shall maintain the terminal station developed at Diu and Ghoghla to meet 
need of tourist as per the prevailing laws and regulation of the government. 

12. The Concessionaire shall maintain the entire ropeway system has to be carried out as per the 
CEN standards and prevailing rules for safety and security laid down by the government time to 
time for entire concession period. 

13. The Concessionaire shall provide safety mechanism (as per CEN Standards) in the entire 
ropeway system to prevent any accident and mishaps during operation for entire concession 
period. Accordingly bidder has to submit the safety mechanism plan to DSCL in advance prior to 
start of operation. 

14. The Concessionaire shall provide necessary security system (as per CEN Standards) from the 
terminal at Diu to terminal at Ghoghla to prevent any breach in the security. To achieve this the 
bidder has to plan security mechanisms such as, deployment of specialised personal at vantage 
points, CCTV security system, PA system, alarm system or any other system which he seems 
suitable at his own cost. 

15. The Concessionaire shall provide evacuation system in case of stoppage of ropeway in midway, 
breaking of wire rope, any failure in the column, failure in machinery, any problems in the cable 
car, etc. during the operation of ropeway. 

16. The Concessionaire shall develop the entire ropeway system considering earth quake factor, so 
that any mishaps and public accident are prevented during the operations. 

17. As this ropeway system is being developed in the sea area, equipment, cable cars, ropes are 
likely to corrode fast, hence the design should be adopted considering this factor and operation 
and maintenance should also be done considering the same. 

18. The Concessionaire shall have freedom for the pricing of tickets, however they have to take 
insurance for the tourist, insurance of the machinery, equipment, civil structures, etc. 

19. The Concessionaire shall provide medical aid system at both the terminal stations by deploying 
ambulances, first aid, etc. 

20. The Concessionaire shall provide efficient firefighting system for the entire ropeway including 
terminals. 

21. The Concessionaire shall submit operational manual, standard operating procedure, 
maintenance manual, overhauling system of the ropeway, traffic dispersal system at Diu and 
Ghoghla, evacuation plan of people for both the terminal, firefighting system, medical aid 
system, security system, etc. for the approval of DSCL before the operation. 

22. All the necessary statutory approvals needed for construction and operation have to be taken by 
the Concessionaire prior to the sanction of plan, during the construction period and operation of 
services, etc. 
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23. The Concessionaire has to take power connection directly from source, as required for the 
entire ropeway system including both the terminal stations. DSCL will provide support to get 
power connection. 

24. The Concessionaire has to provide alternate power source for existing system in case of 
emergency, with adequate numbers of generators at both the stations. 

25. The Concessionaire has to arrange at their own cost- Information Network system, including 
telephone line, OFC cables, etc. as par their requirement. 

26. The Concessionaire has to implement and execute any other works related to smooth operation 
and maintenance of entire ropeway system during concession period as and when directed by 
DSCL on its own cost. 

27. The Concessionaire has to arrange and develop a system to monitor weather (wind speed, 
rainfall, etc.) by liasioning with Meteorological Department to ensure safe services. 

28. The ropeway system should be mounted with modern cabins.  
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Annex – I 

(Schedule-B) 

Description of Ropeways 

1. Length of the Ropeways: 
The length of the Ropeway will be approximately 1500 M where the coordinates of the locations as 
below: 
The dynamic positioning of the ropeway is fixed as follows: 
 

Diu: 
Location of the station is at coordinates: 
Latitude 20°43'3.74"N 
Longitude 70°59'27.38"E 
 

Ghoghla: 
Location of the station is at coordinates 
Latitude 20°43'49.59"N 
Longitude 70°59'33.43"E 
 
 Number of towers: 1 Nos 
 Tower height: 40-50 m 
 Distance between towers: 500m (with max sag of 15m) 
 No. of cabins: 10 
 Cabin capacity: 6-8 
 Trip Time: 10 min 
 Working period for ropeway: 12 months 

(The above specifications are only indicative.) 

2. Project Facilities 

Project Facilities shall be constructed in conformity with Schedule- C. 

3. Specifications and Standards 

The Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be constructed in conformity with the Specifications and Standards 
specified in Annex-I of Schedule-D. 

The Project shall be constructed and developed in conformity with Schedule B, Schedule C and Schedule 
D.  
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Annex – II 

(Schedule-B) 

Description of Real Estate Development 

 

Approximately 1,000 sq.m. of land will be provided to the Concessionaire at Diu, where Concessionaire 
has to build terminal station for the operations purpose. Concessionaire also have right to explore this 
land for commercial exploitation, condition to the permission of the Authority. 

 

Approximately 1,000 sq.m. of land will be provided to the Concessionaire at Ghoghla, where 
Concessionaire has to build terminal station for the operations purpose. Concessionaire also have right 
to explore this land for commercial exploitation, condition to the permission of the Authority. 

Concessionaire has to do his own necessary study/survey required for the construction of terminal 
stations at both the end. 

Construction at terminal stations needs to be done as per statutory rules applicable in that area. 
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Schedule C: PROJECT FACILITIES 
 

1. Project Facilities 

The Concessionaire shall construct or install the Project Facilities in accordance with the provisions 
of this Agreement. 

2. Mandatory Project Facilities 

The Concessionaire shall construct the Mandatory Project Facilities described as under on or before 
the Project Completion Date. The Mandatory Project Facilities shall include the Project Facilities 
required to adequately and efficiently support the Ropeway Project and shall include but not be 
limited to the following: 

a. Ropeway from Diu island to Ghoghla 
b. Suitable number of cable cars – with a capacity of cable car 6-8 (or as suitable) passengers 
c. Facilities for passenger handling in Diu Terminal and Ghoghla Terminal 
d. Refreshment facilities/ eateries/ Food stalls 
e. Toilets at the Terminal stations for staff and passengers 
f. General area lighting 
g. Parking facility 
h. Tree plantation and landscaping 
i. Firefighting system 
j. Signage system 
k. Utilities including drainage, sewage, water-supply, power supply, etc 
l. facilities for disabled; 
m. administrative offices; 
n. security; 
o. such other facilities as may be necessary and required to establish and operate and the 

Project in accordance with the Specifications and Standards. 

The Mandatory Project Facilities shall be developed, constructed and commissioned in accordance 
with the provisions of this Agreement and shall be completed by the Scheduled Completion Date. 
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Schedule D: Specifications and Standards 
(See Clause 2.1) 

 

 

1. Ropeways 
The Concessionaire shall comply with the Specifications and Standards set forth in Annex-I and 
Annex-II of this Schedule-D for construction of the DIU TO GHOGHLA Ropeways. 

 

2. Real Estate Development shall be undertaken in accordance with Applicable Laws, Good Industry 
Practice and the provisions of building construction codes widely followed in India. 
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Annex – I 

(Schedule-D) 

Specifications and Standards for the Ropeway 

Specifications and Standards to apply 

Concessionaire has to adopt 3S CEN standards for the construction of Ropeway. Which should have 
(3S system cable cars)-two fixed, fully locked track ropes on which the carrier travels and a 
circulating haul rope which should be clamped to the wheel carriages. This detachable continuous 
movement system should offers top performance and reliability. Cabins should maintains with top 
ride comfort even in extreme weather conditions. At the time of designing, Concessionaire has to 
consider factors like high wind stability, low energy consumption and the capability to cope with 
very long rope spans, etc. 

To enable all passengers to be safely returned to solid ground in an emergency scenario, an 
innovative recovery concept need to be also considered for developed for 3S cable cars. All 
functionally relevant parts and equipment should be duplicated and independent of one another. 
The aim of this novel development was to provide the technical and organizational means to ensure 
that all cabins can always be safely returned to the nearest station at the time of any type of 
stoppages or emergency. 
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Annex – II 

(Schedule-D) 

CEN Standards 

 

(Subject to change as per latest releases of CEN by European Standards Organization) 

 

Standard Number Standard Description Application 
EN 1709:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 

installations designed to carry 
persons - Pre-commissioning 
inspection, maintenance, operational 
inspection and checks 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 1907:2005 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons – Terminology 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 1908:2015 Safety requirements of cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Tensioning devices 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 1909:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Recovery and evacuation 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12385-8:2002 Steel wire ropes - Safety – Part 8: 
Stranded hauling and carrying-
hauling ropes for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12385-9:2002 Steel wire ropes - Safety – Part 9: 
Locked coil carrying ropes for 
Cableway installations designed to 
carry persons 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12397:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons – Operations 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12408:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Quality control 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-1:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes – Part 1: Selection 
criteria for ropes and their end 
fixings 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-2:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 
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Standard Number Standard Description Application 
persons - Ropes - Part 2: Safety 
factors 

EN 12927-3:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 3: Long 
splicing of 6 strand hauling, carrying 
hauling and towing ropes 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-4:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 4: End fixings 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-5:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 5: Storage, 
transportation, installation and 
tensioning 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-6:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 6: Discard 
criteria 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-7:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 7. Inspection, 
repair and maintenance 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12927-8:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Ropes - Part 8. Magnetic 
rope testing (MRT) 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12929-1:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - General requirements Part 
1: Requirements for all installations 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 12929-2:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - General requirements Part 
2: Additional requirements for 
reversible bi-cable aerial ropeways 
without carrier truck brakes 

All types of Aerial Ropeways 

EN 12930:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons – Calculations 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 13107:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons – Civil engineering works 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 13223:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons – Drive systems and other 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 
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Standard Number Standard Description Application 
mechanical equipment 

EN 13243:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Electrical equipment other 
than for drive systems 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 13796-1:2005 
EN 13796- 
1:2005/AC:2007 

Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Carriers - Part 1: Grips, 
carrier trucks, onboard brakes, 
cabins, chairs, carriages, 
maintenance carriers, tow- hangers 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners (as applicable for 
ropeway configuration) 

EN 13796-2:2005 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Carriers - Part 2: Slipping 
resistance test for grips 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 13796-3:2005 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry 
persons - Carriers – Part 3: Fatigue 
tests 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

EN 15700:2011 Safety for conveyor belts for winter 
sport or leisure use 

 

CEN/TR 14819-1 Safety recommendations for 
cableway installations designed to 
carry persons- Prevention and fight 
against fire - Part 1 Funicular railways 
in tunnels 

All types of Aerial Ropeways, 
Cable Liners 

CEN/TR 14819-2 Safety recommendations for 
cableway installations designed to 
carry persons- Prevention and fight 
against fire - Part 2: Other funicular 
railways and other installations 

All types of Cable Liners 

 

CEN EN 1709:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons – Pre 
commissioning inspection, maintenance, 
operational inspection and checks 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 1908:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Recovery and 
evacuation 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 1909:2004 Steel wire ropes - Safety – Part 8: Stranded 
hauling and carrying – hauling ropes for 
Cableway installations designed to carry 
persons 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12385-9:2002 Steel wire ropes - Safety – Part 9: Locked coil All types of Aerial 
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carrying ropes for cableway installations 
designed to carry persons 

Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12397:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons – Operation 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-1:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 1: 
Selection criteria for ropes and their end 
fixings 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-2:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 2: 
Safety factors 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-3:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 3: 
Long splicing of 6 strand hauling, carrying 
hauling and towing ropes 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-4:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 4: 
End fixings 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-5:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 5: 
Storage, transportation, installation and 
tensioning 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-6:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Ropes - Part 6: 
Discard criteria 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-7:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons - 
Ropes – Part 7: Inspection, repair and 
maintenance 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12927-8:2004 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons - 
Ropes - Part 
8: Magnetic rope testing (MRT) 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 12929-1:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons – 
General Requirements – Part 1: 
Requirements for All 
Installations 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways 

CEN EN 12929-2:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons – 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
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General Requirements – Part 2: Additional 
Requirements for reversible bi-cable aerial 
ropeways without carrier truck brakes 

Liners 

CEN EN 12930:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons – 
Calculations 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 13107:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons – Civil 
engineering works 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 13223:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons - 
Drive systems and 
other mechanical equipment 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 13243:2015 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons - 
Electrical equipment other than for drive 
systems 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 13796-1:2005 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations 
designed to carry persons - Carriers - Part 1: 
Grips, carrier trucks, onboard brakes, cabins, 
chairs, carriages, maintenance carriers, tow 
hangers 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners (as applicable 
for ropeway 
configuration) 

CEN EN 
137961:2005/AC:2007 
EN 13796-2:2005 

Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons - 
Carriers - Part 2: Slipping resistance test for 
grips 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

CEN EN 13796-3:2005 Safety requirements for cableway 
installations designed to carry persons -
Carriers - Part 3: Fatigue tests 

All types of Aerial 
Ropeways, Cable 
Liners 

 

 

Standard Number Standard Description Application 
ASCE 21 - 13 Automated People Movers (APMs) Cable Liners 
ONORM 2000/9/EG Directive Relating to Cableway Installations 

Designed to Carry 
Persons  

Cable Liners 

EN ISO 12944 Paints & Varnishes: Corrosion Protection of 
Steel Structures by Protective Paint Systems  

Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 

EN 1090 Execution of Steel and Aluminum Structures Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 

EN 1993 Design of Steel Structures Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 
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Standard Number Standard Description Application 
IEEE 518 Requirements for Harmonic Control in 

Electric Power Systems  
Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 

IEEE 802.11 Standard of Information Technology –
Telecommunications and Information 
Exchange Between Systems – Local and 
Metropolitan Area Networks 

Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 

IEC 61131 - 3 Programmable Controllers – Part 3: 
Programming Languages 

Cable Liners and all types 
of aerial systems where 
applicable 
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Schedule – D - I 

 

Indian Standards for Construction of Marine Structures 

 IS 4651 – Part – 1 – 1974 Code of practice for planning and design of ports and harbours: 
Part 1 Site investigation 

 IS 4651–Part 2–1989 Code of practice for planning and design of ports and harbours 
 Part 2 Earth pressure 
 IS 4651-Part III-1974 Code of practice for planning and design of ports and harbours: 
 Part III: Loading 
 IS 4651- Part 4 -1989 Code of practice for planning and design of ports and harbours: 
 Part 4: General Design consideration. 
 IS 4651-Part 5-1980: 
 IS7314: 1974 
 IS 9527: Part 1: 1981 
 IS 9527: Part 3:: 1983 
 IS 9527: Part 4: 1980 
 IS 9527: Part 6: 1989 
 IS 10020: Part 4: 1981 
 IS 9556: 1980 
 Code of practice for planning and design of ports and harbours Part:5 Layout and functional 

requirements 
 Glossary of terms relating to port and harbour engineering 
 Code of practice for design and construction of port and harbour structures: Part 1  
 Concrete monoliths Code of practice for design and construction of port and harbor 

structure: Part 3 Sheet pile walls  
 Code of practice for design and construction of port and harbour structure: Part 4 Cellular 

Sheet pile structures 
 Code of practice for design and construction of port and harbour structures: Part 6 Block 

work Recommendations for design and construction of port and harbour components Part 4 
Slipways. Code of Practice for design and construction of diaphragm walls 

Indian Standards for Foundation Work 

 IS 2911: Part 1:Sec 1:1979 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations 
Part 1 Concrete piles, Section 1, Driven cast in-situ concrete piles 

 IS 2911: Part 1: Sec 2:1979 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations: 
Part 1 Concrete piles, Section 2 Bored cast in-situ piles 

 IS 2911: Part 1:Sec 3:1979 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations: 
Part 1 Concrete piles, Section 3 Driven pre-cast concrete piles 

 IS 2911: Part1: Sec 4:1984 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations. 
Part 1 Concrete piles, Section 4 Bored pre-cast concrete piles 
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 IS 2911: Part 2: 1980 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations: Part 2 
Timber piles 

 IS 2911: Part 3: 1980 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations: Part 3 
Under reamed piles. 

 IS 2911: Part 4: 1985 Code of practice for design and construction of pile foundations: Part 4 
Load test on piles 

 IS 2950: Part 1: 1981 Code of practice for design and construction of raft foundations – Part 
I: Design 

 IS 2974: Part 1: 1982 Code of practice for design and construction of Machine Foundations- 
Part 1: Foundation for Reciprocating Type Machines. 

 IS 2974: Part 2: 1980 Code of practice for design and construction of machine foundations. 
Para 2 Foundations for impact type machine (hammer foundations) 

 IS 2974: Para 3: 1992 Code of practice for design and construction of machine foundations 
for rotary type machines (medium and high frequency) 

 IS 2974:: 1979: Code of practice for design and construction of machine foundations: Part 4 
Foundations for rotary type machines of low frequency. 

 IS 2974: Part 5: 1987 Code of practice for design and construction of machine foundations 
Part 5 Foundations for impact machines other than hammers (forging and stamping press, 
pig breaker drop crusher and jolter) 

 IS 1080: 1985 Code of Practice for design and construction of shallow foundations on soils 
(other than raft, ring and shell). 

 IS 13094: 1992 Guidelines for Selection of ground improvement techniques for foundation 
in weak soils. 

Indian Standards for Structural Design 

 IS 875(Part I to V): 1987 Code of Practice for design loads (other than earth quake) for 
buildings – dead loads, imposed loads, wind loads, snow loads, special loads and load 
combinations. 

 IS 456: 2000 Code of Practice for plain and reinforced concrete. 
 IS: 800: 1984 Code of practice for general construction in steel 
 IS: 801: 1975 Code of practice for use of cold formed light gauge steel structural members in 

general building construction. 
 IS: 803: 1976 Code of practice for Design fabrication and Erection of vertical mild steel 

cylindrical welded oil storage tanks. 
 IS 1893: Part 1: 2002 Criteria for Earthquake Resistant Design of Structures Part I – General 

Provision and Buildings 
 IS 1893: Part 4: 2005 Criteria for earth quake resistant design of structures –Part 4- 

Industrial Structures including Stack-like Structures. 
 IS 4326: 1993 Code of Practice for Earth Quake Resistant design and construction of 

buildings. 

C-2 Electric Cranes - Wharf and Gantry Cranes 
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The crane and its mechanisms shall be designed and constructed in compliance with the latest 
editions and amendments of the following standards and codes of practice. Standards equivalent or 
higher in BS, JIS, FEM, DIN, ISO, IEC are also acceptable. 

Structures and Mechanism 

 IS 807: 2006 - Code of practice for fatigue IS 4137 – 1985 Design, erection and testing 
(Structural Portion) of Cranes and Hoists – Code of Practice. 

 BS 5400 – Part 10 Steel concrete and composite bridges Specification for heavy duty electric 
overhead traveling and special cranes for use in steel works. 

Material 

 IS 800: 1984 Code of Practice for general construction in steel 
 IS 2062: 2006 Hot rolled low medium and high tensile Structural Steel 
 IS 2644: 1994 High tensile steel castings 

C-3 Mobile Equipment 

 IS 4357: 2004 Methods for Stability Testing of Fork Lift Trucks 
 IS 4573: 1982 Specification for Power Driven Mobile Cranes 
 IS 13473: Part 2:1992/ Cranes - Vocabulary Part 2 Mobile cranes ISO 4306-1985 
 IS 13558: Part 2:1995/ Cranes - Controls - Layout and Characteristics – Part ISO 7752 –2- 

1986 Mobile Cranes 
 IS 13834 : Part 2: 1993/ Cranes - Classification: Part 2 Mobile cranes ISO 4301 – 2 :1985 
 IS 13870: Part 2: 1993/ Cranes and Lifting Appliances - Selection of Wire ISO 4308 : 1988 

Ropes - Part 2: Mobile Cranes - Coefficient of utilization 
 IS 14469: 1997/ Mobile Cranes - Determination of Stability ISO 4305 - 1991 
 IS 14474: Part 1: 1997/ Mobile Cranes - Experimental Determination of Crane ISO 11662-

1:1995 Performance – Part 1 : Tipping Loads and Radii 
 IS 3173: 1965 Specification for High pressure connections 

Electrical 

IS 325: 1996 Three-phase induction motors 
IS 900: 1992 Code of practice for installation and maintenance of induction motors 
IS 1231: 1974 Dimensions of Three-phase Foot-mounted Induction Motors 
IS 2223: 1983 Dimensions of flange mounted ac induction motors 
IS 3682: 1966 Flame-proof ac motors for use in mines 
IS 3842: Part 2 : 1966 Application guide for electrical relays for ac systems: -Part 2 Over 

current relays for generators and motors 
IS 4029: 1967 Guide for testing three-phase induction motors 
IS 8151: 1976 Single-speed three-phase induction motors for driving lifts 

IS 8789: 1996 Values of performance characteristics for three phase induction motors 
IS 9628: 1980 Three-phase induction motors with type of protection 'n' 
IS 10242: Part 3 : Sec 1:1983 Electrical installations in ships: Part 3 Equipment, Sec 1 

Generators and motors 
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IS 12615: 2004 Energy Efficient Induction Motors - Three Phase Squirrel Cage 
IS 13529: 1992 Guide on Effects of Unbalanced Voltages on the Performance of Three-

Phase Cage Induction Motors 
IS 13555: 1993 Guide for Selection and Application of 3-Phase A. C. Induction Motors 

for Different Types of Driven Equipment 
IS 14122: 1994 Built in thermal protection for electric motors rated up to 660 V ac 
IS 14377: 1996 Specification for Three-phase Induction Motors for Fans Used in Air-

conditioning and Ventilation 
IS 15429: 2004 Storage, Installation and Maintenance of DC Motors - Code of Practice 
IS 3043: 1987 Code of practice for earthing 
IS 3151: 1982 Earthing transformers  
IS 5553(Part 6) 1991 Reactor Parts – Earthing of Transformers 
IS 9921: Part 1: 1981 Specification for Alternating Current Disconnections (Isolators) and 

Earthing Switches for Voltages above 1 000 V - Part I: General and 
Definitions 

IS 9921: Part 2: 1982 Alternating current disconnections (isolators) and earthing switches for 
voltages above 1000 V: Part 2 Rating 

IS 9921: Part III : 1982 Specification for Alternating Current Disconnections (Isolators) and 
Earthing Switches for Voltages above 1000 V - Part III: Design and 
Construction 

IS 9921: Part 4: 1985 Specificatio n for Alternating Current Disconnections (isolators) and 
Earthing Switches for Voltages Above 1000 V - Part 4: Type Tests And 
Routine Tests 

IS 9921: Part 5: 1985 Specification for Alternating Current Disconnections (Isolators) and 
Earthing Switches for Voltages Above 1000 v - Part 5: Information to 
be given with Tenders, Enquiries and Orders 

IS 12776: 2002 Galvanized Strand for Earthing – Specification 
IS 14981: 2001 Live Working - Earthing or Earthing and Short Circuiting Equipment 

Using Lances as a Short- Circuiting Device-Lance Earthing 
IS 13947: Part 2 : 1993 Specification for Low-voltage Switchgear and Control gear - Part 2 : 

Circuit Breakers 
IS 14658: 1999 High Voltage Alternating Current Circuit Breakers - Guide for Short-

circuit and Switching Test Procedures for Metal-enclosed and Dead 
Tank Circuit Breakers 

IS 8828: 1996 Electrical Accessories - Circuit Breakers for Over Current Protection for 
Household and Similar Installations 

IS 2309: 1989 Code of Practice for Protection of allied structure against lightning 
IS 732: 1989 Code of Practice for Electric wiring installation 
IS 694: 1990 PVC insulated Cables for working voltages upto and including 1100V 
IS 1554 (Part 1):1988 PVC insulated (Heavy Duty) electric cables : Part 1 for working voltages 

upto and including 1100 V 
IS 1554 (Part 2) : 1988 PVC insulated (Heavy Duty) electric cables : Part 2 for working volages 

from 3.3 kV upto and including 11 kV 
IS 7098 (Part 1) : 1988 Cross linked Polyethelene insulated PVC sheathed cables Part 1 for 

working voltages upto and including 1100 V 
IS 7098 (Part 2) : 1985 Cross linked Polyethelene insulated PVC sheathed cables Part 2 for 

working voltages from 3.3 kV upto and including 33 kV 
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IS 7098 (Part 3) : 1988 Cross linked Polyethelene insulated PVC sheathed cables Part 3 for 
working voltages from 66 kV upto and including 220 kV 

IS 10118 (Part 1) : 1982 Code of Practice for selection, installation & maintenance of 
switchgears and Control gears : Part 1 General 

IS 10118 (Part 2) : 1982 Code of Practice for selection, installation & maintenance of 
switchgears and Control gears: Part 2 Selection 

IS 10118 (Part 3) : 1982 Code of Practice for selection, installation & maintenance of 
switchgears and Control gears: Part 3 Installation 

IS 10118 (Part 4) : 1982 1982 Code of Practice for selection, installation & maintenance of 
switchgears and Control gears: Part 4 Maintenance 

 

For all other equipment not covered in the above standards, equivalent or higher standards in BS, 
JIS, FEM, DIN, ISO, IEC, are acceptable. 

E. Operations & Maintenance Standards: 

Repairs, Maintenance and Replacement 

The Concessionaire at it’s own cost promptly and diligently maintain, replace or restore any of the 
project facilities or part thereof which may be lost, damaged, destroyed or worn out. 

The Concessionaire shall abide by the operations and maintenance plan as outlined in the approved 
DPR. 

While carrying out the repairing, maintaining and replacing the project facilities, the Concessionaire 
acknowledges and accepts that it is holding and maintaining the concession or assets, project 
facilities in trust for eventual transfer to the Concessioning Authority on termination of the 
agreement and therefore, will not do any act as a result of which the value of Port Assets and 
Project Facilities and Services is diminished. 

The Concessionaire shall, at all times during the Concession Period, at its own risk, cost, charges and 
expenses, performance and pay for maintenance repairs, renewals and replacement of various type 
of assets and equipment in the concessionaire premises and /or the project or any parts thereof, 
whether due to use and operations or due to deterioration of materials and /or parts, so that on the 
expiry or termination of Concession, the same shall except normal wear and tear be in good working 
condition as it were at the time of commencement of the Concession. 

 

While carrying out the repair, maintenance and replacement of the project facilities, the 
Concessionaire shall carry out the work in accordance with the manufacturer’s recommendations 
and the relevant latest Indian Standards or in its absence ISO/OISD Standards. In the event that the 
concessionaire, by necessity or otherwise need to follow any other country standard and it shall be 
equal or superior to the standard specified above. The repairs and maintenance shall generally 
conform to the following specifications. 

E.1 Maintenance Standards 

ISO 4308-1-2003 Maintenance of lifting appliances 
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ISO 4309-2004 Cranes wire rope care, maintenance and discard 
IS 13367: Part 1 : 1992 Safe use of cranes – Code of Practice Part 1 General 
BS 7121-2-2003 Code of Practice for safe use of cranes, inspection, testing & 

examination 
BS 7121-4-1997 Code of Practice for safe use of cranes (Lorry Loaders) 
BS 7121-5-2006 Code of Practice for safe use of cranes (Tower Cranes) 
 

E.2 Painting  

IS 144 : 1950 Ready mixed paint, brushing, petrol resisting, air-drying, for 
interior painting of tanks and container, red oxide (colour 
unspecified) 

IS 145 : 1950 Ready mixed paint, slushing, petrol resisting, air-drying for interior 
painting of tanks and containers, red oxide (colour unspecified) 

IS 146 : 1950 Specification for ready mixed paint, brushing, petrol resisting, 
stoving, for interior painting of tanks and containers, red oxide 
(colour unspecified) 

IS 147 : 1950 Specification for ready mixed paint, slushing, petrol resisting, 
stoving, for interior painting of tanks and containers, red oxide 
(colour unspecified) 

IS 164 : 1981 Specification for Ready mixed paint for road marking (first 
revision) 

IS 1419 : 1989 Antifouling paint, brushing for ship’s bottom and hulls-
Specification (second revision) 

IS 6714 : 1989 Ready mixed paint, finishing, non-slip, deck– Specification (first 
revision) 

IS 6948 : 1973 Specification for Ready mixed paint, undercoat, synthetic for ships 
IS 6951 : 1973 Specification for Ready mixed paint, finishing, exterior for ships 
IS 1477 : Part I : 1971 Code of Practice for Painting of Ferrous Metals in Buildings - Part I 

: Pretreatment 
IS 1477 : Part 2 : 1971 Code of practice for painting of ferrous metals in buildings: Part2 

Painting 
IS 9954 : 1981 Pictorial Surface Preparation Standards for Painting of Steel 

Surfaces 
 

F. Safety Standards 

The Concessionaire shall ensure compliance with the safety standards set out under Applicable 
Law/international conventions, as relevant, from time to time including those required under the 
following: 

1) Dock Workers (Safety, Health and Welfare) Act, 1986 & Regulations framed thereunder of 
1990. 

2) The Manufacture, Storage and Import of Hazardous Chemicals Rules, 1989. 
3) The Petroleum Act, 1934 along with the Petroleum Rules, 2002. 
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4) OISD – Guidelines – 156 (Oil Industry Safety Directorate): Fire Protection Facilities for Port 
Oil Terminals. 

5) The Explosives Act, 1884 alongwith The Explosive Substance Act, 1983 & The Explosive 
Rules, 1983 

6) Guidelines by Fire Advisor, CCE & DG FASLI, Government of India 
7) National Fire Codes (National Fire Protection Association –USA) 
8) Drill Manual for the Fire Services of India. 
9) International Safety Guide for Oil Tankers & Terminals. 
10) ISPS (International Ship & Port Facility Security) Code (2003 Edition) 
11) MARPOL CONVENTION 
12) International Maritime Dangerous Goods Code 

 

[Besides the above, the Concessioning Authority may prescribe standards specific to the port/project] 
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Schedule E: APPLICABLE PERMITS 
 

Applicable Permits 

The Concessionaire shall obtain, as required under the Applicable Laws, the following Applicable Permits 
on or before the Appointed Date, save and except to the extent of a waiver granted by the Authority in 
accordance with Clause 4.1.1 of the Agreement. 

(A) Indicative list of Approvals/Permits to be obtained by the Concessionaire 

Sr. No. Description 

Approvals Required 
1. No Objection Certificate from the UT Administration (if applicable) 
2. Consent to Establish under the Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981 and 

Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974 from Pollution Control Board (UT 
and Centre). 

3. Forest clearance from Ministry of Environment and Forest. 
4. No-Objection certificate from Diu Municipal Council in whose territorial limits the project is 

located, if applicable. 

5. CRZ/Environment Clearance 
6. Consent for Right of Way under applicable law ( if applicable) 

7. NOC for height clearance from directorate of air traffic management, Airport Authority of 
India when project lies within 20Kms radius of air strips/funnel. 

8. Approval under Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Sites and Remains Act, 1958 with 
subsequent amendments 

9. No Objection Certificate from the UT Administration (if applicable) 
10. Consent to Establish under the Air (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1981 and 

Water (Prevention and Control of Pollution) Act, 1974 from Pollution Control Board (UT 
and Centre). 

11. Compliance under the Building and Other Construction Workers (Regulation of 
Employment and Conditions of Service) Act, 1996. 

12. No-Objection certificate from relevant panchayat in whose territorial limits the project is 
located, if applicable. 

13. Clearance of fire safety standards and protection apparatus and system under the 
Factories Act, 1948, and standards mandated by the local fire department, if applicable 
from Chief Inspector of Factories or any other designated authority appointed. 

14. Compliance under Maternity Benefit Act, 1961. 

15. License for usage and storage of fuel oil storage tank, pressurized vessels, explosive and 
inflammable liquids, gases and chemicals under (a) Explosives Act, 1884 read with 
Explosives Rules, 2008 and Gas Cylinder Rules, 2004; and (b) Petroleum Act, 1934 read 
with Petroleum Rules, 2002, if applicable from Chief Controller of Explosives, GoI, if 
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Sr. No. Description 

Approvals Required 
applicable. 

16. Approval under the Electricity Act 2003 for electrical installations and works form Chief 
Electrical Inspector. 

17. Other facilitation that could be obtained from the nodal agency is statutory clearances 
from Govt. Departments/Agencies, Evacuation approval from State/UT Transmission Utility 
(STU), Connectivity to the substation of STU, clearances from State/UT Pollution Control 
Board (SPCB), whenever feasible. 

18. Certificate of Registration from the labour department issued under the Inter- State 
Migrant Workmen (Regulations of Employment and Conditions of Services) Act, 1979 in 
relation to employment of migrant workmen. 

19. Registration under Section 7 of Contract Labour (Regulation and Abolition) Act, 1970. 
20. Registration under Employees Provident Fund and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952. 
21. Authorization for management and handling of hazardous waste under Hazardous Waste 

(Management, Handling & Transboundary Movement) Rules, 2016. 
22. Registration under Employee State Insurance Act, 1948. 
23. Any other clearance required for commercial operation. 
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Schedule F: PERFORMANCE SECURITY 
To 

Chief Executive Officer  
Diu Smart City Limited  
Diu, 
 
WHEREAS: 
 

A. ___________ (the "Concessionaire") which has been accepted by Chief Executive officer, Diu 
Smart City Ltd (the "Authority") vide letter No. ______________ dated shall be signing the 
Concession Agreement (the "Agreement") with the Authority within 30 days from the date of 
issue of Letter of Award (the "LOA") to the Successful Bidder for undertaking the Development 
of Passenger Ropeway System at Diu to Ghoghla in Diu on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and 
Transfer Basis under PPP Model, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the 
Agreement. 

 
B. The Agreement requires the Concessionaire to furnish a Construction Period Performance 

Security to the Authority in a sum of Rs _____________ (Rupees in words) (the "Guarantee 
Amount") as security for due and faithful performance of its obligations, under and in 
accordance with the Agreement, during the Construction Period (as defined in the Agreement). 
 

C. We, _________ through our Branch at ___________ (the "Bank") have agreed to furnish this 
Bank. 
 
Guarantee by way of Construction Period Performance Security. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Bank hereby, unconditionally and irrevocably, guarantees and affirms as 
follows: 

 
1. The Bank hereby unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the due and faithful performance 

of the Concessionaire's obligations during the Construction Period, under and in accordance 
with the Agreement, and agrees and undertakes to pay to the Authority, upon its mere first 
written demand, and without any demur, reservation, recourse, contest or protest, and without 
any reference to the Concessionaire, such sum or sums up to an aggregate sum of the 
Guarantee Amount as the Authority shall claim, without the Authority being required to prove 
or to show grounds or reasons for its demand and/or for the sum specified therein. 
 

2. A letter from the Authority, under the hand of an officer not below the rank of Director, in the 
Directorate of Tourism, Government of Madhya Pradesh, that the Concessionaire has 
committed default in the due and faithful performance of all or any of its obligations under and 
in accordance with the Agreement shall be conclusive, final and binding on the Bank. The Bank 
further agrees that the Authority shall be the sole judge as to whether the Concessionaire is in 
default in due and faithful performance of its obligations during the Construction Period under 
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the Agreement and its decision that the Concessionaire is in default shall be final, and binding 
on the Bank, notwithstanding any differences between the Authority and the Concessionaire, or 
any dispute between them pending before any court, tribunal, arbitrators or any other authority 
or body, or by the discharge of the Concessionaire for any reason whatsoever. 
 

3. In order to give effect to this Guarantee, the Authority shall be entitled to act as if the Bank 
were the principal debtor and any change in the constitution of the Concessionaire and/or the 
Bank, whether by their absorption with any other body or corporation or otherwise, shall not in 
any way or manner affect the liability or obligation of the Bank under this Guarantee. 
 

4. It shall not be necessary, and the Bank hereby waives any necessity, for the Authority to 
proceed against the Concessionaire before presenting to the Bank its demand under this 
Guarantee. 
 

5. The Authority shall have the liberty, without affecting in any manner the liability of the Bank 
under this Guarantee, to vary at any time, the terms and conditions of the Agreement or to 
extend the time or period for the compliance with, fulfillment and/ or performance of all or any 
of the obligations of the Concessionaire contained in the Agreement or to postpone for any 
time, and from time to time, any of the rights and powers exercisable by the Authority against 
the Concessionaire, and either to enforce or forbear from enforcing any of the terms and 
conditions contained in the Agreement and/or the securities available to the Authority, and the 
Bank shall not be released from its liability and obligation under these presents by any exercise 
by the Authority of the liberty with reference to the matters aforesaid or by reason of time 
being given to the Concessionaire or any other forbearance, indulgence, act or omission on the 
part of the Authority or of any other matter or thing whatsoever which under any law relating to 
sureties and guarantors would but for this provision have the effect of releasing the Bank from 
its liability and obligation under this Guarantee and the Bank hereby waives all of its rights 
under any such law. 
 

6. This Guarantee is in addition to and not in substitution of any other guarantee or security now 
or which may hereafter be held by the Authority in respect of or relating to the Agreement or 
for the fulfillment, compliance and/or performance of all or any of the obligations of the 
Concessionaire under the Agreement. 
 

7. Notwithstanding anything contained hereinbefore, the liability of the Bank under this Guarantee 
is restricted to the Guarantee Amount and this Guarantee will remain in force until the expiry of 
6 (six) months beyond the Commercial Operation Date and unless a demand or claim in writing 
is made by the Authority on the Bank under this Guarantee, not later than 6 (six) months from 
the date of expiry of this Guarantee, all rights of the Authority under this Guarantee shall be 
forfeited and the Bank shall be relieved from its liabilities hereunder. 
 

8. The Bank undertakes not to revoke this Guarantee during its currency, except with the previous 
express consent of the Authority in writing, and declares that it has the power to issue this 
Guarantee and the undersigned has full powers to do so on behalf of the Bank. 
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9. Any notice by way of request, demand or otherwise hereunder may be sent by post addressed 

to the Bank at its above referred Branch, which shall be deemed to have been duly authorized to 
receive such notice and to effect payment thereof forthwith, and if sent by post it shall be 
deemed to have been given at the time when it ought to have been delivered in due course of 
post and in proving such notice, when given by post, it shall be sufficient to prove that the 
envelope containing the notice was posted and a certificate signed by an officer of the Authority 
that the envelope was so posted shall be conclusive. 
 

10. This Guarantee shall come into force with immediate effect and shall remain in force and effect 
up to or until it is released earlier by the Authority pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement. 

 

Signed and sealed this ___ day of ___, 20____ at ________. SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED For 
and on behalf of the BANK by: 

 

(Signature) 
(Name)  
(Designation) 
(Code Number)  
(Address) 
 

NOTES: 

 

i. The bank guarantee should contain the name, designation and code number of the officer(s) 
signing the guarantee. 

ii. The address, telephone number and other details of the Head office of the Bank as well as of 
issuing Branch should be mentioned on the covering letter of issuing branch. 
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Schedule G: PROJECT COMPLETION SCHEDULE 

(See Clause 12.1) 

 

1. Project Completion Schedule 

During Construction Period, the Concessionaire shall comply with the requirements set forth in this 
Schedule - G for each of the Project Milestones and the Scheduled Completion Date (the "Project 
Completion Schedule"). Within 15 (fifteen) days of the date of each Project Milestone, the 
Concessionaire shall notify the Authority of such compliance along with necessary particulars 
thereof. 

2. Project Milestone I 

Project Milestone I shall occur on the date falling on the 270th (two hundred and Seventy) day from 
the Appointed Date (the "Project Milestone I"). 

2.1 Prior to the occurrence of Project Milestone I, the Concessionaire shall have completed the 
construction of upper terminal station, lower terminal station and foundation work for towers along 
the ropeway alignment. 

3. Project Milestone II 

3.1 Project Milestone I shall occur on the date falling on the 360th (Three hundred and Sixty) day 
from the Appointed Date (the "Project Milestone I"). 

3.2 Prior to the occurrence of Project Milestone I, the Concessionaire shall have erected the towers 
along the ropeway alignment. 

4. Project Milestone III 

4.1 Project Milestone III shall occur on the date falling on the 450th (four hundred and fifty) day 
from the Appointed Date (the "Project Milestone III"). 

4.2 Prior to the occurrence of Project Milestone III, the Concessionaire shall have installed the wire 
rope and other equipment, cabins, bull wheels and motors. 

5. Scheduled Completion Date 

5.1 The Scheduled Completion Date shall occur on the 540th (Five hundred and forty) day from the 
Appointed Date. 

5.2 On or before the Scheduled Completion Date, the Concessionaire shall have completed the 
construction, installation, testing and commissioning of the entire ropeway system in accordance 
with this Agreement. 

 

*The milestones listed above are tentative and may be amended according to the detailed project 
report (DPR) as shall be submitted by the Concessionaire and approved by the Authority. 
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6. Extension of period 

Upon extension of any or all of the aforesaid Project Milestones or the Scheduled Completion Date, 
as the case may be, under and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, the Project 
Completion Schedule shall be deemed to have been amended accordingly. 
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Schedule H: DRAWINGS 
 

1. Drawings 

In compliance of the obligations set forth in Clause 12.3 of this Agreement, the Concessionaire 
shall furnish to the Independent Engineer, free of cost, all Drawings listed in Annex I of this 
Schedule H. 

 

2. Additional drawings 
2.1. If the Authority or Independent Engineer determines that for discharging its duties and 

functions under this Agreement, it requires any drawings other than those listed in Annex I, it 
may by notice require the Concessionaire to prepare and furnish such drawings forthwith. 
Upon receiving a requisition to this effect, the Concessionaire shall promptly prepare and 
furnish such drawings to the Independent Engineer, as if such drawings formed part of Annex I 
of this Schedule H. 
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Annex I 

(Schedule H) 

 

List of Drawings 

i. Site plan 
ii. Terminal Plan at Diu 

iii. Terminal Plan at Ghoghla 
iv. Building plan (floor wise) 
v. Structural Plan and design of all the structures (including Piers, towers, terminal, and any other 

structures) 
vi. Architectural plan and design of all the structures (including Piers, towers, terminal, and any 

other structures) 
vii. Commercial area plan 

viii. Operational area plan 
ix. Traffic dispersal plan 
x. Parking plan 

xi. Green area planning/ Landscape layout 
xii. Any other plans required for this Project 
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Schedule I: SELECTION OF INDEPENDENT ENGINEER 
 (See Clause 22.1 and 22.2) 

 

 

1. Selection of Independent Engineer 
 
1.1. The provisions of the Model Request for Proposals for selection of technical consultants, issued 

by the Ministry of Finance, Government of India vide OM 24(23)/PF-II/ 2008 dated 21, May 
2009, or any substitute thereof shall apply for selection of an experienced firm to discharge the 
functions and duties of an Independent Engineer provided it is certified by CEN. Provided, 
however, that no entity which is owned or controlled by the Authority shall be eligible for 
appointment as the Independent Engineer. The Independent engineer during project 
implementation/ construction phase shall be the PMC already engaged by DSCL for Diu Smart 
City project. 

1.2. In the event of termination of an Independent Engineer appointed in accordance with the 
provisions of Paragraph 1.1, the Authority shall appoint another firm of technical consultants 
forthwith or may engage a government-owned entity in accordance with the provisions of 
Paragraph 5 of this Schedule-I. 
 

2. Term of Reference  
2.1. The Terms of Reference for the Independent Engineer shall substantially conform to this 

Schedule-I. 
 

3. Fee and expenses 
3.1. All the payments shall be borne entirely by the Authority in accordance with the provisions of 

this Agreement. 
 

4. Selection in every three year 
4.1. No later than 3 (three) years from the date of appointment of the Independent Engineer, in 

accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 1 of this Schedule-I, the Authority shall engage 
another firm in accordance with the criteria set forth in this Schedule-I. 
 

5. Appointment of government entity as Independent Engineer 
5.1. [Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Schedule - I, the Authority may in 

its discretion appoint a government-owned entity as the Independent Engineer; provided that 
such entity shall be a body corporate having as one of its primary function the provision of 
consulting, advisory and supervisory services for engineering projects and shall be accredited 
and/or approved by the CEN or enter into an agreement with an agency which is accredited 
and/or approved by CEN; provided further that a government- owned entity which is owned or 
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controlled by the Authority shall not be eligible for appointment as an Independent Engineer.] 
(Annex-1) 

II Terms of Reference for Independent Engineer 

1. Scope 
 
1.1. These Terms of Reference for the Independent Engineer (the "TOR") are being specified 

pursuant to the Concession Agreement dated __________ (the "Agreement"), which has been 
entered into between the Authority and _____________ (the "Concessionaire") for 
Development of Passenger Ropeway System at Diu to Ghoghla in Diu on Design, Build, Finance, 
Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Model (“Project”), and a copy of which is annexed hereto 
and marked as Annex A to form part of this TOR. 
 

1.2. This TOR shall apply to only construction, supervision and monitoring of the Project. 
 

2. Terms for Reference for Test Standards and Other Documentation 
 
2.1. The present CEN Standards are of the year 2015 which are revised from time to time. 

The latest standards will be applicable for test standards. 

The inspection is based on the following regulations and directives: 

1. Testing and inspection is carried out mainly based on the technical and procedural 
standards listed below. In addition, the provisions referred to in these documents and 
implementing guide-lines shall be applied. 

Directive 2000/9/EC relating cableway installations designed to carry persons. 

“Safety requirements for cableway installations designed to carry persons” (European 
standards), particularly: 

- EN 1709:2004: Precommissioning inspection, maintenance, operational inspection and checks 

- EN 12929-1:2004: General requirements – Part 1: Requirements for all installations 

- EN 13223:2004: Drive systems and other mechanical equipment 

- EN 13243:2004: Electrical equipment other than for drive systems – EN 12397:2004: Operation 

2. The technical partner/equipment supplier will provide relevant equipment related technical 
details regarding their equipment to the CEN certified auditor to cover the following scope: 

 
 Scope of examination 
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 Hydraulic 
 Review of confirming documents and certificates 
 Inspection of the rope guidance, pre tensioning, rope clearance 
 Inspection of the tensioning device 
 Inspection of the professional installation of the safety relevant components 
 Inspection of the cables and the cable connections 
 Inspection of the line equipment 
 Inspection of the carriers/vehicles including clamping device 
 Inspection of the cabin door system 
 Validation of the safety functions 
 Validation of safety functions recovery drives 
 Adjustment of the brakes 
 Adjustment of the grip force monitoring 
 Trial runs regarding main drive operation 
 Trial runs regarding recovery drives 
 Trial runs regarding braking performance 
 Trial runs regarding anti-collision monitoring 
 Safety signatures 

 

3. Definitions and interpretation 
 

3.1. The words and expressions beginning with or in capital letters used in this TOR and not defined 
herein but defined in the Agreement shall have, unless repugnant to the context, the meaning 
respectively assigned to them in the Agreement. 
 

3.2. References to Articles, Clauses and Schedules in this TOR shall, except where the context 
otherwise requires, be deemed to be references to the Articles, Clauses and Schedules of the 
Agreement, and references to Paragraphs shall be deemed to be references to Paragraphs of 
this TOR. 
 

3.3. The rules of interpretation stated in Clauses 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 of the Agreement shall apply, 
mutatis mutandis, to this TOR. 

 

4. Role and functions of the Independent Engineer 
 
4.1. The role and functions of the Independent Engineer shall include the following: 

The CEN certified entity will test Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway as per the following scope spread over 
the stages of installation: 

 
Phase 1: Design Checking of Ropeway 
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 Counterproof of the design and the project of the supplier; 
 Design and technology check of the planning documents of the supplier, including design 

check of all drawings according to the European ropeway directive 2000/9/EC and according 
to the contract (Scope of supply of the ropeway supplier); 

 Check of all descriptions, safety analysis; 
 Counterproof of the line calculation according to EN 12930, EN 12929-1 and EN13223 with 

an independent line calculation software; 
 Counterproof of all static calculations of the steel parts and concrete works of the ropeway 

according to Eurocode 3; 
 Check of all safety reports (technical studies of Schedule D viz. geological report, 

meteorological report, etc.,); 
 Check all design concerning civil, mechanical and electrical infrastructure as per the relevant 

standard; 
 Final detailed project report (DPR); and 
 One site visits to check the local situation. 

 
 
Phase 2: Quality Check during Execution Phase 
 

Check and control of the quality of the execution of the ropeway on site, monitoring of the time 
schedule, factory acceptance test. In detail this phase will include following items: 

 
 To monitor contractor’s supervision of the construction activities as per predetermined 

inspection test plan; 
 Quality planning and quality assurance; 
 Quality check and final approval of the ropeway foundations; 
 Check of the correct position of all anchor frames and foundation positions; 
 Quality check of the foundation reinforcement steel bars and concrete material; 
 To review and approve construction schedules proposed & periodically updated by 

contractors; 
 To review and approve contractors’ method statement, erection procedures & work plans; 
 To monitor quality of the work being executed through good engineering practices; 
 Check of the correct assembly of all ropeway components; and 
 Factory acceptance test of all ropeway components before dispatching to India. 
 Quality check for civil, mechanical and electrical infrastructure as per the relevant standards. 

 
Phase 3: System Testing for Commissioning of the System 
 
After the internal tests of the supplier, the notified and accredited inspection body, will do the final 
safety tests on the installation which includes: 
 
 check of the correct execution and assembly of the ropeway; 
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 check the final documentation of the supplier including certificates and conformity declaration 
of all safety parts and subsystems; 

 check all safety devices of the ropeway including the correct setting; 
 check the electrical safety control system; 
 check the correct settings of all brakes and drives; 
 check the emergency drive; 
 check the smooth and safe running of the rope and cabins on the line and on the roller 

batteries; 
 check of the operation and maintenance manual; 
 check the experience and the knowledge of the service staff for the operation; 
 check the correct, safe and smooth running of: 

a. the garage system; 
b. the conveyor system; and  
c. the coupling system. 

 check the rescue equipment and do a rescue exercise on the installation. 
 check the civil, mechanical and electrical infrastructure as per the relevant standards. 
 
 
Notified Body: 
 
 Notified body according to the ropeway regulation 200/9/EC, after April ropeway directive 

2016/424/EN; 
 Accredited inspection body according to EN/ISO 17020:2012 and accredited testing body 

according to EN/ISO 17025:2007; 
 All accreditations must be confirmed by a national accreditation body of a county of the EU; 
 At least one inspection engineer should have experience in the project engineering of ropeways; 

and 
 The leading inspection engineers (at least two) should have at least 15 (fifteen) years of ropeway 

experience in ropeway engineering or/and ropeway inspection. 
 
The Independent Engineer shall discharge its duties in a fair, impartial and efficient manner, 
consistent with the highest standards of professional integrity and Good Industry Practice. 
 
4.2. Development Period 
4.2.1. During the Development Period, the Independent Engineer shall undertake a detailed 
review of the Drawings to be furnished by the Concessionaire along with supporting data, including 
the geotechnical and hydrological investigations, characteristics of materials, topographical surveys 
and traffic surveys. The Independent Engineer shall complete such review and send its 
comments/observations to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt 
of such Drawings. In particular, such comments shall specify the conformity or otherwise of such 
Drawings with the Scope of the Project and Specifications and Standards. 
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4.2.2. The Independent Engineer shall review any modified Drawings or supporting Documents 
sent to it by the Concessionaire and furnish its comments within 7 (seven) days of receiving such 
Drawings or Documents. 
 
4.2.3. The Independent Engineer shall review the Drawings sent to it by the Safety Consultant 
in accordance with Schedule-M and furnish its comments thereon to the Authority and the 
Concessionaire within 7 (seven) days of receiving such Drawings. The Independent Engineer shall 
also review the Safety Report and furnish its comments thereon to the Authority within 15 (fifteen) 
days of receiving such report. 
 
4.2.4. The Independent Engineer shall review the detailed design, construction methodology, 
quality assurance procedures and the procurement, engineering and construction time schedule 
sent to it by the Concessionaire and furnish its comments within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt thereof. 
 
4.2.5. The Independent Engineer shall review the detailed design, manufacturing, installation, 
testing and commissioning plans for the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway sent to it by the Concessionaire 
and furnish its comments within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt thereof. 
 
4.2.6. Upon reference by the Authority, the Independent Engineer shall review and comment 
on the EPC contract or any other contract for construction, operation and maintenance of the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway and furnish its comments within 7 (seven) days from receipt of such reference 
from the Authority. 
 

5. Construction Period 
 

5.1. In respect of the Drawings, Documents and Safety Report received by the Independent Engineer for 
its review and comments during the Construction Period, the provisions of Paragraph 4 shall apply, 
mutatis mutandis. 

5.2. The Independent Engineer shall review the monthly progress report furnished by the 
Concessionaire and send its comments thereon to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 7 
(seven) days of receipt of such report. 

 
5.3. The Independent Engineer shall inspect the construction works and electromechanical equipment 

(if any) once every month, preferably after receipt of the monthly progress report from the 
Concessionaire, but before the 20th (twentieth) day of each month in any case, and make out a 
report of such inspection (the “Inspection Report”) setting forth an overview of the status, 
progress, quality and safety of construction, including the work methodology adopted, the 
materials used and their sources, and conformity of Construction Works and electromechanical 
with the Scope of the Project and the Specifications and Standards. In a separate section of the 
Inspection Report, the Independent Engineer shall describe in reasonable detail the lapses, defects 
or deficiencies observed by it in the construction of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway or the deficiencies 
in the electromechanical equipment. The Independent Engineer shall send a copy of its Inspection 
Report to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 7 (seven) days of the inspection. 
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5.4. The Independent Engineer may inspect the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway more than once in a month if 
any lapses, defects or deficiencies require such inspections. In the event that the Concessionaire 
carries out any remedial works for removal or rectification of any defects or deficiencies, the 
Independent Engineer shall require the Concessionaire to carry out, or cause to be carried out, 
tests to determine that such remedial works have brought the Construction Works into conformity 
with the Specifications and Standards, and the provisions of this Paragraph 5 shall apply to such 
tests. 

 
5.5. In the event that the Concessionaire fails to achieve any of the Project Milestones, the Independent 

Engineer shall undertake a review of the progress of construction and identify potential delays, if 
any. If the Independent Engineer shall determine that completion of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway is 
not feasible within the time specified in the Agreement, it shall require the Concessionaire to 
indicate within 15 (fifteen) days the steps proposed to be taken to expedite progress, and the 
period within which COD shall be achieved. Upon receipt of a report from the Concessionaire, the 
Independent Engineer shall review the same and send its comments to the Authority and the 
Concessionaire forthwith. 
 

5.6. If at any time during the Construction Period, the Independent Engineer determines that the 
Concessionaire has not made adequate arrangements for the safety of workers and Users in the 
zone of construction or that any work is being carried out in a manner that threatens the safety of 
the workers and the Users, it shall make a recommendation to the Authority forthwith, identifying 
the whole or part of the Construction Works that should be suspended for ensuring safety in 
respect thereof. 
 

5.7. In the event that the Concessionaire carries out any remedial measures to secure the safety of 
suspended works and Users, it may, by notice in writing, require the Independent Engineer to 
inspect such works, and within 3 (three) days of receiving such notice, the Independent Engineer 
shall inspect the suspended works and make a report to the Authority forthwith, recommending 
whether or not such suspension may be revoked by the Authority. 

5.8. If suspension of Construction Works is for reasons not attributable to the Concessionaire, the 
Independent Engineer shall determine the extension of dates set forth in the Project Completion 
Schedule, to which the Concessionaire is reasonably entitled, and shall notify the Authority and the 
Concessionaire of the same. 
 

5.9. The Independent Engineer shall carry out, or cause to be carried out, all the Tests specified in 
Schedule-I and issue a Completion Certificate. 

 
5.10. For carrying out its functions under this Paragraph 5.10 and all matters incidental thereto, the 

Independent Engineer shall act under and in accordance with the provisions of Article 14 and 
Schedule-I. 

 
5.11. Upon reference from the Authority, the Independent Engineer shall make a fair and reasonable 

assessment of the costs of providing information, works and services as set forth in Article 16 and 
certify the reasonableness of such costs for payment by the Authority to the Concessionaire. The 
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Independent Engineer shall aid and advise the Concessionaire in preparing the Maintenance 
Manual. 

 
6. Operation Period 

 
6.1. In respect of the Drawings, Documents and Safety Report received by the Independent Engineer for 

its review and comments during the Operation Period, the provisions of Paragraph 4 shall apply, 
mutatis mutandis. 

 
6.2. The Independent Engineer shall review the annual Maintenance Programme furnished by the 

Concessionaire and send its comments thereon to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 15 
(fifteen) days of receipt of the Maintenance Programme. 

 
6.3. The Independent Engineer shall review the monthly status report furnished by the Concessionaire 

and send its comments thereon to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 7 (seven) days of 
receipt of such report. 

 
6.4. The Independent Engineer shall inspect the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, including cabins and stations, 

once every month, preferably after receipt of the monthly status report from the Concessionaire, 
but before the 20th (twentieth) day of each month in any case, and make out an O&M Inspection 
Report setting forth an overview of the status, quality and safety of O&M including its conformity 
with the Key Performance Indicators, Maintenance Requirements and Safety Requirements. In a 
separate section of the O&M Inspection Report, the Independent Engineer shall describe in 
reasonable detail the lapses, defects or deficiencies observed by it in O&M of the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeway. The Independent Engineer shall send a copy of its O&M Inspection Report to the 
Authority and the Concessionaire within 7 (seven) days of the inspection. 

 
6.5. The Independent Engineer may inspect the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway more than once in a month, if 

any lapses, defects or deficiencies require such inspections. 
 

6.6. The Independent Engineer shall in its O&M Inspection Report specify the tests, if any, that the 
Concessionaire shall carry out, or cause to be carried out, for the purpose of determining that the 
Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway is in conformity with the Maintenance Requirements. It shall monitor and 
review the results of such tests and the remedial measures, if any, taken by the Concessionaire in 
this behalf. In respect of any defect or deficiency referred to in Paragraph 3 of Schedule - L, the 
Independent Engineer shall, in conformity with Good Industry Practice, specify the permissible limit 
of deviation or deterioration with reference to the Specifications and Standards and shall also 
specify the time limit for repair or rectification of any deviation or deterioration beyond the 
permissible limit. 

 
6.7. The Independent Engineer shall determine if any delay has occurred in completion of repair or 

remedial works in accordance with the Agreement, and shall also determine the Damages, if any, 
payable by the Concessionaire to the Authority for such delay. 
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6.8. The Independent Engineer shall examine the request of the Concessionaire for closure of the Diu to 
Ghoghla Ropeway for undertaking maintenance/repair thereof, keeping in view the need to 
minimize disruption in traffic and the time required for completing such maintenance/repair in 
accordance with Good Industry Practice. It shall grant permission with such modifications, as it may 
deem necessary, within 3 (three) days of receiving a request from the Concessionaire. Upon expiry 
of the permitted period of closure, the Independent Engineer shall monitor the re-opening of such 
rope(s), and in case of delay, determine the Damages payable by the Concessionaire to the 
Authority under Clause 17.7. 
 

6.9. The Independent Engineer shall monitor and review the curing of defects and deficiencies by the 
Concessionaire as set forth in Clause 19.4. 
 

6.10. In the event that the Concessionaire notifies the Independent Engineer of any modifications that it 
proposes to make to the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway, the Independent Engineer shall review the same 
and send its comments to the Authority and the Concessionaire within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving 
the proposal. 

 
7. Audit of Fee collection system 

 
7.1. The Independent Engineer shall, at least once every month, conduct an audit of the working of the 

automatic fee collection system installed by the Concessionaire, to check its accuracy in recording 
the entry and exit of Users and in recording the fee. 

 
8. Termination 

 
8.1. At any time, not earlier than 90 (ninety) days prior to Termination but not later than 15 (fifteen) 

days prior to such Termination, the Independent Engineer shall, in the presence of a representative 
of the Concessionaire, inspect the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway for determining compliance by the 
Concessionaire with the Divestment Requirements set forth in Clause 32.1 and, if required, cause 
tests to be carried out at the Concessionaire’s cost for determining such compliance.  
 

8.2.  The Independent Engineer shall inspect the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway once in every 15 (fifteen) days 
during a period of 90 (ninety) days after Termination for determining the liability of the 
Concessionaire under Article 32, in respect of the defects or deficiencies specified therein. If any 
such defect or deficiency is found by the Independent Engineer, it shall make a report in reasonable 
detail and send it forthwith to the Authority and the Concessionaire. 
 

9. Determination of costs and time 
 

9.1. The Independent Engineer shall determine the costs, and/or their reasonableness, that are required 
to be determined by it under the Agreement. The Independent Engineer shall determine the period, 
or any extension thereof, that is required to be determined by it under the Agreement. 
 

10. Assistance in Dispute resolution 
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10.1. When called upon by either Party in the event of any Dispute, the Independent Engineer shall 
mediate and assist the Parties in arriving at an amicable settlement. In the event of any 
disagreement between the Parties regarding the meaning, scope and nature of Good Industry 
Practice, as set forth in any provision of the Agreement, the Independent Engineer shall specify such 
meaning, scope and nature by issuing a reasoned written statement relying on good industry 
practice and authentic literature. 
 

11. Other duties and functions 
 

11.1. The Independent Engineer shall perform all other duties and functions specified in the Agreement. 
 

12. Miscellaneous 
12.1. The Independent Engineer shall notify its programme of inspection to the Authority and to the 

Concessionaire, who may, in their discretion, depute their respective representatives to be present 
during the inspection. 
 

12.2.  A copy of all communications, comments, instructions, Drawings or Documents sent by the 
Independent Engineer to the Concessionaire pursuant to this TOR, and a copy of all the test results 
with comments of the Independent Engineer thereon shall be furnished by the Independent 
Engineer to the Authority forthwith. 

12.3. The Independent Engineer shall obtain, and the Concessionaire shall furnish in two copies thereof, 
all communications and reports required to be submitted, under this Agreement, by the 
Concessionaire to the Independent Engineer, whereupon the Independent Engineer shall send one 
of the copies to the Authority along with its comments thereon. 
 

12.4. The Independent Engineer shall retain at least one copy each of all Drawings and Documents 
received by it, including 'as-built' Drawings, and keep them in its safe custody. 
 

12.5. Upon completion of its assignment hereunder, the Independent Engineer shall duly classify and list 
all Drawings, Documents, results of tests and other relevant records, and hand them over to the 
Authority or such other person as the Authority may specify, and obtain written receipt thereof. 
Two copies of the said documents shall also be furnished in micro film form or in such other medium 
as may be acceptable to the Authority. 
 

12.6. Wherever no period has been specified for delivery of services by the Independent Engineer, the 
Independent Engineer shall act with the efficiency and urgency necessary for discharging its 
functions in accordance with Good Industry Practice. 
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Schedule J: TESTS 

 (See Clause 14.1.2) 

1. Schedule for Tests 
 

1.1. The Concessionaire shall, not later than 45 (forty-five) days prior to the likely completion of 
construction, notify the Independent Engineer and the Authority of its intent to subject the Project 
to Tests, and not later than 7 (seven) days prior to the actual date of Tests, furnish to the 
Independent Engineer and the Authority detailed inventory and particulars of all works and 
equipment forming part of the Project. 

 
1.2. The Concessionaire shall notify the Independent Engineer of its readiness to subject the Project to 

Tests at any time after 7 (seven) days from the date of such notice, and upon receipt of such notice, 
the Independent Engineer shall, in consultation with the Concessionaire, determine the date and 
time for each Test and notify the same to the Authority who may designate its representative to 
witness the Tests. The Independent Engineer shall thereupon conduct the Tests itself or cause any 
of the Tests to be conducted in accordance with Article 14 and this schedule J. 

 

2. Tests 
 

2.1. The Independent Engineer shall conduct, or cause to be conducted, the Tests in accordance with 
Applicable Law, Good Industry Practice and Specifications and Standards. The tests to be conducted 
shall include inter alia: 

 check of the correct execution and assembly of the ropeway 
 check the final documentation of the supplier including certificates and conformity 

declaration of all safety parts and subsystems 
 check all safety devices of the ropeway including the correct setting 
 check the electrical safety control system 
 check the correct settings of all brakes and drives 
 check the emergency drive 
 check the smooth and safe running of the rope and cabins on the line and on the roller 

batteries 
 check of the operation and maintenance manual 
 check the experience and the knowledge of the service staff for the operation 
 check the correct, safe and smooth running of the garage system, the conveyor system and 

the coupling system 
 Check the rescue equipment and do a rescue exercise on the installation 
 Check Construction and safety standards of terminal stations at both the end. 

Any other Test as may be prescribed under Applicable Laws, Good Industry Practice and 
Specifications and Standards.  
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Schedule K: COMPLETION CERTIFICATE 
 (See Clause 14.2 & 14.3) 

 

1. I, Diu Smart City Ltd (The “Transaction Authority”) under and in accordance with the 
Concession Agreement dated ******* (the "Agreement"), for construction and development of 
“Development of Passenger Ropeway System at Diu to Ghoghla in Diu on Design, Build, Finance, 
Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Model” (the “Project”), through ********* (Name of 
Concessionaire), hereby certify that the Tests specified in Article 14 and schedule J of the 
Agreement have been successfully undertaken to determine compliance of the Mandatory Project 
and Mandatory Project Facilities with the provisions of the Agreement, and I am satisfied that the 
Mandatory Project and Mandatory Project Facilities can be safely and reliably placed in 
commercial service of the Users thereof. 

 

2. It is certified that, in terms of the aforesaid Agreement, all works forming part of 
Mandatory Project and Mandatory Project Facilities have been completed, and the Mandatory 
Project and Mandatory Project Facilities are hereby declared fit for entry into commercial 
operation on this the *** day of *** 20**. 

 
 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 
 
 

For and on behalf of Authority by:  

(Signature)  

(Name)  

(Designation)  

(Address) 
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PROVISIONAL CERTIFICATE 

 

1. I, Diu Smart City Ltd. ********* (The “Transaction Authority”) under and in accordance 
with the Concession Agreement dated ****** (the "Agreement"), for construction and 
development of “Development of Passenger Ropeway System at Diu to Ghoghla in Diu on 
Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer Basis under PPP Model” (the “Project”) through 
**** (Name of Concessionaire), hereby certify that the Tests specified in Article 14 and schedule I 
of the Agreement have been undertaken to determine compliance of the Mandatory Project and 
Mandatory Project Facilities with the provisions of the Agreement. 

 

2. Construction Works that were found to be incomplete and/or deficient have been 
specified in the Punch List appended hereto, and the Concessionaire has agreed and accepted that 
it shall complete and/or rectify all such works in the time and manner set forth in the Agreement. 
(Some of the incomplete works have been delayed as a result of reasons attributable to the 
Authority or due to Force Majeure and the Provisional Certificate cannot be withheld on this 
account. Though the remaining incomplete works have been delayed as a result of reasons 
attributable to the Concessionaire,)3 I am satisfied that having regard to the nature and extent of 
such incomplete works, it would not be prudent to withhold commercial operation of the Project 
Facilities, pending completion thereof. 

 

3. In view of the foregoing, I am satisfied that the Mandatory Project and Mandatory Project  

Facilities can be safely and reliably placed in commercial service of the Users thereof, and in terms 
of the Agreement, the Mandatory Project and Mandatory Project Facilities are hereby 
provisionally declared fit for entry into commercial operation on this the *** day of *** 20**. 

 

 
SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 
 

For and on behalf of Concessionaire by: 

(Signature) 
 

For and on behalf of Authority by:  

(Signature) 
 

(Name) (Name) 
(Designation) (Designation) 

(Address) (Address) 

  

                                                           
3 Strike out if not applicable. 
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Schedule L: PERFORMANCE AND MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS 
(See Clause 17.2) 

 

 

1. Maintenance Requirements 
 

1.1. The Concessionaire shall, at all times, operate and maintain the Project Facilities in accordance with 
the provisions of the Agreement, Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits. In particular, the 
Concessionaire shall, at all times during the Operation Period, conform to the maintenance 
requirements set forth in this Schedule l (the "Maintenance Requirements"). 

Performance and Maintenance Requirements 

The list of performance and maintenance requirements of key ropeway components to optimize 
ropeway efficiency during its operational life time. Each equipment supplier will provide service 
schedule which the Concessionaire will follow for trouble free and safe performance of the ropeway. 
Checks are recommended for daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, half yearly, and yearly, 3-year, 6-
year basis etc. CEN Standards define that parts must undergo non-destructive and destructive tests 
to check for cracks and quality of materials. Based on CEN Standards and equipment supplier’s 
experience, schedule of performance and maintenance is recommended for safe operations. 

 

1. Check the loading and unloading points as well as the access and exit areas and fix them if need 
be; 

2. Towers: Check the platforms, handrails, catwalks, anemometers, ladders and rope lifting frames 
for cracks, rust, deformation, correct position or any deviation from the standard; 

3. Overhead Cables - Signal Cables: Check for any visual deviation in terms of physical damage such 
as breakage, color deformation, cuts, correct position, overhead cable for oscillations; 

4. Lighting Protection Cable inspection as Overhead Cables at Serial No.3; 
5. Main Gear Box: Follow gear box manufacturers recommendation for maintenance schedule; 
6. Universal Shaft: Check for any unusual noise (technician should be trained to differentiate 

between a normal and abnormal noise during shaft operation); 
7. Main Motor: refer to manufacturer’s manual schedule of activities; 
8. Gear Rim: General check for any physical damage or aberration; 
9. Hydraulic Unit for emergency drive / brakes; 
10. Service Brake: check for correct functioning by actuating the switch 'EMERGENCY STOP' check 

stopping distance. Check the brake and hydraulic lines for any leaks; 
11. Emergency Brake: Check for correct functioning by actuating the switch 'EMERGENCY STOP' 

check stopping distance. Check the brake release cylinder and the hydraulic lines for any leaks; 
12. Rope Tensioner Hydraulic Unit: check tension on display and visual check for leaks; 
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13. Drive and Return Bull wheels: Check for any unusual noise, wobble or eccentricity in the motion 
of the bull wheel, etc; 

14. Bull wheel coupling, positioning monitoring unit, axle position monitoring unit, bearing; 
15. Tension Carriage: Check tension carriage position; 
16. Grip Opening/Closing Equipment: Check for Normal Operation as per approved manufacturer’s 

process; other components associated with functioning of the grips such as grip fault before 
launch limit switch, not open limit switch, grip gauge, grip operating lever fault, electronic grip 
force testing device; 

17. Outer Guide Rail: Functional check of the dampened outer guide rail; 
18. Tyre Conveyors: General inspection as per schedule of maintenance; 
19. Hydraulic Lifting Unit: Check for leaks and loose pipe connections; 
20. Clutch/Brake Combination/Safety Clutch: Check the clutch/brake combination/safety clutch for 

correct functioning; 
21. Line components such as rope, sheave assemblies, hangar, grip mechanism, tacho drive, 

counting sheave, haul rope grounding, towers, overhead cables, signal cables, lightning 
protection rope, gear rim, rope tensioner hydraulic unit, power take off (PTO) drive, break fork 
switch etc. including all safety features listed in Schedule M to be checked as per CEN 
requirements and technical specifications of the equipment suppliers; 

22. Door opening closing of gondolas, access control barriers and passenger control systems; and 
23. CEN Standards provision for Magnetic Particle Testing of components to ensure safety of the 

operations. 
 

1.2. The Concessionaire shall repair or rectify any defect or deficiency set forth in Paragraph 2 of this 
Schedule-L within the time limit specified therein and any failure in this behalf shall constitute a 
breach of the Agreement. Upon occurrence of any breach hereunder, the Authority shall be entitled 
to recover Damages as set forth in Clause 17.7 of the Agreement, without prejudice to the rights of 
the Authority under the Agreement, including Termination thereof. 

 

2. Repair/rectification of defects and deficiencies 

The obligations of the Concessionaire in respect of Maintenance Requirements shall include 
repair and rectification of the defects and deficiencies specified in Annex I of this Schedule L 
within the time limit set forth therein. The Concessionaire shall at all times maintain an 
adequate inventory of spares and consumables to meet the Maintenance Requirements. 

3. Other defects and deficiencies 
 

3.1. In respect of any defect or deficiency not specified in Annex - I of this Schedule- L, the 
Concessionaire shall undertake repair or rectification in accordance with Good Industry Practice and 
within the time limit specified by the Independent Engineer. 

3.2. In respect of any defect or deficiency not specified in Annex - I of this Schedule- L, the Independent 
Engineer may, in conformity with Good Industry Practice, specify the permissible limit of deviation 
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or deterioration with reference to the Specifications and Standards, and any deviation or 
deterioration beyond the permissible limit shall be repaired or rectified by the Concessionaire within 
the time limit specified by the Independent Engineer. 
 

4. Extension of time limit 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary specified in this Schedule L, if the nature and 
extent of any defect or deficiency justifies more time for its repair or rectification, or 
rectification than the time specified herein, the Concessionaire shall be entitled to 
additional time in conformity with Good Industry Practice and Specification and Standards. 
Such additional time shall be determined by the Independent Engineer and conveyed to the 
Concessionaire and the Authority with reasons thereof. 

5. Emergency repairs/restoration 

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Schedule L, if any defect, 
deficiency or deterioration in the Project and Project Facilities poses hazard to safety or risk 
of damage to property, the Concessionaire shall promptly take all reasonable measures for 
eliminating or minimizing such danger. 

6. Daily Inspection by the Concessionaire 

The Concessionaire shall, through its engineer, undertake a daily visual inspection of the 
Project and maintain a record thereof in a register to be kept in such form and manner as 
the Independent Engineer may specify. Such record shall be kept in safe custody of the 
Concessionaire and shall be open to inspection by the Authority and the Independent 
Engineer at any time during office hours. 

7. Divestment Requirements 

All defects and deficiencies specified in this Schedule L shall be repaired and rectified by the 
Concessionaire so that the Project conforms to the Maintenance Requirements on the 
Transfer Date. 

8. Display of Schedule K 

The Concessionaire shall display a copy of this Schedule L at the Terminal Stations of the 
Ropeway Facility along with the Complaint Register stipulated in Article 41.  
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Annex I 

(Schedule L) 
 

Repair/rectification of defects and deficiencies 

Any deficiency leading to stoppage of Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be rectified in accordance with 
Applicable Laws, Good Industry Practice and Specifications and Standards. 
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Schedule M: SAFETY REQUIREMENTS 
 (See Clause 18.1) 

 

1.  Guiding Principles  
 

1.1. Safety Requirements aim at reduction in injuries, loss of life and damage to property resulting from 
accidents on the Project, irrespective of the person(s) at fault. 
 

1.2. Users of the project include staff of the Concessionaire and its contractors working at the Project 
Site. 
 

1.3. Safety Requirements apply to all phases of construction, operation and maintenance with emphasis 
on identification of factors associated with accidents, consideration of the same, and 
implementation of appropriate remedial measures. 
 

1.4. Safety Requirements include measures associated with safe movement, safety management, safety 
equipment, fire safety, enforcement and emergency response, with particular reference to the 
Safety Guidelines specified in Annex I of this Schedule. 

 

2. Obligations of the Concessionaire 

The Concessionaire shall abide by the following insofar as they relate to safety of the Users: 

a) Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits; 
b) Manual for Safety issued by ropeway components’ suppliers and/or by the Authority; 
c) Provisions of this Agreement; and  
d) relevant Standards/Guidelines contained in internationally accepted codes, including 

without limitation, the CEN Standards; and (e) Good Industry Practice. 
 
 

3. Appointment of Safety Consultant 
For carrying out safety audit of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway under and in accordance with this 
Schedule M, the Authority shall appoint from time to time, one or more qualified firms or 
organisations as its consultants (the “Safety Consultant”). The Safety Consultant shall employ a 
team comprising, without limitation, one CEN certified ropeway safety expert and one traffic 
planner to undertake safety audit of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway. 
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4. Safety measures during Development Period 
4.1. No later than 90 (ninety) days from the date of this Agreement, the Authority shall appoint a Safety 

Consultant for carrying out safety audit at the design stage of the Project. 
 

4.2. The Concessionaire shall provide to the Safety Consultant, in four copies, the relevant drawings 
containing the design details that have a bearing on safety of Users (the “Safety Drawings”). Such 
design details shall include ropeway alignments; horizontal and vertical forces, layouts of ropeway 
profile, foundation drawings, inertia forces, bending moments in global coordinates, tower loads, 
sheave loads, effects of forces caused by winds, snow, ice or any other external factors, station 
forces and design, people movement and safety procedures at stations along with other incidental 
or consequential information. The Safety Consultant shall review the design details and forward 3 
(three) copies of the Safety Drawings with its recommendations, if any, to the Independent Engineer 
who shall record its comments, if any, and forward one copy each to the Authority and the 
Concessionaire. 
  

4.3. The design details shall be compiled, analysed and used by the Safety Consultant for evolving a 
package of recommendations consisting of safety related measures for the Diu to Ghoghla 
Ropeways. The safety audit shall be completed in a period of three months and a report thereof (the 
“Safety Report”) shall be submitted to the Authority, in 5 (five) copies. One copy each of the Safety 
Report shall be forwarded by the Authority to the Concessionaire and the Independent Engineer 
forthwith. 
 

4.4. The Concessionaire shall endeavour to incorporate the recommendations of the Safety Report in the 
design of the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeways, as may reasonably be required in accordance with 
Applicable Laws, Applicable Permits, Manuals and Guidelines of the Authority, Specifications and 
Standards, and Good Industry Practice. If the Concessionaire does not agree with any or all of such 
recommendations, it shall state the reasons thereof and convey them to the Authority forthwith. In 
the event that any or all of the works and services recommended in the Safety Report fall beyond 
the scope of Schedule-C, Schedule-D or Schedule-E, the Concessionaire shall make a report thereon 
and seek the instructions of the Authority for funding such works in accordance with the provisions 
of Article 18. 
 

4.5. Without prejudice to the provisions of Paragraph 4, the Concessionaire and the Independent 
Engineer shall, within 15 (fifteen) days of receiving the Safety Report, send their respective 
comments thereon to the Authority, and no later than 15 (fifteen) days of receiving such comments, 
the Authority shall review the same along with the Safety Report and by notice direct the 
Concessionaire to carry out any or all of the recommendations contained therein with such 
modifications as the Authority may specify; provided that any works or services required to be 
undertaken hereunder shall be governed by the provisions of Article 18. 

 

5. Safety measures during Construction Period 
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5.1. A Safety Consultant shall be appointed by the Authority, no later than 6 (six) months prior to the 
expected Project Completion Date, for carrying out a safety audit of the completed Construction 
Works. 
 

5.2. The Safety Consultant shall study the Safety Report for the Development Period and inspect the Diu 
to Ghoghla Ropeway to assess the adequacy of safety measures. The Safety Consultant shall 
complete the safety audit within a period of 4 (four) months and submit a Safety Report 
recommending a package of additional safety measures, if any, that are considered essential for 
reducing accident hazards on the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway. Such recommendations shall be 
processed, mutatis mutandis, and acted upon in the manner set forth in Paragraphs 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 
of this Schedule-M. 
 

5.3. The Concessionaire shall make adequate arrangements during the Construction Period for the safety 
of workers and road users in accordance with Applicable Laws and Good Industry Practice for safety 
in construction zones and notify the Authority and the Independent Engineer about such 
arrangements. 
 

6. Safety measures during Operation Period 
 

6.1. The Concessionaire shall develop, implement and administer a surveillance and safety programme 
for Users, including correction of safety violations and deficiencies and all other actions necessary to 
provide a safe environment in accordance with this Agreement. 
 

6.2. The Concessionaire shall establish a Ropeway Safety Management Unit (the "RSMU") to be 
functional on and after COD, and designate one of its officers to be in-charge of the RSMU. Such 
officer shall have specialist knowledge and training in ropeway safety and traffic engineering by 
having attended a course conducted by a reputed organization on the subject.  
 

6.3. The Concessionaire shall keep a copy of every FIR recorded by the Police with respect to any 
accident occurring on the Project. In addition, the Concessionaire shall also collect data for all cases 
of accidents not recorded by the Police. The aforesaid data shall be submitted to the Authority at 
the conclusion of every quarter and to the Independent Engineer as and when appointed. 
 

6.4. The Concessionaire shall submit to the Authority before the 31st (thirty first) May of each year, an 
annual report (in ten copies) containing, without limitation, a detailed listing and analysis of all 
accidents of the preceding Accounting Year and the measures taken by the Concessionaire pursuant 
to the provisions of Paragraph 6.1 of this Schedule M for averting or minimizing such accidents in 
future. 
 

6.5. Once in every six months of the Accounting Year, a safety audit shall be carried out by the Safety 
Consultant to be appointed by the Authority. It shall review and analyses the annual report and 
accident data of the preceding year, and undertake an inspection of the Project. The Safety 
Consultant shall complete the safety audit within a period of 1 (one) month and submit a Safety 
Report recommending specific improvements, if any. Such recommendations shall be processed, 
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mutatis mutandis, and acted upon in the manner set forth in Paragraphs 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 of this 
Schedule M. 
 

7. Costs and expenses 

Costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Safety Requirements set forth herein, including 
the provisions of Paragraph 2 of this Schedule L, shall be met in accordance with Article 18.  
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Annex I 

(Schedule M) 
Safety Guidelines 

 

1. Safe Movement 
 

1.1. In the design, construction and operation of stations and ropeway system, particular care shall be 
taken to ensure safety of users in entry and exit; while waiting, boarding or alighting; and in moving 
systems. This shall include facilities for safe and efficient evacuation in case of emergency. In 
particular, ropeways shall be designed and tested for safe movement. 
 

2. System integrity 
 

2.1. In the design of power supply, ropeway, circuits and equipments, particular care shall be taken to 
minimise the likely incidence of failure. 
 

3. Safety management 
 

3.1. A safety statement shall be prepared by the Concessionaire once every quarter to bring out clearly 
the system of management of checks and maintenance tolerances for various assets including 
cabins, and compliance thereof. The statement shall also bring out the nature and extent of, staff 
training and awareness in dealing with such checks and tolerances. Two copies of the statement 
shall be sent to the Independent Engineer within 15 (fifteen) days of the close of every quarter. 
 

4. Safety equipment 
 

4.1. The following equipment shall be provided at every station: 
a. Fire extinguishers and fire alarms at the appropriate locations on the platforms; 
b. Two fire extinguishers in the station office; 
c. Two stretchers and two standard first aid boxes; and 
d. Such other equipment as may be required in conformity with Good Industry Practice. 

 

5. Safety equipment 
5.1. A set of emergency procedures shall be formulated to deal with different emergency situations and 

the operations staff shall be trained to respond appropriately during emergency through periodic 
simulated exercises as laid down in a manual for management of disasters (the “Disaster 
Management Manual”) to be prepared and published by the Concessionaire prior to COD. The 
Concessionaire shall provide 5 (five) copies each of the Disaster Management Manual to the 
Authority and the independent expert no later than 30 (thirty) days prior to COD. 
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6. Fire Safety 
6.1. The Concessionaire shall adopt provisions in a combination of the National Fire Protection 

Association (NFPA) 130 standard & Fire Safety Recommendations as per CEN Standards for 
Passenger Ropeway Systems. 
 

6.2. To prevent fire in the passenger areas, the Concessionaire shall use fire resistant materials in the 
construction thereof and shall avoid use of materials which are to some extent flammable, or which 
emit smoke and harmful gases when burning. 
 

6.3. Emergency exit should be accessible without any obstructions and the exit doors should be kept 
locked in the ordinary course. The exit doors shall be easy to open from inside the station in case of 
emergency. 
 

6.4. Escape routes shall be clearly marked by arrows in the correct direction and no cryptic symbols shall 
be used. In complying with the provisions of this Clause 6.4, the possibility of poor visibility due to 
smoke shall be duly taken into account. All notices and signages shall be uniform and standardized. 

 

7. User safety and information system: 
7.1. The Concessionaire shall provide the RSMU with the facilities required for supervising passenger 

areas and cabins, and shall provide visual information to Users, both onboard and on the stations. 
The Concessionaire shall also provide one way communication to Users at the stations through a 
Public Announcement (PA) system. The User call points should be located on all platforms at 
convenient locations to allow Users to contact the RSMU in emergencies. 

The User information system shall comprise dynamic visual displays and loudspeakers. 
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Schedule N: VESTING CERTIFICATE 
 

The Chief Executive Officer, Diu Smart City Ltd, C/o Diu Municipal Council, Fort Road, Diu – 362520, (the 
“Transaction Authority”) refers to the Concession Agreement dated ……………….. (the “Agreement”) 
entered into between the Authority and ……………………. (the “Concessionaire”) for ******* ropeway 
(the “Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway”) on design, build, finance, operate and transfer (the “DFBOT”) basis.  

The Authority hereby acknowledges compliance and fulfilment by the Concessionaire of the Divestment 
Requirements set forth in Clause 33.1 of the Agreement on the basis that upon issue of this Vesting 
Certificate, the Authority shall be deemed to have acquired, and all title and interest of the 
Concessionaire in or about the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway shall be deemed to have vested unto the 
Authority, free from any encumbrances, charges and liens whatsoever. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained hereinabove, it shall be a condition of this Vesting Certificate that nothing contained 
herein shall be construed or interpreted as waiving the obligation of the Concessionaire to rectify and 
remedy any defect or deficiency in any of the Divestment Requirements and/or relieving the 
Concessionaire in any manner of the same. 

Signed this …………….. day of …………., 20………. At Diu. 

 

AGREED, ACCEPTED AND SIGNED   SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 
 

 

For and on behalf of Concessionaire by: 

(Signature) 
 

For and on behalf of Authority by:  

(Signature) 
 

(Name) (Name) 
(Designation) (Designation) 

(Address) (Address) 

 
 

In the presence of: 

1.        2 

 

.  



212 | P a g e  
 

 

Schedule O: SUBSTITUTION AGREEMENT 
 (See Clause 35.3) 

 

THIS SUBSTITUTION AGREEMENT is entered into on this the _____ day of ____ 20___  

 

AMONGST 

1. Tourism Department, Diu, UT Administration of Daman and Diu represented by the ………………….. 
and having its principal office at Diu, hereinafter referred to as the "Authority" which expression 
shall unless repugnant to the context or meaning thereof include its administrators, successors and 
assigns); 

 
2. [___________________ LIMITED], a company incorporated under the provisions of the Companies 

Act, 2013 and having its registered office at ________, (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Concessionaire" which expression shall unless repugnant to the context or meaning thereof include 
its successors and permitted assigns and substitutes); 

 
3. ____________________ [name and particulars of Lenders' Representative]  and  having  its  

registered  office at ________________, acting for and on behalf of the Lenders as their duly 
authorized agent with regard to matters arising out of or in relation to this Agreement (hereinafter 
referred to as the  “Lenders’ Representative”, which expression shall unless repugnant to the 
context or meaning thereof include its successors and substitutes); 

 

WHEREAS: 

 

A. The Authority has entered into a Concession Agreement dated __________ with the Concessionaire 
(the "Concession Agreement") for Development of Passenger Ropeway System at Diu to Ghoghla in 
Diu on Design, Build, Finance, Operate and Transfer (“DBFOT”) Basis under PPP Model, and a copy of 
which is annexed hereto and marked as Annex A to form part of this Agreement. 
 

B. Lenders have agreed to finance the Project in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in 
the Financing Agreements. 
 

C. Lenders have requested the Authority to enter into this Substitution Agreement for securing their 
interests through assignment, transfer and substitution of the Concession to a Nominated Company 
in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Concession Agreement. 
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D. In order to enable implementation of the Project including its financing, construction, operation and 
maintenance, the Authority has agreed and undertaken to transfer and assign the Concession to a 
Nominated Company in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and 
the Concession Agreement. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the respective covenants and agreements set 
forth in this Agreement, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, and intending to 
be legally bound hereby, the Parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Definitions and Interpretation  
 

1.1. Definitions 

In this Substitution Agreement, the following words and expressions shall, unless repugnant to the 
context or meaning thereof, have the meaning hereinafter respectively assigned to them: 

"Agreement" means this Substitution Agreement and any amendment thereto made in accordance with 
the provisions contained in this Agreement; 

"Financial Default" means occurrence of a material breach of the terms and conditions of the Financing 
Agreements or a continuous default in Debt Service by the Concessionaire for a minimum period of 3 
(three) months; 

"Lenders' Representative" means the person referred to as the Lenders' Representative in the foregoing 
Recitals; 

"Nominated Company" means a company, incorporated under the provisions of the Companies Act, 
1956, selected by the Lenders' Representative, on behalf of Lenders, and proposed to the Authority for 
assignment/transfer of the Concession as provided in this Agreement; 

"Notice of Financial Default" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Clause 3.2.1; and 

"Parties" means the parties to this Agreement collectively and "Party" shall mean any of the Parties to 
this Agreement individually. 

 

1.2. Interpretation 
 

1.2.1. References to Lenders' Representative shall, unless repugnant to the context or meaning thereof, 
mean references to the Lenders' Representative, acting for and on behalf of Lenders. 
 

1.2.2. References to Clauses are, unless stated otherwise, references to Clauses of this Agreement. 
 

1.2.3. The words and expressions beginning with capital letters and defined in this Agreement shall have 
the meaning ascribed thereto herein, and the words and expressions used in this Agreement and 
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not defined herein but defined in the Concession Agreement shall, unless repugnant to the context, 
have the meaning ascribed there to in the Concession Agreement. 

 
1.2.4. The rules of interpretation stated in Clauses 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4 of the Concession Agreement shall 

apply, mutatis mutandis, to this Agreement. 

 

2. Assignment 
 

2.1. Assignment of rights and title 

The Concessionaire hereby assigns the rights, title and interest in the Concession to, and in favour 
of, the Lenders' Representative pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement 
and the Concession Agreement by way of security in respect of financing by the Lenders under the 
Financing Agreements. 

 

3. Substitution of the Concessionaire 
 

3.1. Rights of substitution 
 

3.1.1. Pursuant to the rights, title and interest assigned under Clause 2.1, the Lenders' Representative 
shall be entitled to substitute the Concessionaire by a Nominated Company under and in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and the Concession Agreement. 
 

3.1.2. The Authority hereby agrees to substitute the Concessionaire by endorsement on the Concession 
Agreement in favour of the Nominated Company selected by the Lenders' Representative in 
accordance with this Agreement. (For the avoidance of doubt, the Lenders or the Lenders' 
Representative shall not be entitled to operate and maintain the Project as Concessionaire either 
individually or collectively). 

 
3.2. Substitution upon occurrence of Financial Default 

 
3.2.1. Upon occurrence of a Financial Default, the Lenders' Representative may issue a notice to the 

Concessionaire (the "Notice of Financial Default") along with particulars thereof, and send a copy 
to the Authority for its information and record. A Notice of Financial Default under this Clause 3 
shall be conclusive evidence of such Financial Default and it shall be final and binding upon the 
Concessionaire for the purposes of this Agreement. 
 

3.2.2. Upon issue of a Notice of Financial Default hereunder, the Lenders' Representative may, without 
prejudice to any of its rights or remedies under this Agreement or the Financing Agreements, 
substitute the Concessionaire by a Nominated Company in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement. 
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3.2.3. At any time after the Lenders' Representative has issued a Notice of Financial Default, it may by 
notice require the Authority to suspend all the rights of the Concessionaire and undertake the 
operation and maintenance of the Project in accordance with the provisions of Article 36 of the 
Concession Agreement, and upon receipt of such notice, the Authority shall undertake Suspension 
under and in accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreement. The aforesaid 
Suspension shall be revoked upon substitution of the Concessionaire by a Nominated Company, 
and in the event such substitution is not completed within 180 (one hundred and eighty) days from 
the date of such Suspension, the Authority may terminate the Concession Agreement forthwith by 
issuing a Termination Notice in accordance with the provisions of the Concession Agreement; 
provided that upon written request from the Lenders' Representative and the Concessionaire, the 
Authority may extend the aforesaid period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days by a period not 
exceeding 90 (ninety) days. For the avoidance of doubt, the Authority expressly agrees and 
undertakes to terminate the Concession Agreement forthwith, upon receipt of a written request 
from the Lenders’ Representative at any time after 240 (two hundred and forty) days from the date 
of Suspension hereunder. 

 

3.3. Substitution upon occurrence of Concessionaire Default 
 

3.3.1. Upon occurrence of a Concessionaire Default, the Authority shall by a notice inform the Lenders' 
Representative of its intention to issue a Termination Notice and grant 15 (fifteen) days’ time to the 
Lenders' Representative to make a representation, stating the intention to substitute the 
Concessionaire by a Nominated Company. 
 

3.3.2. In the event that the Lenders' Representative makes a representation to the Authority within the 
period of 15 (fifteen) days specified in Clause 3.3.1, stating that it intends to substitute the 
Concessionaire by a Nominated Company, the Lenders' Representative shall be entitled to 
undertake and complete the substitution of the Concessionaire by a Nominated Company in 
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement within a period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) 
days from the date of such representation, and the Authority shall either withhold Termination or 
undertake Suspension for the aforesaid period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days; provided that 
upon written request from the Lenders' Representative and the Concessionaire, the Authority shall 
extend the aforesaid period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days by a period not exceeding 90 
(ninety) days. 

 

3.4. Procedure for substitution 
 

3.4.1. The Authority and the Concessionaire hereby agree that on or after the date of Notice of Financial 
Default or the date of representation to the Authority under Clause 3.3.2, as the case may be, the 
Lenders' Representative may, without prejudice to any of the other rights or remedies of the 
Lenders, invite, negotiate and procure offers, either by private negotiations or public auction or 
tenders for the takeover and transfer of the Project including the Concession to the Nominated 
Company upon such Nominated Company's assumption of the liabilities and obligations of the 
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Concessionaire towards the Authority under the Concession Agreement and towards the Lenders 
under the Financing Agreements. 
 

3.4.2. To be eligible for substitution in place of the Concessionaire, the Nominated Company shall be 
required to fulfill the eligibility criteria that were laid down by the Authority for shortlisting the 
bidders for award of the Concession; provided that the  Lenders' Representative may represent to 
the Authority that all or any of such criteria may be waived in the interest of the Project, and if the 
Authority determines that such waiver shall not have any material adverse effect on the Project, it 
may waive all or any of such eligibility criteria. 

 
3.4.3. Upon selection of a Nominated Company,  the  Lenders'  Representative  shall  request the 

Authority to: 
 

a) accede to transfer to the Nominated Company the right to construct, operate and maintain 
the Project in accordance with the provisions of the Project Development and Management 
Agreement; 

b) endorse and transfer the Concession to the Nominated Company, on the same terms and 
conditions, for the residual Concession Period; and 

c) enter into a Substitution Agreement with the Lenders' Representative and the Nominated 
Company on the same terms as are contained in this Agreement. 
 

3.4.4. If the Authority has any objection to the transfer of Concession in favour of the Nominated 
Company in accordance with this Agreement, it shall within 7 (seven) days from the date of 
proposal made by the Lenders' Representative, give a reasoned order after hearing the Lenders' 
Representative. If no such objection is raised by the Authority, the Nominated Company shall be 
deemed to have been accepted. The Authority thereupon shall transfer and endorse the 
Concession within 7 (seven) days of its acceptance/deemed acceptance of the Nominated 
Company; provided that in the event of such objection by the Authority, the Lenders' 
Representative may propose another Nominated Company whereupon the procedure set forth in 
this Clause 3.4 shall be followed for substitution of such Nominated Company in place of the 
Concessionaire. 
 

3.5. Selection to be binding 

The decision of the Lenders' Representative and the Authority in selection of the Nominated 
Company shall be final and binding on the Concessionaire. The Concessionaire irrevocably agrees 
and waives any right to challenge the actions of the Lenders' Representative or the Lenders or the 
Authority taken pursuant to this Agreement including the transfer/assignment of the Concession in 
favour of the Nominated Company. The Concessionaire agrees and confirms that it shall not have 
any right to seek revaluation of assets of the Project or the Concessionaire's shares. It is hereby 
acknowledged by the Parties that the rights of the Lenders' Representative are irrevocable and shall 
not be contested in any proceedings before any court or Authority and the Concessionaire shall have 
no right or remedy to prevent, obstruct or restrain the Authority or the Lenders' Representative 
from effecting or causing the transfer by substitution and endorsement of the Concession as 
requested by the Lenders' Representative. 
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4. Project Agreements 
 

4.1. Substitution of Nominated Company in Project Agreements 

The Concessionaire shall ensure and procure that each Project Agreement contains provisions that 
entitle the Nominated Company to step into such Project Agreement, in its discretion, in place and 
substitution of the Concessionaire in the event of such Nominated Company's assumption of the 
liabilities and obligations of the Concessionaire under the Concession Agreement. 

 

5. Termination of Concession Agreement  
 

5.1. Termination upon occurrence of Financial Default 

At any time after issue of a Notice of Financial Default, the Lenders' Representative may by a notice 
in writing require the Authority to terminate the Concession Agreement forthwith, and upon receipt 
of such notice, the Authority shall undertake Termination under and in accordance with the 
provisions of Article 32 of the Concession Agreement. 

 
5.2. Termination when no Nominated Company is selected 

In the event that no Nominated Company acceptable to the Authority is selected and recommended 
by the Lenders' Representative within the period of 180 (one hundred and eighty) days or any 
extension thereof as set forth in Clause 3.3.2, the Authority may terminate the Concession 
Agreement forthwith in accordance with the provisions thereof. 

 

5.3. Realization of Debt Due 

The Authority and the Concessionaire hereby acknowledge and agree that, without prejudice to 
their any other right or remedy, the Lenders' Representative is entitled to receive from the 
Concessionaire, without any further reference to or consent of the Concessionaire, the Debt Due 
upon Termination of the Concession Agreement. 

 

6. Duration of The Agreement 
 

6.1. Duration of the Agreement 

This Agreement shall come into force from the date hereof and shall expire at the earliest to occur 
of the following events: 

a) Termination of the Agreement; or 
b) no sum remains to be advanced, or is outstanding to the Lenders, under the Financing 

Agreements. 
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7. Indemnity 
 

7.1. General indemnity 
 

7.1.1. The Concessionaire will indemnify, defend and hold the Authority and the Lenders' Representative 
harmless against any and all proceedings, actions and third party claims for any loss, damage, cost 
and expense of whatever kind and nature arising out of any breach by the Concessionaire of any of 
its obligations under this Agreement or on account of failure of the Concessionaire to comply with 
Applicable Laws and Applicable Permits. 
 

7.1.2. The Authority will indemnify, defend and hold the Concessionaire harmless against any and all 
proceedings, actions and third party claims for any loss, damage, cost and expense arising out of 
failure of the Authority to fulfill any of its obligations under this Agreement, materially and 
adversely affecting the performance of the Concessionaire's obligations under the Concession 
Agreement or this Agreement, other than any loss, damage, cost and expense, arising out of acts 
done in discharge of their lawful functions by the Authority, its officers, servants and agents. 

 
7.1.3. The Lenders' Representative will indemnify, defend and hold the Concessionaire harmless against 

any and all proceedings, actions and third party claims for any loss, damage, cost and expense 
arising out of failure of the Lenders' Representative to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement, 
materially and adversely affecting the performance of the Concessionaire's obligations under the 
Concession Agreement, other than any loss, damage, cost and expense, arising out of acts done in 
discharge of their lawful functions by the  Lenders' Representative, its officers, servants and agents. 

 

7.2. Notice and contest of claims 

In the event that any Party hereto receives a claim from a third party in respect of which it is entitled 
to the benefit of an indemnity under Clause 7.1 or in respect of which it is entitled to 
reimbursement (the "Indemnified Party"), it shall notify the other Party responsible for 
indemnifying such claim hereunder (the "Indemnifying Party") within 15 (fifteen) days of receipt of 
the claim and shall not settle or pay the claim without the prior approval of the Indemnifying Party, 
such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In the event that the Indemnifying Party 
wishes to contest or dispute the claim, it may conduct the proceedings in the name of the 
Indemnified Party and shall bear all costs involved in contesting the same. The Indemnified Party 
shall provide all cooperation and assistance in contesting any claim and shall sign all such writings 
and documents as the Indemnifying Party may reasonably require. 

 

8. Dispute Resolution 
 

8.1. Dispute resolution 
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8.1.1. Any dispute, difference or claim arising out of or in connection with this Agreement which is not 

resolved amicably shall be decided by reference to arbitration to a Board of Arbitrators comprising 
one nominee each of the Authority, Concessionaire and the Lenders' Representative. Such 
arbitration shall be held in accordance with the Rules of Arbitration of  the International Centre for 
Alternative Dispute Resolution, New Delhi (the “Rules”) or such other rules as may be mutually 
agreed by the Parties, and shall be subject to provisions of the Arbitration and Conciliation Act, 
1996. 
 

8.1.2. The Arbitrators shall issue a reasoned award and such award shall be final and binding on the 
Parties. The venue of arbitration shall be in Diu and the language of arbitration shall be English. 
 

9. Miscellaneous Provisions  
 

9.1. Governing law and jurisdiction 

This Agreement shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with and governed by the laws of 
India, and the Courts at Diu shall have jurisdiction over all matters arising out of or relating to this 
Agreement. 

9.2. Waiver of sovereign immunity 

The Authority unconditionally and irrevocably: 

a) agrees that the execution, delivery and performance by it of this Agreement constitute 
commercial acts done and performed for commercial purpose; 

b) agrees that, should any proceedings be brought against it or its assets, property  or  revenues in 
any jurisdiction in relation to this Agreement or any transaction contemplated by this 
Agreement, no immunity (whether by reason of sovereignty or otherwise) from such 
proceedings shall be claimed by or on behalf of the Authority with respect to its assets; 

c) waives any right of immunity which it or its assets, property or revenues now has, may acquire 
in the future or which may be attributed to it in any jurisdiction; and 

d) consents generally in respect of the enforcement of any judgment or award against it in any 
such proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in any jurisdiction in 
connection with such proceedings (including the making, enforcement or execution against it or 
in respect of any assets, property or revenues whatsoever irrespective of their use or intended 
use of any order or judgment that may be made or given in connection therewith). 
 

9.3. Priority of agreements 

In the event of any conflict between the Concession Agreement and this Agreement, the provisions 
contained in the Concession Agreement shall prevail over this Agreement. 

9.4. Alteration of terms 

All additions, amendments, modifications and variations to this Agreement shall be effectual and 
binding only if in writing and signed by the duly authorized representatives of the Parties. 
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9.5. Waiver 
 

9.5.1. Waiver by any Party of a default by another Party in the observance and performance of any 
provision of or obligations under this Agreement: 
a) shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other or subsequent default hereof or of 

other provisions of or obligations under this Agreement; 
b) shall not be effective unless it is in writing and executed by a duly authorized representative of 

the Party; and 
c) shall not affect the validity or enforceability of this Agreement in any manner. 
 

9.5.2. Neither the failure by either Party to insist on any occasion upon the performance of the terms, 
conditions and provisions of this Agreement or any obligation thereunder nor time or other 
indulgence granted by a Party to another Party shall be treated or deemed as waiver of such breach 
or acceptance of any variation or the relinquishment of any such right hereunder. 
 

9.6. No third party beneficiaries 

This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the Parties and no other person or entity shall have any 
rights hereunder. 

 

9.7. Survival 
 

9.7.1. Termination of this Agreement 
a) shall not relieve the Parties of any obligations hereunder which expressly or by implication 

survive termination hereof; and 
b) except as otherwise provided in any provision of this Agreement expressly limiting the liability of 

either Party, shall not relieve either Party of any obligations or liabilities for loss or damage to 
the other Party arising out of or caused by acts or omissions of such Party prior to the 
effectiveness of such termination or arising out of such termination. 

 
9.7.2. All obligations surviving the cancellation, expiration or termination of this Agreement shall only 

survive for a period of 3 (three) years following the date of such termination or expiry of this 
Agreement. 

 

9.8. Severability 

If for any reason whatever any provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable or is declared by any court of competent jurisdiction or any other instrumentality to 
be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of the remaining provisions 
shall not be affected in any manner, and the Parties will negotiate in good faith with a view to 
agreeing to one or more provisions which may be substituted for such invalid, unenforceable or 
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illegal provisions, as nearly as is practicable to such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision. Failure 
to agree upon any such provisions shall not be subject to dispute resolution under Clause 8 of this 
Agreement or otherwise. 

 

9.9. Successors and assigns 

This Agreement shall be binding on and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective 
successors and permitted assigns. 

9.10.  Notices 

All notices or other communications to be given or made under this Agreement shall be in writing, 
shall either be delivered personally or sent by courier or registered post with an additional copy to 
be sent by facsimile or e-mail. The address for service of each Party and its facsimile number are set 
out under its name on the signing pages hereto. A notice shall be effective upon actual receipt 
thereof, save that where it is received after 5.30 (five thirty) p.m. on any day, or on a day that is a 
public holiday, the notice shall be deemed to be received on the first working day following the date 
of actual receipt. Without prejudice to the foregoing, a Party giving or making a notice or 
communication by facsimile or e-mail shall promptly deliver a copy thereof personally, or send it by 
courier or registered post to the addressee of such notice or communication. It is hereby agreed and 
acknowledged that any Party may by notice change the address to which such notices and 
communications to it are to be delivered or mailed. Such change shall be effective when all the 
Parties have notice of it. 

9.11. Language 

All notices, certificates, correspondence and proceedings under or in connection with this 
Agreement shall be in English. 

9.12. Authorized representatives 

Each of the Parties shall by notice in writing designate their respective authorized representatives 
through whom only all communications shall be made. A Party hereto shall be entitled to remove 
and/or substitute or make fresh appointment of such authorized representative by similar notice. 

9.13. Original Document 

This Agreement may be executed in three counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered 
shall constitute an original of this Agreement. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF THE PARTIES HAVE EXECUTED AND DELIVERED THIS AGREEMENT AS OF THE 
DATE FIRST ABOVE WRITTEN. 

 

THE COMMON SEAL OF CONCESSIONAIRE has been affixed pursuant to the resolution passed by the 
Board of Directors of the Concessionaire at its meeting held on the ……….. day of ………. 20…… hereunto 
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affixed in the presence of ………………………………………..………, Director, who has signed these presents in 
token thereof and……………………….Company Secretary / Authorized Officer who has countersigned the 
same in token thereof. 

 

SIGNED, SEALED AND DELIVERED 

 

For and on behalf of 
Tourism Department, Diu 
(“Authority”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
Diu Smart City Limited 
(“Authority”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
(“Concessionaire”) by: 

For and on behalf of 
(“Selected Bidder”) by: 

Sign and Seal: 

Name:  

 

Designation:  

 

 
Sign and Seal: 
Name:  
Designation: CEO, 
Diu Smart City Limited 

 
Sign and Seal:  
Name:  
Designation: 

 
Sign and Seal:  
Name:  
Designation: 

 

 

In the presence of: 

 

1.         2.        
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Schedule P: FEE NOTIFICATION 
 (See Clause 25.1.1) 

 

 

On and from the COD till the Transfer Date, the Concessionaire shall have the sole and exclusive right to 
demand, collect and appropriate Fee from the Users subject to and in accordance with the Fee 
Notification as issued by the Authority according to market demand. 

 

The Concessionaire acknowledges and agrees that upon payment of Fee, any User shall be entitled to 
use the Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway and the Concessionaire shall not place, or cause to be placed, any 
restriction on such use, except to the extent specified in any Applicable Law, Applicable Permit or the 
provisions of this Agreement. 
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Annex I 

(Schedule P) 
 

1. Definitions  
 

1.1. Definitions In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires, 
 

a. “Appellate Authority” means any officer not below the rank of superintending engineer or 
equivalent designated as such by the Government; 
 

b. “Authority” means an agency appointed by the Government under the provisions of the Act, which 
will enter into an agreement with the Concessionaire for construction, operation or maintenance of 
a Ropeway system for transportation; 
 

c. “CPI (IW)” means the Consumer Price Index for Industrial Workers as published by the Labour 
Bureau, Government of India or any Index published in substitution thereof by the Government of 
India; 
 

d. “Concession Agreement” means an agreement entered into between the Authority and any person 
or persons for construction, operation or maintenance of a Ropeway system for transportation; 
 

e. “Concessionaire” means a person who has entered into a Concession Agreement with the Authority 
under the provisions of the Act; 
 

f. “Government” means the Government of India; 
 

g. “Price Index” shall comprise: 
i. 70% (seventy per cent) of WPI; and 

ii. 30% (thirty per cent) of CPI (IW)], which constituents may be substituted by such alternative 
index or indices as the Parties may by mutual consent determine; 

 
h. “Ropeway system” means the Ropeway system that is constructed, operated or maintained under a 

Concession Agreement for transporting commuters; 
 

i. “Unauthorised Collection” means the collection of any amount not provided for in these Rules, by 
the concessionaire; 
 

j. “User” means a person who uses the Ropeway system or any part thereof on payment of fee; and 
 

k. “WPI” means the Wholesale Price Index as published by the Ministry of Industry, Government of 
India or any Index published in substitution thereof by the Government of India. 
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l. “Year” means a period from 1st April of a year and ending on 31st March of the following year. 
 

Words and expressions used herein but not defined in these Rules shall have the meaning 
respectively assigned to them in the Act. 

 

2. Levy and Collection of Fee 
 

2.1. It shall be levied and paid to the Concessionaire by every User, a fee under and in accordance with 
the provisions of these Rules. 
 

2.2. Every User, upon payment of the fee shall be issued a ticket / token / smart card by the 
Concessionaire. 

 
 

3. Basic Fee- Parking 
 

3.1. The Concessionaire will communicate the fee for Ropeway system in the Concession Agreement. 
Basic fee for parking at any designated parking area within a station of the Ropeway system shall be 
as specified in column (4) below and will be revised from time to time. 
 

Sr. No 
(1) 

Vehicle 
(2) 

Time period of parking 
(3) 

Basic fee (in 
Rs.) 
(4) 

1. Car Upto 2 hours  
 
For every hour in excess of the first 2 
hours 

30 
 

10 

2. Motorised 
2wheeler 

Upto 2 hours  
 
For every hour in excess of the first 2 
hours 

10 
 

2 

 

4. Annual revision of basic fee 
 

4.1. The basic fee referred to in Rule 4 shall be increased annually, without compounding, by 5% (five per 
cent) thereof for a period of 15 (fifteen) successive years commencing from April 1, of financial year. 
The first increase of 5% (five per cent) hereunder shall take effect on in the beginning of next 
financial year. 
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5. Peak and off-peak fee 
 

5.1. Every Concessionaire may, after obtaining prior written approval of the Authority, which approval 
the Authority may in its discretion deny, levy and collect a higher and discounted fee (the 
“Differential Fee”) for use of the Ropeway system, during peak and off-peak hours respectively in 
accordance with this Rule 6: 
Provided, however, that such Differential Fee shall not apply to Users availing of a lower fee under 
Rule 9. 
 

5.2.  The Concessionaire shall, for the purposes of these Rules, designate not more than 4 (four) hours in 
a day as peak hours and a period equal to twice the peak hours as off-peak hours. During peak 
hours, the Concessionaire may levy and collect a premium of upto 25% (twenty-five per cent) on the 
applicable fee or such higher premium as the Authority may by order permit. Simultaneously, with 
levy of such premium for peak hours, the Concessionaire shall offer a discount during offpeak hours 
for an amount equal to the premium for peak hours. For the avoidance of doubt, the determination 
of Differential Fee shall be with reference to the time of entry of a user in the Ropeway system. 
 

5.3. If the determination and collection of Differential Fee results in an increase in the fee revenues of 
the Concessionaire, then 80% (eighty per cent) of the additional revenue in each year resulting from 
the Differential Fee shall be deposited in the Safety Fund and used in accordance with provisions of 
the respective concession agreement. For the purposes of this Rule 6.3, additional revenue from 
Differential Fee shall mean the gross amount collected at differential fee pursuant to this Rule 6, less 
gross revenues which would have been collected at the applicable fee on footing that the option to 
levy and collect Differential Fee pursuant to this Rule 6 has not been exercised by the 
Concessionaire. 
 

6. Fee collection points 
6.1. For collection of fee under these Rules, the Concessionaire shall establish and operate ticket 

counters and ticket vending machines in accordance with the provisions of its Concession 
Agreement. The Concessionaire may install fee collection gates for checking evasion of fee. 
 

7. Remittance and Utilisation of fee 
7.1. The fee collected shall be appropriated by the Concessionaire in accordance with and for the 

performance of its obligations under and in accordance with the provisions of the Concession 
Agreement. 
 

8. Luggage 
8.1. A User may carry upto 7 (seven) kg of hand luggage without any payment for such luggage. A User 

can carry 50 (fifty) kg of luggage on a payment of an amount equal to the cost of one ticket. The 
cabins are designed to carry a fixed number of riders. The assumption for luggage is that the weight 
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of 50 (fifty) kg luggage will occupy one seat equivalent of weight in the cabin. Therefore, one person 
carrying 50 (fifty) kg luggage will deemed to buy tickets for 2 (two) travelling riders. The 
Concessionaire can levy a per kilogram charge equal to or more than the cost of ticket for a single 
rider. e.g. users may, at any time other than peak hours, carry luggage in excess of 7 (seven) 
kilograms, but not exceeding 50 (fifty) kg, upon payment of basic fee calculated at the rate of Rs. 2 
(two) per kilogram, which rate may be revised by the Concessionaire in accordance with Rule 5; 
provided that any luggage which is hazardous, unhygienic or in any manner offensive to other users 
shall not be permitted on the train. 
 

9. Increase in fee due to increase in insurance premium 
9.1. In the event of a significant rise in the risk premium for insurance on account of a change in the 

security environment, the Concessionaire shall be entitled to recover 80% (eighty percent) of such 
increase in premium from the Users by means of a corresponding increase in fee with the prior 
written approval of the Authority which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
 

10. Additional charge for evasion of fee 
10.1. The Concessionaire shall be entitled to levy and collect an additional sum equal to the greater of 

three times the applicable fee [or Rs. 200] from a person found to be evading payment of fee due. 
Such additional sum shall be deemed to be fee due and payable under these Rules and may be used 
for defraying the expenses on prevention of such evasion. 

Provided that the Concessionaire shall not be entitled to any reduction in its liability on account of 
any amount payable by it to the Authority or to any other relief from or any claim against the 
Authority for its failure to stop evasion of fee; and its failure to collect fee prescribed under these 
Rules. 

11. Rounding off of the fee 
11.1. Fee to be collected under these Rules shall be rounded off to the nearest Rupee. 

 

12. Commencement of fee collection 
12.1. Levy and collection of fee shall commence upon completion/ provisional completion of 

construction of the Ropeway system for entry into commercial service, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Concession Agreement. 
 

13. Display of Fee 
13.1. The Concessionaire shall, near the entry point of each station, prominently display the 

applicable fee for information of Users approaching from either side of the station. The 
Concessionaire shall from time to time, by written notice, inform the Authority of the applicable fee 
and the detailed calculation thereof. Such information shall be communicated at least 30 (thirty) 
days prior to the date of initial levy of fee or revision thereof, as the case may be. 

13.2. The Concessionaire shall, at least 15 (fifteen) days prior to the commencement of collection of 
fee or revised fee, as the case may be, publish a notice specifying the actual amount of fee to be 
charged from Users, in at least one newspaper each in English and local language of the area and 
having a wide circulation in such area. 
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14. Unauthorized collection 
 

14.1. In the event that a Concessionaire collects from any person a sum of money not due and 
payable hereunder, the Concessionaire shall be liable to refund to such person forthwith the 
amount so collected along with a sum computed @ 0.5 % (zero point five per cent) of the amount so 
collected, for each day from the date of collection till the date of refund, by way of damages. In the 
event that such amount together with damages computed in the manner as aforesaid is not paid to 
such person for any reason whatsoever, the same shall be deposited with the Authority within a 
period of 15 (fifteen) days from the date of such collection. 
 

14.2. Any User aggrieved with the collection of unauthorized fee, may lodge a complaint with the 
authorized representative of the Concessionaire who shall, after hearing the Parties pass an order 
on such complaint within 30 (thirty) days of receiving the complaint and appeal, if any, against such 
order may be made to the Appellate Authority designated as such by the Authority within 45 (forty 
five) days of the date on which the order of the authorized representative was received by such 
User. In passing an order under this Rule, the authorized representative or the Appellate Authority 
may, after giving an opportunity of hearing to the complainant and the Concessionaire, direct the 
Concessionaire to refund the excess payment and may also award damages for the inconvenience 
suffered by an applicant. 
 

14.3. The Concessionaire shall keep a record of all complaints received and action taken thereon with 
respect to the fee collection, and forward a copy on a fortnightly basis to the authorized 
representative of the Authority. 
 

14.4. The Authority may assess the excess fee collection, if any, made by a Concessionaire and take 
appropriate action for recovering the same from such Concessionaire along with an additional sum 
equal to the 25% (twenty five per cent) of the excess fee collection. Such additional sum shall be 
deemed to be predetermined liquidated damages for assessment and recovery of the excess fee 
collection. 
 

15. Power of Authority to verify records 
15.1. The Authority shall have the power to verify, through any of its designated officers, the 

collection of fee and for this purpose, inspect any document, records, other information or reports 
of the Concessionaire. 
 

16. Exempted Users 
16.1. The following categories of Users shall be exempted from payment of fee: 

 Employees of the concessionaire on duty; and 
 Security personnel on station duty. 
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Schedule Q: MONTHLY FEE STATEMENT 
 (See Clause 19.5) 

 

Project:           Month: 

 

 For Corresponding 
Month of Previous 

Year 

 
For Preceding Month 

 
For the month reported 

upon 
 

No. of 
Users 

Fee 
Collected (in 

lakh Rs.) 

 
No. of 
Users 

Fee 
Collected (in 

lakh Rs.) 

 
No. of 
Users 

Fee 
Collected (in 

lakh Rs.) 

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6) (7) 
Ropeway       
Others       
       
       
       
Grand Total       

 

Remarks, if any: 
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Schedule R: MONTHLY TRAFFIC CENSUS 
 (See Clause 22.1) 

 

Project: 

 
 

Month ending: 

 

 

No. of Users using the Ropeway Facility during 

Corresponding month /last Preceding month Month of report 

(1) (2) (3) 

   

 

Remarks, if any: 
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Schedule S: COMPENSATION AMOUNT 
 

During the Operation Period, the Concessionaire shall ensure that user of the ropeway facility  is insured 
as per provisions of Section 27 “Insurance” of this Concession Agreement and in case of accident, 
provide the victim with the compensation, not less than the amount specified below: 

 

No. Event Compensation  

1. Death Rs. 10,00,000/-  

2. Permanent disability Rs. 10,00,000/-  

3. Permanent partial disability Rs. 7,50,000/-  
4. Hospitalization expenses Up to Rs. 2,00,000/-  

 
 

5. 

Transportation of mortal remains in the event of death or injury 
from a ropeway accident or other untoward incident including 
terrorist attacks, dacoity, rioting, shoot-out or arson 

 
Up to Rs. 1,00,000/- 
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Schedule T: PASSENGER CHARTER 
 (See Clause 20.8) 

Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway Facility 

At Our Service 

Our Passenger Charter explains our commitments to you and sets out the targets that these are based 
upon. It is not legally binding and does not affect your legal rights, which are set under the Applicable 
Law. Copies of the conditions can be obtained from all staffed stations or from our customer service 
center. They can also be viewed online at www [please mention the website] 

 

Contents 

 

1) Introduction 
2) Our standards for Service Performance 
3) Information and planning for your journey 
4) Passengers who require assistance 
5) Buying a ticket 
6) Your journey 
7) Claims for delay and cancellations 
8) Listening to your views 

 

1. Introduction 

We want to give our passengers excellent service. 

This is a bold statement but its intention is to focus the mind of every employee of the Passenger 
Ropeway Facility on what is important – our passengers. We aim to provide you with: 

i. Safe, clean, reliable and punctual services 
ii. Clean, safe and eco-friendly Project Facility 

iii. Reliable, timely and easy to understand information  
iv. Polite, friendly, helpful and professional staff 

 

2. Our standards for Passenger Service 

We will continue to work hard at improving our performance to provide you with a constantly 
reliable and comfortable service. 

 

2.1. Punctuality 
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Our target is that 95% of the cable car will arrive at their final destination within one minute of the 
schedule time. 

2.2. Reliability 

Our target is that 99% of all Scheduled services will run. This is measured from Monday to Friday 
around the year. 

You can view our performance results for the previous four weeks on ‘Track Record’ posters 
displayed at terminal stations of the project. The results are also available for inspection on request, 
at Terminal Stations. 

The method of monitoring our performance is independently audited annually. We do not include 
disruption caused by matters out of our control such as trespass, vandalism and terrorism. 

 

3. Information and planning for your journey 

We will provide you with accurate and impartial information about the services, fares and facilities 
to help you plan your journey. You can obtain this information in a number of ways. 

 

i. Diu & Ghoghla Facility Enquiries telephone ……………. (hours). Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway Facility 
Enquiries offers you impartial information on ropeway timings, fares, etc. 

*Calls are charged at a local rate and may be monitored. 

You can also obtain online Information about ropeway timings and fares by visiting website 
…………………………… 

ii. Customer Service Centre telephone: ………………... 

In addition to the Ropeway Facility Enquiries, Customer Service Centre also provides information 
on how our ropeway services are running. The Customer Service Centre is open 24 hours a day 
except on national holidays. 

* Calls are charged at a local rate and may be monitored. 

 

3.1. At Stations 

Staff in our ticket offices can provide you with information to help you plan your journey. We will 
display our up-to-date timetable posters at all Terminal Stations. 

Timetables and pocket timetables are available in advance of timetable changes. 

 

3.2. Our Website 
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We aim to provide as much useful and relevant information as possible on our website to help you 
plan your journey. This includes pocket timetables to download. 

3.3. Engineering Work 
 

3.3.1.  Planned Engineering work 
 

From time to time, our Ropeway Facility has to carry out planned engineering and improvement 
work to maintain the rope, electro-mechanical equipment, etc. This can cause alterations to our 
services, especially on weekends and public holidays. 
 
The maintenance work on ropeway systems is done during shutdown hours which means that 
system functions at peak performance during the operation hours. However, in case of any 
specific instances when planned engineering work time extends beyond the shutdown time viz 
affecting operations during service time, advance information along with notification will be 
posted on the display system and website. 
 
Information will also be available from: 

 Ropeway Facility Enquiries 
 Customer Service Centre 

 
Under best effort circumstances, we will try to post information well in advance for you to plan 
your trips. 
 

3.3.2. Unplanned engineering work 
 
Occasionally, Diu to Ghoghla ropeway Facility has to carry out emergency engineering work at 
very short notice. When this happens we aim to inform you through Enquiries, our Customer 
Service Centre, and Terminal Station public address system, posters, Tele text and local radio 
stations. 
 

3.3.3. Help and advice during your journey 

We understand that alterations to services due to engineering work can cause extra problems 
for customers. Our terminal station staff can help you if you need advice and you can also 
contact our Customer Service Centre. 

 

4. Passenger who require assistance 

We are committed to meeting the travelling needs of our disabled passengers. We recognise that 
many of our passengers may have special needs which require us to adjust the way we provide our 
service. The ropeway station is equipped to handle requirements of all riders and the ropeway 
system, cabins are designed to accommodate wheel chairs, baby prams, prosthetics etc. The design 
facilitates seamless travel from start to finish. 
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4.1. Advance information and assistance for disabled passengers 

We advise passengers who would like assistance to contact our Customer Service Centre in advance. 

 Telephone (24 hours): ..................... 
 Fax: ..................... 
 Text phone: .............. 
 Ropeway Enquiries text phone……………… 

 
4.2. Station access 

Our terminal stations may not be fully accessible to passengers with disabilities, either because of 
the way these stations are constructed or because there are times of the day when there are no 
station staffs available. Both during and outside these hours, our staff is also available to help you 
board and leave the ropeway. 

4.3. Ropeway Cabins 

All Cable Cars on our network are fully accessible to disabled passengers. 

4.4. Reservations of wheelchair spaces 

Reservations are available to disabled passengers on all of our services that have priority seats. 

4.5. Disability awareness training 

All our frontline staff and managers receive training in disability awareness. 

5. Buying a ticket 

To purchase a ticket, visit any of our staffed terminal stations or telephone our Customer Service 
Centre or book online through our Website__________________________. Passenger should 
always insist for a computerized ticket or e-ticket and in case the same is not available, they can 
report the matter to the Customer Service Centre. 

5.1. At stations 
 Our ticket office opening hours are displayed at every Terminal Station. They are also 
 available from our website or by telephoning our Customer Service Centre. 
 You can pay by cash or major credit and debit cards. 
 We will try to ensure that you do not need to queue for more than five minutes at busy 

times and no more than three minutes during less busy times. Details of busy times are 
displayed at each Terminal Station. 
 

5.2. By telephone 
Tickets can also be purchased over the telephone by calling our Customer Service Centre. We 
accept most of the major credit and debit cards. Please allow at least five working days for 
delivery of your tickets. 
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5.3. Tickets online 

You can also buy your tickets online. 

5.4. Penalty fares 

Diu to Ghoghla Ropeway Facility has a duty to its fare-paying passengers to ensure that no-one 
travels for free. To help us achieve this, we operate a penalty fares scheme across our network. 

If you travel without a valid ticket you may be liable to a penalty of three times of the single fare 
between the Terminal Stations. 

 

6. Your Journey 
 

6.1. Getting a seat 

We operate a ‘walk-on’ service, which means you can board the next arriving cabin provided you 
have a valid ticket. The seat is guaranteed as the ropeway cabin is designed not to allow more 
people to board than its capacity. In Aerial Tramway (ATW), Cable Liners (Automated People 
Movers) are designed to allow sitting and standing passengers. 

 

 
6.2. Security 

We work very closely with the local authorities to improve security at our Stations. 

We aim to reduce levels of crime, trespass and vandalism and we are investing to achieve this. 
Initiatives include: 

 Teams of Travel Safe Officers, trained and coordinated by the Police 
 Installation of CCTV at Terminal Stations 
 Installation of CCTV inside the Cabins 
 Lighting at Terminal Stations and intermediate points 
 Information Signage 
 Help points at our Stations 
 Security guards at key locations 

More information can be found in the Safety and security section of our website. 

 

6.3. Smoking / Alcohol 

Smoking or alcohol intake is strictly prohibited at our Terminal Stations and inside the Cabins. Strict 
penal action against the offenders shall be taken by the concerned authorities. 
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6.4. Lost Property 
Our Lost Property office at ............................ is open from <insert timings and days>. Telephone the 
office on ……………… All property found on our services and at our Terminal Stations is forwarded to 
our Lost Property office. To make an enquiry, complete our Lost Property online form. 
 

6.5. Service disruption 

Unfortunately, things do sometimes go wrong, causing disruption that cannot always be foreseen or 
avoided. In these circumstances, we may have to introduce emergency timetables. We will aim to 
inform you in advance before these timetables come into operation, with notices at Terminal 
Stations and by other appropriate media. 

  Other causes of disruption include: 

 Emergency engineering work 
 Trespass and vandalism 
 Breakdowns 
 Accidents 
 Security alerts 

Under such circumstances, we may have to make changes to our services without giving prior 
warning to protect your safety and that of our staff. We will always try to minimize disruption, keep 
you informed. 

If a problem does occur mid-way in the ropeway journey, we will ensure that you reach the nearest 
station with minimum inconvenience. 

All our cabins are fitted with public address systems are equipped to provide all information on real 
time basis and most of our staff are linked by telephone systems. We aim to let you know what is 
happening. 

 

7. Claims for delays and cancellations 
 

7.1. 'Void' day refunds 

As a holder of a valid Ticket, we may provide you with the appropriate refund for exceptional days 
when there has been widespread serious, extended disruption and when no alternative has been 
provided. This is known as a 'Void' day. In these cases, the period of disruption will be excluded from 
our performance statistics. 

When we have declared a 'void' day we will tell you through 'Track Record' posters displayed at 
Terminal Stations. 

When you renew your Ticket you will be advised by staff at ticket office to apply for 'Void' day 
refunds if they have been declared. You will be given a 'Void' day refund application form, which you 
can complete and submit along with your expired Ticket. 
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7.2. Punctuality and reliability discounts for Tickets 

We have certain performance standards for punctuality and reliability. If we fail to meet these 
standards, we will offer you a discount from the cost of your Ticket renewal. Discounts will be paid 
automatically at the time of renewal. 

Delays and cancellations that are caused by incidents beyond the control are excluded from our 
performance results. Incidents that are beyond our control include security alerts, vandalism and 
trespass. We will display it on posters at terminal stations and also on our website. 

a) 5% discount: We will offer you a 5% discount if, on average, over the previous 2 months either 
punctuality has been more than 10% below the standard or reliability has been more than 5% 
below the standard. 

b) 10% discount: We will offer you a 10% discount if both punctuality and reliability are below these 
discount threshold levels. 

To obtain your discount, you must renew your ticket within four weeks of the previous ticket's 
expiry. 

 

7.3. Cancellation 

If due to any reason an unexpectedly delay or cancellation of ropeway system has happened, we will 
give you an immediate full refund. 

If you decide for other reasons not to make your journey, you may apply for a refund within _days of 
the ticket's expiry. In most cases you will receive your refund immediately; however, this does 
depend on the method of payment, value of the refund. We may also charge a reasonable 
administration fee for such refunds. 

How to make your claim: Claim forms are available at our website, all ticket offices or by contacting 
our Customer Service Centre. Please send us your travel tickets to support your claim. This will also 
help to speed up your claim. Completed claims should be sent to our Customer Service Centre. 

 

8. Listening to your views 

We carry out and analyses passenger survey research to provide information about what you think 
of different aspects of our service. 

We hold regular ‘Meet the Manager’ events, which enable you to speak directly to managers to put 
your views to them or ask them questions. Details of Meet the Manager events will be advertised on 
the terminal station posters, through our Customer Service Centre and also online. 

 

We will listen to your views and communicate through correspondence and by telephone. We have 
a specially trained Customer Service Centre team able to respond to you and we also liaise with 
passenger representative bodies and user groups that exist to protect your interests. 
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8.1. Making a comment or complaint 

We welcome your comments, suggestions, complaints and praise about any aspect of our service. 
We also welcome comments about our Charter. Senior managers monitor the number and type of 
complaints and comments that you make. They are also responsible for delivering continuous 
improvement to customer service. Your feedback can therefore help us to achieve this. If you are 
commenting on a journey, please remember to include your tickets and any other details, as this will 
help us to provide you with a quicker response. 

 

8.2. Further information: 

We have a full Customer Comment and Complaints Handling Procedure (CCCHP). Copies of our 
CCCHP can be obtained from our Customer Service Centre or from our website……………………. 

8.3. Contacting our Customer Service Centre  

Please visit our Contact us section for details. 

 
8.4. Our promised response times 

 
If you write to us, you should hear from us within five working days of us receiving your 
communication. 
However, it may take longer to provide a full reply (e.g. if an investigation is required) and if this 
happens we will send you an acknowledgement within five working days and reply within 20 
working days. 
If a full reply cannot be made within 20 working days, we will contact you again to update you. 

 
8.5. If you are unhappy with our reply 

We will work hard to deal with your concerns to your satisfaction but if you are unhappy with our 
response please let us know. 
Alternatively, you can approach the consumer courts or other similar set up under Applicable Laws. 
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